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Abstract 

The aim of this study was to investigate empirically the extent of mandatory compliance 

with international accounting standards (IASs) by companies in the Gulf Co-Operation 

Council (GCC) member states — namely, Bahrain, Oman, Kuwait, Qatar, Saudi Arabia 

and the United Arab Emirates (UAE) — between 1996 and 2002, and to explain why 

some companies comply more than others.  

 
Official personnel in the relevant enforcement bodies were interviewed to obtain 

information about their monitoring and enforcement activities. An index of compliance 

was devised to quantify the level of compliance. This was applied to the financial 

statements of 137 listed companies. Multivariate regression analysis was employed to 

explore the relationships between the level of compliance and particular attributes of the 

companies and year-by-year dummy variables. This was done to discover if the level of 

compliance with IASs was influenced only by company attributes or whether there were 

time trends as well. The attributes were country of origin, size, leverage, liquidity, 

profitability, auditor, industry, internationality, ownership diffusion and the company’s 

age.  

 
The average level of compliance for all companies and all years was 75% of the items in 

the index. No company within the examined time period fully complied with all 

requirements. The average level of compliance increased over time, though, from 68% in 

1996 to 82% in 2002. There was significant variation in the level of compliance across the 

six GCC member states as well, but the level of compliance increased in all states over the 

sample period. The highest average level of compliance was in Saudi Arabia, where it 

reached 88% in the last year of the study.  

 
The degree of non-compliance with IASs across the GCC member states was partially 

attributable to limited monitoring and enforcement by the bodies responsible for 

overseeing financial reporting, and to the limited comprehensiveness of audits by 

external auditors. In addition to the role of the enforcement bodies and external auditors, 

several company attributes helped explain the level of compliance with IASs. 

Compliance variation increased with a company’s size, leverage and internationality. 

The level of compliance varied by industry too; however, company profitability, 

liquidity, ownership diffusion and whether the audit was conducted by a major 

international audit firm were found not to be significant factors. 

 vii



Chapter 1: Introduction 

1.0 Background 

Rapid globalisation of capital markets has heightened community awareness of the 

information needs of international investors and the desirability of international 

accounting standards (Nobes and Parker, 2000, p. 67). The International Accounting 

Standards Board (IASB), formerly the International Accounting Standards Committee 

(IASC), has become increasingly influential in the world of commerce. Its principal 

objective is to issue international accounting standards (IASs)1 in order to increase 

comparability in financial reports produced by companies regardless of their country of 

origin (Choi, Forst and Meek, 2002, p. 298). The IASB, which has no power to enforce its 

standards, had issued 41 IASs by December 2002 and has achieved much since its 

foundation in 1973 (Choi et al., 2002, p. 298; Radebaugh and Gray, 2002, p. 152). In 

2000, the International Organization of Securities Commissions (IOSCO) approved a 

resolution supporting its members’ use of IASs.  Since then the European Commission 

has passed legislation requiring all European listed companies preparing consolidated 

financial statements to comply with IASs as of 1 January 2005 (EC, 2002). As of mid-

2005, over 90 countries have claimed they have adopted or will adopt IASs in the future 

(IASB, 2005).  

 

Recent research provides considerable evidence of non-compliance with IASs by 

companies claiming to have adopted them (Street and Gray, 2001; Glaum and Street, 

2003). Similarly, the International Federation of Accountants (IFAC) has observed 

auditors asserting that financial statements comply with IASs when the accounting 

policies and notes indicate otherwise (Cairns, 1997, p. 2). Given these findings, the 

activity and effectiveness of enforcement bodies that are responsible for promoting 

compliance with IASs has been questioned (Glaum and Street, 2003). Previous research 

focuses mainly on companies domiciled in developed countries. Developing countries 

have been somewhat neglected.  

 

                                                 
1  Standards produced by the IASC were named IASs. In 2001, the IASC was restructured to create an 

independent standard-setting board: the IASB. Standards issued by the IASB are called international 
financial reporting standards (IFRSs) (IASB, 2003). The term IASs is used throughout this thesis, as 
IASs were effective between 1996 and 2002, the period being investigated.  
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This study focuses on the Gulf Co-Operation Council (GCC) member states2 because 

they provide a useful setting for examining compliance with IASs3 as these states have 

made IASs mandatory.4 The GCC was formed in May 1981 from six Arab Gulf states; 

namely, Bahrain, Oman, Kuwait, Saudi Arabia, Qatar and the United Arab Emirates 

(UAE). Their purpose was to encourage integration between members in matters of 

national security, foreign policy, and economic and financial affairs. In November 1981, 

the GCC member states signed the Unified Economic Agreement aimed at establishing a 

common market and encouraging capital inflows from foreign investors. In 1998, the 

GCC created the Gulf Co-Operation Council Accounting and Auditing Organization 

(GCCAAO) to promote the harmonisation of accounting and auditing standards. 

1.1 The Research Questions and their Importance 

This study investigates three research questions:  

1. To what extent do companies listed on the stock exchanges of the GCC member states 

comply with IASs?  

2. How has compliance changed over the period 1996 to 2002?  

3. What explains differences in the extent of companies’ compliance?  

 

Finding answers to these research questions is important for understanding whether 

mandatory compliance with IASs has improved and for identifying attributes that help 

explain the differences in the level of compliance across companies. The enforcement 

body in each GCC member state is likely to be interested in any non-compliance by 

companies. If non-compliance is judged by the body to be serious and if its causes can be 

identified, the enforcement body might be in a better position to take appropriate remedial 

action. The findings will interest the GCCAAO in their efforts to harmonise accounting 

standards in the region. The findings may provide the GCCAAO with useful information 

about the spread of IASs among companies in the member states and the attributes that 

lead to greater compliance. The findings offer current and prospective local and foreign 

investors an objective assessment of the degree of compliance with IASs in the GCC. 

                                                 
2  The terms states and countries are used interchangeably throughout this thesis because the GCC 

member states are commonly described either as states or countries. 
3  The United Nations categorises the GCC member states as developing countries (UN, 2005). 
4  The phrases compliance with IASs and compliance with mandatory standards are used 

interchangeably throughout this thesis. 
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This study also provides the IASB with potentially useful information about the level of 

compliance with IASs in a particular region and the factors associated with it.  

 

Compliance can relate to recognition, disclosure or, as in this thesis, both. Broadly, items 

that, in accounting terms, are recognised are recorded (in terms of debts and credits) in the 

formal double-entry system. Items that are disclosed are not so recognised, but are 

reported in the notes. More formally, recognition is defined as “the process of 

incorporating an item into the financial statements”, while disclosure refers to 

“information about the items in financial statements and their measures that may be 

provided by notes” (FASB, 1984). Thus recognition means the same as measurement in 

prior compliance studies (e.g. Street and Gray, 2001) and these terms are used 

interchangeably. Compliance with an item is mandatory if the item, when applicable, 

must be reported in the financial statements of companies in accordance with legal or 

financial reporting requirements. Voluntary compliance refers to disclosure of any item 

that is not so required. In this study, compliance with all mandatory requirements in the 

GCC member states is examined to assess the level of compliance. The study examines 

recognition and disclosure items both collectively and separately.  

 

The focus of most compliance research to date has been on developed countries such as 

the United States, the United Kingdom and continental European countries (Nobes, 1990; 

Street, Gray and Bryant, 1999; Street and Bryant, 2000; Street and Gray, 2001; Glaum 

and Street, 2003). The study extends this literature to compliance in developing countries 

in general and to the GCC member states in particular.  

1.2 Method 

The six GCC member states (Bahrain, Oman, Kuwait, Saudi Arabia, Qatar and the UAE) 

were selected for study because they are a group of developing countries that adopted 

IASs as mandatory. The reason given for this was to improve the comparability of 

financial reports. The study covers the period from 1996 to 2002 because IASs were 

adopted as mandatory in each member state during this period. The turning point for the 

increased acceptance of IASs in the region was 1999, when Qatar and the UAE adopted 

IASs. For Oman, Kuwait and Saudi Arabia the study covers three years (1996, 1999 and 

2002) because IASs became mandatory prior to 1996 for all types of company in Oman 

and Kuwait, and for banks and investment companies in Saudi Arabia.  
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For Bahrain the study covers four years (1996, 1997, 1999 and 2002) because all types of 

company in Bahrain were required to adopt IASs in 1996. Since companies in Bahrain 

might not have had adequate time to adopt IASs in 1996, the study also covers 1997.  

 

For Qatar and the UAE the study covers three years (1999, 2000 and 2002). Banks and 

investment companies in Qatar and the UAE were required to adopt IASs in 1999; and 

because those companies might not have had enough time to shift to IASs by 1999, the 

study covers 2000 as well.  

 

In summary, all types of company in Bahrain, Oman and Kuwait were included in the 

study, while only banks and investment companies in Saudi Arabia, Qatar and the UAE 

were included.  

 

Fourteen IASs were selected to measure compliance, based on their applicability to the 

business environment in the GCC member states over this period. They are IASs 1, 10, 

14, 16, 18, 21, 23, 24, 27, 28, 30, 32, 33 and 37.  

 

Three methods were used to collect data.  

1. Information was collected on regulations related to the adoption of IASs within each 

member state (e.g. company law, stock market requirements, central bank 

requirements and external auditing law).  

2. Structured telephone interviews were conducted with official personnel in the 

enforcement bodies in each member state (e.g. the ministries of commerce, central 

banks and stock exchanges) to collect information not available from other sources, 

and to seek clarification of regulatory mechanisms and the involvement of those 

bodies in compliance monitoring and enforcement.  

3. Annual reports for 1996–2002 were obtained from companies listed on the GCC stock 

exchanges. Data were then hand-collected for 137 companies (436 company-years) 

from the annual reports and other complementary sources.  

 

The level of mandatory compliance with IASs was measured by a compliance index. 

Such an index can provide reliable evidence on corporate compliance (Marston and 

Shrives, 1991) and is consistent with prior compliance studies (Street and Bryant, 2000; 

Street and Gray, 2001; Glaum and Street, 2003). The index was calculated from a self-
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constructed checklist based on the 14 IASs listed earlier. The checklist distinguishes 

between recognition and disclosure items. Data for the index were extracted from the 

annual reports.  

 

Year-by-year dummy variables and ten company attributes were examined for their 

association with the level of compliance to discover if the level of mandatory compliance 

with IASs was influenced only by company attributes or whether there were time trends 

as well. Data for four of them (company size, leverage, internationality and ownership 

diffusion) were obtained from companies’ annual reports or from annual companies 

guides published by the stock exchanges. Data for the remaining six (country of origin, 

auditing firm, company age, industry, liquidity and profitability) were obtained from the 

companies’ annual reports.  

 

Multivariate analysis was used to explore state-by-state effects, time trends and 

relationships between the level of compliance and company attributes. 

1.3  Findings 

For the GCC as a whole, the average level of mandatory compliance (disclosure and 

measurement) with the 14 IASs investigated for all years was 0.75; that is, on average 

companies complied with 75% of the disclosure and measurement items. The level of 

disclosure compliance was 0.69, and for measurement compliance it was 0.81. The level 

of compliance increased over time, from 0.68 in 1996 to 0.82 in 2002, indicating that the 

level of compliance has been improving in the region. However, no company throughout 

the time period fully complied with all 14 standards.  

 

The level of mandatory compliance (disclosure and measurement) by companies listed on 

the GCC stock exchanges is lower than the level of even voluntary compliance 

(disclosure and measurement) by companies from developed countries such as Australia 

(0.94; Tower, Hancock and Taplin, 1999). The mandatory disclosure compliance in the 

GCC member states is also lower than the level of mandatory disclosure compliance by 

companies from Germany (0.81; Glaum and Street, 2003) and slightly higher than the 

extent of voluntary disclosure compliance by companies from Switzerland (0.74; Street 

and Gray, 2001). The level of mandatory measurement compliance in the GCC member 

states is lower than the level of voluntary measurement compliance in Germany (0.86) 

and Switzerland (0.92; Street and Gray, 2001). This finding suggests that national 
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monitoring and enforcement mechanisms in the GCC member states have room for 

further improvement.  

 

The level of mandatory compliance (disclosure and measurement) with IASs varies 

among the GCC member states. This reflects the differences in each state’s position over 

time in relation to the adoption of IASs, in the effectiveness of its enforcement body and 

in the nature of the audit. The highest average compliance level for all years is in the UAE 

(0.80), followed by Saudi Arabia (0.78), Kuwait (0.75), Oman (0.74), Bahrain (0.73) and 

Qatar (0.70). The highest level of disclosure compliance for all years is in the UAE and 

Saudi Arabia (both 0.75), followed by Kuwait (0.72), Qatar (0.69), and Bahrain and 

Oman (both 0.65). The highest level of measurement compliance is in the UAE (0.85), 

followed by Saudi Arabia (0.83), Bahrain and Oman (both 0.82), Kuwait (0.78) and Qatar 

(0.71). The level of mandatory disclosure and measurement compliance increased over 

time in each GCC member state, indicating that accounting practices in these states have 

been moving towards greater consistency with IASs. However, there is only partial 

support for my prediction that the highest compliance would be in Kuwait and Oman, 

followed by UAE, Saudi Arabia, Bahrain and Qatar in that order.  It could be that the 

institutional differences (discussed in Chapter Three and Four), which led to this 

prediction, were overstated, or common cultural and other factors already captured in the 

control variables were too dominant to yield clear results.  

 

Mandatory compliance varies across companies according to a number of attributes. 

Industry is one factor. Companies with a higher level of compliance with IASs are also 

likely to be larger, have higher leverage and a greater international presence. However, 

when all cases are pooled and a common model is fitted, profitability, liquidity, 

ownership diffusion, age and type of auditor are not associated with the level of 

compliance by GCC companies. This outcome is consistent with Tower et al. (1999), who 

found country of origin is a significant variable explaining the level of voluntary 

compliance (disclosure and measurement) in Australia, Malaysia, Singapore, Hong Kong, 

Thailand and the Philippines. It is also consistent with Street and Gray (2001), who found 

significant differences in the level of voluntary disclosure and measurement compliance 

between companies from China, Germany, France, Switzerland, other Western European 

countries, Africa and other countries. And it is consistent with Street and Gray’s 2001 

finding that the level of voluntary disclosure compliance differs by industry.  
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The results are inconsistent with Tower et al. (1999), who found no association between 

voluntary disclosure and measurement compliance and size, leverage and industry. The 

results are also inconsistent with Street and Bryant (2000), who found size and industry 

are not associated with voluntary disclosure compliance in a sample of 17 mainly 

developed countries. The results are inconsistent with Street and Gray (2001), who found 

that size is not significant, but being audited by a Big Five auditor is associated with the 

level of voluntary disclosure and measurement compliance. The findings are also 

inconsistent with Glaum and Street (2003), who found size is not significant, but being 

audited by one of the Big Five is associated with mandatory disclosure compliance with 

IASs in Germany.  

 

It thus appears that company attributes associated with compliance with IASs differ 

between developed and developing countries.  

 

In general, the level of compliance in developing countries is associated with size, 

leverage and internationality, while auditor and cross-listing are among the more 

significant variables explaining compliance in developed countries.  

 

Since there are fundamental differences in regard to the use of IASs by industry groups, 

companies in the six states were grouped into two sub-samples, based on industry. In the 

first sub-sample, all industry groups were required to use IASs; while, in the second, only 

banks and investment companies were required to use them. The first sub-sample contains 

companies domiciled in Bahrain, Oman and Kuwait. The second comprises companies in 

Saudi Arabia, Qatar and UAE.  

 

For sub-sample 1, there was a within-group effect, and compliance increased over time 

and with a company’s size, leverage, age and internationality. These findings are similar 

to those of the full sample (except for company age), presumably because of the overlap 

in the data.  

 

For sub-sample 2, there was a within-group effect and a trend towards increasing 

compliance over time. Compliance increased with company size and decreased with 

liquidity and concentration of shares held by institutional investors.  
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Separate models were also estimated for each state. There are significant differences 

between years within each state, except for Qatar. There is also some variation in the 

relative importance of the company attributes across the GCC member states. Size is the 

most influential variable in each state, except in Bahrain. Age contributes significant 

explanatory power in Bahrain, Oman and Kuwait. Internationality and leverage are 

significant in Oman and Kuwait, and industry effects are found only in Kuwait. 

Profitability is positively related to the extent of compliance in Qatar and liquidity is 

negatively associated with the level of compliance in Saudi Arabia. The remaining 

variables make no significant contribution in any state.  

 

These results suggest company attributes associated with compliance differ between 

states, even though these states have close economic and other ties and are from one 

geographical region. However, another reason for the differences is the lack of statistical 

power because of the relatively small size of some samples. 

1.4  Outline of the Remaining Chapters 

The remaining chapters are organised as follows. Chapter Two describes the development 

of the existing legal framework of financial reporting in the GCC member states. It 

describes the regulations with which companies should comply and the role of external 

auditors in promoting compliance. It also discusses the role of the enforcement body 

charged with monitoring and enforcing compliance. Chapter Three reviews accounting 

literature relevant to the study. The hypotheses are then developed in Chapter Four. 

Chapter Five describes how the sample was selected, the data collection methods and the 

statistical analysis performed. The results are presented and interpreted in Chapter Six. 

Chapter Seven contains the results of a series of robustness checks. Conclusions, 

limitations and suggestions for how this line of research could be extended are set out in 

Chapter Eight. 

 

 8



Chapter 2: The Financial Reporting Environment in the GCC 
Member States 

2.0 Introduction 

A country’s legal and institutional framework is likely to affect the extent to which listed 

companies domiciled in that country comply with international accounting standards 

(IASs). The purpose of this chapter is thus to describe the framework of financial 

reporting in each of the six Gulf Co-Operation Council (GCC) member states, which 

constitute the region of interest of this thesis. The chapter explains the regulations with 

which companies must comply and the formal mechanisms used to promote their 

compliance. Specifically, the chapter discusses each state’s legislation relating to financial 

reporting and any mandatory provisions relating to accounting standards that must be 

used. It describes the role of auditors in promoting compliance with accounting standards, 

and the role and functioning of the governmental body responsible for monitoring 

compliance and for enforcement. It also discusses harmonisation efforts among the GCC 

member states to promote compliance with IASs and other relevant regulations. 

 

Material for this chapter was obtained from published sources and structured interviews. 

The interviews were conducted by telephone with official personnel of the enforcement 

body in each state. (The interviews were by telephone because the researcher was in 

Australia at the time.) The interviews were an important phase of this study because they 

provided information that is unpublished and unavailable from any other source.  

 

The interviews were conducted to obtain information about the following specific items: 

1. whether the enforcement body followed any relevant regulation prescribed by law 

with respect to monitoring and enforcement, and how it monitored companies’ 

compliance in practice;  

2. the role of the independent auditor and their relationship with the enforcement body in 

promoting compliance with IASs;  

3. the resources available to the enforcement body to conduct its work (e.g. staffing 

levels and professional qualifications of the monitoring and enforcement body’s 

staff and how the body enhanced its staff’s capability to monitor compliance);  

4. the number of observed cases of non-compliance and actions taken; and  

5. the outputs of the enforcement body’s actions.  
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Importantly, information gathered from the interviews provided a basis for determining 

the type of company that is required to comply with IASs. Relevant information from the 

interviews is discussed in this chapter. Information about the names of the officials who 

were interviewed, their positions, the dates of the interviews and the questions asked are 

set out in Appendix A. 

 

Section 2.1 outlines the legislation governing financial reporting in the GCC member 

states. Section 2.2 discusses any mandatory accounting standards to be used in each state. 

One of the enforcement mechanisms used to promote compliance with relevant 

accounting regulations is the independent audit, which is discussed in Section 2.3. The 

enforcement processes are discussed in Section 2.4. Accounting harmonisation efforts 

among member states are discussed in Section 2.5. The chapter concludes with a 

summary in Section 2.6. 

2.1 Legislation 

Both company law and securities market law govern corporate financial reporting by 

listed companies in each GCC member state. Financial reporting legislation in the GCC 

member states focuses on protecting investors and other users of financial reports. Table 

2.1 shows that all GCC member states have enacted company laws and securities market 

laws.  

 

Company laws regulate the formation, operation and dissolution of companies. These 

laws contain provisions on various aspects of corporate activities including incorporation 

of companies, corporate governance structures (e.g. the corporate charter, by-laws, and 

provisions regarding directors and officers), rights and obligations of shareholders, 

methods of raising capital, corporate dissolution and liquidation, accounts and audit, and 

supervision and inspection.  

 

In terms of financial reporting requirements, the company law in each state contains 

general principles for corporate financial reporting. The laws do not specify the content or 

format of the financial statements other than requiring at least an annual balance sheet and 

profit and loss statement (Table 2.1). The laws require companies to maintain proper  



Country Company Law Securities and Exchange 
Law 

Company 
Registrar 

Financial statements to 
be prepared 

To whom should 
financial statements 
be submitted 

Guidelines for 
preparing 
financial 
statements 

Bahrain Company Law No. 28 of 
1975 and replaced by Law 
No. 21 of 2001 

Bahrain Securities and Stock 
Exchange Law No. 4 of 1987 

Ministry of 
Commerce and 
Industry 

Balance sheet and profit 
and loss statement 
 

All shareholders 
Registrar of 
companies 

Must provide a true 
and fair view 

Oman Company Law No. 4 of 1974 
(as amended) 

Muscat Securities Market 
Law No. 53 of 1988 replaced 
by Capital Market Law No. 80 
of 1998 
 

Ministry of 
Commerce 

Balance sheet and profit 
and loss statement 

All shareholders 
Registrar of 
companies 

Must provide an 
honest and fair 
view 

Kuwait Company Law No. 15 of 
1960 (as amended) 

Kuwait Stock Exchange Law 
of 13/8/1983 

Ministry of 
Commerce and 
Industry 

Balance sheet and profit 
and loss statement 
 

All shareholders 
Registrar of 
companies 

Must provide a true 
and fair view 

Saudi 
Arabia 

Company Law No. 6 of 1965 
(as amended) 

Saudi Share Registration 
Company (SSRC) Law No. 
8/1230 of 1984 

Ministry of 
Commerce 
 

Balance sheet, profit and 
loss statement, report on 
the company’s activities 
 

All shareholders 
Registrar of 
companies 
 

Must provide a true 
and fair view 
 

Qatar Company Law No. 11 of 
1981 

Doha Securities Market Law 
No. 14 of 1995 

Ministry of 
Economy and 
Commerce 

Balance sheet and profit 
and loss statement 
 

All shareholders 
Registrar of 
companies 

Must provide a true 
and fair view 

UAE Company Law No. 8 of 1984 
(as amended) and its 
implementing Ministerial 
Resolutions 

UAE Securities Market Law 
No. 4 of 2000 

Ministry of 
Economy and 
Commerce 

Balance sheet and profit 
and loss statement 

All shareholders 
Registrar of 
companies 

Must provide a true 
and fair view 

Sources:  Financial reporting legislation of the GCC member states. Due date for submission of financial statements is within two months after the financial year-end 
date and at least 25 days before the annual general meeting in Saudi Arabia. In Bahrain, Kuwait and the UAE it is within three months after the financial year-
end date and at least two weeks before the annual general meeting. In Oman it is within four months after the financial year-end date and at least 21 days 
before the company’s annual general meeting. In Qatar it is within six months after the financial year-end date. 
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Table  2.1: Financial reporting legislation in the GCC member states 

 

 



books of account and to prepare and submit audited annual financial statements to their 

shareholders in order to reflect a “true and fair view” (or “honest and fair” in Oman) of 

the company’s state of affairs.5  The financial statements must be submitted to the 

Companies Registrar of the Ministry of Commerce within a specified time after the 

financial year-end date.  

 

For listed companies, all GCC member states have enacted securities market laws that 

established a stock exchange as an independent government entity. The laws were 

designed to protect investors, to set up mechanisms for monitoring the issuing of 

securities, to establish directors’ rights and responsibilities, and to promote and broaden 

the capital market.6 The enacting legislation for the securities authorities in all GCC states 

duplicates the provisions in their respective company laws. They require all listed 

companies to comply with accounting regulations promulgated by the relevant Ministry 

of Commerce, in addition to meeting relevant disclosure requirements contained in 

securities regulations. These include that the board of directors of each listed company 

submit, to the stock exchange, audited annual financial statements within a specified time 

after the financial year-end date.7   

2.2 Accounting Standards 

In the GCC member states, the government regulates financial reporting regulations and 

controls the accounting and auditing profession. Professional accounting bodies exist in 

four states; namely, Bahrain, Kuwait, the United Arab Emirates (UAE) and Saudi Arabia. 

However, the Bahrain Society of Accountants and Auditors (BSAA), the Kuwait 

Accounting and Auditing Association (KAAA) and the UAE Accountants and Auditors 

Association (UAEAAA) have no regulatory power to license accountants and auditors or 

to establish accounting and auditing standards. Neither do they regulate their members’ 

behaviour or supervise or encourage audit firms to act on non-compliance issues (Shuaib, 

1998; Joshi and Al-Basteki, 1999; Shuaib, 1999; Al-Basteki, 2000). In contrast, the Saudi 

Organization for Certified Public Accountants (SOCPA), established in 1992, is 

                                                 
5  There is no statutory definition of “true and fair view” provided in any GCC company law. 
6  Each GCC stock exchange is governed by a board of directors chaired by the Minister of Commerce. 

The board of directors is responsible for formulating the general policies and strategy of the exchange, 
regulating the issuing and trading of securities and approving applications from brokers and market 
makers to trade. Only the Muscat Securities Market of Oman and the Kuwait Stock Exchange play a 
role in monitoring listed companies’ compliance with accounting standards and other regulations. 

7  Lodgement dates are set out in Table 2.1. 
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empowered by the Saudi Ministry of Commerce to issue accounting and auditing 

standards and has the authority to certify public accountants (SOCPA, 2004a).  

 

Among the GCC member states, only Kuwait and Saudi Arabia have attempted to set 

local accounting standards. In Kuwait, in 1986, the Permanent Technical Committee 

(PTC) of the Ministry of Commerce issued three accounting standards to be applied by all 

listed companies effective from 1 January 1987.8 These standards were criticised for their 

insufficiency, ambiguity and overall weakness by numerous parties including 

accountants, auditors, academics, investors, creditors and other users of financial 

information (Al-Mudhaf, 1990; Shuaib, 1998). In Saudi Arabia, to date the SOCPA has 

issued 16 Saudi Accounting Standards (SAAs) with which all listed companies, except 

banks and finance and investment companies, must comply (SOCPA, 2004b). Banks and 

finance and investment companies must comply with IASs. Khoury (1996) and Hassan 

(1998) claimed that inadequate development of a set of local accounting standards in each 

of the GCC member states was attributed to a lack of resources and skills and the 

difficulty of convincing international investors that local accounting standards were 

credible.9   

 

The rapid growth and opening up of capital markets in the GCC member states and 

pressure from multinational corporations have led the governments to adopt IASs, in the 

expectation that their adoption will meet greater demands of shareholders and of local and 

international investors for more detailed information and for greater comparability in 

financial reporting (Azzam, 1998; Hassan, 1998; Shuaib, 1999; Al-Basteki, 2000; 

Hussain, Islam, Gunasekaran and Maskooki, 2002; Naser and Nuseibeh, 2003b). All GCC 

member states adopted IASs at some stage during the period 1986-99. Table 2.2 shows 

the regulatory body and the law requiring adoption of IASs in each state. 

 

All listed companies in Oman, Kuwait and Bahrain were required to comply with IASs 

from 1986, 1991 and 1996 respectively. In Saudi Arabia, Qatar and UAE the central 

banks required banks and finance and investment companies to comply with IASs in 

 
8  The three standards are: the nature of financial statements; investment accounting; and property 

accounting (Shuaib, 1998). 
9  Khoury presented this report on behalf of Deloitte and Touche at the GCC Universities Accounting 

Departments’ First International Accounting Conference held at Kuwait University. 



Country Law and its date of issue Effective Date Application Authorised body requiring 
adoption of IASs 

Bahrain External Auditing Law No. 26 of 1996 issued on 24 
February 1996 

1 January 1996 All listed companies Ministry of Commerce 

Oman Professional Accounting and Auditing Law No. 77 of 
1986 issued on 18 October 1986 

1 January 1986 All listed companies Ministry of Commerce 

Kuwait Ministerial Resolution No. 18 of 1990 issued on 17 
April 1990 

1 January 1991 All listed companies Ministry of Commerce 

Saudi Arabia The Saudi Arabia Monetary Agency Circular No. 
11/2 of 1992 issued on 23 July 1992 

1 January 1992 Banks and investment and 
finance companies 

Saudi Arabia Monetary Agency 
(SAMA) 

Qatar The Central Bank of Qatar Circular No. 27 of 1999 
issued on 19 February 1999 

1 January 1999 Banks and investment and 
finance companies 

Qatar Central bank 

UAE The Central Bank of UAE Circular No. 20 of 1999 
issued on 25 January 1999 

1 January 1999 Banks and investment and 
finance companies 

UAE Central bank 
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1992, 1999 and 1999 respectively.10 According to Abdallah (2001, p. 136), the 

involvement of foreign ownership in banks led the Saudi Arabia Monetary Agency 

(SAMA, which is responsible for registration, supervision and monitoring of financial 

institutions’ activities and reporting) to require them to adopt IASs to provide reliable, 

understandable and comparable financial statements to local and foreign investors.  

 

The widespread use of the IASs in regard to the financial statements of banks and other 

financial institutions in many countries across the world led the UAE central Bank to 

adopt IASs, to increase understanding and comparability of financial reports of banks 

operating in the UAE in order to enhance their relative position (UAECB, 1999) . 

Similarly, in Qatar, the increasing number of foreign banks that voluntarily used IASs led 

the Qatar Central Bank (QCB) to require all banks (foreign and national) to adopt IASs. 

The reasons given were to unify accounting standards used by banks, to better observe 

their performance and to increase the level of comparability of financial reports, thereby 

meeting the greater demand for information from shareholders and the public (QCB, 

2004).11

2.3 Independent Audit 

The quality of financial reporting is not only determined by the quality of the accounting 

standards, such as IASs, but also by the effectiveness of the enforcement of these 

accounting standards (Ball, Robin and Wu, 2003; Francis, Khurana and Pereira, 2003; 

Saudagaran, 2004, p. 7). One mechanism designed to enforce listed companies’ 

compliance with IASs and other relevant accounting regulations is the independent audit 

(Glaum and Street, 2003). The importance of the role of an external auditor is shown by 

the fact that company law and external auditor law in each member state stress the role of 

the auditor in promoting compliance with relevant regulations. In all GCC member states, 

company law requires the annual financial statements of a listed company to be audited 

by at least one external auditor, who must be registered with the Ministry of Commerce. 

Company law also requires the external auditor to be appointed by the annual general 

meeting of shareholders; furthermore, the auditor’s remuneration must be determined by 

shareholders at such a meeting.  

 

                                                 
10  In all GCC member states, Islamic institutions listed on the stock exchange must meet a separate set 

of disclosure and measurement requirements and are exempt from complying with IASs (Abdel 
Karim, 2001).  

11  Seven foreign banks were operating in Qatar as of June 2005 (QCB, 2005). 
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Company laws in the GCC member states contain common provisions concerning the 

responsibility of the external auditor. The external auditor has a specific obligation to 

report non-compliance with accounting standards and other regulations in their report to 

the respective Ministry of Commerce. The external auditor must not be a board member, 

founder, or hold a management or administrative position in the audited company. The 

external auditor must give an opinion as to whether the company maintains proper 

accounts, whether all information they deem necessary for the satisfactory performance of 

their duties was made available, whether the balance sheet and the profit and loss 

statement are in conformity with the “real state of a company’s affairs”, whether they 

comply with the requirements of the provisions of company law, and whether they reflect 

“honestly and clearly” the financial position of the company.  

 

External audit laws have been enacted in all GCC member states to regulate the auditing 

profession. It is argued that the effectiveness of the audit function depends on the 

qualifications of the auditor (Arnett and Danos, 1979; Shuaib, 1999; Al-Basteki, 2000). 

Table 2.3 summarises the requirements of the GCC member states with respect to the 

qualification of auditors and their role in promoting compliance. Commonalities are 

exhibited in requiring audits to be undertaken by auditors licensed by the Ministry of 

Commerce, in work experience requirements for all auditors, and in the imposition of 

penalties on auditors for violation of legislation or auditing standards.  

 

Differences are apparent in examinations for admission to the profession, professional 

training of auditors and adoption of international standards of auditing (ISAs) issued by 

the International Federation of Accountants (IFAC). In Kuwait and Saudi Arabia, 

examination is mandatory for admission to the profession. In Oman, Saudi Arabia and 

UAE, professional training for auditors is required. In Bahrain, Kuwait, UAE and Oman, 

the auditor must conduct the audit using ISAs issued by the IFAC, while in Qatar the 

auditor must audit the accounts of companies in light of generally accepted auditing 

standards (GAAS). GAAS are not defined, however. 

 

In Saudi Arabia, an external auditor must follow Saudi Standards of Auditing (SSA) 

issued by SOCPA.12 These differences could affect the extent to which auditors promote  

 

 
12  Prior to the formation of SOCPA, Saudi Auditing Standards were issued from 1986 by the Ministry of 

Commerce (Al-Ruhaily, 1997). 



Country Law regulating 
auditors 

Audits only by 
government 
certified and 

licensed auditors 

Use of 
International 
Standards of 

Auditing (ISAs) 

Examination for 
admission 

Professional 
training 

requirements 

Work experience 
required for 

auditors 

Penalties may 
apply where 

external auditors 
breach a 

regulation 
Bahrain External Auditing Law 

No. 26 of 1996 
Yes Yes No No Yes Yes 

Oman Professional 
Accounting and 
Auditing Law No. 77 of 
1986 and replaced by 
Law No. 58 of 1996 

Yes Yes No Yes Yes Yes 

Kuwait External Auditing Law 
No. 6 of 1962 
amended by Law No. 3 
of 1965 and replaced 
by Law No. 5 of 1981 

Yes Yes Yes No Yes Yes 

Saudi Arabia 
 

Chartered Accountants 
Law No. M/43 of 1974, 
amended by Law No. 
12 of 1992 

Yes No Yes Yes Yes Yes 

Qatar Auditing Law No. 7 of 
1974 

Yes No No No Yes Yes 

UAE Professional 
Accounting and 
Auditing Law No. 9 of 
1975 replaced by Law 
No. 22 of 1995 

Yes Yes No Yes Yes Yes 
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compliance with IASs. Healy and Palepu (2001) argued that differences in auditors’ 

qualifications and professional training requirements affect the credibility of audit reports 

and financial statements. As a consequence, countries where admission is by examination 

or where there are professional training requirements (Kuwait, Saudi Arabia, Oman and 

UAE) are more likely to have a stronger audit function and are more likely to detect and 

question non-compliance with mandatory accounting standards.  

 

In each GCC member state, an external auditor may be subject to disciplinary proceedings 

by the Disciplinary Committee of the Ministry of Commerce. The Minister of Commerce 

has the power to refer an auditor to the Disciplinary Committee, if they were accused of 

violating a regulation relating to financial reporting or the norms of the profession, or if 

they were believed to have committed a grave act of negligence or a dishonourable act. 

The Disciplinary Committee would make a decision after discussing the accusation with 

the auditor. If it became evident that the auditor had violated a regulation, the Disciplinary 

Committee would issue a disciplinary order. In all GCC member states, penalties range 

from a caution to a warning to suspension for a period of no longer than three years or, 

ultimately, to removal from the Register of Auditors maintained by the Ministry of 

Commerce. Further, company law in each state contains provisions for prosecuting 

auditors for failure to report non-compliance with a regulation or law. 

 

Incidents of punitive measures being applied against auditors in the GCC member states 

are infrequent. Based on information provided by interviewees, there has been no case of 

punitive action against an auditor except in Kuwait and Oman. In Kuwait, in 2001 and for 

the first time since the passage of the External Auditing Law of 1962, the Disciplinary 

Committee was activated to investigate an accusation that an auditor had violated IAS 

requirements.13 The auditor gave an unqualified audit report to a company that had 

violated IAS requirements by making incomplete disclosures and reporting inaccurate 

information. The Disciplinary Committee cautioned the auditor. 

 

In Oman, the Capital Market Authority (CMA) and its surveillance committee were 

established in 1998. The interviewee indicated that it was only after this that there had 

been pressure on auditors to promote greater compliance with IASs and other regulations, 

for fear of penalty.14 There have been two cases of serious non-compliance with IAS 

                                                 
13  The interviewee mentioned this was the only case.  
14  The surveillance committee of the CMA in Oman is discussed in the next section. 
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requirements in which the external auditor gave an unqualified audit report. In 1999, the 

Disciplinary Committee was formed for the first time since promulgating the Professional 

Accounting and Auditing Law of 1986 to investigate an accusation that an external 

auditor had failed to notify violation of an accounting regulation. The Disciplinary 

Committee warned the external auditor for not reporting the violation. According to the 

interviewee, the external auditor was associated with one of the Big Five audit firms, and 

the Committee came under some pressure from the firm’s headquarters overseas not to 

penalise the external auditor because of potential loss of reputation. In 2001, another 

external auditor was accused of not reporting a violation by a client company that did not 

disclose sufficient information about its activities in accordance with IAS requirements. 

The Disciplinary Committee issued a warning to the external auditor. No auditor in any 

GCC member state has been prosecuted in a public court for an audit failure. 

 

The comprehensiveness of the audit function differs among the states. The qualifications 

required of auditors (including passing examinations for admission and professional 

training requirements) could be one factor enhancing the comprehensiveness of the audit 

function. The effectiveness of the enforcement body in investigating a complaint and 

imposing penalties on auditors who do not report an instance of non-compliance are 

potential factors that would influence whether a registered auditor ensured compliance.  

 

As a consequence, with respect to Kuwait and Oman, it can be argued that the 

effectiveness of the audit function was improved after the disciplinary committee took 

action against the auditor concerned. Evidence of an increasing number of qualified audit 

reports was provided from a review of 50 Kuwaiti listed companies’ independent audit 

reports. Three of the 50 companies received a qualified report in 1996, three in 1999 and 

seven in 2002. In Oman, a review of the independent audit reports of 43 listed companies 

revealed that two companies received qualified reports in 1996, five in 1999 and ten in 

2002.  

 

In contrast, no disciplinary action has been taken in Bahrain, Saudi Arabia, Qatar and the 

UAE; and in those states there has been almost a complete absence of qualified audit 

reports. In Bahrain, a review of companies’ independent audit reports for 1996, 1997, 

1999 and 2002 revealed only one company received a qualified audit report in 1997 and 

1999, while there were none in 1996 or 2002. In Saudi Arabia, Qatar and the UAE, no 
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independent audit report of a bank or investment company was qualified in the sample 

period.  

2.4 Enforcement  

In addition to promoting compliance with IASs by requiring the appointment of an 

external auditor, company laws in all states have provisions establishing government 

enforcement bodies. The laws provide for proactive and reactive monitoring of 

companies’ accounts by the enforcement body. Proactive monitoring refers to the process 

of monitoring companies’ compliance with IASs and other accounting regulations with a 

view to detecting non-compliance (FRRP, 2004). Reactive monitoring refers to the 

process of examining a company’s compliance with IASs and other relevant accounting 

regulations after the enforcement body receives a complaint, from shareholders or other 

parties, that the company may have failed to comply (FRRP, 2004). When a violation is 

proven, penalties may be imposed on members of the board of directors, the company’s 

managers or staff, or the external auditor as provided by the law.  

 

The enforcement process typically entails the following steps: 

1. Lodgement of audited annual financial statements with the company registrar — 

which (in the sample used in this thesis) applies to all types of listed company in 

Bahrain, Oman and Kuwait — or with the central bank, which applies to banks and 

finance-and-investment companies in Saudi Arabia, Qatar and the UAE.  

2. The enforcement body checks that the required financial statements have been lodged 

with the appropriate authorities. 

3. The enforcement body checks the financial statements for compliance with IASs. 

 

Table 2.4 shows that the extent to which these steps are followed varies by state. The 

Ministry of Commerce is the “official watchdog” for monitoring all listed companies’ 

compliance with IASs and other regulations in Bahrain, Oman and Kuwait. In Kuwait and 

Oman, the securities authorities also play a role. The central bank is solely responsible for 

monitoring banks and finance and investment companies in Qatar, Saudi Arabia and the 

UAE. 

 

 



Country Enforcement body Financial 
statements are 

lodged with 
enforcement body 

Body checks 
compliance with 

IASs 

Body relies on 
independent audit 

reports for 
checking 

compliance with 
IASs 

Number of 
external auditors 
required by law to 

audit a listed 
company’s 
accounts 

Company officers 
or directors may 

be prosecuted for 
non-compliance 
with regulations 

Company officers 
or directors may 
be fined for non-
compliance with 

regulations 

Bahrain Ministry of Commerce 
and Industry 
 

Yes No Yes One Yes Yes 

Oman Ministry of Commerce 
and Capital Market 
Authority 
 

Yes Yes No One Yes Yes 

Kuwait Ministry of Commerce 
and Industry and Kuwait 
Stock Exchange 
 

Yes Yes No Two No Yes 

Saudi 
Arabia 

Ministry of Commerce 
and Saudi Arabia 
Monetary Agency 
(SAMA) 
 

Yes No Yes Two Yes Yes 

Qatar Ministry of Economy and 
Commerce and Qatar 
Central Bank 
 

Yes No Yes Two Yes Yes 

UAE Ministry of Economy and 
Commerce and UAE 
Central Bank 

Yes Only IAS 30 Yes One Yes Yes 

Sources: GCC Company and Securities legislation and private discussions with officers responsible for monitoring and enforcing regulations in each state. 

Table  2.4: Enforcement of financial reporting requirements in the GCC member states 
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2.4.1 The Enforcement Process: Bahrain, Oman and Kuwait 

To facilitate understanding of the enforcement process, the practices in Bahrain, Oman 

and Kuwait are discussed first. These states constitute the majority of the companies in 

the sample in this study. The remaining states are discussed in the next section. In 

Bahrain, Kuwait and Oman, the Surveillance Department of the respective Ministries of 

Commerce is responsible for monitoring listed companies’ compliance. In Kuwait and 

Oman, the stock markets are also involved in the monitoring process. There are, however, 

procedural differences between the member states.  

 

In Bahrain, the Surveillance Department of the Ministry of Commerce primarily relies on 

the external auditor’s report for monitoring a company’s compliance with IASs. The 

Department does check compliance with company law requirements including lodgement 

of the financial statements within the prescribed period. If the Ministry notes the audit 

report is qualified because of non-compliance, it would communicate with the external 

auditor concerned and with the company’s management to discuss the non-compliance 

issue and to advise management on any action to be taken to correct the situation. If the 

management were to refuse to take any action deemed necessary then the Ministry’s staff 

could raise the matter with the company’s shareholders at the annual general meeting. 

They could then take any action available to them, such as dismissing the management, 

members of the board of directors, or the external auditor.  

 

Irrespective of the type of audit report, if a complaint were received about a company’s 

non-compliance with IASs from shareholders, the Department would contact the external 

auditor about the complaint. Reactive monitoring, if it happened, would be undertaken by 

another external auditor. The Department has, at the time of writing, not received any 

complaints about companies’ non-compliance with IASs. During the last three years, the 

Ministry received four enquiries from shareholders who questioned whether a company 

had complied with IASs.15 In these cases, the Ministry immediately communicated with 

the external auditor to check the position. The enquiries related to possible inadequate 

disclosure of the board’s compensation, of the company’s revenue and expenses, or of 

litigation over the company’s assets. The external auditor investigated the enquiries and 

                                                 
15 The interviewee considers them enquiries because they were not raised by eligible shareholders. 

(Company law states that reactive monitoring may be conducted in accordance with application of 
shareholders holding not less than 25 percent of a company’s issued shares.) 
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found that they were groundless. To date, no board member or manager has been sued 

over such a matter in Bahrain. 

 

The Bahrain Stock Exchange (BSE) relies totally on the external auditor’s report for 

monitoring a company’s compliance with IASs. Similarly, the Bahrain Monetary Agency 

(the de facto central bank), which is responsible for supervising banks and finance and 

investment companies, also relies on the audit report.  

 

In Kuwait, there is no coordination between the Surveillance Department in the Ministry 

of Commerce and the Kuwait Stock Exchange (KSE).16 Each body conducts its own 

monitoring. This has led to conflicting opinions and mixed results in regard to compliance 

with IASs. The Surveillance Department of the Ministry of Commerce checks whether 

companies comply with the company law requirements including the lodgement of 

audited annual financial statements. A checklist based on IAS 1, prepared by the 

Department’s staff, is used to check each company’s annual report for compliance before 

it is distributed to shareholders. The Department relies primarily on the external auditor’s 

report for indicating compliance with IASs other than IAS 1.  

 

Unlike the Ministry’s limited monitoring mechanism, the KSE, through its Surveillance 

Department, has been responsible for monitoring in greater detail listed companies’ 

compliance with company law requirements. These include the lodgement of audited 

annual financial statements with the KSE and the provisions of the securities law. In 

1999, just before foreign investors were first permitted to trade on the KSE, the 

Department also became legally responsible for monitoring listed companies’ compliance 

with IASs. The Department monitors companies’ IAS compliance through a checklist for 

every IAS. The checklist is prepared by technically qualified staff and checked against 

each company’s annual report. If a Departmental review detects a possible case of non-

compliance with an IAS requirement and the external auditor did not report the violation, 

the Department can communicate with the company’s manager and the external auditor to 

investigate the matter further. If it is evident that the company has violated a requirement 

of an IAS, the Department can report the case to the Minister of Commerce, for 

assessment and decision, through the Market Director. The Minister of Commerce may 

                                                 
16  On 10 February 2002 there was a meeting between representatives from the KSE and the Ministry of 

Commerce to discuss possibly unifying their enforcement mechanisms. No decision was taken at this 
meeting (Al-Qabas Newspaper, 2002).  
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take any necessary steps to convene a meeting of shareholders, who have the right to take 

further action. If the general meeting were to decide to pursue a legal remedy then the 

Minister of Commerce would refer the case to a Commercial Court. The Minister of 

Commerce would refer any case against an external auditor to a Disciplinary Committee 

of the Ministry of Commerce for hearing and possible action. The Market Director also 

has authority to refer cases to the KSE’s Disciplinary Committee. The Disciplinary 

Committee may impose a penalty for the violation such as a warning, a suspension of 

dealing in the company’s securities or even delisting.  

 

If a company’s audit report is qualified, a representative from the Ministry of Commerce 

can attend the annual general meeting and raise the matter for the attention of 

shareholders. They have the right to take action, such as dismissing the management, 

members of the board of directors or the external auditor. In 2001, the Surveillance 

Department of the Ministry of Commerce received one complaint from shareholders 

under these provisions. Another external auditor investigated the matter. It was found that 

significant liabilities were not disclosed in the financial statements. The general meeting 

dismissed a member of the board of directors, the company’s general manager and the 

external auditor. However, the general meeting stopped short of instituting legal 

proceedings against those who were dismissed. 

 

The Central Bank of Kuwait, which is responsible for supervising banks and finance and 

investment companies, relies on the audit report for monitoring compliance with IASs and 

other regulations.  

 

In Oman, the Capital Market Authority (CMA) was established in 1998. Until then the 

Ministry of Commerce relied on the independent audit report to monitor a company’s 

compliance with IASs and with provisions of Company Law. After the CMA was created, 

a Surveillance Committee was formed, comprising representatives from the Ministry of 

Commerce and Muscat Securities Market (MSM), with responsibility to monitor 

companies’ compliance with IASs and other regulations.17 The Surveillance Department 

of the MSM monitors compliance with IASs by using a confidential checklist of IASs 

constructed by departmental staff18 and informs the Committee by reports.19 This 

                                                 
17  The Surveillance Committee is headed by the Director of Companies Affairs and has three other 

members, one from the Ministry of Commerce and Industry and two from MSM.  
18  The interviewer was unable to obtain a copy of the checklist. 
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proactive surveillance is apparently conducted for each listed company and for every 

standard.  

 

The “due process” is as follows. If the Departmental review detects a possible case of 

non-compliance with an IAS requirement or other regulation and the external auditor did 

not report the violation, the Department can communicate with the company’s manager 

and the external auditor to verify the matter. Depending on the outcome, it can ask the 

company’s manager to amend the financial statements based on the Department’s view. If 

the manager refuses to make the alteration then the Department can report the case to the 

Minister of Commerce for assessment and decision through the Surveillance Committee. 

The Minister of Commerce may take any necessary steps to convene a meeting of 

shareholders, who have the right to take action against the people responsible for the 

violation. If the general meeting decides to pursue a legal remedy then the Minister of 

Commerce would refer the case to a Commercial Court. The Minister of Commerce 

would refer any case against an external auditor to a Disciplinary Committee of the 

Ministry of Commerce for hearing and possible action. In addition, the Surveillance 

Committee of the CMA has the authority to refer cases to the Disciplinary Committee to 

take further action. The Disciplinary Committee may impose a penalty, including a 

warning, suspension of dealing in the company’s securities or even delisting.  

 

If a company’s audit report is qualified, a representative from the Ministry of Commerce 

can attend the annual general meeting and bring the matter to the attention of 

shareholders. The shareholders have the right to take further action such as dismissing the 

management, members of the board of directors or the external auditor.  

 

The Surveillance Department of MSM has received two complaints from shareholders 

about alleged violation of IASs since the establishment of the CMA.20 There have been 

two other cases where serious non-compliance with IASs and other regulations have been 

established.21 The cases of non-compliance with IASs were detected by the Surveillance 

Department. They were then reported to the Surveillance Committee which, in turn, 

reported them to the Minister of Commerce, who ordered the convening of a general 
                                                                                                                                               
19  The Capital Market Law came into force on 1 January 1999. 
20  The interviewee noted that there have been “a few” complaints from shareholders who did not know 

their rights. Consequently, the CMA has published a statement of shareholders’ rights to enhance 
shareholders’ knowledge. 

21  The interviewee said that there are other cases of breaching IAS requirements and other regulations 
that are still before the Commercial Court for hearing and decision. 
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meeting of shareholders to discuss the issue and take any necessary action. After the 

general meeting had decided to take legal action against the people believed responsible 

for the violation, the Commercial Court22 heard all involved parties and entered a 

judgment.  

 

In the first case, the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of a company was found guilty of 

breaching a regulation by not disclosing information in accordance with IASs and by 

giving untrue information about capital expenditures and other expenses and revenues. 

The CEO of that company was fined and imprisoned for three years. The Disciplinary 

Committee of the Ministry of Commerce also warned the external auditor for not 

reporting the violations (as discussed above). In the second case, the Commercial Court 

found the chairman23 and all members of the board of directors guilty of breaching a 

regulation by not disclosing information about their company’s purposes, in accordance 

with IASs. The company’s funds had been used for personal activities, and shareholders 

were misled by inadequate disclosure and information that was untrue. All members of 

the board of directors, including the chairman, were imprisoned.  

 

The Omani Central Bank, which is responsible for supervising banks and finance and 

investment companies, relies totally on the independent audit report for monitoring 

compliance with IASs and other regulations.  

 

In Bahrain, Oman and Kuwait, the Surveillance Department of the Ministry of Commerce 

also calculates a set of financial ratios, such as leverage, liquidity, return on assets and 

return on equity, to check the financial status of each company.  

 

2.4.2 The Enforcement Process: Qatar, Saudi Arabia and the UAE 

In Qatar, Saudi Arabia and the UAE, the central banks, through their Banking 

Surveillance Departments, are responsible for supervision and for monitoring banks’ 

activities and reporting. There are differences among these three member states with 

respect to the extent to which they enforce compliance.  

 

                                                 
22  The Commercial Court consists of two judges selected by the Minister of Justice and a member who is 

a specialist in accounting.  
23  The interviewee reported that, perhaps because the chairman was a previous minister, the Disciplinary 

Committee agreed to release him after making good the amount that was stolen.  
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In Qatar, the Department relies totally on independent audit reports for monitoring a 

bank’s compliance with IASs, company law and the central bank requirements. The 

Department monitors only the lodgement of audited financial statements with the central 

bank. In Saudi Arabia, the Department relies on the independent audit report for 

monitoring banks’ compliance with IASs only. The Department itself monitors banks’ 

compliance with company law requirements including lodgement of audited financial 

statements. In the UAE, the Department relies on the independent audit report for 

monitoring banks’ compliance with all relevant IASs other than IAS 30.24 It reviews 

compliance with IAS 30 by using a checklist. It also monitors other company law 

requirements including lodgement of audited financial statements. In all three member 

states, the Banking Surveillance Department calculates financial ratios, such as liquidity 

and leverage, for banks and finance and investment companies to assess the financial 

status of the company. The Department in each of these three member states does not 

seem to conduct its own proactive monitoring, except to the extent that compliance with 

IAS 30 is checked in the UAE. 

 

In Saudi Arabia in 1992 and in Qatar in 1999, when IASs were first adopted, the central 

bank required banks to appoint at least two external auditors from those registered with 

the Ministry of Commerce to audit their accounts and to report any non-compliance with 

IASs or other regulations to the central bank. In the UAE there is no legal requirement for 

banks or finance and investment companies to appoint more than one external auditor. 

However, it was noted from reviewing independent audit reports that the financial 

statements of all banks and finance and investment companies are audited by at least two 

or even three external auditors. According to the interviewees, the auditors independently 

check a company’s financial statements for compliance and produce a joint audit report 

signed by all of them. 

 

In each of the three member states, the central bank works closely with the Ministry of 

Commerce to ensure compliance. If a bank’s external audit report is unqualified, the 

central bank in Qatar and Saudi Arabia assumes that the bank complies fully with IASs. 

In the UAE, if a bank’s external audit report is unqualified, the central bank assumes that 

the bank complies fully with IASs other than IAS 30, which it checks itself. For the three 

member states, if the external auditor were to report an instance of non-compliance with 

                                                 
24 IAS 30: Disclosures in the Financial Statements of Banks and Similar Financial Institutions. 
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IASs or some other regulation, the Department would first discuss the matter with the 

external auditors. Then the Department would communicate with the bank’s manager, 

recommending any amendment deemed necessary to ensure compliance. If the bank did 

not comply and did not adequately justify non-compliance, Ministry of Commerce staff 

could attend a shareholders’ meeting and raise any non-compliance issue for the attention 

of shareholders, who could then take appropriate action against those responsible. 

Shareholders have the right to discuss any issues with the external auditor at the annual 

general meeting. Shareholders have the power to dismiss any person responsible for 

violating a regulation and can take legal action to recover damages from them. 

 

In Qatar, Saudi Arabia and the UAE, the Department can receive complaints from 

shareholders who suspect a violation, but it would conduct a reactive investigation only 

where shareholders who hold a specified minimum percentage of the bank’s issued share 

capital raise the possibility of non-compliance. Another external auditor, not the 

Department, would conduct the investigation. The external auditor would report the 

results of their audit to the Department within a specified time. If the report confirmed 

non-compliance, the central bank would, in conjunction with the Ministry of Commerce, 

arrange for a general meeting of shareholders to be convened. A suitable person appointed 

by the Minister of Commerce would chair this. It would discuss the issue and take any 

action deemed necessary. The general meeting would have the right to dismiss members 

of the board of directors, the company’s managers or the external auditor and to initiate 

legal proceedings against them. If the general meeting decided to take such legal action, 

the Minister of Commerce would refer the case to a Commercial Court authorised to hear 

all affected parties regarding the matter. If it is determined that any person connected with 

the company or the auditor has not complied with an IAS or has violated some other 

regulation, a penalty may be imposed by the court.  

 

In Qatar, Saudi Arabia and the UAE, the Department had neither received any complaint 

about a bank or investment company violating a regulation nor observed any non-

compliance issue based on an external audit report during the period of this study (1996–

2002). To date, no board member or manager has been taken to court for non-compliance 

in any of the three states. If we were to accept the independent audit reports at face value, 

we would (erroneously) conclude that all banking, finance and investment companies had 

complied fully with IASs and other regulations during those years.  
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The stock market in each of these three member states also relies implicitly on the bank’s 

external auditor to report any non-compliance with IASs or other regulations affecting the 

financial statements.25   

2.4.3 Limits to Enforcement  

The above discussion identifies possibly significant differences among GCC member 

states in relation to monitoring and enforcing companies’ compliance with IASs. The 

enforcement bodies in Bahrain, Saudi Arabia, Qatar and the UAE have not implemented 

all of the provisions of their company law relating to proactive and reactive monitoring 

and enforcing compliance.  

 

Several reasons were given by interviewees to justify the lack of complete governmental 

enforcement: 

1. There are limited budgets for monitoring compliance. There is little staff training, and 

it is difficult to hire qualified accountants due to relatively low salary levels and lack 

of incentives.  

2. There is a desire to avoid duplicating compliance monitoring, given that two external 

auditors are required by law to audit the accounts.  

3. Surveillance departments can be overburdened with other responsibilities. For 

example, in Bahrain the department monitors not only joint stock companies but also 

all companies with limited liability.  

 

In Kuwait and Oman, although the enforcement bodies seem to be more active, the 

officials interviewed acknowledged monitoring is difficult due to the short period given to 

the enforcement bodies to review the financial statements: a minimum of three weeks 

before the annual general meeting. 

2.5 Accounting Harmonisation Efforts in the GCC Region 

Recognition of the important role played by accounting in national economic affairs has 

motivated policy-makers in the GCC administrations to become involved in financial 

reporting regulation (GCCAAO, 2003b). The initial effort at harmonising regional 

                                                 
25  The Doha Securities Market (DSM) of Qatar and the Saudi Stock Exchange (SSE) are the only stock 

markets in these two states. There are two stock markets in the UAE, namely the Dubai Financial 
Market (DMF) and the Abu Dhabi Securities Market (ADSM). 
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financial reporting was manifested in the formation of the Commercial Cooperative 

Committee in November 1982. The main objective of the Committee was to unify or 

harmonise accounting and auditing regulations and practices in the region.26  

 

The Committee has taken several steps towards harmonising financial reporting 

regulations including:  

1. Professionals in accounting have been permitted to register and practise in the country 

of their choice since 1987. 

2. GCC nationals have been allowed to invest in stocks listed on any stock exchange and 

in any joint stock company in the GCC states since 1988. 

3. Joint stock companies have been permitted to list on any other GCC stock exchange 

since 1989. 

4. GCC nationals have been permitted to establish joint stock companies in any country 

of their choice since 1994.  

5. Unified company law has been issued as a guidance for the member states since 1998 

(GCCAAO, 2003b). 

 

Despite these developments, the Committee had been criticised for not achieving its main 

objective of harmonising accounting and auditing standards. One reason given for the 

Committee’s failure is the absence of professional representatives on it (Al-Ruhaily, 

1997). This has led the Secretariat General of the GCC to emphasise that professionals 

must play a significant role in harmonising accounting and auditing regulations and 

practices in the region. As a result, the Gulf Co-Operation Council Accounting and 

Auditing Organization (GCCAAO) was established in December 1998.27 It has as its 

main objectives the promotion of the accounting and auditing profession, and the 

achievement of coordination and integration between member states by unifying financial 

reporting laws and regulations in general and accounting and auditing standards in 

particular.  

 

The GCCAAO is still in its early stages of operation. In June 2003, it completed the first 

draft of its conceptual framework of accounting and auditing (GCCAAO, 2003a).28  The 

                                                 
26  This committee consists of the Ministers of Commerce or Finance of the GCC member states. 
27  The GCCAAO began operations in May 2001 (GCCAAO, 2003b). 
28 Texts of the conceptual framework may be seen on the organisation's website 
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conceptual framework proposed that IASs issued by the IASB should be the basis for 

setting accounting standards suitable to the GCC business environment. This suggestion 

reflects the fact that IASs have been adopted in all GCC member states except Saudi 

Arabia, which has adopted IASs in cases where there is no Saudi accounting standard 

(GCCAAO, 2003a).  

2.6 Summary 

This chapter has described the respective legal frameworks for corporate financial 

reporting in the GCC member states. This was necessary because of their significant role 

in specifying the financial reporting regime, in establishing a due process for monitoring 

and enforcing accounting standards, and because of their influence on the extent of 

compliance with those standards.  

 

Changes in the legal framework in relation to monitoring and enforcement mechanisms 

have been highlighted to show their impact on compliance. The roles of external auditors 

and government enforcement bodies in monitoring and enforcing companies’ compliance 

with accounting standards and other regulations have been discussed. The roles of stock 

exchanges and the central bank requirements in relation to monitoring and enforcement 

have also been outlined.  

 

While the GCC member states have much in common in relation to the adoption of IASs, 

there are some important differences. IASs have been adopted as mandatory accounting 

standards for all listed companies in Oman, Kuwait and Bahrain effective from 1986, 

1991 and 1996 respectively. Banking sector laws have required banks and other financial 

institutions to adopt IASs in Saudi Arabia, Qatar and the UAE effective from 1992, 1999 

and 1999 respectively.  

 

The comprehensiveness of the audit function is not the same in all states. The registration 

requirements of auditors and the existence of an effective supervisory body could affect 

the ability of external auditors to detect (and their preparedness to report) instances of 

non-compliance. The effectiveness of the enforcement body would be reflected in its 

willingness to investigate any allegation against an auditor and to impose a penalty on an 

                                                                                                                                               
(www.gccaao.org/theoriticalaspect.html). The Board decided to distribute the draft of the conceptual 
framework to accountants, auditors, universities, capital markets, related government bodies and users 
of financial reports for comment.  
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auditor who did not report an instance of non-compliance. For this reason we might 

expect to observe between-state differences in the extent of non-compliance with IASs. 

 

Arrangements for monitoring companies’ compliance with IASs differ among the 

member states. The enforcement bodies in Qatar, Saudi Arabia, the UAE and Bahrain rely 

primarily on the independent audit report. Those of Kuwait and Oman undertake their 

own monitoring. Generally, there is little if any proactive monitoring, the exceptions 

being Oman and Kuwait; however, the enforcement body in the UAE does investigate 

some disclosures. Correspondingly, provision is made for reactive monitoring if enough 

shareholders complain. Reactive monitoring is conducted by appointing another external 

auditor in all states except Oman.  

 

It seems that the provisions concerning compliance monitoring are less stringent in Qatar, 

Bahrain, the UAE and Saudi Arabia. Potential reasons for the comparative absence of 

effective monitoring by these enforcement bodies are a lack of professional training, 

salaries insufficient to attract technically qualified staff and a lack of funding in that 

surveillance departments have other responsibilities as well. To date, no audit firm, board 

member or manager has been taken to court over a non-compliance matter except in 

Oman and Kuwait. 

 

Compliance with IASs and other regulations is not enforced uniformly across the member 

states. This is another reason to expect that the level of compliance varies by state. In 

Qatar, there is no effective enforcement body; whereas, in Saudi Arabia and the UAE, the 

enforcement bodies monitor at least some regulations. Therefore, it can be expected that 

the level of compliance in the UAE and Saudi Arabia by banking and investment 

companies is higher than in Qatar. Assuming, as seems to be the case, that the 

enforcement bodies in Kuwait and Oman are more active than in Bahrain, it can be 

expected that the level of compliance with IASs in Oman and Kuwait is higher than in 

Bahrain. Furthermore, the average level of compliance with IASs in Kuwait and Oman is 

expected to be higher than in Bahrain, Qatar, the UAE and Saudi Arabia. 

 

In general, the level of compliance with IASs is expected to have increased over time in 

the GCC region if only because enforcement activities have increased in all member 

states. Recently, at least two external auditors have been required to audit companies’ 

accounts in Qatar and Saudi Arabia. In the UAE, although there is no legal requirement 
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for more than one external auditor to be appointed, common practice is for UAE banking 

and investment companies to have their accounts audited by two and sometimes three 

external auditors. In Bahrain, shareholders have recently begun to question instances of a 

possible violation of IASs or other regulations. This suggests that they may have become 

more aware of and more willing to pursue their statutory rights. In Oman and Kuwait, the 

enforcement bodies have become more active in monitoring companies’ compliance with 

IASs and other regulations in recent years. 

 

The above analysis can be formalised as several hypotheses reflecting differences across 

states and over time in the strength of the mechanisms for compliance monitoring and 

enforcement. These are developed in Chapter Four.  

 

In addition to the hypotheses that follow from this discussion of the legal framework 

applicable in the GCC states, there are other pressures, from market forces and managerial 

incentives, that may influence a company’s level of compliance. These matters are 

discussed in the next chapter. 
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Chapter 3: Related Literature 

3.0 Introduction 

The purpose of this chapter is to place the study in context and to inform the study by 

reviewing the relevant literature on adoption of and compliance with accounting 

standards. Financial reporting is subject to various influences including pressure from 

enforcement bodies, auditors, market forces and managers responding to their own 

incentives (Healy and Palepu, 2001). In Chapter Two, the roles of the regulatory bodies 

and external auditors in promoting companies’ compliance with international accounting 

standards (IASs) and other regulations were discussed. In this chapter, the focus is 

primarily on pressure exerted by market forces and managers’ personal incentives.  

 

The review begins in Section 3.1 with studies that provide theoretical explanations for 

financial disclosure within a framework of market forces and managerial incentives. It 

then moves on to studies that use that framework to explore the relationship between 

disclosure and company attributes. Those are discussed in Section 3.2. The discussion 

then extends, in Section 3.3, to studies that link financial disclosure to the use of IASs. 

Studies of the relationship between company attributes and the extent of compliance with 

IASs are discussed in Section 3.4. The chapter concludes with a summary in Section 3.5. 

3.1 Explanations for Financial Reporting Disclosure 

Financial reporting disclosure has been examined in a number of ways in the accounting 

literature, each taking a different view depending on the environment of the users and 

preparers of the reports (Gibbins, Richardson and Waterhouse, 1990). The American 

Accounting Association Committee on Concepts and Standards for External Financial 

Reports concluded that there exists in the financial accounting literature a collection of 

theories that presume differences in the user-environment, and that there is no single 

governing theory of financial disclosure rich enough to encompass the full range (AAA, 

1977). This section presents some of the more commonly accepted explanations for 

financial reporting disclosure.  

3.1.1 Market Forces and Financial Disclosure 

One explanation is that disclosure of financial information satisfies a demand by investors 

when making valuation and investment decisions. Choi (1973) presented what might be 

termed the “capital need” theory, which links a company’s level of disclosure to its cost 
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of capital. The theory suggests companies disclose more information to reduce investors’ 

uncertainty with respect to the company’s present and future affairs, allowing them to 

accept a lower rate of return and, thereby, yielding a lower cost of capital for the 

company. Foster (1986, pp. 31-33) summarises how capital markets can influence the 

contents of financial reports. As companies try to raise capital at the lowest possible cost, 

they compete with each other in capital markets on the type of security offered and on the 

issue terms and future returns. There may be uncertainty about the quality of a company 

and its securities. In such cases, investors will demand information to help evaluate the 

timing and the risk of existing and future cash flows. This enables them to value 

companies and to make other investment decisions such as choosing a portfolio of 

securities. As a result, companies are motivated to disclose information in their financial 

reports that will reduce undiversifiable information risk. This allows them to raise capital 

at a lower cost.  

 

Taking earnings as a premier source of company-specific information and under the view 

that properties of company-specific information risk affect the cost of equity, a recent 

study by Francis, LaFond, Olsson and Schipper (2004) examined the extent to which 

favourable values of seven earnings attributes were associated with a lower cost of equity 

capital.29 They assumed that earnings attributes were desirable to the extent that they 

reduced information risk and, thereby, resulted in a lower of cost of equity.  

 

The attributes were accruals quality, persistence, predictability, smoothness, value 

relevance, timeliness and conservatism. The first four attributes were categorised as 

accounting-based because they are measured using accounting information, while the 

remaining three were described as market-based because they take returns or prices as the 

reference construct.  

 

Consequently, measures of these attributes were based on the estimated relation between 

market prices or returns and accounting earnings. Francis et al. (2004) found that 

companies with the least favourable values of each attribute are associated with larger 

costs of equity than companies with the most favourable values. The largest cost of equity 

effect was observed for the accounting-based attributes and, in particular, accruals quality. 

                                                 
29  Francis et al. (2004) presumed investors rely on earnings more than any other summary measure of 

performance; e.g. dividends or operating cash flows. 
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That is, higher quality information leads to higher accruals quality, thereby lowering the 

cost of capital.  

 

Disclosure is limited by “proprietary costs” (Verrecchia, 1983) since additional 

disclosures provide information to competitors as well as investors, thereby threatening 

the company’s future profitability. As a result, companies limit disclosure when 

proprietary costs are likely to arise, whether from competitors, dissident shareholders, 

employees or any other party who can use the information in a way that is harmful to the 

company. In sum, competition between companies’ managers can provide them with an 

incentive to disclose more information about the companies they manage to differentiate 

their companies from those that are poorly managed, but there are limits. 

 

Applying signaling theory (Spence, 1973)30 to financial disclosure, Hughes (1986) argued 

that managers could use their companies’ financial statements to signal their expectations 

and intentions. These signals would be credible because a company’s quality can be more 

easily observed later, and companies that had sent false signals would then be punished.  

3.1.2 Other Managerial Incentives for Financial Disclosure 

The role of other managerial incentives in explaining the form of financial disclosure has 

been examined extensively (Watts and Zimmerman, 1990). Agency theory, in the context 

of asymmetric information between managers and providers of capital, has been used to 

understand managers’ incentives for disclosure (Jensen and Meckling, 1976).31   

 

An agency relationship arises from the contract between a company’s shareholders (the 

principals) and its managers (the agents). Under this contract, the shareholders delegate 

decision-making authority to the managers. In this situation, characterised by a separation 

of ownership and control, a conflict of interest can arise between the shareholders and 

managers. Both parties are presumed to be utility maximisers, and there is no reason to 

believe that the managers will always act in the shareholders’ best interest. This conflict 

of interest gives rise to an “agency problem”32 whose resolution incurs agency costs 

                                                 
30  This theory was built-up in the context of labour markets. Spence (1973) showed that the level of 

education of a job applicant was a credible signal of their underlying competence.  
31  In this context, the term information asymmetry refers to information differences and conflicting 

incentives that arise between a company’s managers (agents) and the shareholders (principals) 
because the manager possesses more information about the value of the company.  

32  The agency problem can be manifest in three ways: (1) a risk aversion problem, (2) a dividend 
retention problem and (3) a horizons problem. A risk aversion problem occurs when managers (the 
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(from monitoring, bonding and residual loss).33 To reduce the cost of this conflict, the 

company incurs monitoring costs (e.g. via managerial compensation plans, audits, budget 

restrictions and operating rules) to monitor, observe and ensure that the managers’ 

behaviour is suitably aligned with the shareholders’ interests. Shareholders can price-

protect themselves against the cost of managers’ actions. Since the managers, who are the 

entrepreneurs in this model, will ultimately bear the monitoring costs, they incur bonding 

costs (including the cost of preparing financial reports to the shareholders) to assure the 

shareholders that they will act in accordance with their agreements. Managers therefore 

have an incentive to reduce agency costs. One way of reducing these agency costs is 

through disclosing more information in the financial statements and having those 

statements audited so that the shareholders can assess the decisions made by the 

managers.  

 

Jensen and Meckling (1976) suggested that agency costs may vary with the extent of 

separation of ownership and control. That is, when a company’s shares are widely held, 

there is a greater separation between the managers (the agents) and their shareholders (the 

principals) than when a company has closely-held shares. Hence, in the case of a 

company with widely held shares, the potential for conflict between the shareholders and 

managers is greater (and thus agency costs are greater). To control such conflicts and 

reduce agency costs, companies with widely held share ownership are likely to disclose 

more information than companies with closely held share ownership. This allows 

shareholders to monitor their interests more efficiently, and the managers can signal that 

they act in the interests of the shareholders as well. 

 

Jensen and Meckling (1976) also described an agency relationship between another set of 

principals, the company’s debtholders and managers who act on behalf of the 

                                                                                                                                               
agents) prefer to invest in less risky projects than do shareholders (the principals). Shareholders may 
prefer that managers invest in a set of risky projects in order to maximise the value of the company 
(given that if the company loses, their obligation is limited to the shares they own) whereas managers 
prefer to invest in less risky projects because they have undiversified human capital (their jobs and 
management expertise) invested in the company they are managing. Managers rationally prefer to 
optimise their own risk reward trade-off rather than maximise the value of the company. A dividend 
retention problem occurs when managers prefer to pay out less of the company’s earnings in 
dividends than shareholders prefer in order to retain money in the company as a cushion for their own 
salaries and benefits. A horizons problem results from a difference in the decision horizons of 
shareholders and managers. Shareholders are interested in the cash flows of the company for an 
infinite number of periods into the future, whereas managers are interested only in the cash flows of 
the company for as long as they intend to stay with it (Smith and Watts, 1982). 

33  Residual loss results from managers’ actions not taken in the shareholders’ best interests. They can 
occur despite monitoring and bonding actions. 
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shareholders.34 In this relationship, a conflict of interest between the debtholders and 

managers gives rise to another “agency problem”,35 which leads to additional agency 

costs of debt (as before, monitoring and bonding costs, and a residual loss). Agency 

problems stem from the possibility that managers would take opportunistic actions that 

would transfer wealth away from debtholders. As a result, debtholders who want to 

protect their interests include restrictive covenants in the debt contract (on borrowing, 

dividends, and production and investment decisions) to limit the opportunity for managers 

to behave this way. Monitoring costs encompass the costs involved in writing these 

restrictive covenants and enforcing them. Debtholders will price-protect via interest rates 

or restricting their funding, and ultimately the managers will bear these monitoring costs 

as well.  

 

Therefore, to reduce these costs, managers have an incentive to incur bonding costs (more 

information disclosure in the financial statements) to facilitate debtholders’ assessment of 

the company’s ability to meets its debts and to assure debtholders that their interests are 

properly protected. It has been further argued that the more leveraged the company, the 

greater the need for monitoring of the agency relationship between managers and 

debtholders and the greater the disclosure of information to satisfy this need (Watts, 

1977).  

 

Watts and Zimmerman (1978) explained the regulation of financial reporting by political 

cost theory. They argued that politicians and government bureaucrats are responsible for 

regulating financial reporting. They also redistribute wealth and maximise their own 

welfare via the political process. Politicians and government bureaucrats are influenced 

by the likelihood they will be blamed for any future crises. Therefore, they consider the 

effects of alternative regulations on the likelihood of blame when they draft and interpret 

them. Many crises have led to changes in corporate regulation and, in particular, to 

                                                 
34  In this case, the managers’ interests are totally aligned with shareholders’ interests.  
35  Smith and Warner (1979) discussed some of these problems including excessive dividend payments, 

claim dilution, asset substitution and underinvestment. They argued that the problem of excessive 
dividend payments arises when debt is loaned to a company on the assumption of a certain level of 
dividend payout (and the debt is priced accordingly) and then the company pays a higher level of 
dividends. This action would reduce the asset base securing the debt and reduce the value of debt.  A 
claim dilution occurs when debt was issued at a price reflecting an undertaking that no additional debt 
would be issued and subsequently debt of equal or higher priority is issued. This makes the original 
debt issue more risky and lowers its value to debtholders. An asset substitution occurs when debt is 
issued at a price that reflects investment in projects of a particular (lower) variance risk and projects 
with a higher variance risk are subsequently undertaken. Finally, the value of debt falls where the 
company under-invests by rejecting positive investment projects on the basis that most of the benefits 
would accrue to debtholders. 
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increased regulation of corporate financial reporting, having been blamed by political 

entrepreneurs on a previous lack of adequate corporate disclosure or misleading 

disclosures. For example, the stock market crash of 1929, which was partially blamed on 

inadequate corporate disclosure, was followed by the Securities Act of 1933 (Watts, 

1977).36   

 

Regulation can take the form of nationalisation, expropriation, break-up or restrictions 

being imposed on an industry or company. To forestall these potential actions, resulting 

from government intervention (political costs), companies’ managers may employ a 

number of devices such as social responsibility campaigns in the media, government 

lobbying, financial reporting disclosure and selection of accounting policies to minimise 

reported earnings. 

 

The expected magnitude of political costs is subject to a company’s visibility, profitability 

and size. It is usually argued that larger and more profitable companies are also more 

politically visible than smaller and less profitable companies and are subject to potentially 

greater wealth transfers from government intervention (Watts and Zimmerman, 1986, p. 

235). Consequently, to reduce expected political costs, managers of larger and more 

profitable companies are more likely to, among other things, voluntarily disclose more 

information than smaller and less profitable companies. Watts and Zimmerman (1986, p. 

239) also argued that companies belonging to politically sensitive industries will disclose 

more information, since they are subject to lobbying from government agencies and 

interest groups. 

 

Empirical studies have used the above arguments to explain cross-sectional variation in 

financial reporting disclosure. The following section summarises some of the more salient 

findings as they relate to this thesis.  

3.2 Company Attributes and Financial Reporting Disclosure 

Since the 1960s, there have been many empirical studies relating a company’s attributes 

to the extent of voluntary and mandatory disclosure, based on the above arguments. For 

convenience, they can be divided into two groups. The first group includes studies with a 

                                                 
36  The Securities Act of 1933 had two basic objectives: it required that investors receive financial and 

other significant information concerning securities being offered for public sale, and it prohibited 
deceit, misrepresentation and other fraud in the sale of securities (SEC, 2004). 
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measure of disclosure that is not an index (Craswell and Taylor, 1992; Forker, 1992; 

Zimmer, 1994; Kasznik and Lev, 1995; Lobo and Zhou, 2001). Such studies use a simple 

measure of disclosure, such as whether an item is disclosed or not.37 The second group, 

which is more relevant to this present study, includes studies that use a self-constructed 

disclosure index to measure the level of disclosure and then assess the association 

between the observed disclosure level and company attributes. Table 3.1 is a selective 

summary of these studies. It covers, in particular, those examining the relationship 

between company attributes that are employed in this study and financial disclosures in 

developed and developing countries. Panel A summarises mandatory disclosure studies; 

panel B summarises voluntary disclosure studies; and panel C summarises total disclosure 

studies. 

 

The information items forming the basis of the disclosure index for the studies in Table 

3.1 varied from a minimum of 24 (Chow and Wong-Boren, 1987) to a maximum of 530 

(Craig and Diga, 1998). Some studies have weighted the items (e.g. Belkaoui and Kahl, 

1978; Firth, 1979; McNally, Eng and Hasseldine, 1982; Chow and Wong-Boren, 1987; 

Malone, Fries and Jones, 1993), while others have adopted unweighted procedures. The 

reason given for this is usually to avoid the subjectivity involved in determining weights. 

The number of companies in each study has varied from 20 in Bahrain (Al-Bastaki, 1997) 

to 566 in India, Pakistan and Bangladesh (Ali, Ahmed and Henry, 2004). The company 

attributes that were examined as potential predictors of the extent of disclosure ranged 

upwards from two (Stanga, 1976) to 13 (Naser, Al-Khatib and Karbhari, 2002). All of 

these studies examined the level of disclosure at a particular time except Ahmed (1996), 

who investigated the level of disclosure in two years, Inchausti (1997), who examined the 

level of disclosure in three years, and Owusu-Ansah and Yeoh (2005), who investigated 

the level of disclosure over four years. 

 

These studies used a variety of methods to examine the relationship between company 

attributes and level of disclosure. Earlier studies used a matched-pairs design (e.g. Buzby, 

1975; Stanga, 1976; Belkaoui and Kahl, 1978; Firth, 1979; McNally et al., 1982). Studies 

beginning with Chow and Wong-Boren (1987) have used multivariate regression analysis. 

Specifically, almost all studies that adopted multivariate regression analysis used the  

 

 
37  For a review of studies that have measured disclosure by a non-index method, see Marston and 

Shrives (1996). 



Table  3.1: Summary of studies investigating the association between level of disclosure and company attributes 

 
Panel A: Mandatory disclosure studies 
  Company attributes and proxies 
Study Country Size Leverage Liquidity Profitability Auditor Internationality Industry Ownership 

Diffusion 
Age 

Ahmed and Nicholls 
(1994) 

Bangladesh log TA 
log TS 

BVD/BVE   Large/ 
small* 

A multinational 
subsidiary/ 
otherwise* 

   

Wallace, Naser and Mora 
(1994) 

Spain log TA* 
log TS* 

LTD/BVE CA/CL* TEBT/TS 
TEBT/BVE 

Big Six/ 
non Big 
Six 

 Two 
groups 

  

Wallace and Naser 
(1995) 

Hong Kong log TA* 
log TS 
log MVE 

LTD/BVE CA/CL TEBT/TS* 
TEBT/BVE 

Big Six/ 
other* 

 Two 
groups* 

Proportion of 
shares owned 
by outsiders 

 

Patton and Zelenka 
(1997) 

Czech 
Republic 

log TA   NP/BVE* Big Six/ 
non Big 
Six* 

    

Owusu-Ansah (1998) Zimbabwe log MVE 
log TA* 

 CA-
inventory/ 
CL 

NP/TR* 
NP/BVE* 

  Four 
groups 

Proportion of 
shares owned 
by insiders 

Number of 
half-years 
since 
flotation 
date* 

Ali, Ahmed and Henry 
(2004)  

India, 
Pakistan 
and 
Bangladesh 

log TA* BVD/TTA  Net 
operating 
profit/TA 

Large/ 
small* 

A multinational 
subsidiary/ 
otherwise* 

   

Owusu-Ansah and Yeoh 
(2005) 

New 
Zealand 

log TA*  CA/CL TEBT/BVE* Big Five/ 
non-Big 
Five* 

 Four 
groups 

Proportion of 
shares owned 
by insiders 

Number of 
years 
passed 
since listing 
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Table 3.1 (Continued): Summary of studies investigating the association between level of disclosure and company attributes 
 
Panel B: Voluntary disclosure studies 
Study Country Size Leverage Liquidity Profitability Auditor Internationality Industry Ownership  

Diffusion 
Age 

Firth (1979) UK TS* 
BVE* 

   British Big Eight/ 
other 

    

McNally, Eng and 
Hasseldine (1982) 

New 
Zealand 

TA*   NP/TA Big Eight/ 
non Big Eight* 

 11 groups   

Chow and Wong-
Boren (1987) 

Mexico MVE+BVD* 
log MVE+ 
BVD* 

BVD/BVD+ 
MVE 

       

Cooke (1989) Sweden TS* 
TA* 
NSH* 

    Domestic/ 
overseas 
listing* 

Four groups*   

Cooke (1991) Japan TA* 
TS* 
NSH* 

    Unlisted/ 
domestic/ 
overseas 
listing* 

Four groups*   

Hossain, Tan and 
Adams (1994)  

Malaysia log MVE* LTD/BVE   Big Six/ 
Other 

Domestic/ 
Overseas  
listing * 

 Proportion of 
shares owned by 
the top ten 
shareholders* 

 

Meek, Roberts, and 
Gray (1995) 

US, UK, 
France, 
Germany 
and the 
Netherlands 

TS* LTD/BVE*  Profit after 
tax and 
Interest/ 
TS 

 Foreign sales/ 
TS* 
Domestic/ 
overseas 
listing* 

Four groups*   

Hossain, Perera 
and Rahman (1995) 

New 
Zealand 

log TA* LTD/BVE*   Big Six/ 
non Big Six 

Domestic/ 
overseas 
listing* 

   

Raffournier (1995) Switzerland log TA* 
log TS* 

BVD/TA  NP/NW Big Six/ 
Other 

Export/TS* Two groups Proportion of 
shares not owned 
by known 
shareholders 
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Table 3.1 (Continued) Summary of studies investigating the association between level of disclosure and company attributes 
 
Panel B (Continued): Voluntary disclosure studies 
Study Country Size Leverage Liquidity Profitability Auditor Internationality Industry Ownership Diffusion Age 

Chau and 
Gray (2002) 

Hong Kong 
and 
Singapore 

log 
NS* 

LTD/BVE  PTEE/NS Big Five/ 
non-Big 
Five 

Foreign sales by 
subsidiaries/TS 

Four 
groups 

Proportion of shares 
owned by outsiders* 

 

Ferguson, Lam 
and Lee 
(2002) 

Hong Kong log 
TA* 

LTD/BVE*    Domestic/ 
overseas listing 

Two 
groups 

  

Haniffa and 
Cooke (2002) 

Malaysia log 
TA 

BVD/TA  NP/BVE* Big Six/ 
non Big 
Six 

Domestic/ 
overseas listing 
Foreign 
activities/otherwise  

Four 
groups* 

Proportion of shares 
owned by foreigners* 
Proportion of shares 
owned by institutional 
investors 

Number of 
years passed 
since listing 

Makhija and 
Patton (2004) 

Czech 
Republic 

log 
TA 

  TEBT/BVE Big Six/ 
other* 

 Two 
groups 

Proportion of shares 
owned by government 
Proportion of shares 
owned by foreigners 
Proportion of shares 
owned by the fund with 
the largest shares* 
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Table 3.1 (Continued) Summary of studies investigating the association between level of disclosure and company attributes 
 
Panel C: Total disclosure studies 
Study Country Size Leverage Liquidity Profitability Auditor Internationality Industry Ownership 

Diffusion 
Age 

Cerf (1961) US TA* 
NSH * 

  NP/NW*      

Singhvi (1968) India TA*   TEBT/NW* 
TEBT/NS* 

Large/ 
small 

    

Singhvi and Desai 
(1971) 

US TA   NP/NW 
NP/NS 

Large/ 
small 

  NSH  

Buzby (1975) US TA*         
Belkaoui and Kahl 
(1978) 

Canada TA* 
NS* 

 CA/CL* NP/TA*   14 groups*   

Malone, Fries and 
Jones (1993) 

US TA BVD/BVE*  NP/BVE 
NP/NS 

Big Eight/ 
non-Big 
Eight 

Foreign 
operations/ 
non-foreign 
operations 

Two groups NSH*  

Solas (1994) Jordan TA 
NSH 

  TEBT/NS 
TEBT/BVE 

     

Zarzeski (1996) France, Germany, 
Hong Kong,  
Japan, Norway, 
UK and US 

Log TA* BVD/TA*    Foreign Sales/ 
TS* 

   

Ahmed (1996) Bangladesh Log TA 
log TS 

log BVD   Large/ 
small 

A multinational 
subsidiary/ 
otherwise* 

   

Al-Bastaki (1997) Bahrain TA* TL/TA  NP/BVE      
Inchausti (1997) Spain log TA* 

log TS 
TL/BVE  NP/BVE 

Net 
operating 
profit/ 
BVE 

Big Six/ 
non-Big Six* 

Domestic/ 
overseas listing* 

Three groups   
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Table 3.1 (Continued) Summary of studies investigating the association between level of disclosure and company attributes 
 
Panel C (Continued): Total disclosure studies 
Study Country Size Leverage Liquidity Profitability Auditor Internationality Industry Ownership  

Diffusion 
Age 

Naser (1998) 
 

Jordan TA* 
MVE* 
TS 

LTD/BVE* CA/CL TEBT/NS 
TEBT/BVE* 

Large/ 
small 

 Two 
groups* 

Proportion of 
shares owned by 
government 

 

Craig and Diga 
(1998)  

Singapore, 
Malaysia, 
Indonesia, 
Philippines 
and 
Thailand 

log TR* BVD/BVE*    No foreign 
subsidiary/ 
otherwise 
Locally owned/ 
foreign owned 
or controlled* 

Six groups*   

Naser and Al-Khatib 
(2000) 

Jordan TA 
NEM* 

BVD/BVE*  TEBT/NS* 
TEBT/BVE 

   Proportion of 
shares owned by 
government  

 

Naser, Al-Khatib, and 
Karbhari (2002) 

Jordan TS* 
MVE* 
TA 
NEM 

BVD/BVE* CA/CL* TEBT/NS  
TEBT/ 
BVE 

Local/ 
Intern-
ational* 

 Two groups Proportion of 
shares owned by 
government 
Proportion of 
shares owned by 
foreigners 
NSH 

 

Al-Shayeb (2003) United Arab 
Emirates 
(UAE) 

log TA* 
log NS 

  NP/BVE  A multinational 
subsidiary/ 
otherwise 

Three 
groups* 

 Number of 
years 
passed 
since 
foun-
dation 

* Significant. TA = Total assets. TS = Total sales. MVE = Market value of equity. BE = Book value of equity. TL = Total liabilities. NS = Net sales. NW = Net worth. TR = 
Total revenue. CA = Current assets. CL = Current liabilities. TEBT = Total earnings before tax. BVD = Book value of total debt. LTD = Long-term debt. TTA = Total 
tangible assets. NP = Net profit. NSH = Number of shareholders. NEM = Number of employees. NS = Net sales. PTEE = Profit after tax, exceptional items, and 
extraordinary items. Mandatory disclosure refers to the minimum information that companies are obliged to disclose by regulation (e.g. company law, stock exchange 
listing requirements and accounting standards). Voluntary disclosure refers to information beyond these minimum levels that companies can disclose (Makhija and 
Patton, 2004). Total disclosure consists of both voluntary and mandatory items of information provided usually in the company’s annual report (Cooke, 1992).  

 



ordinary least squares (OLS) regression procedure. Exceptions include Wallace, Naser 

and Mora (1994), Wallace and Naser (1995), Al-Bastaki (1997), Naser (1998), Naser et 

al. (2002) and Ali et al. (2004). These studies used rank regression to cater for outliers and 

the rank order nature of disclosure indices.  

 

While these studies typically found the level of disclosure was related to company 

attributes, the findings were mixed (Table 3.1). Ahmed and Courtis (1999) reviewed 

disclosure studies published prior to 1998. They found that the results were mixed, which 

they explained by differences in socio-economic and political environments between 

countries, organisational structures, construction of the informational items in disclosure 

indices, and sampling error. Wallace et al. (1994) also noted that variation in sample size, 

different statistical methods used to analyse the data, different research settings, 

differences in index construction, and differences in number of company attributes 

examined and specific proxies adopted, have either individually or severally contributed 

to the mixed results. More recent studies (Table 3.1) have also reported mixed results. 

3.3 The Use of IASs and Financial Reporting Outcomes 

Prior studies have investigated the link between financial reporting disclosure and the use 

of IASs. Ashbaugh and Pincus (2001) investigated whether there is a change in analysts’ 

forecast accuracy after companies adopt IASs. Investigating an international sample of 

non-US companies, they found that adoption of IASs leads to increases in the level of 

disclosure. This, in turn, causes adopter’s accounting numbers to be more predictable and 

improves the accuracy of analysts’ earnings forecasts.  

 

Ashbaugh (2001) investigated the factors associated with non-US companies listed on the 

London Stock Exchange (LSE) that prepared their financial statements in accordance with 

IASs or US GAAP.38 Ashbaugh (2001) suggested companies use IASs or US GAAP to 

communicate with foreign financial users to facilitate the raising of equity capital and to 

provide more standardised financial information in the annual financial report. She found 

companies that used IASs or US GAAP were traded in more foreign equity markets, 

issued more equity, provided more standardised information and were more likely to file 

US SEC39 Form 20–F information than companies that used their national standards.  

 

                                                 
38 US GAAP: the generally accepted accounting practices of the United States of America (US). 
39 Securities and Exchange Commission: the US stock market regulator. 
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Leuz and Verrecchia (2001) examined whether companies using US GAAP or IASs could 

expect a lower cost of capital. Two proxies for cost of capital were used, bid–ask spread 

and trading volume. Considering a sample of companies listed on the German “Neuer 

Markt”40 that changed from national standards to US GAAP or IASs, they found that the 

use of US GAAP and IASs increased the level of disclosure and reduced the cost of 

capital. Leuz (2003) likewise investigated whether companies using US GAAP or IASs 

exhibit differences in information asymmetry by using a sample of companies listed on 

the German “Neuer Markt”. Leuz used the bid-ask spread and trading volume as proxies 

for information asymmetry and market liquidity. Leuz found evidence that IAS and US 

GAAP are comparable in providing high quality accounting information to capital 

markets. Both are associated with reduced information asymmetry and increased market 

liquidity.  

 

Naser (1998) provided evidence supporting the use of IASs to increase the level of 

disclosure. He investigated the association between the level of disclosure and a number 

of company attributes for a sample of companies listed in Jordan, after IASs became 

mandatory, and compared the level of disclosure with the results from a study by Solas 

(1994), who measured the level of disclosure before IASs were adopted there. Naser 

(1998) measured the level of disclosure by an index and found that the level of disclosure 

increased from 0.46 to 0.63. He concluded financial reporting disclosure improved after 

IASs were adopted in Jordan.  

 

The above studies provided evidence that the use of IASs leads to increases in the level of 

disclosure by companies in a number of countries and in accounting measures that are 

more predictable. Additionally, it has been claimed that the use of IASs reduces 

information asymmetry, increases market liquidity and, consequently, is believed to be 

associated with a lower cost of capital.  

3.4 Company Attributes and Compliance with IASs 

Several studies have investigated the attributes of companies that voluntarily adopt or use 

IASs in preparing their financial statements (Al-Basteki, 1995; Dumontier and 

Raffournier, 1998; El-Gazzar, Finn and Jacob, 1999; Murphy, 1999; Morris, Moy and 

Tarca, 2004; Tarca, 2004). However, these studies did not measure compliance with IASs 

                                                 
40  The formal German “Neuer Markt” was a segment of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange. For more 

information about “Neuer Markt”, see Glaum and Street (2003). 
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as such. Rather, they relied on the auditor’s report and a statement by companies that they 

had adopted IASs.  

 

Compliance studies of this nature can be divided into two groups. The first group 

comprises research using a compliance index to measure the extent of compliance. The 

second group, the remainder, typically calculated the fraction of companies that complied 

with a given item. Both groups are discussed below.  

 

Nobes (1990) examined voluntary disclosure compliance with IASs by US listed 

companies on accounting issues where US GAAP was silent. These were minority 

interests, depreciation and the pooling-of-interest method in business combinations. From 

the percentage of companies that complied with an item, Nobes found, based on 200 

companies, that the level of voluntary disclosure compliance was between 0.33 for 

minority interests and 0.50 for the pooling-of-interest method.  

 

Following Nobes (1990), Street et al. (1999) examined compliance with IASs for a 

sample of 49 multinational companies, operating in several countries that claimed to have 

adopted IASs for the financial year 1996.41 They examined the degree of voluntary 

disclosure and measurement compliance with IASs revised during the Comparability 

Project. The IASs examined were 2, 8, 9, 16, 18, 19, 21, 22 and 23. Each annual report 

was examined using a checklist that was based on a review of the text of the revised IASs. 

They found several areas of non-compliance, such as accounting for inventories (IAS 2), 

net profit or loss for the period (IAS 8), research and development costs (IAS 9), property, 

plant and equipment (IAS 16), revenue (IAS 18) and retirement benefit costs (IAS 19). 

They concluded that there was significant non-compliance with the IASs issued as part of 

the Comparability Project. They also concluded that the level of compliance by 

companies claiming to have adopted IASs is mixed and selective. However, they did not 

refer to company attributes to explain the variation across companies in the level of 

compliance. 

 

Tower et al. (1999) investigated the extent of voluntary disclosure and measurement 

compliance with IASs in six Asia–Pacific countries, comprising one developed country 

                                                 
41 There were 12 companies from Switzerland, 10 from France, 8 from Sweden, 3 from Finland, 

Germany, Italy and Japan, 2 from Canada and South Africa, and 1 from Hong Kong, Malaysia and 
Norway.  

 48



(Australia) and five developing countries (Hong Kong, Malaysia, Philippines, Singapore 

and Thailand) and evaluated the influence of a number of company attributes on the level 

of compliance.42 The attributes were country of origin, company size, leverage, 

profitability, industry, and the number of days since the issue of a company’s annual 

report. A sample of ten listed companies’ 1997 annual reports in each of the six countries 

was examined. A compliance index was constructed based on twenty-six IASs applicable 

to the 1997 fiscal year (IAS 1, 2, 5, 7–11, 13, 14, 16–25, 27, 28 and 30–33). A total of 512 

information items from the 26 IASs constituted the compliance index. Two compliance 

index ratios were calculated. Ratio 1 assumed that a company’s non-disclosure of an item 

means that it does not apply. Ratio 2 assumed that it means that the company did not 

comply. Multivariate regression analysis was utilised by Tower et al. (1999) to explore 

the relationship between the extent of compliance and company attributes.  

 

The mean overall level of voluntary disclosure and measurement compliance for ratio 1 

was 0.91, with a minimum of 0.81 and a maximum of 1.00. The mean of the stricter ratio 

2 was 0.42, with a minimum of 0.20 and a maximum of 0.73. For ratio 1, the lowest 

average level of compliance was in the Philippines (0.88), followed by Hong Kong (0.89), 

Malaysia and Singapore (both 0.90) and Thailand (0.93). The highest was in Australia 

(0.94). For ratio 2, Australia (0.54) and Hong Kong (0.53) had the highest average levels 

of compliance followed by Malaysia (0.41), Singapore (0.39) and Thailand (0.38), while 

the Philippines had the lowest (0.28). The results also indicated that country of origin is 

highly significant for both ratios, while days to issuing the report was negatively 

associated with the level of compliance for ratio 2 only. Other attributes were not 

significant. The reason given for significant differences between countries was the heavy 

reliance placed on IASs in the accounting standards of Australia, Thailand, Malaysia and 

Singapore; whereas, Hong Kong and the Philippines were more heavily influenced by UK 

and US accounting standards.  

 

Street and Bryant (2000) examined the extent to which companies from 17 countries that 

claimed to have adopted IASs in fact complied with or exceeded IAS disclosure 

requirements. They sought to identify whether there were significant differences between 

companies with (1) a US listing, (2) a US filing, and (3) no US listing or filing, with 

                                                 
42  In 1997 when the study was conducted, IASs had not been adopted as mandatory in these countries. 

Their study was aimed implicitly at examining the extent to which the accounting practices in these 
countries were harmonised with IASs.  
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regard to voluntary compliance with IAS disclosure requirements and their level of 

disclosure (including both mandatory and voluntary items).43 They also attempted to 

identify the determinants of the level of compliance and disclosure.  

 

A number of company attributes were examined; namely, company size, listing status, 

profitability, industry, the manner in which the company referred to the use of IASs in the 

accounting policies footnote,44 the manner in which the audit opinion addressed 

compliance with IASs45 and the manner in which the audit opinion addressed the auditing 

standards adhered to.46 Annual reports of a sample of 82 companies were examined.47 

There were 11 companies listed in the US, 30 companies that filed in the US, and 41 

companies without either a US listing or filing.  

 

Two disclosure checklists were developed. The first checklist was to measure the level of 

voluntary compliance and consisted of all disclosure items for all IASs effective for fiscal 

years ending in 1998. The second checklist was to measure the level of disclosure, which 

included all IAS disclosure requirements, items required by US GAAP but not by IASs, 

and items cited in previous literature as items that were frequently provided by companies 

seeking the benefits of fuller disclosure.  

 

Analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to test for any overall group differences 

between the three groups. OLS regression models were fitted to determine which 

attributes were associated with the level of compliance or the level of disclosure. The 

ANOVA results suggested there were differences between the three groups with respect 

to the level of compliance and the level of disclosure. The study also provided evidence 

that the extent of voluntary compliance with IAS disclosure requirements was greater for 

companies with a US listing or filing (the index mean was 0.84) than for companies 

                                                 
43  US listings include companies that are required to file Form 20–F with the SEC and are traded either 

on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) or National Association of Securities Dealers Automated 
Quotation (NASDAQ). US filings include companies that have been granted 12g3-2(b) exempt status 
by the SEC and those with 144A offerings. 

44  It was measured by a dummy variable coded 1 if a company’s accounting policy note indicated IASs 
were the basis for the financial statements and 0 otherwise. 

45  It was measured by a dummy variable coded 1 if the audit opinion indicated company’s financial 
statements were prepared in compliance with IASs and 0 otherwise. 

46  It was measured by a dummy variable coded 1 if the audit opinion indicated a company followed 
International Standards of Auditing (ISA). 

47  There were 15 companies from Switzerland, 13 from France and Germany, 12 from China, 5 from 
Hong Kong, Sweden and Hungary, 3 from Finland, 2 from Austria and the Netherlands, and 1 from 
Denmark, Croatia, Zimbabwe, Japan, South Africa, Belgium and Jordan.  
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without a US listing or filing (0.77).48 With respect to the level of disclosure, for the US 

filing group and the group without a US listing or filing combined, the mean index (0.75) 

was less than the mean level of disclosure for the US listing group (0.81). For companies 

without a US listing or filing, they found that non-compliance was significant with respect 

to IAS 8, 12, 17, 19, 23 and 33. They also reported that, for the entire sample, the overall 

level of compliance was less than or equal to 0.75 for several IASs such as IAS 14, 17, 

19, 23 and 29. 

 

A higher level of voluntary disclosure compliance was associated with an audit opinion 

that asserted the financial statements were in accordance with IASs and that ISA49 were 

followed when conducting the audit. The extent of voluntary disclosure compliance with 

IASs was greater for companies with a US listing or filing. The findings also indicated 

that the extent of disclosure was greater for companies with an accounting policy note that 

specifically stated the financial statements were prepared in accordance with IASs, and an 

audit opinion that stated ISA were followed when conducting the audit. The level of 

disclosure was greater for companies with a US filing. Other attributes were not 

significant for either the level of compliance or the level of disclosure.  

 

Street and Gray (2001) examined the extent of compliance with IASs by a sample of 279 

companies from 32 countries that claimed to use them. They assessed whether a number 

of company attributes were associated with the level of compliance.50 The annual reports 

of sample companies for financial years ending in 1998 were used to analyse the level of 

compliance. Street and Gray extended the work of Street and Bryant (2000) by examining 

a larger sample of companies from more countries, thereby allowing for further 

segregation of companies without a US listing or filing. They added four new company 

attributes to the study (country of origin, type of auditor, multi-nationality and size of the 

home stock market). When testing country of origin, Street and Gray grouped the 

countries into seven groups to overcome the problem of a small sample size for most 

countries. The groups were China and Hong Kong, France, Germany, Switzerland, Other 

Western Europe, Africa and the Middle East, former Soviet Block and other countries.  
                                                 
48  The study did not provide an analysis of compliance by country, presumably because of the small 

samples. 
49  International Standards of Auditing  
50  There were 62 companies from Switzerland, 63 from China, 47 from Germany, 19 from France, 9 

from Zimbabwe and Hong Kong, 7 from South Africa, Denmark and Austria, 6 from Canada and 
Hungary, 5 from Finland, 4 from Sweden, 3 from Italy, Poland and Luxembourg, 2 from Barbados, 
the Czech Republic and the Netherlands and 1 from Australia, Bahrain, Botswana, Croatia, Grand 
Cayman Island, Guyana, Japan, Jordan, Malta, Mexico, Papua New Guinea, Russia and Turkey. 
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A checklist was constructed based on 14 IASs’ disclosure and measurement requirements. 

The standards were IAS 2, 4, 8, 12, 14, 16, 17, 19, 21, 22, 23, 29, 32 and 33. The selection 

of these standards was based on the results of Street and Bryant (2000) and Street et al. 

(1999), who noted significant non-compliance with them. Four compliance indices were 

calculated: two for disclosure compliance and two for measurement. The first disclosure 

compliance index was calculated by dividing the total number of (required) disclosures by 

the number of applicable disclosures. The second index was calculated by averaging the 

disclosure indices for each IAS applicable to the company.  

 

The overall mean level of voluntary disclosure compliance was 0.72 for the first index 

and 0.74 for the second index. It was highest for IAS 32 (0.81), and IAS 23 and 29 were 

lowest (both 0.55). Street and Gray also reported disclosure compliance with IAS 14 

(0.76), 16 (0.62) and 33 (0.77). The overall mean level of voluntary measurement 

compliance was 0.89 for index 1 and 0.86 for index 2. The highest level of measurement 

compliance was for IAS 2 (0.94) and the lowest for IAS 8 (0.64). The average level of 

disclosure compliance was 0.76 for index 1 and 0.77 for index 2 for the Middle East, the 

former Soviet Block and other countries.51 These were higher than for developed 

countries such as France (0.60 for index 1 and 0.62 for index 2), Germany (0.61 and 

0.63), Switzerland (0.74 and 0.77) and other Western Europe52 (0.69 and 0.76). Similarly, 

the level of voluntary measurement compliance was also higher for companies from the 

Middle East, the former Soviet Block and other countries (0.91 and 0.89) than those for 

France (0.61 and 0.58), Germany (0.86 and 0.84) and “other Western Europe” (0.89 and 

0.87), but lower than for Switzerland (0.92 and 0.89). The results suggest that it is 

possible to observe higher compliance in some developing countries than in developed 

countries. 

 

Multivariate models were fitted by OLS to determine whether there was any significant 

relationship between the level of compliance and company attributes. In regard to 

disclosure standards, the level of voluntary compliance with IAS disclosure requirements 

(measured by the first index) was greater for companies:  

                                                 
51  The Middle East, former Soviet Block and other countries includes 27 companies; 2 from Middle East 

countries (one each from Bahrain and Jordan), 13 companies from the former Soviet Block (6 from 
Hungary, 3 from Poland, 2 from the Czech Republic and one each from Croatia and Russia) and 12 
from various countries (1 from Australia, Turkey, Malta, Grand Cayman Island, Guyana and Papua 
New Guinea and 2 from Barbados, Japan and Mexico).  

52  The other Western Europe group includes 31 companies; 7 from Austria and Denmark, 5 from 
Finland, 4 from Sweden, 3 from Italy and Luxembourg and 2 from the Netherlands.  
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• with an accounting policy note that stated that the financial statements were prepared 

in accordance with IASs with no exception noted or reference to other accounting 

standards;  

• with a US listing or filing and/or with a non-regional listing;  

• in the commerce or transportation industry;  

• audited by a Big 5+2 company; or 

• domiciled in China or Switzerland.  

 

The level of compliance was lower for companies listed on a smaller stock market. The 

findings for the second index were similar except that industry, size of the stock market, 

and being domiciled in China and Switzerland were not significant. However, there was 

a negative association with being domiciled in France, Germany, or another Western 

European country.  

 

The level of voluntary compliance with IAS measurement standards (according to the first 

index) was positively associated with:  

• a company’s accounting policy note that stated the financial statements were prepared 

in accordance with IASs with no exception noted and no reference to another set of 

accounting standards;  

• being audited by a Big 5+2 company; and  

• being domiciled in China.53  

 

In addition, there was a negative relationship with being domiciled in France or Africa 

and being in the manufacturing industry in any country. The level of voluntary 

compliance with IAS measurement standards (according to the second index) produced 

similar results, except that China, Africa and being in a manufacturing industry were not 

significant. Street and Gray suggested that the significant differences among countries 

were related to national barriers to IAS compliance (as in Germany and France), or 

willingness by companies from some countries (e.g. Switzerland and China) to overcome 

perceptions relating to their traditional national accounting models.  

 
                                                 
53  The Big 5+2 included the known Big Five (Arthur Andersen, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, Ernst & 

Young, KPMG and PricewaterhouseCoopers) plus Grant Thorton and BDO.  
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Glaum and Street (2003) investigated the extent to which companies listed on the German 

“Neuer Markt” complied with IASs and US GAAP disclosure requirements for the 

financial year 2000. They also related the level of mandatory disclosure compliance to a 

number of company attributes; namely, company size, type of auditor, reference to the 

type of auditing standards in the audit report, listing status, country of origin, industry, 

profitability, internationality, ownership diffusion, company age and rate of growth. The 

sample consisted of annual reports from 100 companies that prepared their financial 

statements based on IASs and from 100 companies that prepared their financial 

statements based on US GAAP. Two checklists were developed for IASs and US GAAP 

disclosure requirements. The IAS checklist contained 153 items, while the US GAAP 

checklist contained 144 items.  

 

Glaum and Street (2003) found that compliance levels ranged from 0.41 to 1.00, with an 

average of 0.83. The average mandatory compliance level for companies that applied 

IASs was 0.81, with a minimum of 0.42 and a maximum of 1.00. For those that applied 

US GAAP it was 0.87, with a minimum of 0.52 and a maximum of 0.99. They also 

reported significant non-compliance with respect to IAS 32 and 33.54 Using OLS 

regression, they found that the level of compliance with IASs and US GAAP disclosures 

was positively associated with companies being audited by Big Five audit firms and to 

cross-listing on a US exchange. The level of compliance was further associated with 

references in the audit report to the use of ISA or US GAAS.55 Other attributes were not 

significant for both levels of compliance. Being audited by a Big Five audit firm was the 

most important attribute.  

 

Compliance with IASs has also been the subject of three prior studies in the GCC member 

states. However, no study of companies in the GCC member states has used an index to 

measure the level of compliance with IASs and has then related the degree of compliance 

to specific company attributes. Following Nobes (1990), Abdelrahim, Hewaidy and 

Mostafa (1997) investigated the extent to which 22 companies listed on the Kuwait Stock 

Exchange (KSE) complied with the mandated IASs for the financial year 1995. Three 

standards relating to fixed assets were examined. These standards were IAS 16 

(accounting for property, plant and equipment), IAS 20 (accounting for government 

                                                 
54  Analysis of the compliance level for each IAS is not available. However, an example of non-

compliance with IAS 33 was given. Glaum and Street (2003) reported that only 53% of companies 
disclosed earnings per share on the face of the income statement.  

55  US GAAS: the generally accepted auditing standards of the US.  
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grants and disclosure of government assistance) and IAS 23 (borrowing costs). A 44-item 

checklist was developed to investigate whether the companies complied with these 

standards (disclosure and measurement). The authors surveyed the chief financial officers 

of 22 listed companies to determine whether they complied with these standards. The 

survey consisted of 44 questions, each one relating to an item on the checklist. The 

analysis was based on descriptive statistics that involved calculation of the fraction of 

companies that complied with each of the 44 items. Abdelrahim et al. (1997) found that 

the extent of mandatory compliance varied among the items. For some items there was 

complete compliance. For other items, the index value was less than 0.20. No company 

complied with all the requirements of the three standards examined.  

 

This study suffered from a number of limitations. First, it concentrated on a small 

proportion of listed companies in Kuwait, which might not adequately represent the 

extent of compliance overall. Second, it considered only three standards. Investigating 

more standards might have given different results. Third, it was based on a questionnaire, 

which may not have given an accurate reading on the level of compliance with each 

standard. Fourth, no attempt was made to explain cross-sectional differences in the level 

of compliance. 

 

Abdelrahim and Mostafa (2000) replicated Abdelrahim et al. (1997), but with different 

accounting standards. The standards were IAS 25 (accounting for investments), IAS 26 

(consolidated financial statements and accounting for investments in subsidiaries) and 

IAS 28 (accounting for investments in associates). A sample of 26 companies listed on 

the KSE was investigated for financial year 1997. Twenty-four items were used to 

investigate compliance. A questionnaire was circulated to the chief financial officer of 

each listed company to determine whether they complied with the standards. The results 

revealed that the extent of mandatory compliance with these standards varied among the 

items. Non-compliance with the measurement and disclosure requirements of individual 

IASs was noted. For example, when reclassifying short-term investments as long-term 

investments, 38% of the companies used the cost method, which is not endorsed by IAS 

25, rather than the lower of cost and market, which is required. For IAS 27, three of the 

15 companies that had at least one subsidiary did not consolidate their subsidiaries and 

did not disclose any reason for not doing so. For IAS 28, four of 17 companies that 

invested in at least one associate violated all measurement and disclosure requirements. 
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Like its predecessor, this study did not attempt to relate differences in the level of 

compliance to company attributes.  

 

Joshi and Al-Mudhahki (2001) investigated the extent to which 37 companies listed on 

the Bahrain Stock Exchange (BSE) complied with the disclosure requirements of IAS 1 

(presentation of financial statements) for the financial year 1999. They then assessed the 

association between the extent of mandatory compliance and a number of company 

attributes. The attributes examined were company size, profitability, foreign operations, 

leverage and type of auditor. Ten items were investigated to ascertain the extent of 

compliance with IAS 1. These items were components of financial statements, 

comparability, compliance, stock information, disclosure and reclassification, dividends, 

description of reserves, timeliness, going concern and disclosure in income statements. 

The annual report of each company was reviewed to determine whether it had disclosed 

each item.  

 

A rating scale of five (full compliance) to one (did not comply) was used to quantify the 

degree of compliance with every disclosure requirement of IAS 1.56 Based on the mean 

for all items, they found a high degree of compliance with IAS 1 requirements with 

respect to components of financial statements (0.89), compliance (0.73), comparability 

(0.68) and stock information (0.65). They also found a “fair” degree of compliance in 

respect of disclosure and reclassification (0.59), dividends (0.49), description of reserves 

(0.57), timeliness (0.46), going concern (0.37) and disclosure in the income statement 

(0.32).  

 

They classified companies into two groups based on their profitability, size, foreign 

operations, leverage and type of auditor. Using a bivariate Mann–Whitney U test, they 

compared the compliance practices of the two groups for each company attribute and each 

                                                 
56  The measure was subjective. For example, in the case of the first item, components of the financial 

statements, IAS 1 requires the set of financial statements to include: balance sheet, income statement, 
statements showing either (i) all changes in equity, or (ii) changes in equity other than those arising 
from capital transactions with owners and distributions to owners, a cash flow statement and 
accounting policy notes. In measuring this item, one point was given to each component of the 
financial statements. Five points were given to companies whose financial statements contained the 
five components, four points were given to companies whose financial statements contained four 
components, and so on. Another example for the compliance information item is that five points were 
given to companies that stated clearly they complied with IASs, in the notes to the financial 
statements; four points were given if they stated they complied but it was not stated clearly in the 
notes; three points were given to companies whose auditor stated their compliance; two points were 
given to companies whose auditor stated the company followed international laws and standards; and 
one point was given to companies that did not mention compliance with IAS 1. 
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disclosure item. Only company size was positively associated with the degree of 

compliance and for only two items: timeliness and reserve description. 

 

My review of the literature shows that no previous study of the GCC member states has 

employed a comprehensive and systematic (index) measure of compliance.  

3.5 Summary 

The impact on financial reporting of pressures other than the institutional framework has 

been explored by considering the relationship of market forces and managerial incentives 

to financial reporting recognition and disclosure. Prior studies were reviewed both to 

place this study in context and to gain insights into company attributes that might be 

associated with the level of compliance. Areas where the present study contributes to the 

existing literature were identified.  

 

To summarise the discussion, empirical research on compliance with IASs in developing 

countries, especially in the GCC region, has been limited. To date, the focus on 

compliance has been largely on companies from developed countries such as the US, UK, 

Australia and European countries, and in developing countries from East Asia. Studies 

that have investigated the relationship between the level of compliance and company 

attributes have mainly found a relationship with a Big Five auditor or with cross-listing on 

another stock exchange. Only three compliance studies have been concerned with the 

extent of compliance in an individual GCC member state, and none has considered the 

member states collectively.  

 

This thesis extends previous compliance studies by focusing on a group of developing 

countries in the Middle East. It investigates corporate mandatory compliance behaviour 

within the GCC member states over time, and it relates the extent of compliance to a 

general improvement over time and to company attributes that have been identified in this 

literature review. It differs from previous compliance studies that measure compliance at a 

particular time. It has been suggested that longitudinal compliance is important and 

provides more robust results than a single year (Owusu-Ansah, 1998; Abdelrahim and 

Mostafa, 2000) and this thesis adds to research by providing a longitudinal analysis. 

 

The three earlier compliance studies of GCC member states differ from this study in at 

least six respects. First, the propositions in this thesis are based on theoretical arguments 
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as well as evidence. Second, this thesis refers to a range of company attributes to explain 

the extent of compliance with IASs in annual reports. Third, it examines a wider set of 

IASs, in particular all applicable IASs as at the end of 2002. Fourth, it focuses on 

compliance with IASs in a regional grouping of countries with cultural and economic ties. 

Fifth, it investigates compliance over time. Sixth, it measures compliance based on 

companies’ financial statements rather than the self-reported views of chief financial 

officers.  

 

An understanding of potential influences on compliance with IASs has been built by 

considering both the institutional framework, examined in Chapter Two, and market 

forces and managerial incentives, which were canvassed in this chapter. Based on this 

understanding, hypotheses that explore the research questions can now be stated. That is 

the task of Chapter Four. 
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Chapter 4: Hypotheses 

4.0 Introduction 

Chapter Two dealt with institutional differences among the six GCC member states, while 

Chapter Three outlined studies suggesting several company attributes, including country 

of origin, that might be associated with the extent to which companies comply with 

international accounting standards’ (IASs) disclosure and measurement requirements. The 

purpose of this chapter is to develop a set of testable hypotheses about the relationship 

between a company’s attributes and the extent of its compliance with IASs.  

 

Each attribute had to meet four preconditions before it was included in the study: 

1. There had to be a sound, theoretical reason for expecting the attribute to be associated 

with compliance with IASs. Chapter Three reviewed theoretical and empirical support 

for the attributes that were selected.  

2. The attribute should be relevant to the socioeconomic environment of GCC member 

states.  

3. The attribute should be capable of measurement in principle.  

4. Sufficient data should be available in the companies’ annual reports or guides 

available from stock exchanges for the attribute to be measured in practice.57  

 

Based on these preconditions, ten company attributes were selected for this study. These 

were: (1) country of origin, (2) company size, (3) leverage, (4) liquidity, (5) 

profitability, (6) type of auditor, (7) internationality, (8) type of industry, (9) ownership 

diffusion and (10) company age or maturity.58   

 

Section 4.1 discusses each of the ten attributes, leading to a formal statement of ten 

hypotheses. The hypotheses are summarised in Section 4.2. 

                                                 
57  These are the principal publicly available sources of information about listed companies in the GCC 

member states. 
58  Recent compliance studies discussed in Chapter Three used company attributes related to the manner 

in which the company referred to use of IASs in the accounting policy note, the manner in which the 
audit opinion addressed compliance with IASs, and the manner in which the audit opinion addressed 
the auditing standards followed. These attributes were not relevant to this study because (1) all 
companies in the study are obliged to comply with IASs, whereas in prior compliance studies some 
companies were using IASs voluntarily and (2) auditors are required to audit companies’ financial 
statements in a manner consistent with International Standards of Auditing (ISA) in Bahrain, Oman, 
Kuwait and the UAE. Qatari auditors use ISA voluntarily, while Saudi Arabia has its own auditing 
standards.  
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4.1 Company Attributes 

4.1.1 Country of Origin 

Chapter Two documented institutional reasons why compliance with IASs in companies’ 

financial statements could differ by state, while Chapter Three highlighted findings 

demonstrating an association between country of origin and compliance. For example, 

Tower et al. (1999) and Street and Gray (2001) found evidence of a “country effect” on 

accounting policies and practices. 

 

The country-of-origin variable is relevant to this study because companies originating in 

the six separate GCC member states are all represented in the study. These states differ in 

at least three essential features that could affect the level of compliance.  

 

First, the six member states of the GCC have had different positions, over time, in relation 

to adoption of IASs. Chapter Two showed that for all types of company, IASs were 

adopted as mandatory national accounting standards in Oman in 1986, Kuwait in 1991 

and Bahrain in 1996. Only companies in the banking and investment industry are required 

to comply with IASs in Saudi Arabia, Qatar and UAE, beginning in financial years 1992, 

1999 and 1999 respectively. These differences in the time of mandatory adoption of IASs 

could lead to differences in the level of compliance with IASs among GCC member states 

because companies in the earlier adopting countries are more likely to have established 

their accounting systems in accordance with IASs by the sample dates. Furthermore, 

regulators and companies in earlier adopting countries are expected to be more familiar 

with problems that may be associated with adopting IASs, such as differences in 

interpretation of standards.  

 

Second, differences in each state’s monitoring and enforcement mechanisms may lead to 

differences in the level of compliance. Chapter Two defined monitoring as checking 

companies’ annual reports for compliance with IASs and other regulations. It defined 

enforcement as taking actions to increase compliance, such as imposing penalties on non-

compliant companies. Chapter Two also described substantial differences in monitoring 

and enforcement mechanisms between the states. Enforcement bodies in the GCC 

member states either rely primarily on the external auditor’s report or undertake their own 

monitoring. Generally, it seems that there is no proactive monitoring except in Oman and 

Kuwait, and there is reactive monitoring only if there are complaints from enough 
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shareholders. However, the enforcement body in the UAE investigates some general 

disclosure issues. Investigation is conducted by a second external auditor in all states 

except Oman. It seems the provisions regulating monitoring companies’ compliance with 

accounting standards and other regulations are less stringent in Qatar, Bahrain, the UAE 

and Saudi Arabia. According to interviews with official personnel, the provisions relating 

to enforcement have not been used in any state except Oman and Kuwait. Even if a 

regulation was violated, the most likely action of the enforcement body would be simply 

to recommend to the company that it comply.  

 

Third, the comprehensiveness of the audit function differs by state, which may lead to 

differences in the level of compliance. Chapter Two showed that there are different 

qualification requirements for admission to the profession. Healy and Palepu (2001) 

argued that differences in auditors’ qualifications and professional training requirements 

affect the credibility of audit reports and financial statements. Among the GCC member 

states, entrance examinations are required in Kuwait and Saudi Arabia, while professional 

training is required of auditors in Oman, Saudi Arabia and the UAE.  

 

Based on the above line of reasoning, companies from countries that adopted IASs early 

(Oman, Kuwait and Saudi Arabia) are more likely to have a higher level of compliance 

than companies from countries that adopted IASs later (Bahrain, Qatar and UAE). 

Additionally, companies from countries with stronger enforcement practices (Oman and 

Kuwait) are more likely to have a higher level of compliance than companies from 

countries with relatively weaker enforcement practices. Similarly, companies from 

countries where there are entrance examination or professional training requirements 

(Kuwait, Saudi Arabia, Oman, UAE) are more likely to have a higher level of compliance 

than companies from countries without qualification requirements. Accordingly, it is 

hypothesised that: 

 

H1a:  The level of compliance with IASs in Kuwait and Oman is higher than in 

Saudi Arabia, Qatar, Bahrain and UAE.  

 

H1b:  The level of compliance with IASs in the UAE is higher than in Saudi 

Arabia, Bahrain and Qatar.  
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H1c:  The level of compliance with IASs in Saudi Arabia is higher than in Bahrain 

and Qatar. 

 

H1d:  The level of compliance with IASs in Bahrain is higher than in Qatar. 

 

Collectively, these four sub-hypotheses predict that compliance in Kuwait and Oman 

exceeds that in the UAE, which exceeds that in Saudi Arabia, which exceeds that in 

Bahrain, which exceeds that in Qatar, all other things being equal. 

4.1.2 Company Size 

Research reviewed in Chapter Three (Section 3.4) consistently found no relationship 

between the extent of compliance with IASs and company size. Tower et al. (1999), 

Street and Bryant (2000) and Street and Gray (2001) found no evidence of an association 

between company size and the level of voluntary compliance with IASs. Similarly, 

Glaum and Street (2003) reported no association between size and the extent of 

mandatory compliance with IAS disclosure requirements. Only Joshi and Al-Mudhahki 

(2001) identified size as being positively associated with mandatory compliance with IAS 

1. However, the studies listed in panel A of Table 3.1 have found mixed results for the 

association between size and the level of compliance with mandatory disclosure. For 

example, while Ali et al. (2004) found a positive association in India, Pakistan and 

Bangladesh, Patton and Zelenka (1997) found no such association in the Czech Republic. 

 

A number of theoretical explanations for expecting a positive relationship between 

company size and level of disclosure and level of compliance with IASs were provided. 

 

First, in Western countries political visibility can be used to explain a positive association 

between company size and the extent of disclosure and compliance with IASs. Watts and 

Zimmerman (1986, p. 235) argued that larger companies are more likely to be subject to 

wealth transfers as a result of government intervention (political costs). In other words, 

larger companies are more politically visible and generally exposed to attack in the form 

of greater regulation, such as price controls and the threat of nationalisation, than are 

smaller companies. It was then argued that larger companies have a greater incentive to 

disclose more information in their annual reports than smaller companies to enhance their 

reputation and public image and to lessen public criticism or the threat of government 

intervention (Watts and Zimmerman, 1978; Holthausen and Leftwich, 1983). This 
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theoretical argument is likely to apply in the GCC member states for the following 

reasons. 

 

The impact of larger companies on the GCC economy, too, is substantial, given that 

larger companies are typically more diversified and account for much of the invested 

capital and a substantial proportion of the goods and services produced. They employ 

many nationals, consume a large quantity and value of raw materials and are responsible 

for a much of the imports (Al-Basteki, 1995; Abdulla, 1998; Hussain et al., 2002; Naser 

and Nuseibeh, 2003a). Consequently, in the GCC member states they are also more 

politically visible than smaller companies and, I argue, are also more likely to be subject 

to government intervention and possible political costs. Greater disclosure and employing 

accounting policies that lower reported earnings may help lower these costs and enhance 

a company’s public image. From my review of annual reports, I observe that a number of 

larger listed companies have contributed to society by building hospitals, parks and roads 

or providing hospitals with equipment. I argue that the companies may disclose more 

information about how they are meeting their perceived responsibilities towards society in 

order to enhance their public image and to reduce political costs. Providing financial 

statements in accordance with IASs raises the level of information disclosure and should 

also help reduce political costs. Larger companies may thus have a greater incentive to 

comply with IASs than smaller companies.  

 

A second explanation for an expected positive association between company size and the 

extent of compliance with IASs is that the GCC member states, as part of their economic 

reforms, have been implementing privatisation programs involving large, state-owned 

companies. As a consequence, larger companies are more likely to be closely followed by 

potential investors than are smaller companies. Investors may see larger companies as less 

risky because of their larger assets and the fact that they are typically multi-product 

business entities operating in several geographical areas and divisions. Poor disclosure 

impairs a common understanding between management and investors with respect to a 

company’s capital investment decisions and, thereby, creates information risk (Barry and 

Brown, 1985, 1986; Leuz and Verrecchia, 2004).  

 

However, prior research has found mixed results on the relationship between level of 

disclosure and cost of capital. Leuz and Verrecchia (2004) and Easley and O’Hara (2003) 

found a negative relationship between disclosure and company-specific information risk 
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and the cost of equity capital. This means that higher levels of disclosure lead to lower 

information risk and, thereby, to a lower cost of equity capital. With respect to IASs, Leuz 

and Verrecchia (2001) found that the use of IASs increased the level of disclosure and 

reduced the cost of capital. Francis et al. (2004) presumed earnings are a premier source 

of company-specific information and, under the view that properties of company-specific 

information risk affect the cost of equity, they found the largest cost of equity effects are 

observed for accounting-based attributes, in particular, accruals quality. Assuming IASs 

produce higher accruals quality and a lower cost of capital then it can be expected that the 

scale of capital requirements of larger companies in the GCC member states will give 

them a greater motivation to comply with IASs. This will reduce information risk, boost 

the confidence of existing investors, help to attract new investors and, thereby, lower the 

cost of equity capital.  

 

A third reason for expecting a positive relationship between company size and the extent 

of compliance with IASs is the demand for information by financial analysts.59 Larger 

companies are more likely to be exposed to the scrutiny of financial analysts than are 

smaller companies (Firth, 1979; Barry and Brown, 1986; Naser et al., 2002). Compliance 

with IASs enhances the level of disclosure and enables financial analysts to do a better job 

(Ashbaugh and Pincus, 2001). Larger companies typically have a greater analyst 

following and, thus, have a greater incentive to comply with IASs in order to help analysts 

to make better judgments.  

 

A fourth possible reason is related to proprietary costs (Verrecchia, 1983). Research 

described in Chapter Three indicated companies might limit disclosure when significant 

proprietary costs arise. Irrespective of whether disclosure of information has a positive or 

negative impact on the value of the company, costs are imposed when competitors, 

dissident shareholders or employees can use the information in a way that is harmful to 

the company. In the GCC setting, like in other countries, it can be expected that detailed 

disclosure is more likely to put smaller companies at a competitive disadvantage relative 

to their larger competitors.60 Given that compliance with IASs increases the level of 

                                                 
59  In the GCC member states, there is no directory of financial analysts similar to the Financial Analysts 

Directory in the US and other Western countries. In the GCC member states, financial analysts are 
mostly employed in banks, investment companies and investment consulting centres. They provide 
professional opinions and recommendations to individual and institutional investors to help them 
make appropriate investment decisions. In addition, most institutional investors have their own 
analysis department.  

60  Stevenson (1980, pp. 9-11) described categories and examples of information, which if disclosed, 
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disclosure, smaller companies are more likely to be reluctant to comply with IASs 

(Dumontier and Raffournier, 1998; El-Gazzar et al., 1999; Leuz, 2003). 

 

A fifth reason is related to the direct cost of complying with IASs. Since gathering, 

generating, and disseminating information in the form of an annual report is a costly 

activity (Buzby, 1975), smaller companies may not be able to afford such costs.  

 

Disclosing the detailed information required by IASs may be relatively less costly for 

larger companies because:  

1. They are more likely to have the resources and expertise necessary for the production 

and publication of more detailed financial statements to meet the diverse needs of 

many shareholders and creditors.  

2. They are more likely to be producing sufficiently detailed information already for 

internal purposes.61  

 

Therefore, smaller companies may be less likely to comply with IASs than larger 

companies.  

 

These lines of reasoning provide strong grounds for predicting that larger companies are 

more likely to comply with IASs than smaller companies: 

 

H2:  Larger companies have a higher level of compliance with IASs. 

 

4.1.3 Leverage  

Research discussed in Chapter Three showed that the association between the extent of 

compliance with IASs and the level of leverage was investigated only by Tower et al. 
                                                                                                                                               

might create a competitive disadvantage. They include information about technological and 
managerial innovation (e.g. production processes, quality-improvement techniques); strategies (e.g. 
planned product development); and about operations (e.g. segment sales and production cost figures). 
A theoretical analysis of the reasons that might lead managers to refuse to publish certain information 
is provided by Dye (1985). He argued information may be perceived by managers as proprietary, and 
that disclosure of that information may result in the entry of competitors into the market, thus 
decreasing future profits. 

61  Buzby (1975) argued that larger companies usually make many products and distribute them over 
wide geographical areas, which requires a relatively large volume of internal data in order to keep 
managers sufficiently informed. This means the marginal cost of accumulating and disseminating 
information is smaller, so that the overall cost of compliance and disclosure for large companies is, 
relative to their capital base, lower than for smaller companies.  

 65



(1999), who found no association. Panel A of Table 3.1 showed that studies that 

examined the association between leverage and the extent of compliance with mandatory 

disclosure reported no association. The reason for including leverage in the present study 

is to examine whether GCC listed companies with more leverage nonetheless do have a 

higher level of compliance with IASs than companies with less leverage in their capital 

structure, as argued by Watts (1977) for example.  

 

Chapter Three sketched key elements of agency theory as it relates to this thesis. Jensen 

and Meckling (1976) and Fama and Miller (1983) suggested agency conflicts between 

principals (debtholders in the present case) and their agents (managers acting, in this case, 

in the interests of shareholders) give rise to agency costs. Agency costs of this type are 

expected to be higher for companies with higher leverage because there is relatively more 

wealth for managers to transfer from debtholders. Companies with higher leverage can be 

expected to disclose more information to reduce agency costs by reassuring debtholders 

that their interests are protected.  

 

In the GCC setting, lending agreements62 between debtholders (typically banks) and 

management (companies) often include restrictive covenants related to securing the loan63 

by a registered mortgage over the company’s tangible assets. Lending agreements may 

also be subject to restrictive covenants related to disposal of the company’s tangible fixed 

assets, to maintaining certain minimum financial ratios, as well as to distributions of 

dividends, remuneration of the board of directors and capital expenditures. In the GCC 

setting, banks play a dominant financial role in the economy (Azzam, 1998; Oweiss, 

2000; Al-Shimmiri, 2003).  

 

Banks have substantial and enduring financial relationships with companies. Evidence 

that banks do not need to rely on public information to the same extent as in, say, the US, 

but often have access to information directly from the company, has been provided for 

                                                 
62 The researcher reviewed the annual reports of the sample (436 annual reports for 137 companies) 

because loan agreements are not publicly published in the GCC member states. Only 39 companies 
published details of restrictive covenants in respect of their loans. It was also found that the number of 
companies that have obtained government loans has decreased over time. Twenty-one companies had 
government loans in 1996, 14 in 1999 and nine in 2002. 

63  Eleven companies of the 137 had unsecured loan agreements containing restrictive covenants relating 
to the disposal of property, plant and equipment, distribution of dividends and payment of 
remuneration to the board of directors. Restrictions on dividend distributions and on board 
remuneration tend to occur when the company already has in place loans and restrictive covenants in 
relation to its fixed assets. 
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Saudi Arabia (Naser and Nuseibeh, 2003a), Kuwait (Al-Shimmiri, 2003; Naser, Nuseibeh 

and Al-Hussaini, 2003), Bahrain (Joshi and Al-Bastaki, 2000) and Oman (Abdulla, 1998). 

Although banks can access private information directly from companies, it can still be 

argued that companies with a higher level of leverage may be more likely to disclose 

additional information, in order to reduce agency costs and information asymmetry with 

shareholders, than companies with a lower level of leverage. Companies with higher 

leverage have, by definition, less equity and probably, in turn, relatively fewer 

shareholders. Consequently, they are more likely to be subject to higher equity risk than 

companies with a lower level of leverage and, therefore, be subjected to greater 

shareholder demand for information to assess both the probability their company will 

meet its debt obligations and the riskiness of future cash flows arising from their 

investments.64   

 

In addition, Chapter Two reported that the Ministries of Commerce in the GCC member 

states (the regulators) are concerned about a company’s leverage. Companies with a 

higher level of leverage are subject to a higher regulatory demand for detailed information 

so that the regulatory body can assess the company’s obligations and future cash flows. 

Dumontier and Raffournier (1998) suggested that increased disclosure, by way of 

complying with IASs, can improve the monitoring role of financial statements and, in 

turn, reduce agency conflicts.  

 

In sum, companies with a higher level of leverage are expected to comply to a greater 

extent with IASs than companies with a lower level of leverage:  

 

H3:  Companies with a higher level of leverage have a higher level of compliance 

with IASs. 

4.1.4 Liquidity 

Research reviewed in Chapter Three found inconsistent results with regard to the 

association between liquidity ratios and the level of compliance with mandatory 

disclosure (panel A of Table 3.1). Wallace et al. (1994) found a negative association 

whereas Owusu-Ansah (1998) and Owusu-Ansah and Yeoh (2005) found no association. 

                                                 
64  In the GCC member states, company laws specify processes for liquidating a company. All company 

laws of the GCC member states contain similar provisions with respect to distributions in the event of 
a liquidation, whereby the company’s creditors have priority over the shareholders. 
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To the best of the researcher’s knowledge, the present study is the first to examine 

whether there is an association between the extent of compliance with IASs and liquidity 

ratios. 

 

Chapter Two reported that the Ministries of Commerce (the regulators) in the GCC 

member states refer to companies’ liquidity ratios to assess their ability to meet short-term 

commitments. Companies that seek external financing through lending agreements with 

banks (debtholders) are also subject to restrictive covenants related to liquidity. Although 

major debtholders usually can have access to private information from companies, 

demand for public information from regulators and shareholders is also expected, in order 

to assess the ability of a company to meet its short-term commitments.  

 

Wallace and Naser (1995) argued that regulatory bodies, debtholders and shareholders are 

particularly concerned with the going-concern status of companies. In view of this, the 

ability of a company to meet its short-term commitments without having to liquidate its 

fixed assets is potentially an important factor in the evaluation of the company by 

regulatory bodies, debtholders and shareholders. The inability of a company to meet its 

short-term commitments may result in delays in paying debts and could, in the extreme 

case, give rise to bankruptcy.  

 

Craswell and Taylor (1992) pointed out that while debtholders may negotiate with 

companies for release of additional information, shareholders of listed companies depend 

on public disclosure. Likewise, demand for company information by the Ministries of 

Commerce and shareholders is expected to increase when liquidity is lower. As a result, a 

company with a lower liquidity ratio is more likely to disclose additional information in 

order to reduce agency costs and assure shareholders and the Ministries of Commerce that 

its financial position is sufficient to meet short-term commitments. Since compliance with 

IASs may be considered as a form of expanded disclosure (Dumontier and Raffournier, 

1998; Naser, 1998; Leuz, 2003), it can be anticipated that companies with lower liquidity 

ratios are more likely to comply with IASs than companies with higher liquidity ratios. 

Accordingly, it is hypothesised that: 

 

H4:  Companies with lower liquidity ratios have a higher level of compliance 

with IASs. 
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4.1.5 Profitability 

A number of studies discussed in Chapter Three examined the association between a 

company’s profitability and the extent of its compliance with IASs. Tower et al. (1999), 

Street and Bryant (2000) and Street and Gray (2001) found no association between 

profitability and the level of voluntary compliance with IASs. Similarly, Glaum and Street 

(2003) reported no relationship between profitability and the extent of mandatory 

compliance with IAS disclosure requirements. With respect to the association between the 

extent of compliance with mandatory disclosure and profitability, panel A of Table 3.1 

shows conflicting results. Patton and Zelenka’s (1997) study of companies in the Czech 

Republic and Owusu-Ansah’s (1998) study of companies in Zimbabwe found evidence of 

a positive association. Ali et al. (2004) found no association in India, Pakistan or 

Bangladesh. 

 

Chapter Two has shown that, as part of GCC member states’ economic reforms, foreign 

investment laws have been enacted in Bahrain, Oman, Kuwait, Qatar and UAE in recent 

years.65 Saudi Arabia allowed foreign investors to enter the banking industry in the 1980s, 

by buying and selling shares of listed companies on the GCC stock exchanges. The 

purpose of these laws is to develop capital markets and economies as a whole, by 

attracting foreign investment.  

 

One can expect companies with larger profits to disclose more information than 

companies with smaller profits because: 

1. As predicted by signaling theory, discussed in Chapter Three, managers of companies 

making larger profits are more likely to wish to signal their success and strength to 

potential foreign investors and market participants.  

2. Those managers may also wish to disclose more information to reassure shareholders 

and strengthen their management position and, in turn, justify management’s 

compensation (Singhvi and Desai, 1971; Inchausti, 1997).  

 

                                                 
65  Foreign investors were allowed to invest in companies listed on the stock market in Bahrain in 1996, 

Oman in 1997, UAE in 1999 and Kuwait in 2000. In Qatar, foreign investors have been able to invest 
indirectly via an investment fund since 2001. An Amiri Decree was issued on 7 February 2005 
permitting foreigners to trade unconditionally in the Doha Securities Market (DSM) in Qatar 
beginning 13 April 2005 (DSM, 2005). 
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Dumontier and Raffournier (1998) argued that compliance with IASs by profitable 

companies is one way to signal their superior performance to the market. Although 

Dumontier and Raffournier do not mention it, another signaling reason is that if IASs lead 

to more conservative income, companies with larger profits that “can afford” to comply 

with IASs might do so to signal their greater earnings “quality”. Since compliance with 

IASs could provide more information (Ashbaugh, 2001; Leuz, 2003), it can be predicted 

that companies with larger profits are more likely to comply with IASs than companies 

with smaller profits.  

 

Watts and Zimmerman (1986, p. 235) further argued that companies with larger profits 

could be more interested in adopting accounting policies reducing profit or disclosing 

detailed information in their annual reports in order to justify their financial performance 

and to reduce political costs. Chapter Three discussed political cost theory, suggesting 

that larger companies that tend to earn the largest profits in absolute terms are more 

vulnerable to regulatory intervention. It may be that providing financial statements based 

on IASs enables a company to meet the demand of the government for information and, 

thereby, reduce political costs. If so, then companies with larger profits have a greater 

incentive to comply with IASs.66 Hence, for several reasons, it is hypothesised that: 

 

H5:  Companies with larger profits have a higher level of compliance with IASs. 

4.1.6  Type of Auditor  

Studies described in Chapter Three yielded consistent results in regard to the relationship 

between the type of auditor and compliance with IASs. Street and Gray (2001) reported 

that the level of compliance with IAS disclosure and measurement requirements was 

positively associated with companies in developed countries being audited by Big Five 

auditing firms.67 Glaum and Street (2003) also found a positive association between the 

level of mandatory compliance with IAS disclosure requirements and being audited by 

Big Five auditing firms in Germany. This study examines such a relationship in 

developing countries to explore whether the influence of auditor type is the same as in 

developed countries. Several studies in panel A of Table 3.1 investigated whether there 
                                                 
66  A difficulty in testing this idea as that we do not observe profits as they would have been reported if 

the company had not complied with IASs. 
67  Prior to 1999, the Big Six auditing firms were: Arthur Andersen, Coopers & Lybrand, Deloitte 

Touche Tohmatsu, Ernst & Young, KPMG and Price Waterhouse. In 1999, Coopers & Lybrand 
merged with Price Waterhouse to form PricewaterhouseCoopers. Arthur Andersen was dissolved in 
2002, largely as a result of the Enron scandal.  
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was an association between type of auditor and the level of compliance with mandatory 

disclosure. Wallace and Naser (1995) found that the extent of compliance with mandatory 

disclosure was negatively associated with companies being audited by one of the Big Six 

in Hong Kong, while Patton and Zelenka (1997) found a positive association in the Czech 

Republic. On the other hand, Wallace et al. (1994) found no association in Spain. 

 

Watts and Zimmerman (1983) and Craswell and Taylor (1992) put forward the view that 

choice of external auditor is a mechanism that helps alleviate conflicts of interest between 

managers and shareholders. Jensen and Meckling (1976) and Watts and Zimmerman 

(1983) also argued that large audit firms act as a mechanism to reduce agency costs and 

exert more of a monitoring role by limiting opportunistic behaviour by managers. 

DeAngelo (1981) similarly argued that companies audited by Big Six firms have 

substantial agency costs, and they try to reduce them by employing a Big Six firm. 

DeAngelo (1981) considered that Big Six audit firms have incentives to maintain 

independence from clients’ pressure for limited disclosure because of the economic 

consequences associated with potential damage to their reputation. Accordingly, 

DeAngelo (1981) argued that Big Six audit firms are more likely to encourage their 

clients to disclose a greater amount of information in published annual reports. Similarly, 

Jensen and Meckling (1976) and Watts and Zimmerman (1983) argued that larger audit 

firms are less likely to be associated with clients that disclose lower levels of information 

in their annual reports. Conventionally, larger audit firms are identified as being one of 

these Big Five (or Big Six formerly) international audit firms, and smaller audit firms are 

the rest (DeAngelo, 1981; Hossain et al., 1994; Owusu-Ansah, 1998; Haniffa and Cooke, 

2002; Naser et al., 2002; Glaum and Street, 2003).  

 

The signaling literature suggests that there are dual benefits for auditing firms and their 

clients. The choice of an external auditor can serve as one signal of a company’s (or 

client’s) value. For example, Titman and Trueman (1986) and Craswell and Taylor (1992) 

showed that listed companies are more likely to choose a Big Six audit firm. Such a 

choice signals to investors that the contents of the annual reports are audited with high 

quality. Auditing firms may also use the information disclosed by their clients as a way of 

signaling their own quality (DeAngelo, 1981).  

 

Chapter Two has reported that, in the GCC member states, company law requires every 

joint stock company to appoint at least one external auditor registered with the Ministry of 
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Commerce to audit the company’s accounts. The external auditing laws of these states do 

not permit foreign auditing firms to operate unless they are affiliated with a local firm. As 

a result, audit firms in the GCC member states can be classified into local firms with 

international affiliations (Big Five) and local firms without such an international 

affiliation (non-Big Five).68 This classification has been used by other researchers in the 

region (Al-Mudhaf, 1990; Al-Basteki, 1995, 1998; Shuaib, 1999). According to the 

external auditing laws in these countries, an external auditor is responsible for the 

accuracy of the statements included in their report and is liable for losses arising out of 

fraudulent or misleading certified annual reports. The laws also specify penalties if an 

external auditor violates the regulations. These penalties range from a caution to 

suspension of the external auditor’s license for a period of time, or even removal from the 

register of external auditors.  

 

It can be expected that companies audited by one of the local audit firms with an 

international affiliation (Big Five) are more likely to have a higher level of compliance 

with IASs than companies audited by local audit firms without an international affiliation 

(non-Big Five).  

 

Two reasons for this prediction are:  

1. The Big Five internationally affiliated local audit firms are more likely to be larger 

and more likely to be backed by greater technical capabilities, expertise and 

experience. This may help them both to avoid legal liability (from reporting 

misstatements or errors) and to ensure compliance by their clients with statutory and 

regulatory reporting rules.  

2. Local audit firms with an international affiliation (Big Five) have a stronger incentive 

to protect their reputation and to signal to the market their higher audit quality.  

 

Therefore, it is predicted that companies audited by local audit firms affiliated with one of 

the Big Five are more likely to comply with IASs than client companies audited by local 

audit firms without that affiliation. 

 

                                                 
68  At the time of my study the Big Five were Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, Ernst & Young, KPMG, 

PricewaterhouseCoopers and Arthur Andersen except in 2002, when it became the Big Four as a result 
of the demise of Arthur Andersen.  
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H6:  Companies audited by a local audit firm with an international affiliation 

(Big Five) have a higher level of compliance with IASs.  

4.1.7 Internationality  

Chapter Three showed that previous studies examined internationality in terms of listing 

on a foreign stock market (Glaum and Street, 2003), foreign sales (Meek et al., 1995; 

Street and Gray, 2001), foreign subsidiaries (Craig and Diga, 1998; Ali et al., 2004), 

foreign debt (Bradbury, 1992) or foreign shareholders (Craig and Diga, 1998; Naser et al., 

2002; Morris et al., 2004). Studies reported in Chapter Three found mixed results with 

respect to the relationship between internationality and compliance with IASs. Glaum and 

Street (2003) found that the level of mandatory compliance with IAS disclosure 

requirements was positively associated with companies being cross-listed on US stock 

markets. On the other hand, Street and Gray (2001) found no association between the 

level of voluntary compliance with IAS disclosure and measurement requirements and 

foreign sales. 

 

It can be argued that companies with international activities are more likely to be subject 

to a broader range of regulatory authorities and to have diverse financiers, suppliers and 

customers. As a consequence, they are more likely to disclose more detailed information 

and to do so in a more widely understood form (Malone et al., 1993). Zarzeski (1996) 

argued that foreign revenue could proxy for the impact of internationality on accounting 

disclosure behaviour of business enterprises because companies with higher foreign 

revenue are more likely to have more foreign operations, suppliers, labour and capital. It 

is important for these companies that they provide reliable information about the nature of 

their operations, in order to obtain such resources at the most economical cost.  

 

Foreign customers and suppliers, for example, are interested in the financial soundness of 

the company with which they transact, especially when it involves credit or warranties 

(Zarzeski, 1996). Companies may attempt to meet this demand by providing more 

detailed and higher quality information. It may be that providing IAS financial statements 

enables a company to do this (Murphy, 1999; Street and Gray, 2001). If so, then 

companies that have more international activities and want to produce more 

internationally comparable information have a greater incentive to comply with IASs than 

less internationally oriented companies. Accordingly, in the GCC setting, it is predicted 
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that companies more heavily engaged in international activities are more likely to comply 

with IASs than companies with more local operations. 

 

H7:  Companies with relatively more international activities have a higher level 

of compliance with IASs. 

 

In the GCC member states, a number of companies have material foreign revenue, foreign 

assets, foreign shareholders or foreign subsidiaries. All of these measures could be used to 

represent a company’s level of internationality.  

4.1.8 Industry 

Research in Chapter Three provided a range of results in regard to the association 

between industry type and the extent of compliance with IASs. While Street and Bryant 

(2000) found no evidence of an association between industry and extent of voluntary 

compliance with IAS disclosure requirements, Street and Gray (2001) reported a positive 

association between being in the commerce and transportation industry and voluntary 

disclosure compliance.  

 

In the present study, industry type is included in order to account for any otherwise 

uncontrolled, industry-specific factors that may influence the level of compliance with 

IASs. There are three reasons for focusing on a company’s type of industry:  

1. Industry type may capture sensitivity to political costs not captured by other proxies 

that differ by industry (Ball and Foster, 1982; Bazley, Brown and Izan, 1985; Watts 

and Zimmerman, 1986, p. 239). In this connection, Ball and Foster (1982) argued that 

industry type can be a more appropriate proxy for political cost sensitivity than size.  

2. Industry type may also proxy for differences in the proprietary costs of disclosure, 

which has been found to be correlated with accounting method choice (Malone et al., 

1993). Ferguson, Lam and Lee (2002), for instance, argued that companies in 

identifiable, highly competitive industries may disclose less information to avoid loss 

from the leakage of proprietary information.  

3. Accounting and disclosure practices are often observed to reflect industry 

commonalities. Malone et al. (1993) and Wallace et al. (1994), for example, argued 

that the adoption of industry-related practices may lead to differential levels of 
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disclosure on similar items in financial reports published by companies in different 

industries.  

 

As a consequence, one can expect that companies in a given industry may comply more 

closely with a particular IAS that is more applicable to their activities, such as the banking 

industry with IAS 30. Accordingly, different industry groups may have a different 

compliance level with IASs because of differences in their sensitivity to political costs not 

captured fully by other proxies, to proprietary costs and to other unspecified industry 

commonalities. Thus, it is hypothesised: 

 

H8:  The level of compliance with IASs differs by industry. 

4.1.9 Ownership Diffusion 

Company ownership diffusion has been suggested as relevant in explaining variation in 

the extent of compliance with IASs. Research summarised in Chapter Three showed that 

the association between ownership diffusion and the extent of compliance with IASs has 

not been examined extensively. A recent study by Glaum and Street (2003) found no 

relationship between mandatory compliance with IAS disclosure requirements and 

ownership diffusion, as measured by a company’s free float (percentage of equity capital 

that can be readily traded in the share market). Similarly, panel A of Table 3.1 

consistently reported no association between ownership diffusion and the extent of 

compliance with mandatory disclosure, although researchers have used different proxies 

for ownership diffusion. Wallace and Naser (1995) reported no association between the 

extent of compliance with mandatory disclosure and ownership diffusion, measured by 

proportion of shares owned by outsiders, in Hong Kong. Owusu-Ansah (1998) found no 

association between the extent of compliance with mandatory disclosure and proportion 

of shares owned by insiders in Zimbabwe.  

 

In Chapter Three, it was shown that agency theory has been used to explain a positive 

relationship between ownership diffusion and the extent of disclosure and compliance 

with IASs. Agency theory suggests companies with widely held ownership are more 

likely to disclose more information than companies with closely held ownership. This is 

because when there are more outsiders, the demand for publicly available information is 

likely to increase. In addition, companies with closely held share ownership are likely to 

have a smaller number of shareholders who are insiders and are more likely to have 
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greater access to companies’ information than shareholders in companies with widely 

held share ownership. Compliance with IASs can be one way to increase disclosure in 

annual reports and allow other shareholders (outsiders) to monitor their interests more 

efficiently, thereby reducing agency costs (Dumontier and Raffournier, 1998). 

Compliance with IASs may allow managers to signal that they are acting in the interests 

of the shareholders (Dumontier and Raffournier, 1998). By this reasoning, companies 

with widely held ownership are more likely to comply with IASs than companies with 

closely held ownership. 

 

In the GCC member states, three shareholder groups typically have substantial equity 

ownership in companies listed on the GCC stock exchanges. These groups are the 

government and its agencies, dominant families and institutional investors. These groups 

may influence the level and quality of disclosure and the level of compliance with IASs. 

In the GCC member states, these groups are considered insiders because they usually 

have representatives on the companies’ boards of directors; thereby, they have better 

access to internal information. Evidence of institutional investors’ access to information 

directly from companies is observed in Saudi Arabia (Naser and Nuseibeh, 2003a), in 

Kuwait (Al-Shimmiri, 2003) and in Bahrain (Al-Bastaki, 1997). In addition, my review of 

the annual reports of companies listed on the GCC stock exchanges revealed that there 

were a small number of institutional investors that owned shares in the majority of 

companies. It may be possible for these investors to request information directly from 

companies.69

 

Therefore, consistent with agency theory, it can be predicted that companies with closely 

held ownership have less motivation to comply with IASs than companies with widely 

held share ownership. Accordingly, it is hypothesised that:  

 

H9:  Companies with more closely held share ownership have a lower level of 

compliance with IASs. 

 

                                                 
69  The researcher found that 81% (353 out of 436) of companies’ annual reports disclosed the identity 

and proportion of shares owned by major institutional investors. In each GCC member state, in 
general there are a small number of institutional investors (ranging from three to nine) that owned 
significant quantities of shares in most companies. A substantial shareholding often qualifies the 
institutional investor to have a representative on the board of directors. 
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4.1.10 Company Age or Maturity 

The extent of a company’s compliance with IASs may be associated with its age. Chapter 

Three referred to some empirical evidence on the relationship between a company’s age 

and the extent of its compliance with IASs and mandatory disclosures. Glaum and Street 

(2003) found no evidence of an association between a company’s age and the extent of 

mandatory compliance with IAS disclosure requirements. Owusu-Ansah (1998) found a 

positive association between a company’s age and its level of compliance with mandatory 

disclosure in Zimbabwe. Owusu-Ansah and Yeoh (2005) found no such a relationship in 

New Zealand (panel A, Table 3.1).  

 

In the case of the GCC companies, it is predicted that older companies are more likely to 

disclose more information leading to compliance with IASs than are younger companies. 

Two factors support this proposition.  

 

First, older companies are more likely to have established, well-organised professional 

staff to deal with the technical aspects of their financial statements. Their better 

established accounting systems are more likely to be capable of producing more detailed 

information at less cost, compared to younger companies. Since IASs require more 

detailed information, older companies with more established accounting systems are more 

likely to be able to meet the IAS requirements than those with less established and less 

comprehensive accounting systems.  

 

Second, a younger company may suffer a greater competitive disadvantage if it discloses 

certain items such as information on research and development expenditure, capital 

expenditure and new products. The competitive disadvantage would arise when the 

information disclosed by the younger company is used to its detriment by others. Older 

companies may be more motivated to disclose such information, as its disclosure is less 

likely to hurt their competitive position (Owusu-Ansah, 1998). Accordingly, since 

adoption and compliance with IASs can be expected to increase disclosure, it is predicted 

that older companies are more likely to have a higher level of compliance with IASs than 

younger companies.  

 

H10:  Older companies have a higher level of compliance with IASs. 
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4.2 Summary 

This chapter develops ten hypotheses to explore the research questions. Compliance is 

predicted to: 

• differ between countries (H1) and by industry (H8);  

• increase with company size (H2), leverage (H3), profitability (H5), appointment of an 

audit firm affiliated with one of the Big Five firms (H6), internationality (H7), 

ownership diffusion (H9) and the company’s maturity (H10); and  

• decrease with greater liquidity (H4).  

 

Eight of the ten hypotheses relate to individual company attributes. All ten hypotheses 

were tested for the pooled sample and, in many cases, for sub-samples based on the 

extent of adoption. Nine hypotheses were tested for each country separately.  

 

The next chapter discusses how the hypotheses were tested. To do so, it describes the 

sample selection criteria, and the operationalisation of the dependent and independent 

variables, data sources and the statistical techniques used in the study.  
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Chapter 5: Data and Method 

5.0 Introduction 

This chapter describes how the data were collected and the research method. The 

selection of countries and companies included in the study and the years for which annual 

reports were collected are explained in Section 5.1. Section 5.2 explains the particular 

international accounting standards (IASs) studied and the reasons for their selection. It 

also explains the criteria for constructing the compliance checklist used for measuring 

compliance with the IASs. The explanatory variables identified in Chapter Four are 

defined in Section 5.3. Statistical techniques used to examine the hypotheses outlined in 

Chapter Four are discussed in Section 5.4. The chapter concludes with a brief summary in 

Section 5.5. 

5.1 Data Collection 

The main data source for measuring the level of mandatory compliance with IASs and for 

company attributes is the companies’ consolidated financial statements, found in annual 

reports and the companies guides published each year by the GCC stock exchanges. The 

countries and companies selected and the years for which annual reports were collected 

are discussed below. 

5.1.1 Selection of Countries  

The six GCC member states were selected for the study. These are Bahrain, Oman, 

Kuwait, Saudi Arabia, Qatar and the United Arab Emirates (UAE). They were selected 

because they had made IASs mandatory, but demonstrated a range of positions in relation 

to years of adoption of IASs, the role of each country’s enforcement body and the role of 

the auditor in promoting compliance with IASs. In Chapter Two, it was explained that 

these between-state differences could have an impact on the extent of compliance with 

IASs.  

 

Choosing all of the GCC member states means that the impact of state differences on the 

level of compliance with IASs can be observed, while at the same time observing the 

extent of compliance in the region as a whole. In addition, since these states are 

developing countries, their selection could also yield insights into the extent of 

compliance with IASs in other developing countries in the region (e.g. Jordan and Egypt) 
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and in developing countries in general.70 The final reason is that these countries are of 

special interest to the writer, who is a citizen of Kuwait. 

5.1.2 Time Period 

The years for which annual reports were collected for study were based on when the GCC 

member states first required companies to adopt IASs. This was discussed in Chapter 

Two. All companies were first required to comply with IASs in Oman in 1986, in Kuwait 

in 1991, and in Bahrain in 1996. Only banks and finance and investment companies have 

been required to comply with IASs in the three remaining states. Compliance was first 

required in Saudi Arabia in 1992, and in Qatar and the UAE in 1999. A major year for the 

increasing acceptance of IASs in the region was 1999 because, from that year forward, 

every state has required at least some companies to adopt IASs. 

 

Since one purpose of the present study is to explain the extent of compliance with IASs 

over time, the study focused on 1999 and changes over the three years before and after 

1999 for Oman, Kuwait and Saudi Arabia; that is, from 1996 to 2002. Chapter Two 

showed that, in Bahrain, all companies have been required to comply with IASs for 

financial years beginning on 1 January 1996.71 Since companies may not have had 

adequate time to comply with IASs in 1996, annual reports for 1997 were also examined 

along with 1996, 1999 and 2002. This is consistent with Chamisa (2000), who suggested 

a one-year time lag between the issue of an IAS and significant compliance with it.  

 

In regard to Qatar and the UAE, the central banks in these member states first required 

banks and finance and investment companies to comply with IASs for financial years 

beginning on 1 January 1999. However, Chapter Two showed that the laws requiring 

adoption of IASs were issued in February 1999 in Qatar and January 1999 in the UAE. 

Therefore, it is possible some banks and finance and investment companies may not have 

had enough time to fully comply with all effective IAS requirements in 1999. As a result, 

banks and finance and investment companies’ annual reports were examined for 2000 as 

well as 1999 and 2002. Table 5.1 summarises the years for which companies’ annual 

reports were collected for each member state in the study.  

                                                 
70  IASs became fully mandatory in Jordan in 1990 (Naser, 1998) and in Egypt in 1995 (Abd-Elsalam 

and Weetman, 2003). 
71  The financial year in all GCC member states’ companies is also the calendar year; i.e. 1 January to 31 

December.  
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Table  5.1: Sample period and type of company for which IASs were mandatory 

Country Financial years  Type of company  

Bahrain 1996, 1997, 1999 and 2002 All industries 

Oman 1996, 1999 and 2002 All industries 

Kuwait 1996, 1999 and 2002 All industries 

Saudi Arabia 1996, 1999 and 2002 Banking and investment industry 

Qatar 1999, 2000 and 2002 Banking and investment industry 

UAE 1999, 2000 and 2002 Banking and investment industry 

The financial year in all GCC member states’ companies is also the calendar year; i.e. 1 January 
to 31 December. 

5.1.3 Selection of the Sample of Companies 

The sample for the study was drawn from companies listed on the GCC stock exchanges. 

The 1997 companies guides in Kuwait, Bahrain, Oman, and Saudi Arabia, published by 

their respective stock exchanges, revealed that, on 31 December 1996, a total of 184 

companies were listed on the stock exchanges of at least one of these states. For Qatar and 

the UAE, the 2000 companies guides revealed that, on 31 December 1999, six and ten 

banks and finance and investment companies were listed on the Qatar and UAE stock 

exchanges respectively.  

 

A total of 200 companies were listed over the full period. Given the small size of the 

population, the study aimed to include all relevant listed companies. There were nine 

(4.5%) Islamic institutions listed on the GCC stock exchanges. They were excluded 

because they follow specific disclosure requirements and are exempted from following 

IASs. A further 28 companies (14%) were excluded because they were delisted for 

various reasons (liquidations, litigations, mergers and other reasons not provided) during 

the period of the study, and their annual reports were either not issued or were not 

available. A further seven companies (3.5%) were excluded to avoid double-counting, 

since these companies are cross-listed on the Kuwait Stock Exchange (KSE) and their 

home stock exchange (one of the other GCC stock exchanges). Consequently, the number 

of sample companies was reduced from 200 to 156.  

 

The companies guides for the GCC stock exchanges were consulted to obtain the names 

and addresses of these companies’ general managers or chief executive officers.72 A letter 

                                                 
72  The companies guides were also consulted to identify companies with annual reports available online. 

Only 11 companies published their annual reports on their websites. In each case, only the most recent 
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requesting the audited English language version of the annual reports was addressed to 

the general manager or chief executive officer of each of the 156 remaining companies (a 

copy of the letter is included in Appendix B).73 Only those companies where a full set 

(that is, three or four years as per Table 5.1) of annual reports was received were included 

in the sample. After follow-up letters,74 137 companies responded to the request for their 

annual reports: a response rate of 88%.75 For no obvious reason, 17 of the 19 companies 

that did not respond to the request were from Oman. Table 5.2 summarises the final 

sample. 

 

Table  5.2: Selection of the sample companies 

 Bahrain Oman Kuwait Saudi 
Arabia 

Qatar UAE Total % of the 
total 

population 
Companies listed on 
GCC stock exchanges 
on 31 Dec, 1996 

36 79 60 9* 6* 10* 200 100% 

Exclusions:         
Islamic institutions (2) 0 (2) (2) (2) (1) (9) 4.5% 
Delisted companies 
during the period of the 
study (1996-2002)** 

(8) (19) (1) 0 0 0 (28) 14% 

Cross-listed in GCC 
stock exchanges  

0 0 (7) 0 0 0 (7) 3.5% 

Companies where a 
letter was sent 

26 60 50 7 4 9 156 78% 

Companies where 
their data not available 
(excluded)*** 

(1) (17) 0 (1) 0 0 (19) 9.5% 

Companies with 
usable data included in 
the study  

25 43 50 6 4 9 137 68.5% 

Companies’ annual 
reports collected 
(1996-2002) 

100 129 150 18 12 27 436 

*  This number represents only companies in the banking and investment industries because 
these are the only companies in Saudi Arabia, Qatar and UAE that must adopt IASs.  

**  Liquidations, mergers, and other reasons not provided. 
*** Companies did not respond to two requests for their annual reports. 
 

                                                                                                                                               
annual report was available.  

73  In all GCC member states, listed companies are required by company law or the securities law to 
publish their annual reports in Arabic and English versions.  

74  The follow-up letters were sent to companies that did not respond to the first request within two 
months.  

75  This percentage represents the number of companies that sent their full annual reports for the period 
covered (137 companies) divided by the number of companies relevant to this study (156). Companies 
that sent a less-than-complete set are treated as non-respondents. 
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The sample comprises 25 companies from Bahrain, 43 from Oman, 50 from Kuwait, six 

(banks and finance and investment companies) from Saudi Arabia, four (banks and 

finance and investment companies) from Qatar and nine (banks and finance and 

investment companies) from the UAE (Table 5.2). The names of the companies included 

in the study are listed in Appendix C. The total number of annual reports from the 137 

companies is 436 (Table 5.2). For Bahrain there are 100 annual reports (25 companies for 

four years), Oman 129 (43 companies for three years), Kuwait 150 (50 companies for 

three years), Saudi Arabia 18 (six banks for three years), Qatar 12 (four banks for three 

years), and for the UAE 27 (nine banks for three years).  

5.2 The Dependent Variable 

The level of mandatory compliance with IASs, measured by a compliance index, is the 

dependent variable. A properly-constructed compliance index is seen as a reliable 

measurement device for corporate compliance (Marston and Shrives, 1991). 

Consequently, it has been used by many prior compliance studies.76 A checklist is also 

used by audit firms to check their clients’ compliance with IASs.  

 

The remainder of this section discusses the criteria used to select IASs that are covered by 

the checklist. It also describes the checklist and scoring procedures.  

5.2.1 Selection of International Accounting Standards (IASs) 

This study measures the extent of mandatory compliance with IASs based on accounting 

practices observed in the financial statements, rather than by relying on companies’ 

claims of compliance with IASs, as has been done in some previous studies (Al-Basteki, 

1995; Dumontier and Raffournier, 1998; El-Gazzar et al., 1999; Murphy, 1999; Tarca, 

2004). Before measuring the extent of compliance with IASs, the set of standards to be 

included in the study had to be identified. 

 

At 31 December 2002 there were 41 current IASs (Appendix D). The selection of an IAS 

for this study was based on five criteria:   

1. relevance and applicability of the IAS to the GCC business environment and 

companies’ reporting practices;  

                                                 
76  Marston and Shrives (1991) argued that one test of the usefulness of a research tool is the frequency 

with which it is used. They further argued that a research tool will not continue to be used by 
researchers if it produces poor results. 
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2. availability of information to determine whether there was compliance with the IAS in 

the majority of companies’ annual reports; 

3. sufficient variation between financial statements in respect of the level of compliance 

with the IAS;  

4. applicability of the IAS to all fiscal years from 31 December 1996 to 31 December 

2002; and  

5. evidence from relevant prior studies that the IAS is useful in assessing the level of 

compliance.  

 

Table 5.3 shows the IASs that were included in the study as a result of applying these 

criteria. Reasons for the exclusion of particular IASs are given below. 

 

Relevance and Applicability to the Period of the Study 

Two standards were excluded as irrelevant or inapplicable to the period 1996–2002: IAS 

39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and IAS 40 Investment Property 

(see Table 5.3). Both standards were effective for fiscal years beginning on 1 January 

2001. Since the study investigated compliance from 1996, these two standards were 

inapplicable for most of the study period and were therefore excluded.  

 

Applicability to the GCC Business Environment 

Two procedures were used to verify the applicability of each standard. First, each IAS 

was discussed with two senior external auditors (employed by Ernst & Young and KPMG 

in Kuwait). These auditors confirmed which standards did not apply to the GCC member 

states. Second, the researcher also checked for any disclosures relating to these standards 

when examining companies’ annual reports. Five standards were omitted on these 

grounds. They were IAS 12 Income Taxes, IAS 15 Information Reflecting the Effects of 

Changing Prices, IAS 19 Employee Benefits, IAS 26 Accounting and Reporting by 

Retirement Benefit Plans and IAS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary 

Economies (see Table 5.3).  

 



Applicable IASs Standard 

Relevant IASs IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements, IAS 10 Events After the Balance Sheet Date, IAS 14 Segment Reporting, IAS 
16 Property, Plant and Equipment, IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 21 The effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates, IAS 23 
Borrowing Costs, IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures, IAS 27 Consolidated Financial Statements and Accounting for 
Investments in Subsidiaries, IAS 28 Accounting for Investments in Associates, IAS 30 Disclosures in the Financial 
Statements of Banks and Similar Financial Institutions, IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation, IAS 33 
Earnings Per Share and IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets. 

IASs that do not apply:  

• outside the period of the study IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and IAS 40 Investment Property. 

• irrelevant to the GCC business 
environment 

IAS 12 Income Taxes, IAS 15 Information Reflecting the Effects of Changing Prices, IAS 19 Employee Benefits, IAS 26 
Accounting and Reporting by Retirement Benefit Plans and IAS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies. 

• irrelevant to annual reports  IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting.  

• irrelevant to most sample members  IAS 11 Construction Contracts, IAS 17 Leases, IAS 20 Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of Government 
Assistance, IAS 22 Business Combinations, IAS 31 Financial Reporting of Interests in Joint Ventures, IAS 35 
Discontinuing Operations and IAS 38 Intangible Assets. 

• little or no within-sample variation IAS 2 Inventories and IAS 7 Cash Flow Statements. 

• little or no disclosure IAS 8 Net Profit or Loss for the Period, Fundamental Errors and Changes in Accounting Policies and IAS 36 Impairment 
of Assets. 
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Table  5.3: Selection of IASs 

 

 

 



The objective of IAS 12, the income tax standard, is to describe the disclosure and 

accounting treatment of income taxes (IASB, 2003). This standard does not apply to the 

GCC business environment because companies pay no income tax, except in Oman.77  

 

IAS 15 and IAS 29 relate to inflation accounting. IAS 15 is applied to reflect the effects 

of changing prices on a company’s results from operations and financial position. IAS 29 

prescribes accounting and disclosure for companies operating in a hyperinflationary 

economy (IASB, 2003). In the GCC member states, inflation has been relatively low 

(1.5% to 4% p.a.) over the last ten years and the purchasing power of money has been 

relatively stable over the last 20 years (GCC, 2003). As a result, these standards have not 

applied to the GCC member states.   

 

The objectives of IAS 19 and IAS 26 are to establish recognition and disclosure rules for 

employers to report on employee benefits and retirement benefit plans (IASB, 2003). 

These standards do not apply to GCC companies because all companies operating in the 

GCC member states must follow labour laws with respect to employee benefits and 

retirement benefits. These labour laws distinguish between national and non-national 

employees’ benefit plans. The laws specify a defined contribution plan for national 

employees, whereby companies and national employees make monthly payments based 

on a fixed percentage of salary to a government agency that administers the country’s 

social retirement plan. For companies with non-national employees, the labour laws 

require the company to establish a defined benefit plan, with benefits based on length of 

service and final remuneration. Accrued benefits are payable on termination of 

employment, but the amounts involved are typically immaterial. For these reasons IAS 19 

and IAS 26 are not relevant to the sample of companies in the GCC member states. 

 

Relevance to the Study 

The present study measures the level of compliance with IASs in annual, not interim, 

reports. IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting does not apply because its objective is to 

specify the minimum content of an interim financial report and to prescribe the principles 

for recognition and disclosure over an interim period (IASB, 2003).  

 

 

                                                 
77  Omani Income Tax Law No. 43 of 1997. For more details, see Abdullah (1998). 
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Applicability to the Majority of Companies 

The applicability of IASs depends on the nature of a company’s activities and on the 

extent of information disclosed about a standard in a company’s annual report. A pilot 

study was conducted to determine the applicability of IASs to GCC companies. The pilot 

study was based on a review of eight companies’ annual reports representing all industries 

from each GCC member state. (Forty-three companies were reviewed. This was 31% of 

the total sample of 137). This sample of companies was selected randomly, except for 

Qatar, Saudi Arabia and the UAE, where all banks and finance and investment companies 

were examined. The examination was conducted for all years for each company within 

each state.  

 

In the pilot study, 137 annual reports were reviewed to check the extent of disclosure on 

each IAS. It was found that a number of standards were not mentioned in all but a few of 

the annual reports surveyed; therefore, these standards were excluded. Table 5.4 

summarises the IASs that were excluded on the grounds that they were not widely 

applicable and the extent of their applicability based on the results of the pilot study.78   

 

Table  5.4: IASs with limited application to GCC companies 

Standard Title Number of companies’ annual reports (out of 
the 137 examined) where information about 
the standard was disclosed 

IAS 11 Construction Contracts 1 

IAS 17 Leases 2 

IAS 20 Accounting for Government Grants and 
Disclosure of Government Assistance 

2 

IAS 22 Business Combinations 0 

IAS 31 Financial Reporting of Interests in Joint 
Ventures 

0 

IAS 35 Discontinuing Operations 0 

IAS 38 Intangible Assets 1 

 

                                                 
78 The researcher also examined if there was any disclosure based on these standards when he 

investigated the full sample of companies’ annual reports. The examination confirmed very few 
companies consistently disclosed information relative to these standards. IAS 11 applied to only one 
company, IAS 17 to five, IAS 20 to nine, IAS 22 to none, IAS 31 to six, IAS 35 to one and IAS 38 to 
one.  

 87



5.2.2  Compliance Checklist 

The level of mandatory compliance with IASs was measured by a self-constructed 

compliance index consistent with prior compliance studies (Tower et al., 1999; Street and 

Bryant, 2000; Street and Gray, 2001; Glaum and Street, 2003). The initial step in 

constructing the index was to develop a checklist. The checklist was based on the 18 

standards shown in Table 5.3, but the compliance index was calculated from only 14 of 

these standards, as explained on page 91.  

 

The checklist distinguishes between disclosure and measurement practices because 

compliance may differ between them (Street and Gray, 2001). Table 5.5 shows the 

number of disclosure and measurement items in the checklist in total and for each year of 

the study. Since several different reporting years for each member state were covered in 

this study, a range of standards were applicable in each member state. The IAS checklist 

and each item’s applicability to companies’ annual reports are set out in Appendix E. For 

example, IAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies was effective from 1 January 1975 

until its replacement by IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements from 1 July 1998. 

Therefore, for the purposes of this study, companies’ annual reports were checked for 

compliance with the original IAS 1 in 1996 and 1997; whereas, reports for 1999, 2000 

and 2002 were checked against its replacement. The scoring procedure takes account of 

such differences in requirements over time, by expressing the compliance index in ratio 

form. 

 

Information about each IAS was obtained from the full volumes of IASs published by the 

International Accounting Standards Committee (IASC) and the International Accounting 

Standards Board (IASB). Volumes for 1996, 1997, 1999, 2000 and 2002 were used to 

develop the compliance checklist because standards were replaced or amendments were 

made during the period of the study. Each effective date is shown in the source-of-

information column in the checklist (Appendix E). Two duplicate requirements were 

identified and included only once. The amount of dividends that were proposed or 

declared after the balance sheet date must be disclosed according to both paragraph 74 of 

IAS 1 and paragraph 11 of IAS 10. The disclosure of basic earnings per share on the face 

of the income statement for the period is required by both paragraph 85 of IAS 1 and 

paragraph 47 of IAS 33.  
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To validate the checklist, two steps were undertaken. First, two detailed IAS compliance 

checklists were obtained from the Kuwait offices of Ernst & Young and KPMG79 and 

compared with the draft checklist. The purpose of using these two checklists was to verify 

the completeness of my own and to help to distinguish better the disclosure and 

measurement items. They also helped to determine a more efficient sequence for checking 

items. No item was missing from my self-constructed checklist, but there were minor 

variations between the self-constructed checklist and the Ernst & Young and KPMG 

checklists with respect to breaking up an item into its components to make it easier to 

check compliance. Thus, minor changes to components were made in the self-constructed 

checklist. Second, an experienced external auditor validated the comprehensiveness and 

relevancy of my draft checklist based on the 18 IASs. After scrutinising my checklist, he 

recommended no further revision be made.  

 

Table  5.5: Total number of disclosure and measurement items for each standard 

Standards (effective year) Total items Disclosure items Measurement items 
IAS 1 (1975) 
IAS 1 (1998) 

2 
35 

2 
35 

- 
- 

IAS 10 (1980) 
IAS 10 (2000) 

11 
7 

7 
5 

4 
2 

IAS 14 (1983) 
IAS 14 (1998) 

14 
23 

14 
23 

- 
- 

IAS 16 (1995) 24 16 8 
IAS 18 (1995) 3 3 - 
IAS 21 (1995) 20 9 11 
IAS 23 (1995) 5 3 2 
IAS 24 (1986) 5 5  
IAS 27 (1990) 12 7 5 
IAS 28 (1990) 9 7 2 
IAS 30 (1991) 45 45 - 
IAS 32 (1996)  10 10 - 
IAS 33 (1998) 8 5 3 
IAS 37 (1999) 14 12 2 
Maximum (1996) 160 128 32 
Maximum (1997) 160 128 32 
Maximum (1999) 224 187 37 
Maximum (2000) 220 185 35 
Maximum (2002) 220 185 35 

Note: IAS 30 applies only to banks and financial institutions. 
 

                                                 
79  The two checklists were developed for IASs effective in or before 1 January 2002.  

 89



Each disclosure and measurement item was given equal weight in the index, consistent 

with prior IAS compliance studies (Tower et al., 1999; Street and Bryant, 2000; Street 

and Gray, 2001; Glaum and Street, 2003). Information items could have been weighted 

based on their perceived importance; however, equal weighting was preferred for the 

following reasons.  

1. Equal weighting avoids subjective, judgmental ratings of items that can arise with 

unequal weighting (Wallace and Naser, 1995; Owusu-Ansah, 2000; Owusu-Ansah 

and Yeoh, 2005).  

2. Equal weighting provides a neutral assessment of items as it is devoid of the 

perceptual influences of a particular user group (Cooke, 1989, 1991, 1992, 1993; 

Wallace and Naser, 1995).  

3. Chong, Most and Brain (1983) argued that users’ preferences are unknown, and 

different users across countries are likely to assign different weights to similar items.  

4. Other limitations of weighting system have been identified. Owusu-Ansah (1998) and 

Dhaliwal (1980), for instance, argued that the relative importance of items is dynamic, 

not static, because it depends on prevailing economic conditions. Again, there is no 

available consensus on the relative importance of each item among different user 

groups (Cerf, 1961; Singhvi and Desai, 1971; Buzby, 1975; Dhaliwal, 1980).  

5. Several prior studies have argued that the results of the equal weighting procedure 

tend to be similar to those of other weighting systems (Firth, 1979; Robbins and 

Austin, 1986; Chow and Wong-Boren, 1987; Zarzeski, 1996; Prencipe, 2004). 

 

Each disclosure item on the checklist was assigned a value of one if it was disclosed and 

zero if the item obviously applied but was not disclosed. Items obviously not applicable to 

the report were coded as “NA”. Items where not enough information was given to discern 

their applicability were coded as “DK” for “do not know”. Robustness tests (Chapter 

Seven) were done to determine the sensitivity of the results to these coding ambiguities.  

 

Three steps were taken to mitigate uncertainty in coding:  

1. The whole annual report of each company was read carefully. The purpose of reading 

the entire annual report before scoring was to enable the researcher to understand the 

nature and complexity of each company’s operations and to form an opinion on 

whether undisclosed items obviously applied to the company. This is consistent with 
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some prior compliance studies (Street et al., 1999; Tower et al., 1999; Street and 

Bryant, 2000; Street and Gray, 2001; Glaum and Street, 2003).  

2. Current figures for each information item were compared with those of the previous 

year in the company’s annual report. This check is also consistent with previous 

studies (Wallace et al., 1994; Wallace and Naser, 1995; Owusu-Ansah, 1998, 2000). 

For example, a dash in front of a particular disclosure item under the column showing 

the current year’s figures suggests the item did not apply that year. This process was 

applied in all years for which annual reports were obtained. 

3. The applicability of several information items to every company can be established by 

a priori assumption. Certain information and measurement items are applicable to 

certain companies or industry groups. For example, all conventional manufacturing 

companies hold inventories of one kind or another and, therefore, the method adopted 

in valuing the inventory may be expected to be disclosed.  

5.2.3  Scoring Procedure 

The next stage was to complete a compliance scoring sheet for each annual report to 

determine the extent of compliance with IASs, based on the checklist. After scoring all 

annual reports, it was revealed that there was insufficient within-sample variance in the 

degree of compliance with two standards: IAS 2 Inventories and IAS 7 Cash Flow 

Statements and they were excluded from further analysis. In addition, there was little 

disclosure relating to two standards: IAS 8 Net Profit or Loss for the Period, Fundamental 

Errors and Changes in Accounting Policies and IAS 36 Impairment of Assets. These 

standards were also excluded from the study.  

 

Thus compliance measures are based on 14 standards; namely, IAS 1, 10, 14, 16, 18, 21, 

23, 24, 27, 28, 30, 32, 33 and 37. The 14 selected IASs have been found to be among the 

most important and controversial standards in prior studies (Street and Bryant, 2000; 

Street and Gray, 2001), thus supporting their inclusion in the checklist. 

 

In this thesis, the level of mandatory compliance with IASs was measured using three 

indices: a primary index and two alternative indices that were developed for robustness 

tests. The three indices included both disclosure and measurement items for the 14 

standards. The indices were expressed as a ratio ranging from zero to one, and were the 

dependent variables in the regression models.  
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The primary index is labelled the overall compliance index excluding NA and DK items 

(OCIEX). It was calculated as follows. The total number of required disclosures and 

measurements provided by the company in its annual report (for the 14 standards under 

review) was divided by the maximum applicable score (see Table 5.5). Companies were 

not penalised for not disclosing an item if it was deemed obvious by the researcher that 

the item did not apply to that company or if not enough information was given to discern 

its applicability. The OCIEX contains a disclosure (DCIEX) and a measurement 

(MCIEX) compliance index. The results for OCIEX, DCIEX and MCIEX are reported in 

Chapter Six.  

 

Because OCIEX could be biased, two alternative indices were also constructed. The first 

alternative index is labelled the overall compliance index including NA and DK items but 

recording NA and DK as non-compliance (OCIIN). Companies were implicitly penalised 

for not disclosing an item irrespective of its applicability or not. Companies were further 

penalised if their disclosure was insufficient to discern the applicability of an item.  

 

The second alternative index is labelled the overall compliance index including DK items, 

but recording DK as non-compliance and excluding NA (OCIDK). OCIDK implicitly 

penalised companies with DK items only. NA items were excluded from OCIDK because 

reading the company’s entire annual report in many cases helped the researcher to form a 

reasonable view on whether an item applied to the company concerned. The alternative 

two compliance indices are used in the robustness tests reported in Chapter Seven.  

5.3 Independent Variables 

Data for company size, leverage, internationality and ownership diffusion were obtained 

from the annual reports or the annual companies guides published by the respective stock 

exchanges. Company size and leverage measures incorporating the market value of equity 

were calculated by multiplying the company’s share price by the number of shares at the 

year-end date. These data come from the GCC stock exchanges’ annual companies 

guides. Data for country of origin, auditing firm, company age, industry, liquidity and 

profitability were obtained from the annual reports.  

 

Table 5.6 summarises the company attributes, their proxies and their source of 

information. The selection of these variables was discussed in Chapter Four.  
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Table  5.6: Summary of the independent variables 

Variable Proxy  

Company size  Natural log (market value of equity + book value of debt) 

Leverage  Book value of total debt/(market value of equity + book value of total debt)  

Liquidity Current assets/current liabilities  

Profitability  Return on equity = earnings before taxes or Zakat and interest/total 
shareholders’ equity  

Internationality  Foreign ownership = number of shares held by foreigners/total outstanding 
shares at year-end. 

Ownership 
diffusion  

Number of shares owned by institutional investors/number of outstanding 
shares at year-end 

Age Number of years passed since foundation 

Country of origin 
Bahrain 
Oman 
Kuwait 
Saudi Arabia 
Qatar 
UAE 

 
Bahrain. Dummy variable coded 1 = a Bahraini company, 0 = otherwise   
Oman. Dummy variable coded 1 = an Omani company, 0 = otherwise 
Kuwait. Dummy variable coded 1 = a Kuwaiti company, 0 = otherwise 
Saudi Arabia. Dummy variable coded 1 = a Saudi company, 0 = otherwise 
Qatar. Dummy variable coded 1 = a Qatari company, 0 = otherwise 
The United Arab Emirates (UAE). Dummy variable coded 1 = an Emirates 
company, 0 = otherwise 

Industry 
Industry 1 
 
Industry 2 
Industry 3 
 
Industry 4 

 

Banking and Investment. Dummy variable coded 1 = banking or investment 
company, 0 = otherwise 

Insurance. Dummy variable coded 1 = insurance company, 0 = otherwise 

Manufacturing. Dummy variable coded 1 = manufacturing company, 0 = 
otherwise 

Services. Dummy variable coded 1 = service company, 0 = otherwise 

Type of auditor Dummy variable coded 1 = a company audited by local auditor with 
international affiliation (Big Five), 0 = a company audited by local auditor 
without international affiliation (non-Big Five) 

Year 
1996 
1997 
1999 
2000 
2002 

 
Dummy variable coded 1 = 1996, 0 = otherwise.  
Dummy variable coded 1 = 1997, 0 = otherwise.  
Dummy variable coded 1 = 1999, 0 = otherwise.  
Dummy variable coded 1 = 2000, 0 = otherwise.  
Dummy variable coded 1 = 2002, 0 = otherwise.  

Sources of information for the independent variables are a company’s annual report or an annual 
companies guide published by the respective GCC stock exchange. Data relate to financial year-
end. 
 

Company Size 

Market value of equity plus book value of debt was used to measure company size 

(expressed in US$ million). This measure was used in the primary regressions rather than 
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other commonly used measures of size (such as the book value of total assets or total 

revenue) because it represents a company’s current value and its importance as seen by 

the investing public (Wallace and Naser, 1995; Glaum and Street, 2003). Chapter Three 

showed that this measure has been used in other related studies (Chow and Wong-Boren, 

1987; Wallace and Naser, 1995; Glaum and Street, 2003).  

 

For robustness tests, two alternative measures of company size (the log of total revenue 

and the log of total assets) were examined (see Chapter Seven). Sales has been used as a 

measure of size in some prior studies (Cooke, 1991; Wallace et al., 1994; Naser et al., 

2002). Since this study included entities whose activities do not include sales (such as 

banks and investment, insurance and services companies), total revenue rather than sales 

was used. Chapter Three showed that revenue has served as a proxy in other studies (e.g. 

Belkaoui and Kahl, 1978; Firth, 1979; Tarca, 2004) as has total assets (Singhvi and Desai, 

1971; Chow and Wong-Boren, 1987; Cooke, 1989, 1991; Craswell and Taylor, 1992; Al-

Basteki, 1995; Owusu-Ansah, 1998; Joshi and Al-Mudhahki, 2001; Chau and Gray, 2002; 

Haniffa and Cooke, 2002; Tarca, 2004).  

 

Leverage 

Leverage was measured by the book value of total debt as a proportion of book value of 

total debt plus market value of equity. Chapter Three showed that this measure was used 

in prior studies (Chow and Wong-Boren, 1987; Tarca, 2004). For robustness tests, an 

alternative measure of leverage was used: the book value of total debt as a proportion of 

book value of total debt plus book value of equity. This was consistent with Tarca (2002).  

 

Liquidity 

Liquidity was measured by the current ratio; that is, current assets as a proportion of 

current liabilities. This measure of liquidity was also used in previous studies (Belkaoui 

and Kahl, 1978; Wallace et al., 1994; Wallace and Naser, 1995; Naser and Al-Khatib, 

2000; Naser et al., 2002).  

 

Profitability 

Profitability was measured by the rate of return on equity (earnings before tax or Zakat80 

and interest divided by total shareholders’ equity). This measure has been used in 

                                                 
80  According to the Zakat Law of Saudi Arabia No. 17/2/28/3321 dated 21/1/1370 A.H. (2/11/1950) 

Zakat is defined as a religious duty (tax) charged in accordance with Al-Quran’n Al-Karim and levied 
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previous studies (Wallace et al., 1994; Wallace and Naser, 1995; Street and Bryant, 2000; 

Street and Gray, 2001; Naser et al., 2002; Glaum and Street, 2003). For robustness 

purposes, two alternative measures of profitability are also investigated in Chapter Seven: 

return on assets and cash flow from operations as a proportion of total assets,. 

 

Internationality 

Some previous studies examined internationality in terms of whether the company was 

listed on a foreign share market (Cooke, 1989; Hossain et al., 1995; Tarca, 2004). Only 

two GCC companies81 are listed outside the region and, therefore, listing on a foreign 

share market would be ineffective as a proxy for internationality.82 Instead, the proportion 

of shares held by foreigners was used as the primary measure of internationality because 

data for foreign ownership were available for most sample companies. This measure was 

used by Craig and Diga (1998). For robustness tests, three alternative measures of 

internationality (proportion of foreign revenue, proportion of foreign assets, and a dummy 

variable to denote whether the company has at least one known foreign subsidiary) were 

examined in Chapter Seven. Chapter Three showed that these alternative measures have 

been used in prior studies (Meek et al., 1995; Craig and Diga, 1998; Chau and Gray, 

2002; Ali et al., 2004). 

 

Ownership Diffusion 

Measures of ownership diffusion are constrained by available information. In the GCC 

member states, listed companies generally do not provide an extensive description of their 

ownership structure, but they do reveal the identity and proportion of shares held by their 

main shareholders. They are typically the government and its agencies, and institutional 

investors. Ownership diffusion was measured by the proportion of institutional investor 

ownership. Chapter Three showed that this measure was used previously (Haniffa and 

Cooke, 2002; Makhija and Patton, 2004). For robustness tests, the proportion of 

government ownership was used as an alternative measure of ownership diffusion, the 

results being reported in Chapter Seven. Chapter Three showed that this measure has been 

used in prior studies (Naser, 1998; Naser and Al-Khatib, 2000; Naser et al., 2002; 

Makhija and Patton, 2004). 
                                                                                                                                               

on proceeds, profits and gains from all sources. The law specifies the rate of the Zakat to be 2.5% of 
the net invested funds, “total amount subject to Zakat”. It is applied on Saudi companies only.  

81  They are Arab Banking Corporation and Arab Insurance Group. Both are incorporated in Bahrain and 
listed in Bahrain and London. 

82  The economies of the GCC member states include a small number of multinational companies and 
numerous medium-size companies.  
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Age 

Each company’s age was measured by the number of years passed since its foundation. 

This is a measure used in previous studies (Owusu-Ansah, 1998; Glaum and Street, 

2003). For robustness tests, the log of age was used as an alternative measure. 

 

Auditor 

Auditor was measured by a dummy variable coded one if the company was audited by a 

local audit firm with an international affiliation (Big Five) and zero otherwise. This 

measure was commonly used by prior studies (e.g. Wallace and Naser, 1995; Makhija and 

Patton, 2004; Owusu-Ansah and Yeoh, 2005). The auditor is identified from the auditor’s 

report.  

 

Country 

As pointed out in Chapters Two and Four, the GCC member states adopted IASs in 

different years, and their monitoring and enforcement mechanisms and 

comprehensiveness of the audit also differ. In the whole sample regressions, five dummy 

variables were included for Bahrain, Oman, Kuwait, Saudi Arabia and Qatar (estimates 

for the UAE were captured in the constant) to allow for differences between countries. 

This procedure was similar to that used by Cooke (1989), Tarca (2004) and Owusu-Ansah 

and Yeoh (2005). To compare pairs of countries, alternative regressions were run to 

explore the impact on the results when the UAE was included as a dummy variable and 

the other five countries were each, in turn, the omitted dummy variable. These regressions 

are reported in Chapter Seven. 

 

Industry 

The sample companies were assigned to four industries. A feature of the data was that the 

GCC stock exchanges applied different industry definitions. For example, the Bahrain 

Stock Exchange (BSE) identified six industries (banking, investment, insurance, services, 

manufacturing, and hotels and tourism); whereas, the Kuwait Stock Exchange (KSE) had 

seven (banking, investment, insurance, real estate, manufacturing, services and food).  

 

Due to these differences between states, companies were combined into four industry 

groups:  

1. banking and investment; 
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2. insurance; 

3. manufacturing (construction and food); and 

4. services (hotels, leisure, utilities, management of real estate, education, transport, 

trade and business services). 

 

Each company’s industry group was captured by a set of dummy variables. Three dummy 

variables were included in the primary regression representing industries 1 to 3 (industry 

4 was represented in the constant). A similar procedure was used by Tarca (2004) and 

Owusu-Ansah and Yeoh (2005). To compare pairs of industries, alternative regressions 

were run to explore the impact on the results when the other industries were each, in turn, 

the omitted dummy variable. These regressions are reported in Chapter Seven. 

 

Year 

Year dummy variables were designed to capture the fixed effects of any changes in the 

level of compliance over time. These changes could be attributed to different positions 

over time in relation to the application of IASs, to the comprehensiveness of the audit 

function, to the effectiveness of the enforcement bodies or to other unspecified factors. 

Year dummy variables were similarly used by Inchausti (1997) and Owusu-Ansah and 

Yeoh (2005). 

5.4 Statistical Methods 

Multivariate ordinary least square (OLS) regression was primarily used to explore the 

relationship between measures of mandatory compliance with IASs (the dependent 

variables) and company attributes (the independent variables), and to determine whether 

there are time trends and country effects as well.  

 

Two procedures were used for analysis purposes. In the first procedure, the standard OLS 

regression with the untransformed dependent variable was run. This procedure was used 

in prior compliance studies by Tower et al. (1999), Street and Bryant (2000), Street and 

Gray (2001) and Glaum and Street (2003). In the second procedure, since the raw 

dependent variable (the compliance index) lies between zero and one, it was transformed 

(Hanushek and Jackson, 1977, p. 185; Fox, 1997, p. 151; Greene, 2003, pp. 760-761). For 

a bounded, dependent variable (such as the raw compliance index), the standard OLS 

does not ensure that the estimates of the dependent variable will lie between zero and one. 

In such a situation the standard OLS estimates can be unreliable. One reason for this is 
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that the model will give predictions of compliance outside the valid range. The 

transformation was designed to address this issue by taking the logarithm of the “odds 

ratio” (Hanushek and Jackson, 1977, pp. 187-189; Fox, 1997, p. 151).  

 

Thus, if the overall level of compliance with IASs for a company is given by P, the 

logarithm of the odds ratio Y, is given by:  

 

Y = log ⎟
⎠
⎞

⎜
⎝
⎛

− P
P

1
 

 

This transformation has been used in prior disclosure studies (Ahmed and Nicholls, 1994; 

Ahmed, 1996; Inchausti, 1997; Makhija and Patton, 2004). The transformed compliance 

index was then regressed on company attributes and year-by-year dummy variables in 

order to assess the effect of each attribute on compliance levels and any time trends. 

Specifically, the following regression model for the full model is estimated. (Company-

year subscripts are omitted for convenience.) 

 

9988776655443322110 XXXXXXXXXY β+β+β+β+β+β+β+β+β+β=

181817171616151514141313121211111010 XXXXXXXXX β+β+β+β+β+β+β+β+β

ε+β+β 20201919 XX  

Where: 

Y = compliance score; 
β0  = constant term (The other β s are the coefficients) 

1X  = Company size  = Industry 3 11X

2X  = Leverage  = Bahrain 12X

3X
 = Profitability  = Oman 13X

4X  = Liquidity  = Kuwait 14X

5X
 = Internationality  = Saudi Arabia 15X

6X
 = Age  = Qatar 16X

7X
 = Ownership diffusion  = 1996 17X

8X
 = Auditor   = 1997 18X

9X
 = Industry 1  = 1999 19X

10X
 = Industry 2  = 2000 20X

ε  = Error term. 
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Results based on the transformed dependent variable are reported in Chapter Six. 

Analogous results using the untransformed variable are reported in Chapter Seven. 

Chapter Seven also includes results for ranked regressions. 

 

5.5 Summary 

This chapter presented an overview of the data collection. It also covered the methods 

used to measure the level of compliance with IASs and to determine whether there were 

time trends and which company attributes were significantly associated with the level of 

compliance. A total of 137 sample companies were selected, and their annual reports were 

analysed for up to five years.  

 

The primary results of the study are discussed in Chapter Six, while the results of the 

robustness tests are reported in Chapter Seven. 
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Chapter 6: Results 

6.0 Introduction 

Chapter Six contains the primary results of the study; robustness tests are deferred to 

Chapter Seven. The discussion begins with descriptive statistics that summarise the data. 

Next, bivariate relationships among the independent variables are explored, before turning 

to multivariate tests of the ten hypotheses developed in Chapter Four. The tests were 

conducted by fitting regressions estimated by Ordinary Least Squares (OLS), with 

White’s adjustment for heteroscedastic residuals. Regressions in this chapter examine 

whether the level of mandatory compliance with international accounting standards 

(IASs), excluding NA (not applicable) and DK (do not know) items (i.e. the OCIEX 

index), was influenced only by company attributes, or whether there are time trends and 

country effects as well. The regression results relate to the transformed dependent 

variable.  

 

The extent of data available for each country and for each year defined the models that 

could be fitted. Due to the small sample size for some countries and for each year, 

initially the data were pooled. Pooled regression allowed a larger number of data points, 

thereby increasing the degrees of freedom, reducing estimation problems with collinearity 

among the explanatory variables, and providing more efficient estimates and inferences 

(Gujarati, 2003, p. 637).83 Since there were fundamental differences among the countries 

in regard to the use of IASs by industry groups, the pooled full sample was then divided 

into two sub-samples. In the first sub-sample, all industry groups were required to use 

IASs. In the second, only banks and the investment industry were required to use them. 

The first sub-sample thus contained all cases from Bahrain, Oman and Kuwait. The 

second sub-sample contained all cases from Saudi Arabia, Qatar and the UAE. Finally, 

models for each country were also fitted.  

 

The remainder of this chapter is organised as follows. Descriptive statistics and bivariate 

relationships are presented and discussed in Section 6.1. Multivariate analyses of the full 

sample, of the two sub-samples of cases from three countries, and then by each country 

separately, are presented and discussed in Section 6.2. The chapter concludes with a 

summary in Section 6.3.  

                                                 
83  The cost is the restriction that the loadings on the explanatory variables are constant across the six 

countries. 
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6.1 Descriptive Statistics 

6.1.1 Dependent Variable 

Table 6.1 reports descriptive statistics for the overall compliance index excluding “not 

applicable” (NA) and “do not know” (DK) items (OCIEX) as well as the average 

disclosure compliance index (excluding NA and DK: DCIEX) and the measurement 

compliance index (MCIEX) for all years and each year separately. The mean of OCIEX  

 

Table  6.1: Descriptive statistics for the compliance index for all years and each 
year 

 Mean Std. Dev. Min Max 
All years 
No. of companies. = 137 
No. of observations = 436 

    

OCIEX 0.75 0.11 0.27 0.97 
DCIEX 0.69 0.15 0.28 0.97 
MCIEX 0.81 0.14 0.25 1.00 
1996 (N = 124)     
OCIEX 0.68 0.11 0.27 0.87 
DCIEX 0.56 0.14 0.28 0.87 
MCIEX 0.80 0.14 0.25 1.00 
1997 (N = 25)     
OCIEX 0.71 0.06 0.58 0.87 
DCIEX 0.63 0.10 0.40 0.83 
MCIEX 0.80 0.12 0.58 1.00 
1999 (N = 137)     
OCIEX 0.74 0.10 0.47 0.94 
DCIEX 0.69 0.12 0.43 0.96 
MCIEX 0.80 0.14 0.39 1.00 
2000 (N = 13)     
OCIEX 0.76 0.09 0.64 0.90 
DCIEX 0.73 0.09 0.58 0.89 
MCIEX 0.80 0.12 0.58 0.94 
2002 (N = 137)     
OCIEX 0.82 0.09 0.51 0.97 
DCIEX 0.80 0.08 0.58 0.97 
MCIEX 0.84 0.15 0.45 1.00 
OCIEX is the overall compliance index excluding not-applicable (NA) and do-not-know (DK) items. 
It comprises both disclosure and measurement compliance indices. DCIEX is the disclosure 
compliance index excluding NA and DK items. MCIEX is the corresponding measurement 
compliance index. All three indices range from 0 to 1. 
 

 101



for all companies and all years was 0.75, with a minimum of 0.27 and a maximum of 

0.97. Thus, no company over the examined time period fully complied with all IAS 

requirements. The mean of the DCIEX was 0.69, with a minimum of 0.28 and a 

maximum of 0.97. The mean of the MCIEX was 0.81, with a minimum of 0.25 and a 

maximum of 1.  

 

The mean OCIEX increased over time, indicating that the level of mandatory compliance 

with IASs has been improving in the region. The increase is mainly attributed to the 

increase in the level of disclosure (DCIEX). As shown in Table 6.1, the mean MCIEX 

seems to be constant over time, although it did increase slightly in 2002. A possible 

explanation for this result is that measurement standards are more technical than 

disclosure standards; that is, they are more concerned with techniques of financial 

reporting.84 There may be little pressure placed on companies by enforcement bodies in 

the GCC member states to comply with accounting policies because the users of financial 

statements (e.g. shareholders and investors) in the GCC may be more concerned with 

disclosure than measurement. Financial statement users could find measurement items 

more difficult to assess because they are less likely to be discernible; and, when they are 

discernible, they are less likely to meet compliance requirements (Taplin, Tower and 

Hancock, 2002; Naser et al., 2003). However, from 1999 to 2002 and when all sample 

companies are included, the mean values of the OCIEX, DCIEX and MCIEX all 

increased, suggesting that there was a trend towards greater compliance in the region in 

both disclosure and measurement standards.  

 

Descriptive statistics for the OCIEX, DCIEX and MCIEX by country are in Table 6.2. 

With only three exceptions, the mean OCIEX, DCIEX and MCIEX increased over time in 

all states, indicating that there has been a trend towards greater compliance throughout the 

region. Hypothesis H1 predicts the highest compliance will be observed in Kuwait and 

Oman followed by the UAE, Saudi Arabia, Bahrain and Qatar in that order. However, the 

highest OCIEX for all years was in the UAE with 0.80, followed by Saudi Arabia 0.78, 

Kuwait 0.75, Oman 0.74, Bahrain 0.73, and Qatar 0.70.  

 

                                                 
84  The discussion of non-compliance with measurement items is on pages 105–8. 
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Table  6.2: Descriptive statistics for compliance indices by country and year 

Country OCIEX 
Mean 

DCIEX 
Mean 

MCIEX 
Mean 

Bahrain (N = 25)    

1996 0.69 0.56 0.81 

1997 0.71 0.63 0.79 

1999 0.74 0.70 0.82 

2002 0.80 0.74 0.88 

All years 0.73 0.65 0.82 

Oman (N = 43)    

1996 0.65 0.50 0.80 

1999 0.73 0.64 0.82 

2002 0.83 0.80 0.85 

All years 0.74 0.65 0.82 

Kuwait (N = 50)    

1996 0.68 0.60 0.75 

1999 0.76 0.74 0.79 

2002 0.81 0.81 0.81 

All years 0.75 0.72 0.78 

Saudi Arabia (N = 6)    

1996 0.72 0.65 0.80 

1999 0.76 0.74 0.80 

2002 0.88 0.85 0.91 

All years 0.78 0.75 0.83 

Qatar (N = 4)    

1999 0.64 0.62 0.67 

2000 0.67 0.68 0.65 

2002 0.81 0.79 0.83 

All years 0.70 0.69 0.71 

UAE (N = 9)    

1999 0.74 0.65 0.82 

2000 0.80 0.75 0.86 

2002 0.86 0.84 0.91 

All years 0.80 0.75 0.85 
OCIEX is the overall compliance index excluding not-applicable (NA) and do-not-know (DK) items. 
It comprises both disclosure and measurement compliance indices. DCIEX is the disclosure 
compliance index excluding NA and DK items. MCIEX is the corresponding measurement 
compliance index. All three indices range from 0 to 1.  
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If we make the relatively strong assumption that compliance indices in various studies 

are comparable then the level of mandatory compliance with IASs (OCIEX) in each 

GCC member state for each year was lower than the level of even voluntary disclosure 

and measurement compliance in developed countries such as Australia (0.94, as estimated 

by Tower et al., 1999). In addition, the level of mandatory disclosure compliance 

(DCIEX) by companies listed on the Germany’s “Neuer Markt” (0.81) was higher than in 

Bahrain, Qatar and Oman in each year. It was also higher than the level of mandatory 

disclosure compliance in Kuwait, Saudi Arabia and the UAE in each year except 2002 

(Glaum and Street, 2003). Again, the level of mandatory disclosure compliance by 

companies in each GCC member state for all years and for each year was lower than the 

level of voluntary disclosure compliance by companies from developed countries with US 

listings and US filings (0.84, Street and Bryant, 2000). Finally, the level of mandatory 

compliance (disclosure and measurement) in each GCC member state was lower than in 

other developing countries such as Thailand (0.93), Singapore (0.90), Malaysia (0.90), 

Hong Kong (0.89) and the Philippines (0.88) (Tower et al., 1999). However, these 

comparisons may not be entirely valid because, as discussed in Chapter Three, there were 

differences in the number of accounting standards reviewed, the number of items in the 

checklists, the years covered and the sample size.  

 

Table 6.3 summarises the frequency distribution of the OCIEX, DCIEX and MCIEX 

values by company-year. For OCIEX, the first point of note is that only nine out of 436 

financial statements did not have a level of compliance of at least 0.51, suggesting that 

almost all companies in the GCC member states complied with the majority of IAS 

disclosure and measurement requirements. More than half of the reports (239) scored 

between 0.61 and 0.80 compliance, and 33 attained higher than 0.90 compliance. On a 

negative note, one company’s compliance level was only 0.27.  

 

For the level of disclosure compliance (DCIEX), 381 financial statements scored more 

than 0.50, and 17 scored more than 0.90. For the level of measurement compliance 

(MCIEX), 417 scored more than 0.50 compliance and 146 scored more than 0.90, 

suggesting that companies in the GCC member states comply more frequently with 

measurement requirements.  
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Table  6.3: Frequency distribution of OCIEX, DCIEX and MCIEX values by 
company-year 

Range OCIEX DCIEX MCIEX 

0–0.10 0 0 0 

0.11–0.20 0 0 0 

0.21–0.30 1 2 2 

0.31–0.40 0 21 1 

0.41–0.50 8 32 16 

0.51–0.60 38 64 29 

0.61–0.70 96 103 57 

0.71–0.80 143 108 78 

0.81–0.90 117 89 107 

0.91–1.00 33 17 146 

Total 436 436 436 
OCIEX is the overall compliance index excluding not-applicable (NA) and do-not-know (DK) 
items. It comprises both disclosure and measurement compliance indices. DCIEX is the 
disclosure compliance index excluding NA and DK items. MCIEX is the corresponding 
measurement compliance index. All three indices range from 0 to 1. 
 

For each accounting standard, the mean OCIEX for all years and for each year can be 

seen in Table 6.4. The level of compliance with each standard increased from 1996 to 

2002, indicating that the GCC member states were collectively progressing towards more 

consistent usage of IASs.  

 

The OCIEX across all years for each standard ranges from 0.43 for IAS 37 to 0.89 for 

IAS 18. The compliance level was relatively high (more than 0.80) for IAS 1, 16, 18, 23, 

24, 27 and 30. The lowest level of compliance was found for IAS 14 and IAS 37 (less 

than 0.50). Compliance with IAS 10, 21, 28, 32 and 33 averaged between 0.50 and 0.80.  

 

A possible explanation for the higher level of compliance with IAS 1, 16, 18, 23, 24, 27 

and 30 is that it was easier to comply with these than with other the IASs, which have 

greater proprietary costs and more complex requirements. For example, IAS 1 (the 

original version, effective January 1975) consists of only two items for which compliance 

is not difficult. The original IAS requires companies to disclose their significant 

accounting policies as an integral part of the financial statements and to disclose them in 

one place. The new IAS 1 (effective July 1998) also deals with issues that are not difficult  
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Table  6.4: Mean OCIEX for all years and by each year separately for each 
standard  

Standard 1996 1997 1999 2000 2002 All years 

IAS 1 0.78 0.90 0.88 0.90 0.93 0.88 

IAS 10  0.72 0.72 0.72 0.43 0.88 0.69 

IAS 14 0.21 0.19 0.55 0.73 0.62 0.46 

IAS 16 0.86 0.83 0.88 0.93 0.90 0.88 

IAS 18 0.79 0.88 0.89 0.92 0.99 0.89 

IAS 21 0.41 0.45 0.54 0.56 0.63 0.52 

IAS 23 0.68 0.83 0.81 0.88 0.83 0.81 

IAS 24 0.71 0.80 0.81 0.83 0.86 0.80 

IAS 27 0.80 0.87 0.87 0.80 0.89 0.85 

IAS 28 0.56 0.47 0.70 0.58 0.78 0.62 

IAS 30 0.78 0.87 0.82 0.84 0.90 0.84 

IAS 32 0.31 0.67 0.60 0.84 0.81 0.65 

IAS 33 NA NA 0.72 0.70 0.88 0.77 

IAS 37 NA NA 0.41 0.42 0.46 0.43 
OCIEX is the overall compliance index excluding not-applicable (NA) and do-not-know (DK) items. 
It ranges from 0 to 1.  
NA means the standard had not been issued by the IASB and therefore did not apply in that year. 
 

to comply with. For instance, companies are required to disclose their names, the balance 

sheet date, the reporting currency and so on. As a result, unsurprisingly, Table 6.4 shows 

the level of compliance with IAS 1 ranges from 0.78 to 0.93 between 1996 and 2002. The 

average level of compliance with IAS 1 decreased slightly from 0.90 in 1997 to 0.88 in 

1999, possibly because the new IAS 1 (issued July 1998) required 35 items of 

information.  

 

IAS 18 is another example of a standard that was not difficult to comply with. It consists 

of only three items. Table 6.4 reports that the average level of compliance with IAS 18 

increased over time, from 0.79 in 1996 to 0.99 in 2002, when all but three companies 

complied with every IAS 18 requirement.  

 

The level of compliance with IAS 10 averaged over all years was 0.69; however, there 

was no obvious pattern in compliance with this standard. It did not change between 1996 

and 1999 (0.72), then there was sharp decline in 2000 (to 0.43) and high compliance again 

in 2002 (0.88). A possible reason for the variation in compliance levels is that the original 

IAS 10 (dating from January 1980) was in effect in 1996, 1997 and 1999. It dealt with 

contingencies and events after the balance sheet date, which were potentially complex 
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issues and difficult to comply with.85 In 2000, when the sample was restricted to four 

banks in Qatar and nine in the UAE, the new IAS 10 became effective. Although it deals 

only with events after the balance sheet date, it incorporates more disclosure requirements 

with respect to who authorises the financial statements, the date of authorisation, and 

whether shareholders or others have the power to amend the financial statements after 

issuance. Only four companies complied with these requirements, so the level of 

compliance with IAS 10 fell from 0.72 in 1999 to 0.43 in 2000.86 In 2002, when all 

sample companies were included, the level of compliance reached 0.88. That year, all 

companies except some in Qatar and the UAE complied with all requirements of this 

standard.  

 

For IAS 14, the level of compliance with the original version (effective for 1996 and 

1997) was significantly lower than with the new version (effective for 1998, 1999, 2000 

and 2002). A possible reason for this is that the original version was broad in its definition 

of segments, so that GCC companies in 1996 and 1997 could legitimately regard 

themselves as having no reportable segments (Abd-Elsalam and Weetman, 2003). The 

level of compliance with the new version, while remaining modest, increased from 0.55 in 

1999 to 0.62 in 2002. The new version provides more focus and a clearer definition of 

reporting segments than the original version. However, the level of compliance with IAS 

14 was still limited. Prather-Kinsey and Meek (2004) argued that one reason for this is the 

higher proprietary cost of compliance with this standard: segment information can be 

useful to competitors, to the detriment of the disclosing company.  

 

A moderate level of compliance was found for IAS 21 (0.52). The majority of companies 

used only the exchange rate at balance sheet date for both monetary and non-monetary 

items, indicating that they did not distinguish between monetary and non-monetary items 

when accounting for foreign currency transactions. In addition, companies with foreign 

subsidiaries often did not disclose the method used to account for assets, liabilities, 

income or expenses. This may imply that companies differ in their interpretation of this 

standard, rather than deliberately choose not to comply.  

 

Compliance with IAS 23 increased from 1996 to 2002. There was a jump from 0.68 in 

1996 to 0.83 in 1997. However, in 1996, companies in four countries were included; 

                                                 
85  I am indebted to Mr. Hussein Shahadeh of Al-Dar audit firm of Kuwait for this observation. 
86  The four companies are from the UAE.  
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whereas, in 1997 only Bahraini companies were included in the average. Examination of 

the level of compliance with IAS 23 among Bahraini companies in 1996 shows a level of 

compliance of 0.82. Thus the apparent change of the compliance level in 1997 was 

artifactual, being due solely to a change in the composition of the sample.  

 

Compliance with IAS 37 was the lowest of all the standards. This may be because this 

standard was only effective from 1 July 1999, and companies may not have had adequate 

experience with it. IAS 37 is complex, dealing with provisions and contingencies.  

 

Overall, there was evidence of an improvement in the level of compliance with the 14 

standards in all member states over the years under investigation, but this improvement 

was perhaps modest given that the level of compliance, on average, never exceeded 0.82 

throughout the region. Such a level of compliance raises doubts about the effectiveness of 

the monitoring and enforcement mechanisms employed by the regulatory bodies and the 

nature of auditing in the GCC member states. It confirms that there are, indeed, research 

questions to answer. 

6.1.2  Independent Variables 

Descriptive statistics for the independent continuous variables for the full sample and for 

each country separately are reported in Table 6.5.  

 

Company Size 

For the full sample, company size varied greatly, ranging from US$3 million to 

US$27,691 million, with a mean of US$1,732 million. On average, companies in Saudi 

Arabia were the largest in the sample (US$13,159 million), followed by UAE (US$4,984 

million), Qatar (US$2,959 million), Bahrain (US$1,484 million), Kuwait (US$1,163 

million) and Oman (US$203 million). These differences in the means of company size 

were attributed to differences in industry composition. Saudi Arabia, the UAE and Qatar 

had the largest average company sizes because their samples were concentrated in the 

banking industry, which is characterised by larger-than-average companies. The size 

distribution was, as usual, skewed. Skewness was mitigated by utilising the natural 

logarithm of size in the regression analysis, consistent with prior studies.87   

                                                 
87 For example Glaum and Street (2003). 
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Table  6.5: Descriptive statistics for the independent continuous variables 

All Countries (N = 436) Mean Median Min Max Std. Dev. 
Company size (US$ million)* 1732.00 142.35 3.02 27691.32 4151.41 
Leverage 0.45 0.44 0.00 0.98 0.28 
Liquidity  4.36 1.32 0.13 336.46 20.19 
Profitability  0.08 0.11 -0.97 0.44 0.54 
Internationality 0.04 0.01 0.00 0.59 0.11 
Ownership diffusion 0.26 0.20 0.00 0.80 0.22 
Age  21.59 9.38 1.00 50.00 9.36 
Bahrain (N = 100)      
Company size (US$ million)* 1484.11 73.57 8.51 27691.40 4614.30 
Leverage    0.40 0.22 0.00 0.98 0.31 
Liquidity  9.70 1.40 0.24 336.46 40.59 
Profitability    0.07 0.09 -0.27 0.35 0.10 
Internationality   0.08 0.01 0.00 0.59 0.17 
Ownership diffusion  0.16 0.09 0.00 0.63 0.17 
Age  21.59 21.00 2.00 45.00 8.32 
Oman (N = 129)      
Company size (US$ million)* 203.51 30.85 3.00 4064.16 566.48 
Leverage  0.48 0.49 0.04 0.94 0.23 
Liquidity  2.00 1.18 0.15 26.62 3.06 
Profitability  0.09 0.12 -0.97 0.40 0.16 
Internationality   0.02 0.01 0.00 0.36 0.06 
Ownership diffusion  0.29 0.27 0.00 0.79 0.24 
Age  14.85 15.00 1.00 29.00 6.91 
Kuwait (N = 150)      
Company size (US$ million)* 1163.33 240.77 17.37 20746.55 2705.29 
Leverage  0.35 0.29 0.02 0.89 0.25 
Liquidity  3.90 1.81 0.13 33.35 4.95 
Profitability  0.11 0.11 -.44 0.44 0.10 
Internationality  0.01 0.01 0.00 0.02 0.02 
Ownership diffusion  0.36 0.36 0.00 0.80 0.22 
Age  26.30 25.00 9.00 50.00 8.72 
Saudi Arabia (N = 18)      
Company size (US$ million)* 13159.46 12687.38 2730.42 26442.03 6696.04 
Leverage  0.78 0.78 0.69 0.86 0.05 
Liquidity  0.72 0.72 0.43 1.09 0.17 
Profitability  0.16 0.16 0.10 0.23 0.04 
Internationality  0.25 0.30 0.00 0.40 0.15 
Ownership diffusion  0.11 0.10 0.00 0.19 0.04 
Age  24.50 22.00 16.00 45.00 8.54 
Qatar (N = 12)      
Company size (US$ million)* 2959.01 1531.13 704.18 9525.29 2959.17 
Leverage  0.80 0.80 0.74 0.87 0.04 
Liquidity  1.48 0.99 0.64 6.42 1.60 
Profitability  0.17 0.13 -0.55 1.07 0.35 
Internationality  0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 
Ownership diffusion  0.19 0.20 0.10 0.24 0.04 
Age  25.08 23.50 16.00 38.00 7.51 
UAE (N = 27)      
Company size ($US million)* 4984.28 6084.63 99.02 11785.31 3793.41 
Leverage  0.66 0.77 0.07 0.88 0.24 
Liquidity  1.50 0.97 0.28 5.23 1.58 
Profitability  0.10 0.12 -0.11 0.18 0.07 
Internationality  0.04 0.01 0.00 0.02 0.01 
Ownership diffusion  0.13 0.07 0.01 0.82 0.21 
Age  24.11 23.00 4.00 39.00 9.50 

Company size was measured by market value of equity plus book value of debt; Leverage was the ratio of book value of 
total debt as a proportion of book value of total debt plus market value of equity; Liquidity was the ratio of current assets 
to current liabilities; Profitability was the ratio of earnings before taxes, Zakat and interest to total shareholders’ equity; 
Internationality was the percentage of foreign ownership (number of shares owned by foreign investors divided by total 
shares at year-end); Ownership diffusion was the percentage of institutional investors (number of shares owned by 
institutional investors divided by total shares issued at year-end); and Age was the number of years passed since 
foundation. 

* In the regressions, company size was operationalised as the natural logarithm of market value of equity plus book value 
of debt. 
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Leverage 

Table 6.5 shows for the full sample that leverage ranged from zero to 0.98, with a mean of 

0.45. The figure of zero indicates that some companies effectively had no debt, while a 

ratio of 0.98 implies that the company had little equity. High leverage can result from the 

use of market value of equity rather than book value (Tarca, 2002). The market value of a 

company’s equity could be low compared to the book value of debt when the price of its 

shares was historically low. Table 6.5 also shows that, for the between-state comparisons, 

Qatar companies had the highest mean leverage (0.80), followed by Saudi Arabia (0.78), 

the UAE (0.66), Oman (0.48), Bahrain (0.40) and Kuwait (0.35). Unsurprisingly, Qatar, 

Saudi Arabia and the UAE companies had the highest leverage because their sample was 

limited to banks and investment companies. Banks traditionally have high leverage 

because of the nature of their business.  

 

Liquidity 

Liquidity for the full sample ranged from 0.13 to 336, with a mean of 4.36. The largest 

liquidity ratio pertained to a company in Bahrain, which had the highest mean liquidity 

ratio among the six states. Bahrain’s mean (9.70) was followed by that of Kuwait (3.90), 

Oman (2.00), UAE (1.50), Qatar (1.48) and Saudi Arabia (0.72). Samples from UAE, 

Qatar and Saudi Arabia yielded the lowest liquidity because they had a high proportion of 

banks, with their large levels of current liabilities in the form of demand and short-term 

deposits. Extreme values such as these are the subject of robustness tests in Chapter Seven 

using rank regressions, and Winsorised and censored statistics (Tuckey, 1962; Bollen and 

Jackman, 1990).  

 

Profitability 

Over the full sample, profitability ranged from –0.97 to 0.44, with a mean of 0.08. The 

figure of –0.97 implies that the entire equity of the company (it was in Oman) was eroded 

in a single year (1999); nonetheless, it survived.88 Qatar companies had the highest mean 

(0.17), followed by Saudi Arabia (0.16), Kuwait (0.11), the UAE (0.10), Oman (0.09) and 

Bahrain (0.07).  

 

 

 

                                                 
88  The influence of extreme values is investigated in Chapter Seven. 
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Internationality 

The proportion of foreign ownership ranged from zero to 0.59, with a mean of 0.04 for 

the full sample. This small mean indicates that the GCC member states were in the early 

stages of attracting foreign investors. Saudi Arabian companies had the highest proportion 

of foreign ownership (a mean of 0.25). The lowest mean was Qatar (zero); Qatar had not 

yet opened its share market to direct ownership by foreign investors.89 The mean foreign 

ownership in the other four states was Bahrain 0.08, the UAE 0.04, Oman 0.02 and 

Kuwait 0.01.  

 

Ownership Diffusion 

Institutional ownership ranged from zero to 0.80, with a mean of 0.26 for the whole 

sample (Table 6.5). Kuwait had the highest institutional ownership (mean 0.36), followed 

by Oman (0.29), Qatar (0.19), Bahrain (0.16), UAE (0.13) and Saudi Arabia (0.11). 

Kuwait may have had the highest institutional ownership because it had the largest 

number of investment companies. These, by their nature, have substantial holdings in 

other listed companies. Kuwait had 12 investment companies in the sample, followed by 

Bahrain (seven) and Oman (six).  

 

Age 

Company age ranged from 1 to 50 years, with a mean of 21.59 for the whole sample. The 

age range differs by country. The mean in Kuwait was 26.30 years with a minimum of 

nine and a maximum of 50. Oman companies were, on average, the youngest in the GCC, 

with a mean of 14.85 years, a minimum of one year and a maximum of 29 years. This 

probably reflects political instability in Oman before the 1970s, which delayed 

development in general and business in particular.90   

 

Auditor 

Of the 436 annual reports, 390 were audited by local audit firms with an international 

affiliation (Big Five); 46 were not. Of the 390, 109 were audited by affiliates of Ernst & 

Young, followed by KPMG 108, PricewaterhouseCoopers 89, Arthur Andersen 52, and 
                                                 
89  In Qatar, foreign investors have been able to invest indirectly in national companies listed on the Doha 

Securities Market (DSM), via an investment fund, since 2001. Since April 2005, foreigners have been 
permitted to trade unconditionally on the DSM (DSM, 2005). 

90  There were continual conflicts between the former Sultan of Oman (the father of the current Sultan) 
and the current Sultan. The former Sultan refused to sanction any development in Oman in order to 
control the state more easily. There were no substantial business, education or infrastructure 
developments. For instance, before 1970 there was only one school in Oman and no university 
(Wilson, 1987, p. 57).  
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Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 32. The market for auditing listed companies in the GCC 

member states was obviously dominated by local audit firms with an international 

affiliation.  

 

Industry 

Based on the classifications described in Chapter Five, there were 58 banking and 

investment companies (171 company-year observations), eight insurance companies (27 

observations), 38 manufacturing companies (130 observations) and 33 services 

companies (108 observations). These industry classifications reflect the strong 

representation of financial services in the GCC member states.  

 

Country 

The sample comprised 25 companies from Bahrain (100 company-year observations), 43 

from Oman (129 observations), 50 from Kuwait (150 observations), six from Saudi 

Arabia (18 observations), four from Qatar (12 observations) and nine from the UAE (27 

observations). The reasons for this sample outcome are given in Chapter Five. 

6.1.3 Bivariate Relationships among the Independent Variables 

Tables 6.6 to 6.8 explore bivariate relationships among the variables. One reason for 

doing this is to indicate whether multicollinearity could cause estimation problems.  

 

Table  6.6: Pearson correlation coefficients for the continuous independent 
variables calculated for all observations 

 
 Company 

size 
Leverage 

 
Liquidity

 
Profitability 

 
Ownership 
diffusion 

Internationality
 

 Leverage 0.563**      
 Liquidity -0.159** -0.224**     
 Profitability 0.213** -0.052 -0.067    
 Ownership  
 diffusion -0.183** -0.106* -0.063 -0.030   

 Internationality 0.347** 0.266** -0.055 -0.072 -0.214**  
 Age 0.422** 0.100 -0.156** 0.144 0.017 -0.125* 
**  Significant at the 0.01 level (two-tailed).  
 *  Significant at the 0.05 level (two-tailed).  
 Company size was measured by market value of equity plus book value of debt; Leverage was 

the ratio of book value of total debt as a proportion of book value of total debt plus market value 
of equity; Liquidity was the ratio of current assets to current liabilities; Profitability was the ratio 
of earnings before taxes, Zakat and interest to total shareholders’ equity; Internationality was 
the percentage of foreign ownership (number of shares owned by foreign investors divided by 
total shares at year-end); Ownership diffusion was the percentage of institutional investor 
ownership (number of shares owned by institutional investors divided by total shares at year-
end); and Age was the number of years passed since foundation. 
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Table 6.6 contains a Pearson correlation matrix for the continuous variables. Table 6.7 

contains medians and Wilcoxon test statistics when the continuous variables were 

compared with each categorical variable. Table 6.8 contains the cross-tabulations for the 

categorical variables.  

 

Table 6.6 shows that the highest correlation was between company size and leverage 

(0.563). Other variables were also correlated, but probably no correlation was enough to 

impair the regression results.91  

 

Table 6.7 reveals profitability (p < 0.115) and ownership diffusion (p < 0.411) were not 

reliably different between manufacturing and non-manufacturing companies. Profitability 

was not reliably different between service and non-service companies (p < 0.571), 

between Bahraini and non-Bahraini companies (p < 0.139), or Omani and non-Omani 

companies (p < 0.223). Ownership diffusion was not reliably different between Omani 

and non-Omani companies (p < 0.837), and Kuwaiti and non-Kuwaiti companies (p < 

0.545).  

 

Table 6.8 reveals companies audited by local audit firms with an international affiliation 

(Big Five) were more likely to be from the banking and investment or services sectors. 

Companies audited by a Big Five audit firm tend to be larger, more highly leveraged, 

more profitable and from the banking and investment or services sectors. Banking and 

investment companies were on average more highly leveraged and less liquid than other 

companies, while companies in Saudi Arabia tend to have higher foreign ownership.  

 

6.2 Multivariate Results 

This section describes the results obtained by fitting models for the full sample, for each 

of two sub-samples and for each country separately. Table 6.9 reports the results for the 

full sample, Table 6.10 for the sub-samples and Table 6.11 for the models by country. 

 

 

 
91  As a rule of thumb, multicollinearity is a potential statistical problem when the correlation coefficient 

exceeds 0.80 (Gujarati, 2003, p. 359). 



Table  6.7: Medians and associated Wilcoxon statistics for tests of the relationship between categorical and continuous independent variables 
 Company size Leverage Liquidity Profitability Ownership diffusion Internationality Age 
Big Five auditor 170.32 0.48 1.23 0.17 0.21 0.01 21.00 
Non Big Five auditor 31.29 0.14 3.13 0.06 0.08 0.001 18.50 
Wilcox. Prob. < 0.001 < 0.001 < 0.001 < 0.001 < 0.001 < 0.001 < 0.001 
Banking and Investment 1599.23 0.76 0.98 0.12 0.18 0.001 21.00 
Non banking and Investment 46.59 0.28 1.60 0.10 0.24 0.000 17.00 
Wilcox. Prob. < 0.001 < 0.002 < 0.001 < 0.001 < 0.002 < 0.001 < 0.001 
Insurance  167.49 0.45 1.19 0.13 0.26 0.000 23.00 
Non Insurance 141.31 0.43 1.34 0.11 0.20 0.001 21.00 
Wilcox. Prob. < 0.001 < 0.001 < 0.001 < 0.001 < 0.001 < 0.001 < 0.001 
Manufacturing 30.86 0.32 2.07 0.10 0.27 0.000 21.00 
Non Manufacturing 326.22 0.52 1.21 0.10 0.19 0.001 21.00 
Wilcox. Prob. < 0.001 < 0.001 < 0.001 0.115 0.411 < 0.001 < 0.001 
Services 69.70 0.21 1.52 0.08 0.21 0.000 20.00 
Non Services 203.95 0.51 1.22 0.12 0.20 0.001 22.00 
Wilcox. Prob. < 0.001 < 0.001 < 0.001 0.571 0.004 < 0.001 < 0.001 
Bahrain 73.57 0.22 1.41 0.09 0.09 0.000 21.00 
Non Bahrain 170.67 0.46 1.31 0.12 0.27 0.001 21.00 
Wilcox. Prob. < 0.001 < 0.001 < 0.001 0.139 0.004 < 0.001 < 0.001 
Oman 30.86 0.49 1.19 0.13 0.27 0.001 15.00 
Non Oman 310.11 0.39 1.45 0.11 0.19 0.001 23.00 
Wilcox. Prob. < 0.001 < 0.001 < 0.001 0.223 0.837 < 0.001 < 0.001 
Kuwait 240.78 0.29 1.82 0.11 0.36 0.000 25.00 
Non Kuwait 68.99 0.54 1.15 0.12 0.13 0.004 19.00 
Wilcox. Prob. < 0.001 < 0.001 < 0.001 < 0.001 0.545 < 0.001 < 0.001 
Saudi Arabia 12,687.38 0.78 0.73 0.16 0.10 0.30 22.00 
Non Saudi Arabia 124.99 0.43 1.36 0.11 0.210 0.001 21.00 
Wilcox. Prob. < 0.001 < 0.001 < 0.001 < 0.001 < 0.001 < 0.001 < 0.001 
Qatar 1,531.138 0.80 0.99 0.14 0.20 0.000 23.50 
Non Qatar 126.97 0.43 1.34 0.11 0.21 0.001 21.00 
Wilcox. Prob. < 0.001 < 0.001 < 0.001 < 0.001 < 0.001 < 0.001 < 0.001 
UAE 6,087.64 0.77 0.97 0.12 0.07 0.001 23.00 
Non UAE 124.59 0.42 1.35 0.11 0.21 0.001 21.00 
Wilcox. Prob. < 0.001 < 0.001 < 0.001 < 0.001 < 0.001 < 0.001 < 0.001 

Company size was measured by market value of equity plus book value of debt; Leverage was the ratio of book value of total debt as a proportion of book value of total debt plus market 
value of equity; Liquidity was the ratio of current assets to current liabilities; Profitability was the ratio of earnings before taxes, Zakat and interest to total shareholders’ equity; Internationality 
was the percentage of foreign ownership (number of shares owned by foreign investors divided by total shares at year-end); Ownership diffusion was the percentage of institutional investor 
ownership (number of shares owned by institutional investors divided by total shares at year-end); and Age was the number of years passed since foundation. 
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 Big Five  
auditor 

Non Big Five  
auditor 

Total 

Banking and Investment 166 5 171 

Non-Banking and Investment 224 41 265 

Total 390 46 436 

Prob. (Chi-sq.) < 0.001   

Insurance 26 1 27 

Non-Insurance 364 45 409 

Total 390 46 436 

Prob. (Chi-sq.) 0.232   

Manufacturing 111 19 130 

Non-Manufacturing 279 27 352 

Total 390 46 436 

Prob. (Chi-sq.) 0.066   

Services 87 21 108 

Non-services 303 25 328 

Total 390 46 436 

Prob. (Chi-sq.) < 0.001   
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Table  6.8: Cross-tabulations of the categorical independent variables  

 



6.2.1 Compliance with IASs: Full Sample 

Since the aim of this study was to discover if the level of compliance with IASs was 

influenced not only by company attributes but by time trends as well, fixed time effects 

models were estimated (Hsiao, 2003). Similar models were used by Inchausti (1997) and 

Owusu-Ansah and Yeoh (2005). The model was estimated for the full sample, with the 

independent variables consisting of company attributes and four dummy variables to 

represent the five years. To illustrate, the dummy variable for “Year 1996” takes the value 

“1” if the annual report relates to 1996 and “0” otherwise. The other three dummy 

variables represent 1997, 1999 and 2000. The results for 2002 were captured by the 

constant term. A trend towards increasing compliance would be represented by the 

coefficients being ordered as follows: 1996 < 1997 < 1999 < 2000 < 0. 

 

Model I of Table 6.9 reports the results for the overall compliance index excluding NA 

and DK items (OCIEX). The dependent variable was log (OCIEX / (1 – OCIEX)). The 

results show that the model was significant overall (F = 12.059, p < 0.001) with R2 (adj.) 

of 0.356. The R2 (adj.) was consistent with prior compliance studies (such as the 0.297 

found by Glaum and Street, 2003). In brief, the results reveal that, as predicted, the level 

of mandatory compliance with IASs exhibits a home-state effect and increases with a 

company’s size, leverage and internationality. Also, there were significant differences in 

the level of compliance between years.  

 

Recall that average compliance in the UAE was reflected in the constant term, and that 

compliance in Kuwait and Oman was higher than in the UAE, whereas compliance in 

Saudi Arabia, Bahrain and Qatar was less. Only three of the five predictions were 

supported, once other factors are controlled for, since only four of the country dummy 

variables were significant and one (Bahrain) had the wrong sign.  

 

The level of compliance with IASs in Bahrain (p < 0.01), Oman and Qatar (p < 0.05) and 

Kuwait (p < 0.10) was significantly different from the UAE. Thus the multivariate results 

were inconsistent with the univariate indicators in Table 6.2. They show that the level of 

compliance with IASs in the UAE (0.80) was higher than Bahrain (0.73), Oman (0.74), 

Kuwait (0.75) and Qatar (0.70). Further analysis is deferred until Chapter Seven, where 

robustness tests explore the differences between the countries by omitting, in turn, each 

country’s dummy variable.  
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Table  6.9: Regression results: compliance with IASs – full sample 

Coefficients Independent variables 
(Expected sign)  Model I  Model II  Model III  
Company size (+) 0.087 +++ 0.054 +++ 0.054 +++ 
Leverage (+) 0.146 +++ 0.162 +++ 0.164 +++ 
Liquidity (-) 0.001  0.001  0.001  
Profitability (+) 0.045  0.074  0.075  
Internationality (+) 0.138 + 0.292 +++ 0.293 +++ 
Ownership diffusion (-) 0.019  -0.039  -0.039  
Age (+) 0.001  0.002 ++ 0.003 ++ 
Auditor (+) 0.017  0.014  0.014  
Industry 1 (Bank and Invest) -0.024    
Industry 2 (Insurance) 0.045    
Industry 3 (Manufacturing) 0.034    
Bahrain (-) 0.212 (a)   
Oman (+) 0.158 ++   
Kuwait (+) 0.103 +   
Saudi Arabia (-) 0.032    
Qatar (-) -0.140 ++   
Year (1996) (-) -0.336 +++ -0.345 +++ -0.344 +++ 
Year (1997) (-) -0.359 +++ -0.319 +++ -0.318 +++ 
Year (1999) (-) -0.199 +++ -0.202 +++ -0.201 +++ 
Year (2000) (-) -0.171 ++ -0.211 +++ -0.199 +++ 
Sub-sample  -0.175 +++  
Leverage*sub-sample   -0.227 *** 
Constant -0.294 * -0.046  -0.127  
Adjusted R2 0.356  0.340  0.341  
F  12.059  17.229  17.283  
Prob. (F)  < 0.001  < 0.001  < 0.001  
No. of companies 137  137  137  
No. of observations 409  409  409  

This table presents the results of regression models that examine the relationship between the level of 
compliance excluding NA and DK items — Log (OCIEX / (1 –- OCIEX)) — and independent variables 
representing company attributes for the full sample. 
+++ t test (one-tailed) significant p < 0.01. 
++ t test (one-tailed) significant p < 0.05. 
+ t test (one-tailed) significant p < 0.10. 
*** t test (two-tailed) significant p < 0.01 
* t test (two-tailed) significant p < 0.10.  
(a) Coefficient was statistically significant but had the opposite sign to that hypothesised.  
Company size was measured by log of market value of equity plus book value of debt; Leverage was the 
ratio of book value of total debt as a proportion of book value of total debt plus market value of equity; 
Liquidity was the ratio of current assets to current liabilities; Profitability was the ratio of earnings before 
taxes, Zakat and interest to total shareholders’ equity; Internationality was the percentage of foreign 
ownership (number of shares owned by foreign investors divided by total shares issued at year-end); 
Ownership diffusion was the percentage of institutional investor ownership (number of shares owned by 
institutional investors divided by total shares issued at year-end); Age was the number of years passed 
since foundation; Auditor was a dummy variable = 1 for companies audited by local audit firms with an 
international affiliation (Big Five) and 0 for companies audited by local audit firms without an international 
affiliation (non Big Five). The results for Industry 4 = services and for the UAE were captured in the constant 
term. Four dummy variables were included for the five years: the results for 2002 were captured in the 
constant term. Sub-sample was 1 for the annual report of a company in Bahrain, Oman and Kuwait and 0 
otherwise. Leverage*sub-sample was 0 for companies in sub-sample 1 (non banks) and equal to the 
leverage ratio for companies in sub-sample 2 (banks). 
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The results show that the level of mandatory compliance with IASs was positively 

associated with size (p < 0.01, Table 6.9, Model I). This finding lends support to 

hypothesis H2, which predicted that larger companies would have a higher level of 

compliance with IASs. As noted by Leftwich, Watts and Zimmerman (1981) and Ball and 

Foster (1982), size has been used as a proxy for many influences such as political costs, 

competitive advantage and information production costs, so that its interpretation is 

unclear. In the GCC, larger companies can be expected to have a higher level of 

compliance with IASs because they are likely to have the resources and expertise 

necessary to produce detailed information, sufficient to comply with IASs, for internal 

purposes. Given that the number of listed companies operating in the GCC region 

increased over the period of the study,92 it is likely that competition among companies 

increased. If so, larger companies in the region might have complied more with IASs 

because their competitive advantage was not as greatly affected by the additional 

disclosures, relative to smaller companies.  

 

Another possible explanation for this result is that larger companies in the GCC member 

states were more likely to be subject to political costs. A nationalisation program has been 

implemented in these states. Larger companies operating in these states tended to exhibit 

greater social responsibility93 towards the public, which would reduce political costs that 

may result from governmental intervention or even nationalisation. Larger companies 

tend to disclose more detailed information such as the number of national employees and 

company-funded social activities oriented towards the public at large and the government. 

These companies are more likely to comply with IASs, thereby disclosing more detailed 

information. This reduces political costs and enhances their corporate image.  

 

A direct relationship between company size and compliance is consistent with Ali et al. 

(2004), who found it was positively associated with compliance with mandatory 

disclosure requirements in India, Pakistan and Bangladesh. However, it is inconsistent 

with Street and Bryant (2000), Street and Gray (2001) and Glaum and Street (2003). 

Possible reasons for the inconsistency are as follows. First, these other studies examined a 

sample of companies that, overall, tended to be larger than the companies in this study. 

                                                 
92  The number of listed companies on the GCC stock exchanges increased from 281 in 1996 to 404 in 

2002. 
93  The researcher has noted that larger companies in the GCC member states often contribute to building 

public hospitals, schools, roads and infrastructure. 
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Second, Street and Bryant and Street and Gray investigated companies from around the 

world, but mostly from developed countries (Germany, France and Switzerland). 

Similarly, Glaum and Street examined companies from Germany only.  

 

The level of compliance with IASs was also associated with leverage (p < 0.01), 

indicating that companies with higher leverage were more likely to comply with IASs. 

Therefore, hypothesis H3 (that companies with a higher level of leverage will have a 

higher level of compliance with IASs) was supported. In the GCC member states, banks 

are the main source of borrowings and usually apply restrictive covenants to add security 

to their loans. They also have access to information directly from companies (Al-Bastaki, 

1997; Abdulla, 1998; Al-Shimmiri, 2003). However, there could be a greater demand for 

information by shareholders of more highly leveraged companies to enable them to 

monitor their managers’ actions because the shareholders face greater financial risk. Thus, 

managers of companies with higher leverage will be motivated more strongly to comply 

with IASs in order to reduce agency costs and information asymmetries and to mitigate 

equity risk. The presumption behind this argument is that IASs yield more detailed and 

more useful information to assess the probability that a company will meet its debt 

commitments and to assess the riskiness of future cash flows from the viewpoint of equity 

investors. 

 

Internationality, measured by the proportion of foreign share ownership, was positively 

associated with the level of compliance with IASs (p < 0.10). Thus hypothesis H7 (that 

companies with relatively more international activities will have a higher level of 

compliance with IASs) was supported. One interpretation of this result is that companies 

with substantial foreign ownership were more willing to comply with IASs to enable their 

foreign investors to understand better their financial statements and to make more 

informed investment decisions.  

 

Liquidity was not a significant explanatory variable. Therefore, hypothesis H4 (that 

companies with lower liquidity ratios will have a higher level of compliance with IASs) 

was not supported. This result is consistent with Wallace and Naser (1995), who found no 

association between liquidity and the level of compliance with mandatory disclosure in 

Hong Kong. It is also consistent with Owusu-Ansah and Yeoh (2005), who found that 

liquidity was not related to compliance with mandatory disclosure in New Zealand. 
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Profitability, as measured by return on equity, was not a significant factor either. Thus 

hypothesis H5 (that companies with larger profits will have a higher level of compliance 

with IASs) was not supported. This result is, however, consistent with Tower et al. 

(1999), Street and Bryant (2000) and Glaum and Street (2003). A possible explanation for 

this result is that the return on equity is a noisy proxy for economic profitability. 

Alternative proxies for profitability are used in robustness tests in Chapter Seven, but they 

too do not reveal any association between the level of compliance and profitability.  

 

Auditor type was also not significant, so hypothesis H6 (that companies audited by a local 

audit firm with an international affiliation — the Big Five — will have a higher level of 

compliance with IASs) was not supported for the full sample. A lack of significance is 

consistent with Ali et al. (2004), but not with Street and Gray (2001), who found that 

clients of the Big Five firms display a higher level of voluntary compliance with IAS 

(disclosure and measurement) and Glaum and Street (2003), who reported that clients of 

the Big Five firms have a higher level of voluntary compliance with IAS disclosures. In 

the current study, auditor type could be a weak discriminator because, in about 90% of 

cases, the auditor had an international affiliation.  

 

With respect to industry, the level of compliance with IASs for industry 1 (banking and 

investment), industry 2 (insurance) and industry 3 (manufacturing) was not significantly 

different from industry 4 (services). Thus, hypothesis H8 (that the level of compliance 

with IASs will differ by industry) was not supported at this point. This finding is 

consistent with some prior studies (Street and Bryant, 2000; Glaum and Street, 2003), but 

it contradicts Street and Gray (2001), who reported companies in the commerce and 

transportation industry were more likely to comply with IAS disclosure requirements. 

However, detailed robustness tests in Chapter Seven uncover some significant industry 

differences. 

 

Ownership diffusion, measured by the proportion of shares held by institutional investors, 

was not significant. Thus, hypothesis H9 (that companies with closely-held share 

ownership have a lower level of compliance with IASs) was not supported.  

 

Age, measured by number of years since formation, was not significant either. Therefore 

hypothesis H10 (that older companies will have a higher level of compliance with IASs) 

was not supported. This result is consistent with Glaum and Street (2003), who found no 
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association between a German company’s level of mandatory compliance with IAS 

disclosures and its age. 

 

Significant differences in the level of mandatory compliance between years were seen in 

the coefficients of the year-by-year dummy variables (Model I, Table 6.9). The level of 

compliance with IASs was less in each of the four years than the level of compliance in 

2002 (represented by the constant term), with a clear upward trend in the level of 

compliance over time.94   

 

Conventional diagnostic tests were undertaken to test whether the fitted models were 

appropriate. Visual inspection of the histograms, normal probability plots and scatter plots 

indicated that the residuals were not obviously ill behaved. Heteroscedasticity was 

accommodated via White’s procedure. Further investigation of the robustness of the 

estimates to outliers is deferred to Chapter Seven. 

 

In summary, based on the full sample, there was only weak evidence of differences 

between countries. Companies with a higher level of mandatory compliance with IASs 

were likely to be larger, more highly leveraged and have a greater international presence. 

There were significant differences in the level of compliance between years. Liquidity, 

profitability, type of auditor, ownership diffusion and age were not significant explanatory 

variables. In addition, the level of compliance with IASs did not, at this point, appear to 

differ significantly between industries.  

 

Chapter Two demonstrated that all companies listed in Bahrain, Oman and Kuwait were 

required to comply with IASs; whereas, only banks, finance and investment companies 

must comply with IASs in Saudi Arabia, Qatar and the UAE. As a consequence, there 

were substantial differences between the state samples with respect to industry groups. To 

accommodate this feature, the regression model was re-estimated after deleting the 

industry and country dummies but including a sub-sample dummy variable to capture the 

pattern of grouping within the sample.  

 

The sub-sample dummy variable took the value “1” if the company was registered in 

Bahrain, Oman or Kuwait, and “0” otherwise. Model II in Table 6.9 reports the results for 

                                                 
94  Note that the year 1997 contains observations only from Bahrain. 
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the full sample model with the sub-sample dummy variable. It revealed that the sub-

sample variable was negative and significant (p < 0.01), indicating that the level of 

compliance with IASs for companies within sub-sample 2 (Saudi Arabia, Qatar and the 

UAE) was significantly higher than for companies within sub-sample 1 (Bahrain, Oman 

and Kuwait). The results for the other variables in this model are similar to the results for 

Model I, except that age becomes significant. The explanatory power of this model — R2 

(adj.) = 0.340 — was slightly lower than for Model I: (R2 (adj.) = 0.356.  

 

Because sub-sample 2 includes only banks, finance and investment companies with their 

customarily higher leverage, Model II in Table 6.9 is augmented with an interaction term 

(leverage*sub-sample), which is shown as Model III. In Model III, leverage takes the 

value “0” if the company was from sub-sample 1 (non-banks) and the leverage value if 

the company was from sub-sample 2 (banks). In Model III, leverage*sub-sample was 

negative and highly significant (p < 0.01). That is, the level of compliance with IASs was 

negatively associated with leverage for sub-sample 2. This suggests that banks with lower 

leverage were more likely to comply with IASs. Other results for this model were similar 

to the results of Model I except that age was significant. The explanatory power of this 

model — R2 (adj.) = 0.341 — was, again, marginally lower than Model I.  

 

Table 6.9 showed results when the models were fitted to the whole sample. In the next 

section, we investigate models fitted to each of the two sub-samples separately. 

6.2.2 Compliance with IASs: Sub – samples 

Recall that the first sub-sample contains companies domiciled in states where all 

industries were required to use IASs. The second comprises banks and investment 

companies. The first sub-sample contains all cases for Bahrain, Oman and Kuwait. The 

second contains companies from the financial sector in Saudi Arabia, Qatar and the UAE.  

 

Model Ia was fitted to sub-sample 1 and Model Ib to sub-sample 2. The results are 

reported in Table 6.10.  
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Table  6.10: Regression results: compliance with IASs – sub-samples  

Coefficients Independent variables 
(Expected sign)  Model Ia

Sub-sample 1
 Model Ib 

Sub-sample 2 
 

Company size (+) 0.084 +++ 0.284 ++ 
Leverage (+) 0.149 ++ -0.326 (a) 
Liquidity (-) 0.001  -0.032 + 
Profitability (+) 0.018  0.215  
Internationality (+) 0.155 ++ -0.523 (a) 
Ownership diffusion (-) 0.029  -0.384 +++ 
Age (+) 0.002 + 0.011  
Auditor (+) 0.013    
Industry 1 (Bank and Invest) -0.022    
Industry 2 (Insurance) 0.044    
Industry 3 (Manufacturing) 0.033    
Bahrain 0.108 ***   
Oman 0.059    
Saudi Arabia  -0.129 * 
Qatar  -0.162 * 
Year (1996) (-) -0.321 +++ -0.463 +++ 
Year (1997) (-) -0.343 +++   
Year (1999) (-) -0.179 +++ -0.382 +++ 
Year (2000) (-)  -0.311 ++ 
Constant -0.183 ** -0.101 * 
Adjusted R2 0.341  0.477  
F  12.793  4.269  
Prob. (F) < 0.001  < 0.001  
No. of companies 118  19  
No. of observations 365  44  
This table presents the results of regression models that examine the relationship between the level of 
compliance excluding NA and DK items — Log (OCIEX / (1 –- OCIEX)) — and independent variables 
representing company attributes for each sub-sample. 
+++ t test (one-tailed) significant p < 0.01 
++ t test (one-tailed) significant p < 0.05 
+ t test (one-tailed) significant p < 0.10 
*** t test (two-tailed) significant p < 0.01 
** t test (two-tailed) significant p < 0.05 
* t test (two-tailed) significant p < 0.10.  
(a) Coefficient was statistically significant but had the opposite sign to that hypothesised.  
Sub-sample 1 comprises companies domiciled in Bahrain, Oman and Kuwait. Sub-sample 2 comprises 
companies domiciled in Saudi Arabia, Qatar and UAE. Company size was measured by log of market value 
of equity plus book value of debt; Leverage was the ratio of book value of total debt as a proportion of book 
value of total debt plus market value of equity; Liquidity was the ratio of current assets to current liabilities; 
Profitability was the ratio of earnings before taxes, Zakat and interest to total shareholders’ equity; 
Internationality was the percentage of foreign ownership (number of shares owned by foreign investors 
divided by total shares issued at year-end); Ownership diffusion was the percentage of institutional investor 
ownership (number of shares owned by institutional investors divided by total shares issued at year-end); 
Age was the number of years passed since foundation; Auditor was a dummy variable = 1 for companies 
audited by local audit firms with an international affiliation (Big Five) and 0 for companies audited by local 
audit firms without an international affiliation (non Big Five). For sub-sample 1, for country variables, two 
dummy variables were included for the three countries. For industry variables, three dummy variables were 
included for four industries; the results for Kuwait and Industry 4 (services) were captured in the constant 
term. For sub-sample 2, for country variables, two dummy variables were included for the three countries. 
The results for the UAE were captured in the constant term. For the year-by-year dummy variables, the 
results for 2002 were captured in the constant term.  
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For sub-sample 1, three dummy variables were used to represent the first three years 

(1996, 1997 and 2000) because the sample for Bahrain included annual reports for four 

years; whereas, there were three years for Oman and Kuwait. The results for 2002 were 

captured by the constant term. Similarly, for sub-sample 2, three dummy variables were 

used to represent 1996, 1999 and 2000. The sample from Saudi Arabia included annual 

reports for 1996, 1999 and 2002; whereas, for Qatar and the UAE it contained annual 

reports for 1999, 2000 and 2002.  

 

Model Ia for sub-sample 1 was significant (F = 12.793, p < 0.001) with R2 (adj.) of 0.341. 

In brief, for sub-sample 1, the results exhibit a within-group effect. They confirm that 

compliance with IASs has increased over time and increased with a company’s size, 

leverage, age and internationality. This result was similar to that for the full sample 

(Model I, Table 6.9), presumably because of the very large overlap in the data.95   

 

The extent of mandatory compliance with IASs differs between states in that Bahrain (p < 

0.01) was significantly different from Kuwait. Size remained positively associated with 

the level of compliance with IASs (p < 0.01), as predicted by hypothesis H2. Leverage 

was positive and significant for the three states combined (p < 0.05) so hypothesis H3 was 

supported. Internationality was also positively associated with the level of compliance 

with IASs (p < 0.05), so hypothesis H7 was supported. Age was a significant variable in 

explaining variation in the level of compliance with IASs for the three states combined (p 

< 0.10); thus, hypothesis H10 was supported. It could be the case, though, that age was a 

proxy for fiscal year and simply reflected the trend towards greater compliance.  

 

Liquidity, profitability, auditor and ownership diffusion were not significant, indicating 

that they did not help to explain the variation in the level of compliance with IASs for 

Bahrain, Oman and Kuwait combined. Thus, H4, H5, H6 and H9 were not supported. The 

results also show that compliance in the banking and investment industry, insurance and 

manufacturing was not significantly different from the services industry. Hypothesis H8 

was not supported.96   

 

                                                 
95  An exception is that a company’s age is weakly significant in Table 6.10. 
96  Industry 1 (banking and Investment), industry 2 (insurance) and industry 3 (manufacturing) are 

represented in the regression by three dummy variables. Industry 4 (services) is reflected in the 
constant term.  
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Model Ib of Table 6.10 (sub-sample 2) reports the results for sub-sample 2. Overall, the 

model was significant (F = 4.269, p < 0.001) with R2 (adj.) of 0.477. In brief, the findings 

for sub-sample 2 confirm that mandatory compliance with IASs has increased over time 

and increases with company size and declines with liquidity and the concentration of 

shares held by institutional investors.  

 

The level of compliance with IASs in Saudi Arabia and Qatar was statistically different 

from the UAE (p < 0.01). Thus, hypothesis H1 was supported for sub-sample 2. Company 

size was positively associated with the level of compliance (p < 0.05), indicating that 

larger banks and investment companies comply more with IASs; therefore, hypothesis H2 

was supported for sub-sample 2. Liquidity, as expected, was negatively associated with 

the extent of compliance (p < 0.10); thus, hypothesis H4 was supported for the three states 

combined. The regulatory bodies continuously monitor banks’ liquidity in the GCC. This 

occurs in addition to any monitoring by shareholders and the public. Consistent with the 

incentive for them to disclose more, banks and investment companies with a lower 

liquidity ratio tend to have greater compliance with IASs. This finding is consistent with 

Wallace et al. (1994), who reported the level of mandatory compliance with disclosure 

requirements in Spain was negatively associated with liquidity. 

 

The level of compliance declines with the concentration of shares held by institutional 

investors. Hypothesis H9 was thus supported for sub-sample 2, although it was not 

supported for sub-sample 1. 

 

For the three states combined, leverage did not conform to predictious, and hypothesis H3 

was not supported. A possible reason for this result is that in comparison to other types of 

business, the banking industry is characterised by relatively high leverage. By definition, 

banks with lower leverage are likely to have obtained a larger component of their capital 

from ordinary shareholders. Depositors may not constitute as strong a source of pressure 

for increased disclosure in the form of compliance with IASs in banks’ annual reports 

(Al-Bastaki, 1997). Thus the unexpected sign on leverage might simply reflect the 

incentives of banks with lower leverage to disclose more detailed information for the 

benefit of their shareholders.  

 

Internationality was significant but its influence was the opposite of that hypothesised. A 

possible explanation for this result is that the influence of the variable internationality was 

 125



largely determined by the Saudi sample. The mean of internationality for Saudi Arabia is 

0.25 whereas for the UAE it is 0.04. In Qatar, foreign investors were not allowed to invest 

and hence internationality is zero. A review of the annual reports of the Saudi banks 

revealed that their institutional investors were mostly foreigners.97 Thus, the negative 

relationship between the level of compliance with IASs and internationality can be 

explained if we make the reasonable assumption that these large, foreign institutional 

investors do not press for compliance with IASs because they have access to information 

directly from the banks (Naser and Nuseibeh, 2003a, 2003b).  

 

The level of compliance with IASs was not significantly associated with profitability or 

age; therefore, hypotheses H5 and H10 were not supported for sub-sample 2.  

 

Auditor type was not included in the regression because all banks, finance and investment 

companies in Saudi Arabia, Qatar and the UAE were audited by a local audit firm with an 

international affiliation (Big Five).  

 

Overall, for the full sample, there were significant differences in the level of mandatory 

compliance between years. Companies with a higher level of compliance with IASs 

tended to be larger, have a higher leverage and a greater international presence. There 

were also some statistically significant differences between states in the level of 

compliance. Profitability, liquidity, ownership diffusion, age and type of auditor explain 

an insignificant amount of the variation in compliance. In addition, the level of 

compliance found in this analysis did not differ between industry groups, although 

robustness tests in Chapter Seven do reveal some industry differences that are significant. 

 

The results for sub-sample 1 (Bahrain, Oman and Kuwait) mirror those for the full sample 

except that age was significant. The reason for this is probably that 89% of the full sample 

was from sub-sample 1. There were also time trends in sub-sample 1.  

 

For sub-sample 2 (banks and investment companies from Saudi Arabia, Qatar and the 

UAE), the level of compliance with IASs was associated positively with size and 

negatively with liquidity and the concentration of shares held by institutional investors. 

Leverage and internationality were significant but in the opposite direction to that 

                                                 
97 The annual reports of the banks contain information about their major shareholders.  
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hypothesised. Profitability and age were not significant. There were statistically 

significant differences between states with respect to the level of compliance with IASs, 

and there were significant differences in years. Some of these differences will reflect 

differences in the power of the tests because of the smaller size of sub-sample 2.  

 

The analysis so far reveals differences within the two sub-samples with respect to the 

relationship between the level of compliance and company attributes. The next section 

thus examines the relationship between the level of compliance and company attributes 

for each state separately.  

6.2.3 Compliance with IASs: By Country  

Table 6.11 reports the results for each country. Again, “year” dummy variables were 

included in each model. For example, three such dummy variables were included in the 

model for Bahrain, for 1996, 1997 and 1999. The equivalent result for 2002 was captured 

in the constant term. All six models were significant overall at the 0.10 level or better, 

with R2 (adj.) ranging from 0.298 to 0.791.  

 

Significant differences existed between the years for each state model except Qatar. This 

result was consistent with growth in the influence of enforcement bodies and auditors’ 

activities over time, but it was also consistent with growth in companies’ incentives to 

comply voluntarily. Chapter Two explained that the enforcement body in Qatar does not 

conduct any monitoring; whereas, all other GCC member states do monitor compliance. 

The level of mandatory compliance with IASs differed by state (Table 6.2). In Qatar, it 

seems that the level of compliance with IASs by banks was influenced by company 

attributes only; whereas, in other states it was influenced by the enforcement bodies or 

external auditor activities and company attributes.98  

 

The importance of time trends in Oman and Kuwait can be seen in the coefficients of their 

year-by-year dummy variables. The substantially greater compliance (mean year effects 

were 0.13 for Oman and 0.14 for Kuwait) could result from the enforcement bodies 

becoming more effective, by 1999, in monitoring compliance.  

 

                                                 
98  Conclusions are restricted as there are only four sample companies in Qatar. 
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Size was positively associated with the level of compliance with IASs for Oman and 

Saudi Arabia (p < 0.01), Kuwait and the UAE (p < 0.05) and Qatar (p < 0.10). Therefore, 

hypothesis H2 was supported for Oman, Kuwait, Saudi Arabia, Qatar and the UAE but 

not for Bahrain. The size variable may not be significant in Bahrain because there was 

insufficient variation among Bahraini companies with respect to their size. This result was 

in line with Al-Basteki (1995), who found no association between size and adoption of 

IASs in Bahrain, but it contradicts Joshi and Al-Mudhahki (2001), who found size was 

associated in Bahrain with the level of mandatory compliance with IAS 1 Disclosure of 

Accounting Policies. A possible explanation for the inconsistent results is related to 

differences in sample size. The current study and Al-Basteki (1995) sampled 25 

companies, while Joshi and Al-Mudhahki (2001) sampled 37 companies.  

 

Leverage yields mixed results across the six country models. It was significant in the 

predicted direction (positive) in Kuwait and Oman (p < 0.10), but not in Saudi Arabia, 

where it was seemingly significant but in the opposite direction to that hypothesised. 

Thus, hypothesis H3 was supported only for Kuwait and Oman. Companies in Kuwait 

had relatively low leverage (mean 0.35). In Oman, it was greater (0.48); and, in Saudi 

Arabia, it was greater still (0.78; Table 6.5). This result was consistent with the findings 

reported in Table 6.9 that there were significant differences between states in sub-sample 

1 and sub-sample 2 with respect to leverage. In Saudi Arabia, given the nature of banks, it 

appears that banks with lower leverage tend to comply more with IASs.  

 

The extent of compliance with IASs was negatively associated with liquidity in Saudi 

Arabia (p < 0.10), the state with the lowest liquidity ratio (the mean liquidity ratio was 

0.72, Table 6.5). Hypothesis H4 was thus supported in Saudi Arabia.  

 

Profitability yielded mixed results. It was measured by return on equity. It was significant 

in the predicted direction (positive) in Qatar (p < 0.05), but not in Bahrain, where it was 

seemingly significant but in the opposite direction to that hypothesised. The mean of 

profitability in Bahrain (0.07) was the lowest among GCC member states (Table 6.5). 

Therefore, hypothesis H5 was supported for Qatar but not for other states. A possible 

explanation for this result is that Qatari banks tend to comply more with IASs to signal 

their quality to the market and their shareholders.  

 



Coefficients Independent variables 
(Expected sign)  Bahrain  Oman  Kuwait  Saudi Arabia  Qatar  UAE  
Company size (+) -0.008  0.159 +++ 0.091 ++ 0.366 +++ 1.168 + 0.097 ++ 
Leverage (+) 0.219  0.103 + 0.131 + -3.935 (a) 0.537  3.058  
Liquidity (-) 0.001  0.002  0.003  -0.196 + -0.048  -0.166  
Profitability (+) -0.078 (a) 0.071  -0.184  2.921  0.002 ++ -0.462  
Internationality (+) 0.148  0.275 ++ 3.758 +++ -0.613 (a)  2.683  
Ownership diffusion (-) 0.050  0.218 (a) 0.164 (a) 1.189  5.675 (a) -0.350 ++ 
Age (+) 0.001 + 0.009 +++ 0.001 + 0.018  0.045  -0.007  
Auditor (+) 0.105  -0.023  -0.021      
Industry 1 (Bank and Invest) 0.097  0.016  -0.168 ***     
Industry 2 (Insurance) 0.122  0.043  -0.081      
Industry 3 (Manufacturing) -0.052  0.055  0.019      
Year (1996) (-) -0.432 +++ -0.275 +++ -0.194 +++ -0.316 +++    
Year (1997) (-) -0.394 +++       
Year (1999) (-) -0.239 +++ -0.146 +++ -0.053 ++ -0.399 +++ -0.039  -0.439 +++ 
Year (2000) (-)      -0.239  -0.343 + 
Constant 0.642 ** -0.102 ** -0.122  1.650 * -1.164  -0.270  
Adjusted R2 0.579  0.474  0.298  0.791  0.772  0.778  
F 10.744  9.844  3.981  9.919  3.472  6.083  
Prob. (F)  < 0.001  < 0.001  < 0.001  < 0.008  < 0.097  0.049  
No. of companies 25  43  50  6  4  9  
No. of observations 100  129  136  18  12  17  
This table presents the results of regression models that examine the relationship between the level of compliance excluding NA and DK items — Log (OCIEX / (1 –- OCIEX)) — and 
independent variables representing company attributes for each state. 
+++ t test (one-tailed) significant p < 0.01;  
++ t test (one-tailed) significant p < 0.05;  
+ t test (one-tailed) significant p < 0.10;  
*** t test (two-tailed) significant p < 0.01;  
** t test (two-tailed) significant p < 0.05;  
* t test (two-tailed) significant p < 0.10.  
(a)  Coefficient was significant but had the opposite sign to that hypothesised.  
Company size was measured by log of market value of equity plus book value of debt; Leverage was the ratio of book value of total debt as a proportion of book value of total debt plus 
market value of equity; Liquidity was the ratio of current assets to current liabilities; Profitability was the ratio of earnings before taxes, Zakat and interest to total shareholders’ equity; 
Internationality was the percentage of foreign ownership (number of shares owned by foreign investors divided by total shares issued at year-end); Ownership diffusion was the percentage 
of institutional investor ownership (number of shares owned by institutional investors divided by total shares issued at year-end); Age was the number of years passed since foundation. 
Auditor was a dummy variable = 1 for companies audited by local audit firms with an international affiliation (Big Five) and 0 for companies audited by local audit firms without an 
international affiliation (non Big Five). For industry variables, three dummy variables were included for four industries; the results for Industry 4 (services) were captured in the constant 
term. For year-by-year dummy variables, the results for 2002 were captured in the constant term.  
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Table  6.11: Regression results: compliance with IASs – by country 

 



Auditor type did not explain variation in the level of compliance in Bahrain, Oman and 

Kuwait. Auditor type was not included in the models for Saudi Arabia, Qatar and the 

UAE because all the sampled companies in these states were clients of a local audit firm 

with an international affiliation (Big Five). Hypothesis H6 was thus not supported for 

Bahrain, Oman and Kuwait. 

 

The finding for internationality, measured by the proportion of foreign ownership, was 

interesting and suggestive. It was significant only in Kuwait and Oman, indicating that the 

level of compliance with IASs was positively associated with internationality in Kuwait 

(p < 0.01) and Oman (p < 0.05). Thus hypothesis H7 was supported for Kuwait and Oman 

only. Although the mean of internationality was small in Kuwait (0.01, Table 6.5) and 

Oman (0.02, Table 6.5), the results indicate that Kuwaiti and Omani companies could be 

willing to comply more with IASs, possibly to attract more foreign investors. Kuwait has 

allowed foreign investors to buy and sell shares of listed companies since 2000.99 

Arguably, opening up the possibility of foreign ownership could prompt companies to 

comply more with IASs in order to attract more foreign investors.  

 

The internationality variable was not included in the Qatar model because foreign 

investors were not allowed to invest in the Doha Securities Market (DSM) until early in 

2005.100 In Saudi Arabia, it was significant but its sign was opposite to that hypothesised. 

A possible reason for this result was discussed above. For Bahrain and the UAE, 

internationality was not associated with the extent of compliance. This result for Bahrain 

was in line with Al-Basteki (1995), who found that adoption of IASs was unrelated to 

internationality when measured by whether a company had a foreign branch, office or 

subsidiary. The results for the UAE were consistent with Al-Shayeb (2003), who found 

that internationality (measured by whether or not a company is a subsidiary of a 

multinational company) did not explain the level of total disclosure in the UAE.  

 

Ownership diffusion, measured by the proportion of shares held by institutional investors, 

was significant for the UAE (p < 0.05) but was not significant for Bahrain and Saudi 

                                                 
99  Internationality is not measured in 1996 and 1999 because foreign investors were not allowed then to 

invest in listed companies on the Kuwait Stock Market (KSM). When internationality is added to the 
model in 2002, it is positive and highly significant.  

100  Law No. 13 of 2005 issued on 7 February 2005 permitted foreign investors to own up to 25% of the 
shares of Qatari listed companies beginning 13 April 2005. 
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Arabia. It was seemingly significant but in the opposite direction to that hypothesised for 

Oman, Kuwait and Qatar; therefore, hypothesis H9 was supported for the UAE only.  

 

Older companies were more likely to comply with IASs in Oman (p < 0.01) and Bahrain 

and Kuwait (p < 0.10). Hypothesis H10 was thus supported for Bahrain, Kuwait and 

Oman but not for Saudi Arabia, Qatar and the UAE. A possible reason for this result 

could be related to sample size. Larger samples for Bahrain, Kuwait and Oman may have 

led to more powerful tests.  

 

There were significant differences between industry groups only in Kuwait (the banking 

and investment industry was significantly different from the services industry, p < 0.01, 

Table 6.12). Specifically, companies from industry group 1 (banking and investment) 

were more likely to comply with IASs than companies from industry group 4 (services). 

Hypothesis H8 was supported only in Kuwait. Possible explanations for this result are as 

follows. First, banks and investment companies are followed more closely by the public, 

and are likely to comply more with IASs to meet the demands of shareholders and the 

public for more information about their activities. Second, banks and investment 

companies are monitored to different degrees by the respective enforcement bodies; 

namely, the Ministry of Commerce, the Central Bank of Kuwait and the Kuwait Stock 

Exchange (KSE) for banks, and the Ministry of Commerce and KSE for service 

companies.  

 

Conventional diagnostic tests were also undertaken to test for the normality of the 

residuals and the linearity of each individual model. A visual inspection of the histograms 

and plots indicated the residuals did not obviously depart from the customary 

assumptions. Chapter Seven reports in more detail on the robustness of the results to 

outliers and other methodological issues. 

 

6.3 Summary 

This chapter presented the descriptive statistics for the dependent variable, which is the 

level of compliance with IASs excluding NA and DK items (OCIEX). It also presented 

the independent variables (that is, company attributes) and their relationship with each 

other. The chapter also presented the relationship between the dependant variable and the 

year-by-year dummy variables.  
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One objective was to discover if the level of mandatory compliance with IASs was 

influenced only by company attributes, or whether there were time trends as well. Pooled 

models were used, where feasible, to overcome the country effects and problems of small 

samples. Regression models were estimated by OLS, with White’s adjustment for 

heteroscedastic residuals, for the full sample, two sub-samples and for each state. Sub-

sample models were estimated because of fundamental differences between the states 

with respect to their industry representation and leverage. In this chapter, the dependent 

variable for each model was the transformed OCIEX. Other dependent variables are 

examined in Chapter Seven. 

 

The results revealed that the average level of compliance with IASs for all years for the 

whole region was 0.75. There was evidence of a trend towards increasing compliance 

with the 14 IASs in all GCC member states over the years under investigation. However, 

the compliance index, on average, never exceeded 0.82 throughout the region. The results 

also showed that no company fully complied with all 14 IASs at any stage.  

 

Compliance can be explained, in part, by variables other than the influence of the 

enforcement bodies and the activities of external auditors in the GCC member states. 

With respect to differences in average compliance across states, there was little systematic 

evidence to support hypothesis H1. It could be the case that the institutional differences 

discussed in Chapters Two and Four were overstated. Alternately, common cultural and 

other factors that were captured in the control variables may have been too dominant to 

yield a clear result on all of the cross-country differences that were expected. It is also 

possible that the number of companies in some states was too small to detect an effect. 

Further commentary on these matters is deferred to Chapter Seven. Apart from the time 

trend and some home-country effects, compliance increased with a company’s size, 

leverage and international presence.  

 

The results for sub-sample 1 (Bahrain, Oman and Kuwait) were similar to the full sample 

results (except that a company’s age was significant in sub-sample 1). This was mostly 

because of the overlap in the data. For sub-sample 2 (Saudi Arabia, Qatar and the UAE), 

the level of compliance increased with company size and the concentration of shares held 

by institutional investors; it declined with greater liquidity. There were also several 

significant home-country differences in sub-sample 2.  
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Models were also estimated for each state. There were significant differences between 

years in each state except for Qatar. This suggests that there were state-wide variables, 

such as the influence of enforcement bodies or the development of auditing standards, that 

explained part of the variation in the level of compliance. Size was positively associated 

with the level of compliance in Oman, Kuwait, Saudi Arabia, Qatar and the UAE. 

Leverage was significant in Oman and Kuwait, but not in other states. Liquidity was 

significant only in Saudi Arabia, while profitability was significant only in Qatar. 

Internationality was significant only in Kuwait and Oman. Ownership diffusion, measured 

by the holdings of institutional investors, was significant only in the UAE. Older 

companies were more likely to comply with IASs in Bahrain, Kuwait and Oman. Auditor 

type did not explain variation in the level of compliance in Bahrain, Oman and Kuwait. 

Auditor type was not included for Saudi Arabia, Qatar and the UAE because all sampled 

companies in these countries were clients of a local audit firm with an international 

affiliation (Big Five). Significant industry differences in compliance were found only in 

Kuwait. One reason for the weaker results by member state is the lack of statistical power 

because of the small sample size. 

 

The next chapter discusses the robustness of these results with regard to a range of issues. 

Specifically, it examines two alternative measures of the level of compliance with IASs, 

as well as a number of alternative measures of the company-specific attributes. It also 

investigates further whether there are significant differences between the states. 
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Chapter 7: Robustness Tests 

7.0 Introduction 

The purpose of this chapter is to demonstrate the robustness of the results presented in 

Chapter Six. A particular concern is the weak support for hypothesis H1. One set of tests 

considers whether the results change when alternative measures of the dependent and 

independent variables are employed. Other tests use alternate procedures to handle data 

outliers. These procedures consist of rank regression, and Winsorising and censoring 

extreme values. 

 

Section 7.1 discusses alternative measures for the dependent and independent variables. 

The results of the robustness tests using these measures are summarised, and their 

implications are analysed in Section 7.2. The results for country effects are discussed in 

Section 7.3. The results for the ranked regressions, and for Winsorising and censoring 

outliers, are discussed in Section 7.4. Section 7.5 summarises the results: the findings in 

Chapter Six are robust, with the exception of those relating to leverage, which is not 

significantly associated with the level of compliance when it is calculated using the book 

value rather than the market value of equity. Importantly, outliers do not drive the main 

results.  

7.1  Alternative Variables and Regression Models 

Alternative measures for the dependent variable and some of the independent variables 

were identified in Chapter Five. Table 7.1 shows the descriptive statistics for the primary 

dependent variable and its alternative measures and their regression model labels. Table 

7.2 shows the names of the alternative proxies for the independent variables in each 

model. All other variables remained unchanged.  

 

7.1.1 Dependent Variables 

The primary index was the compliance index excluding NA and DK. This index was 

transformed and then used as the dependent variable representing the primary model in 

Chapter Six. In this Chapter, Model I used the primary index as the dependent variable 

(Table 7.1).  
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Table  7.1: Descriptive statistics for the primary and alternative dependent 
variables for all sample companies 

Model Label Dependent variable 
(compliance index) Mean Min Max Std. Dev. 

Model I Log (OCIEX / (1 – OCIEX)) 0.51 -0.42 1.52 0.28 

Model II Log (OCIIN / (1 – OCIIN)) -0.32 -0.99 0.35 0.23 

Model III Log (OCIDK / (1 – OCIDK)) 0.16 -0.58 0.92 0.23 

Model IV OCIEX 0.75 0.27 0.97 0.11 

Model V OCIIN 0.33 0.09 0.69 0.11 

Model VI OCIDK 0.58 0.21 0.89 0.12 

OCIEX is the overall compliance index excluding not-applicable (NA) and do-not-know (DK) items. 
OCIIN is the overall compliance index including NA and DK items, but recording them as non-
compliance items. OCIDK is the overall compliance index excluding NA and including DK items, 
but recording them as non-compliance items. All indices range from 0 to 1.  
 

Two alternative indices were then considered. The first was the overall compliance index 

including NA and DK items, but recording NA and DK as non-compliance (OCIIN). The 

OCIIN was calculated by dividing the number of required disclosure and measurement 

items reported by the company by the maximum possible score. In this index all items 

were considered applicable and, therefore, companies were penalised for not disclosing an 

item irrespective of its applicability. Companies were also penalised for not providing 

enough information to discern the applicability of an item.  

 

The second alternative index was the overall compliance index including DK items, but 

recording DK as non-compliance and excluding NA (OCIDK). The OCIDK was 

calculated again by dividing the number of required disclosure and measurement items 

reported by the company by the maximum possible score. The aim of calculating the 

OCIDK was to penalise companies with DK items only. These alternative measures were 

used in Model II, where the transformed compliance index (OCIIN) was the dependent 

variable; and in Model III, where the transformed compliance index (OCIDK) was the 

dependent variable (Table 7.1). 

 

The above regression models were also estimated using the original (i.e. untransformed) 

compliance indices as dependent variables. Model IV used the original (untransformed) 

primary compliance index (OCIEX). Model V used the original compliance index 

(OCIIN), and Model VI the original compliance index (OCIDK) (Table 7.1). 
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Before comparing the results, it is appropriate to discuss briefly the level of mandatory 

compliance with IASs using the primary index reported in Chapter Six relative to the two 

alternative indices. Table 7.1 reports descriptive statistics for the primary compliance 

index reported in Chapter Six and for the two alternative indices. The mean OCIEX for all 

companies and all years was 0.75, with a minimum of 0.27 and a maximum of 0.97. The 

mean of the OCIIN was 0.33, with a minimum of 0.09 and a maximum of 0.69. These 

differences between the indices were expected as they correspond to two “extreme” 

interpretations of the degree of compliance. The mean of the OCIDK was 0.58, with a 

minimum of 0.21 and a maximum of 0.89.  

 

7.1.2  Independent Variables 

Alternative proxies were examined for all independent variables except liquidity and 

auditor, as set out below. Country and industry dummy variables were unchanged in all 

models. To compare pairs of countries and industries, alternative regression models were 

estimated by rotating which state’s fixed effects were captured in the constant term. These 

models are summarised in Table 7.2.  

 

Company size 

Model A Size1 used the market value of equity plus book value of debt as a proxy for 

size, which is the primary model discussed in Chapter Six. Chapter Five discussed two 

other common measures of size: total revenue and total assets. These alternative measures 

were used. In Model B Size2, size was the log of total assets, and in Model C Size3, size 

was measured by the log of total revenue.  

 

Leverage 

In Model A Size1, leverage was measured by the book value of total debt as a proportion 

of the book value of total debt plus market value of equity. For robustness tests, the book 

value of total debt as a proportion of total debt plus book value of equity was used as an 

alternative measure of leverage, in Model D Size1 Lev2.  

 

Profitability 

Profitability was measured using return on equity (earnings before tax or Zakat and 

interest divided by total shareholders’ equity) in Model A Size1. Other measures of 

profitability were also considered. Chapters Three and Five showed that studies often use 



Model Variable Proxy Other variables 
A Size1 Company size 1 Log (market value of equity + book value of debt) Leverage 1, Profitability 1, Internationality 1, Ownership 

diffusion 1, Age 1 
B Size2 Company size 2 Log total assets Leverage 1, Profitability 1, Internationality 1, Ownership 

diffusion 1, Age 1 
C Size3 Company size 3 Log total revenue Leverage 1, Profitability 1, Internationality 1, Ownership 

diffusion 1, Age 1 
D Size1 Lev2 Leverage 2 Book value of debt/(book value of equity + book value of 

debt) 
Company size 1, Profitability 1, Internationality 1, Ownership 
diffusion 1, Age 1 

E Size1 Profit2 Profitability 2 Earnings before taxes or Zakat and interest/total assets 
(Return on assets) 

Company size 1, Leverage 1, Internationality 1, Ownership 
diffusion 1, Age 1 

F Size1 Profit3 Profitability 3 Cash flow from operations/total assets Company size 1, Leverage 1, Internationality 1, Ownership 
diffusion 1, Age 1 

G Size1 Inter2 Internationality 2 Foreign revenue/total revenue Company size 1, Leverage 1, Profitability 1, Ownership 
diffusion 1, Age 1 

H Size1 Inter3 Internationality 3 Foreign assets/total assets Company size 1, Leverage 1, Profitability 1, Ownership 
diffusion 1, Age 1 

I Size1 Inter4 Internationality 4 Dummy variable coded 1 = a company has at least one 
foreign subsidiary, 0 = a company did not have a foreign 
subsidiary 

Company size 1, Leverage 1, Profitability 1, Ownership 
diffusion 1, Age 1 

J Size1 Own2 Ownership diffusion 2 Number of shares owned by the government/number of 
outstanding shares at year-end 

Company size 1, Leverage 1, Internationality 1, Profitability 1, 
Age 1 

K Size1 Age2 Age 2 Log number of years since foundation Company size 1, Leverage 1, Internationality 1, Profitability 1 
Ownership diffusion 1 

L Size1 NoInd No industry dummy 
variables 

 Company size 1, Leverage 1, Internationality 1, Profitability 1 
Ownership diffusion 1, Age 1 

Country and industry dummy variables are retained in all models, while the definitions of Liquidity and Auditor are also unchanged. The primary model is Model A Size 1. 
Leverage 1 is the ratio of book value of total debt as a proportion of book value of total debt plus market value of equity; Profitability 1 is the ratio of earnings before 
taxes, Zakat and interest to total shareholders’ equity; Internationality 1 is the percentage of foreign ownership (number of shares owned by foreign investors divided by 
total shares issued at year-end); Ownership diffusion 1 is the percentage of institutional investor ownership (number of shares owned by institutional investors divided by 
total shares issued at year-end); and Age 1 is the number of years passed since foundation.  

Table  7.2: Alternative proxies for the independent variables and regression models 
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return on assets (earnings before tax or Zakat and interest divided by total assets). This 

alternative measure was used in Model E Size1 Profit2. Cash flow from operations as a 

proportion of total assets is another proxy for profitability. This alternative measure was 

used in Model F Size1 Profit3.  

 

Internationality 

In Model A Size1, internationality was measured by the proportion of shares held by 

foreigners. This measure was used as the primary measure of internationality because data 

on foreign ownership were available for most sample companies. Three alternative 

measures were also considered. As reported in Chapter Three, other studies have used the 

proportion of foreign revenue, proportion of foreign assets and a dummy variable to 

indicate if a company has at least one foreign subsidiary. These alternative measures were 

used in Model G Size1 Inter2, where internationality was the proportion of foreign 

revenue, in Model H Size1 Inter3, where internationality was the proportion of foreign 

assets and in Model I Size1 Inter4, where internationality was a dummy variable coded 

one if a company has at least one foreign subsidiary and zero otherwise.  

 

Ownership Diffusion 

The primary measure of ownership diffusion was the proportion of outstanding shares 

held by institutional investors. Listed companies in the GCC member states usually reveal 

the identity and proportion of shares held by their main shareholders; namely, institutional 

investors, and government and its agencies. Chapter Three showed that, in other studies, 

ownership diffusion has also been measured by the proportion of government ownership. 

This alternative measure is used in Model J Size1 Own2.  

 

Age 

A company’s age was based on the number of years passed since its foundation, in the 

primary model. Another measure, which was used in Model K Size1 Age2, was the log of 

age.  

 

Rotation of Industry Dummy Variables 

The sample companies in the GCC member states were assigned to four industries based 

on each company’s nature of operations.101 A model without industry dummy variables 

                                                 
101 The industry groups were Industry 1: banking and investment; Industry 2: insurance; Industry 3: 

manufacturing; and Industry 4: services. 
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was also examined, Model L Size1 NoInd, because it was possible that industry 

membership was not important once other variables, such as country or leverage, had 

been included in the model.  

 

In Chapter Six, the primary model included three dummy variables representing four 

industry variables. The primary model examined whether industry groups 1, 2 and 3 were 

significantly different from Industry 4. To compare each pair of industry groups, industry 

dummy variables were rotated so that the fixed effects of each industry were, in turn, 

captured in the constant term. This allowed us to focus more easily on any differences 

between pairs of industries. 

7.2 Comparison of the Results of the Alternative Models 

7.2.1 Robustness of the Dependent Variable 

Robustness tests confirmed the results for the primary model presented in Chapter Six 

when using the alternative compliance indices. Model I in Table 7.3 is the primary model 

discussed in Chapter Six. Model II is the first alternative compliance index (transformed 

OCIIN), and Model III is the second alternative compliance index (transformed OCIDK). 

Size, leverage, and internationality were significant explanatory variables for compliance 

with IASs in the GCC member states for the primary model and the two alternative 

models.  

 

However, differences exist between these models with respect to the industry and country 

dummy variables. The departure from Model I is that industry dummy variables were 

significant in Models II and III. In Model II, industry 2 (insurance) and industry 3 

(manufacturing) were significant. In Model III, only industry 3 (manufacturing) was 

significant. With respect to the country dummy variables, in Model I, Bahrain, Oman, 

Kuwait and Qatar were statistically significantly different from the UAE (represented by 

the constant term). In Model II, Bahrain, Oman and Kuwait were all significant. In Model 

III, only Bahrain, Oman and Qatar were significant. Neither Model II nor Model III 

yielded stronger results on country effects than did Model I. 

 

The R2 (adj.) for Model III (0.444) was higher than for Model I (0.356) and Model II 

(0.363). Overall, the results reported in Chapter Six using log (OCIEX / (1 – OCIEX))  
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Table  7.3: Regression results for Models I, II and III – full sample 

Coefficients Independent variables 
(Expected sign)  Model 

I
 Model II  Model III  

Company size (+) 0.087 +++ 0.094 +++ 0.095 +++ 
Leverage (+) 0.146 +++ 0.114 ++ 0.094 ++ 
Liquidity (-) 0.001  -0.001  0.001  
Profitability (+) 0.045  -0.021  0.019  
Internationality (+) 0.138 + 0.289 +++ 0.148 ++ 
Ownership diffusion (-) 0.019  0.014  0.036  
Age (+) 0.001  -0.001  0.001  
Auditor (+) 0.017  0.044  0.041  
Industry 1 (Bank and Invest) -0.024  -0.030  -0.026  
Industry 2 (Insurance) 0.045  -0.085 ** -0.028  
Industry 3 (Manufacturing) 0.034  0.056 ** 0.063 *** 
Bahrain (-) 0.212 (a) 0.192 (a) 0.219 (a) 
Oman (+) 0.158 ++ 0.090 ++ 0.082 + 
Kuwait (+) 0.103 + 0.199 +++ 0.068  
Saudi Arabia (-) 0.032  -0.044  0.033  
Qatar (-) -0.140 ++ 0.011  -0.087 ++ 
Year (1996) (-) -0.336 +++ -0.208 +++ -0.259 +++ 
Year (1997) (-) -0.359 +++ -0.167 +++ -0.267 +++ 
Year (1999) (-) -0.199 +++ -0.087 +++ -0.223 +++ 
Year (2000) (-) -0.171 ++ -0.034  -0.064  
Constant -0.294 * -1.223 *** 0.702 *** 
Adjusted R2 0.356  0.363  0.444  
F  12.059  12.645  17.280  
Prob. (F)  < 

0.001
 < 0.001  < 0.001  

No. of companies 137  137  137  
No. of observations 409  409  409  
This table presents the results of regression models that examine the relationship between the level of  
compliance with IASs and independent variables representing company attributes for the full sample. Model I 
is the primary model reported in Chapter Six. Its dependent variable is log (OCIEX / (1 –- OCIEX)). Model II 
is the first alternative model, with dependent variable log (OCIIN/(1 –- OCIIN)). Model III is the second 
alternative model, with dependent variable log (OCIDK/(1 –- OCIDK)). 
+++ t test (one-tailed) significant p < 0.01;  
++ t test (one-tailed) significant p < 0.05;  
+ t test (one-tailed) significant p < 0.10;  
*** t test (two-tailed) significant p < 0.01;  
** t test (two-tailed) significant p < 0.05;  
* t test (two-tailed) significant p < 0.10.  
(a)  Coefficient is statistically significant but had the opposite sign to that hypothesised.  
Company size was measured by log market value of equity plus book value of debt; Leverage was the ratio 
of book value of total debt as a proportion of book value of total debt plus market value of equity; Liquidity 
was the ratio of current assets to current liabilities; Profitability was the ratio of earnings before taxes, Zakat 
and interest to total shareholders’ equity; Internationality was the percentage of foreign ownership (number of 
shares owned by foreign investors divided by total shares issued at year-end); Ownership diffusion was the 
percentage of institutional investors ownership (number of shares owned by institutional investors divided by 
total shares issued at year-end); Age was the number of years passed since foundation; Auditor was a 
dummy variable = 1 for companies audited by local audit firms with an international affiliation (Big Five) and 0 
for companies audited by local audit firms without an international affiliation (non Big Five). The results for 
Industry 4 = services and for the UAE are captured in the constant term. Four dummy variables are included 
for the five years: the results for 2002 are captured in the constant term.  
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Table  7.4: Regression results for Models IV, V and VI – full sample  

Coefficients Independent variables 
(Expected sign)  Model IV Model V   Model VI  

0.034 +++ +++ 0.048 Company size (+) 0.046 +++ 
++ 0.059Leverage (+) 0.052 +++ 0.051 ++ 

Liquidity (-) 0.001 -0.001   0.001  
0.046   0.017 Profitability (+) -0.019  

++ 0.148Internationality (+) 0.052 +++ 0.076 ++ 
Ownership diffusion (-) 0.007 0.001   0.020  

0.001   0.001 Age (+) -0.001  
 0.013Auditor (+) 0.005  0.023  

Industry 1 (Bank and Invest) -0.016 -0.016   -0.016  
Industry 2 (Insurance) 0.022  -0.043 ** -0.015  
Industry 3 (Manufacturing) 0.015  0.027 ** 0.032 ** 
Bahrain (-) 0.075 (a) 0.096 (a) 0.112 (a) 
Oman (+) 0.046 ++ 0.046 ++ 0.039 + 
Kuwait (+) 0.037 + 0.102 +++ 0.035 + 
Saudi Arabia (-) 0.010  -0.024  0.015  
Qatar (-) -0.056 ++ 0.005  -0.042 + 
Year (1996) (-) -0.129 +++ -0.098 +++ -0.133 +++ 
Year (1997) (-) -0.127 +++ -0.082 +++ -0.134 +++ 
Year (1999) (-) -0.071 +++ -0.044 +++ -0.114 +++ 
Year (2000) (-) -0.054 ++ -0.019  -0.027  
Constant 0.444 *** -0.103  0.145 * 
Adjusted R2 0.324  0.352  0.431  
F 10.769  12.123  16.493  
Prob. (F) < 0.001  < 0.001  < 0.001  
No. of companies 137  137  137  
No. of observations 409  409  409  
This table presents the results of regression models that examine the relationship between the level of 
compliance and independent variables representing company attributes for full sample. Model IV is the 
untransformed dependent variable of the primary model (Model I). Its dependent variable is OCIEX. Model V 
is the untransformed dependent variable of Model II. Its dependent variable is OCIIN. Model VI is the 
untransformed dependent variable of Model III. Its dependent variable is OCIDK. 
+++ t test (one-tailed) significant p < 0.01;  
++ t test (one-tailed) significant p < 0.05;  
*** t test (two-tailed) significant p < 0.01;  
** t test (two-tailed) significant p < 0.05;  
* t test (two-tailed) significant p < 0.10.  
(a) Coefficient is statistically significant but had the opposite sign to that hypothesised.  
Company size was measured by log market value of equity plus book value of debt; Leverage was the ratio 
of book value of total debt as a proportion of book value of total debt plus market value of equity; Liquidity 
was the ratio of current assets to current liabilities; Profitability was the ratio of earnings before taxes, Zakat 
and interest to total shareholders’ equity; Internationality was the percentage of foreign ownership (number of 
shares owned by foreign investors divided by total shares issued at year-end); Ownership diffusion was the 
percentage of institutional investors ownership (number of shares owned by institutional investors divided by 
total shares issued at year-end); Age was the number of years passed since foundation; Auditor was a 
dummy variable = 1 for companies audited by local audit firms with an international affiliation (Big Five) and 0 
for companies audited by local audit firms without an international affiliation (non Big Five). The results for 
Industry 4 = services and for the UAE are captured in the constant term. Four dummy variables are included 
for the five years: the results for 2002 are captured in the constant term.  
 

were not especially sensitive to the alternative transformed compliance indices, despite 

some differences with respect to the significance of the country and industry dummy 

variables.  
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Table 7.4 reports the results for the untransformed dependent variables. The results were 

essentially unaffected, although the explanatory power of the transformed dependent 

variable models  (Table 7.3) was slightly (1–3%) higher. 

 

In summary, while there were some differences, on the whole, the results reported in 

Chapter Six using log (OCIEX / (1 – OCIEX)) are not especially sensitive to the use of 

the alternative compliance indices or to whether the dependent variable is transformed or 

not.  

7.2.2 Robustness of the Independent Variables 

Table 7.5 summarises the results of the models with all alternative independent variables. 

It does so by listing the significant variables for each model. For completeness, the 

detailed results for all of the alternative models are reported in Appendix F, Table F1. The 

differences between the models are summarised in the following paragraphs.  

 

Company Size 

Robustness tests confirmed that company size was an important determinant of the level 

of compliance in the GCC member states, irrespective of the proxy used in this study to 

measure size. Table 7.5 shows that Size1, Size2 and Size3 were all highly significant. 

Table 7.6 shows significant positive correlations between each pair of size proxies, which 

supports the finding that company size was, in principle, significant.  

 

Leverage 

The robustness results did not confirm the significance of leverage when using the 

alternative proxy, although Leverage 1 (Lev1) and Leverage 2 (Lev2) were highly 

correlated (0.947, Table 7.6). Table 7.5 shows that Lev2 was not significant (D Size1 

Lev2); whereas, Lev1 was significant (Model A Size1). The differences in the results 

were related to differences between the measures of leverage. Lev1 incorporated the 

market value of equity; whereas, Lev2 was based on its book value. It seems that the use 

of the market value of equity in the leverage measure captured some aspect of the 

company that were significantly related to compliance with IASs. Book values did not, 

despite their high correlation. Outliers could drive this apparently curious result, and they 

are investigated further in subsequent sections.  



Table  7.5: Summary of significant variables for the primary model with alternative independent variables 

 Alternative models 

Dependent variable A Size1 B Size2 C Size3 D Size1 
Lev2 

E Size1 
Profit2 

F Size1 
Profit3 

G Size1 
Inter2 

H Size1 
Inter3 

I Size1 
Inter4 

J Size1 
Own2 

K Size1 
Age2 

L Size1 
NoInd 

Log (OCIEX / (1-OCIEX)) Size1 
Lev1 
Inter1 
 
Bahrain* 
Oman 
Kuwait 
Qatar 

Size2 
Lev1 
Inter1 
 
Bahrain* 
Oman 
Kuwait 
Qatar 

Size3 
Lev1 
Inter1 
 
Bahrain* 
Oman 
Kuwait 
Qatar 

Size1 
 
Inter1 
Age1 
Bahrain* 
Oman  
Kuwait 
Qatar 

Size1 
Lev1 
Inter1 
Age1 
Bahrain* 
Oman  
Kuwait 
Qatar 

Size1 
Lev1 
Inter1 
 
Bahrain* 
Oman 
Kuwait 
Qatar 

Size1 
 
 
Age1 
Bahrain* 
Oman 
Kuwait  

Size1 
 
 
 
Bahrain* 
Oman 
 
Qatar 

Size1 
Lev1 
Inter4 
 
Bahrain* 
Oman 
Kuwait 
Qatar 

Size1 
Lev1 
Inter1 
 
Bahrain* 
Oman 
Kuwait 

Size1 
Lev1 
Inter1 
 
Bahrain* 
Oman 
Kuwait 
Qatar 

Size1 
Lev1 
Inter1 
Age1 
Bahrain* 
Oman  
Kuwait 
Qatar 

* This was statistically significant but had the opposite sign to that hypothesised.  
OCIEX is the overall compliance index excluding Not Applicable (NA) and Do Not Know (DK) items. Size1 is log of market value of equity plus book value of debt; Size2 
is log of total assets; Size3 is log of total revenue; Lev1 is the ratio of book value of total debt as a proportion of book value of total debt plus market value of equity; Lev2 
is the ratio of book value of debt as a proportion of book value of equity plus book value of debt; Profit2 is the ratio of earnings before taxes, Zakat and interest to total 
assets; Profit3 is the ratio of cash flow from operations to total assets; Inter1 is the percentage of foreign ownership (number of shares owned by foreign investors 
divided by total shares at year-end); Inter2 is proportion of foreign revenue; Inter3 is the proportion of foreign assets; Own2 is the percentage of government ownership 
(number of shares owned by government and its agencies divided by total shares at year-end); Age1 is the number of years passed since foundation; and Age2 is log of 
the number of years passed since foundation. 
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Table  7.6: Pearson correlation coefficients for the continuous variables in the alternative models 

  Size1  Size2  Size3  Lev1  Lev2  Profit1  Profit2  Profit2  Liquid  Inter1  Inter2  Inter3  Own1  Own2  Age1 

Size2   0.988**               

Size3  0.871**  0.856**              

Lev1  0.561**  0.604**  0.513**             

Lev2  0.602**  0.607**  0.557**  0.947**            

Profit1  0.213**  0.154**  0.275**  -0.052  0.073           

Profit2  -0.097*  -0.180**  0.024  -0.473**  -0.363**  0.770**          

Profit3  0.029  0.004  0.112*  -0.066  -0.026  0.298**  0.307**         

Liquid  -0.159**  -0.147**  -0.240**  -0.223**  -0.242**  -0.067  -0.007  -0.035        

Inter1  0.347**  0.345**  0.357**  0.266**  0.276**  0.072  -0.054  0.125**  -0.055       

Inter2  0.159**  0.167*  0.145*  0.130  0.096  -0.090  -0.120  -0.188**  -0.069  0.480**      

Inter3  0.115  0.124  0.059  0.092  0.070  -0.037  -0.030  -0.256**  -0.048  0.461**  0.437**     

Own1  -0.182**  -0.198**  -0.168**  -0.106*  -0.092  -0.030  0.024  0.004  -0.063  -0.214**  0.133  -0.298**    

Own2  0.211**  0.225**  0.207**  -0.078  -0.099*  0.035  0.038  -0.024  0.011  -0.117*  -0.133  -0.151*  -0.341**   

Age1  0.422**  0.414**  0.463**  0.100*  0.120*  0.144**  0.085  -0.008  -0.156**  -0.125*  0.032  -0.103  0.002  0.276**  

Age2  0.395**  0.383**  0.485**  0.091  0.111*  0.161**  0.118*  0.043  -0.261**  -0.055  0.065  -0.099  0.055  0.261*  0.911** 
** Significant at the 0.01 level (two-tailed).  
* Significant at the 0.05 level (two-tailed).  
Size1 is log of market value of equity plus book value of debt; Size2 is log of total assets; Size3 is log of total revenue; Lev1 is the ratio of book value of total debt as a proportion of book 
value of total debt plus market value of equity; Lev2 is the ratio of book value of debt as a proportion of book value of equity plus book value of debt; Profit1 is the ratio of earnings before 
taxes, Zakat and interest to total shareholders’ equity; Profit2 is the ratio of earnings before taxes or Zakat and interest to total assets; Profit3 is the ratio of cash flow from operations to total 
assets; Liquid is the ratio of current assets to current liabilities; Inter1 is the percentage of foreign ownership (number of shares owned by foreign investors divided by total shares at year-
end); Inter2 is proportion of foreign revenue (foreign revenue divided by total revenue); Inter3 is proportion of foreign assets (foreign assets divided by total assets); Own1 is the percentage 
of institutional investors ownership (number of shares owned by institutional investors divided by total outstanding shares at year-end); Own2 is the percentage of government ownership 
(number of shares owned by the government and its agencies divided by total outstanding shares at year-end); Age1 is the number of years passed since foundation; and Age2 is log of 
number of years passed since foundation. 

 



Profitability 

Robustness tests confirmed that profitability, regardless of which measure was used, did 

not explain compliance with IASs in the GCC member states. Profit1, Profit2 and Profit3 

were significantly correlated with each other (Table 7.6), although the correlations were 

far from perfect. Nonetheless, profitability was not significant in Model A Size1 or in the 

alternative models (E Size1 Profit2 and F Size1 Profit3). The choice of the proxy for 

profitability appears unimportant to the results.  

 

Internationality 

Robustness tests confirmed the potential importance of internationality, although it was 

significant for only two of the four proxies. Table 7.5 shows that when the proportion of 

foreign ownership was used as proxy for internationality in Model A Size1, it was 

significant. When the proportion of foreign revenue was used (Model G Size1 Inter2) or 

the proportion of foreign assets (Model H Size1 Inter3), internationality was insignificant, 

despite the fact that the alternative proxies were correlated with each other (Table 7.6).  

 

When a dummy variable (representing whether the company had at least one foreign 

subsidiary) was used as the proxy for internationality (Model I Size1 Inter4), it was 

significant. A similar foreign subsidiary proxy was used for internationality by Al-Basteki 

(1995) and Craig and Diga (1998). Assuming the hypothesis is true, it appears that the 

fraction of foreign ownership and the ownership of one or more foreign subsidiaries were 

better measures of internationality in the GCC member states. This is plausible given the 

lack of disclosure of foreign revenue or foreign assets in companies’ annual reports (see 

Table F1 for the number of observations in each model). The number of cases in Model G 

Size1 Inter2 and Model H Size1 Inter3 was lower because many companies in the GCC 

did not disclose sufficient segment data. It is possible then that insignificant results for the 

second and third proxies were simply due to a loss of statistical power.  

 

Age 

Robustness tests confirmed the insignificance of the age variable irrespective of the proxy 

employed. Table 7.5 shows that when log (age) was substituted as the proxy for age 

(Model K Age2), it remained insignificant.  
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Ownership Diffusion 

Robustness tests confirmed the results previously presented in Chapter Six with respect to 

ownership diffusion. The alternative proxy employed for ownership diffusion was the 

proportion of outstanding shares owned by the government and its agencies. It remained 

insignificant (Table 7.5, Model J Size1 Own2). In Chapter Six (and shown in Model A 

Size1) ownership diffusion 1, measured by the proportion of outstanding shares owned by 

institutional investors, was insignificant. Table 7.6 shows ownership diffusion 1 was 

negatively correlated with ownership diffusion 2, which could be partly by construction 

since the higher the institutional investor ownership, the less the proportion of shares 

available for government ownership. The insignificance of ownership diffusion regardless 

of the proxy indicates the level of compliance with IASs was not significantly related to a 

larger proportion of shares being owned either by the government or by institutional 

shareholders. 

 

Rotation of Industry Dummy Variables 

Robustness tests showed that the results were somewhat sensitive to industry. Table 7.5 

shows that industry variables were insignificant in Model A Size1, although when the 

industry dummy variables were omitted, in Model L Size1 NoInd, the R2 (adj.) is lower 

(Table F1). The significance of only one other variable is affected, though, when industry 

dummy variables are omitted: age becomes significant.  

 

The industry dummy variables were rotated in the regression equations, so that the fixed 

effects of each industry group were, in turn, captured in the constant term. This confirmed 

that there were significant differences between industries in relation to the level of 

compliance with IASs. Detailed results of the regression models are presented in 

Appendix G, Table G1. Table 7.7 shows that, in the primary model (Model I) where the 

omitted industry is industry 4, there were no significant industry effects. When the 

industry dummy variables were rotated, some industry differences became significant. 

When the omitted industry variable was industry 1, it was seen to be different from 

industry 2 and industry 3. When the omitted industry variable was industry 2, it differed 

only from industry 1. Finally, when the omitted industry variable was industry 3, it 

differed only from industry 1.  

 

Overall, it appears that the significance of the industry effects is sensitive to the model 

specification; and, in particular, the standout is industry 1: banking and investment. 
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Table  7.7: Significant differences between industries following rotation of industry 
dummy variables for the primary model, all years pooled 

Dependent variable Industry1  Industry2 Industry3 Industry4 

Log (OCIEX / (1-OCIEX)) Industry2 
Industry3 

Industry1 Industry1  

The table indicates significant industry dummy variables that occur in the primary model (Model I) 
when the variable representing the industry group named at the top of each column is the omitted 
variable in the regression equation. Industry 1 = Banking and Investment. Industry 2 = Insurance. 
Industry 3 = Manufacturing. Industry 4 = Services 

 

7.3 Differences Between Countries 

Hypothesis H1 predicted that the highest compliance would be observed in Kuwait and 

Oman, followed by the UAE, Saudi Arabia, Bahrain and Qatar in that order. Univariate 

results in Table 6.2 were partially consistent with H1. They showed the highest OCIEX 

for all years was in the UAE (0.80) followed by Saudi Arabia (0.78), Kuwait (0.75), 

Oman (0.74), Bahrain (0.73) and Qatar (0.70).  

 

The UAE had a higher level of compliance than Saudi Arabia and Qatar, probably for 

several reasons. One reason may be that the enforcement body in the UAE conducts more 

monitoring than its counterparts in Saudi Arabia and Qatar. Specifically, in the UAE, the 

enforcement body monitors banks’ compliance with IAS 30 Disclosures in the Financial 

Statements of Banks and Financial Institutions in a systematic manner. A second reason 

may be that it is standard practice for the banks in the UAE to have three external auditors 

to audit their accounts. In addition, the highest compliance in the UAE and Saudi Arabia 

may reflect a higher level of professionalism among their external auditors. Evidence to 

support this view is that the Ministry of Commerce in the UAE and the Saudi 

Organization for Certified Public Accountants (SOCPA) require auditors to undertake 

professional training programs.  

 

Chapter Two reported that the enforcement bodies in Kuwait and Oman appear to be 

more active and more likely to pursue cases that come to their attention. It was 

accordingly predicted that the level of compliance would be highest in those states. 

However, the mean OCIEX of Kuwait and Oman for all years is less than all other 

member states except Qatar and Bahrain. One possible reason for this outcome is that the 

sample sizes of Kuwait (50 companies) and Oman (43 companies) are larger and the 

mean index values are more reliable than for the UAE (nine companies) and Saudi Arabia 
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(six companies). A second reason could be that the enforcement bodies in Oman and 

Kuwait only became more active beginning in 1999 (see Table 6.2). A third reason could 

be that systematic differences in the nature (attributes) of the companies in the samples 

from each state are masking the state effects.  

 

In the regression presented in Table 6.9, the average compliance in the UAE was reflected 

in the constant term. The regression showed that, once other factors were controlled for, 

only three of the five predictions were confirmed, since only four country dummy 

variables were significant and one (Bahrain) had the wrong sign. The level of compliance 

with IASs in Bahrain (p < 0.01), Oman and Qatar (p < 0.05) and Kuwait (p < 0.10) was 

significantly different from the UAE (Table 6.9). Because of these inconsistencies, 

additional univariate and multivariate tests were conducted. The results are discussed 

below.  

 

Univariate Analysis 

Tables 7.8 and 7.9 report median test results for the overall period and for each year 

separately. They focus on differences between countries.102   

 

Table 7.8 shows that, based on a median test, only five of the 15 pairs of countries were 

significantly different for all years combined. The level of mandatory compliance with 

IASs in Bahrain was significantly higher than that in Oman and Qatar. The level of 

mandatory compliance in Oman was significantly higher than that in Saudi Arabia and 

Kuwait was significantly higher than that in Qatar, which was significantly lower than 

that in UAE. When each year was examined separately, there were significant 

differences between countries (Table 7.9). Two pairs of countries were significantly 

different in 1996 (the level of compliance in Oman was significantly higher than that in 

Kuwait and Saudi Arabia); three pairs were significantly different in 1999 (the level of 

compliance in Bahrain was higher than that in Oman and Qatar, and Kuwait was 

significantly higher than Qatar); Qatar was significantly lower than UAE in 2000; and 

in 2002, eight pairs were significantly different. In that year, the level of compliance in 

Bahrain was lower than in Oman, Kuwait and UAE, but higher than in Qatar, while 

compliance in Oman was higher than in Saudi Arabia, Kuwait was higher than Saudi 

Arabia and Qatar, and UAE was higher than Qatar while these results exceeded what we 

                                                 
102 The 1997 sample includes data for only Bahrain and therefore that year is excluded. 
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would expect by chance (for an alpha-level of 0.10), a better test is provided by 

multivariate analysis controlling for other factors that could be relevant and differ by 

country. 

 

Table  7.8: Median tests for differences in the overall level of compliance between 
pairs of country, all years 

 Bahrain Oman Kuwait Saudi Arabia Qatar 

Bahrain      

Oman < 0.065*     

Kuwait 0.496 0.432    

Saudi Arabia 0.609 < 0.010* 0.618   

Qatar < 0.072* 0.137 < 0.030** 0.264  

UAE 0.486 0.290 0.510 0.803 > 0.090* 
*** Significant at the 0.01 level (two-tailed).  
** Significant at the 0.05 level (two-tailed).  
* Significant at the 0.10 level (two-tailed). 
 The < and > symbols indicate that compliance was lower/higher in the country identified at 

the start of each row. 
 

Table  7.9: Median tests for differences in the overall level of compliance 
between pairs of country, by year 

Panel A 1996 

 Bahrain Oman Kuwait Saudi Arabia Qatar 

Oman 0.451     

Kuwait 0.870 < 0.045**    

Saudi Arabia 0.411 < 0.072* 0.388   

Qatar NA NA NA NA  

UAE NA NA NA NA NA 

 
Panel B 1999 

 Bahrain Oman Kuwait Saudi Arabia Qatar 

Oman < 0.024**     

Kuwait 0.414 0.076*    

Saudi Arabia 0.411 0.355 0.388   

Qatar < 0.100* 0.317 < 0.038** 0.524  

UAE 0.244 0.714 0.302 0.315 0.559 

 
Panel C 2000 

 Qatar 

UAE > 0.070* 
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Table 7.9 (Continued): Median tests for differences in the overall level of compliance 
between pairs of country, by year 
 
Panel D 2002 

 Bahrain Oman Kuwait Saudi Arabia Qatar 

Oman > 0.024**     

Kuwait > 0.005*** 0.761    

Saudi Arabia 0.318 < 0.008*** < 0.010***   

Qatar < 0.039** 0.111 < 0.085* 0.502  

UAE > 0.092* 0.314 0.759 0.310 > 0.070* 
*** Significant at the 0.01 level (two-tailed).  
** Significant at the 0.05 level (two-tailed).  
* Significant at the 0.10 level (two-tailed).  

The < and > symbols indicate that compliance was lower/higher in the country identified at the 
start of each row 

 NA refers to countries that are not included because they did not adopt IASs.  
There is no analysis for 1997 because only Bahrain is included. In 2000, Qatar and UAE are 
included. 

 

Multivariate Analysis 

To compare pairs of countries after controlling for other factors, country dummy 

variables were rotated in sequence. The results are summarised in Table 7.10. It shows 

that some country effects were always present. Detailed results of these regression 

equations are presented in Appendix H, Table H1.   

 

Table  7.10: Summary of the multivariate results for paired comparisons of 
countries, primary model, all years pooled 

 Bahrain Oman Kuwait Saudi 
Arabia 

Qatar UAE 

Bahrain   0.054* 0.108*** 0.180*** 0.353*** 0.212***

Oman -0.054*  0.054 0.125** 0.298*** 0.158** 

Kuwait -0.108*** -0.054  0.071 0.244*** 0.103* 

Saudi Arabia -0.180*** -0.125** -0.071  0.172** 0.032 

Qatar -0.352*** -0.298*** -0.244*** -0.173**  -0.140** 

UAE -0.212*** -0.158*** -0.103* -0.032 0.140**  

No. consistent with H1 1 4 3 2 5 3 
See Appendix H for detailed results. The entry in each cell indicates the coefficient of the dummy 
variable for the country at the start of the row, where the country effect of the country identified at 
the top of each column was captured in the constant term. The shaded cells indicate that the 
coefficients of the country pairs were consistent with hypothesis H1, although not necessarily 
reliably different from zero. 
*** Significant at the 0.01 level (two-tailed).  
** Significant at the 0.05 level (two-tailed).  
* Significant at the 0.10 level (two-tailed).  
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Based on the predictions of H1 (that compliance is highest in Kuwait and Oman, 

followed by the UAE, Saudi Arabia, Bahrain and Qatar), nine of the 15 unique paired 

comparisons were statistically significant at the 0.05 confidence level or better (one-

tailed t test) and in the manner predicted. In the case of Oman and Kuwait, no 

significant difference was observed, which was consistent with H1. Thus, taken as a 

whole, the multivariate results lend substantial support for hypothesis H1. 

7.4 Robustness to Outliers 

In this study there were three observations in the overall sample where the primary 

regression residual was more than three standard deviations from zero. These 

observations may be considered outliers (Mendenhall and Sincich, 2003, p. 397). Three 

techniques are commonly used to mitigate the effects of outliers or influential 

observations on regression estimates. The first is to estimate a rank regression that assigns 

“equal weight to all points in a data set whether it is influential or not” (Iman and 

Conover, 1979, p. 502). The second is to truncate (Winsorise) the outliers so that their 

absolute value equals some other value; for example as generated from the lower and 

upper sigma values (Tuckey, 1962).103  The third is to censor or trim the outliers; that is, 

delete them from the sample (Mendenhall and Sincich, 2003, p. 405). 

 

Rank regression procedures have been used in prior studies (Lang and Lundholm, 1993; 

Wallace et al., 1994; Wallace and Naser, 1995; Naser et al., 2002). Rank regressions were 

estimated using various combinations of ranked values of the dependent and independent 

variables.104 The results are tabulated in Table 7.11 for the ranked regressions based on 

the primary model.  

 

In general, the results of all the ranked regression models were similar to each other and 

were not different from the results of the unranked regression (Model I in Table 7.3). This 

indicates that the original results are robust to outliers. One difference was that when all 

the independent variables were transformed to their rank scores, leverage became 

insignificant (Model H Rank AllInd, Table 7.11). Similar results were found when the  

 
103  In this study, to Winsorise the data, tail values were set equal to the mean –3 (the lower tail) and +3 

sigma (the upper tail).  
104  Each ranked regression was estimated by OLS after transforming the continuous variables into ranked 

scores, ordered from smallest to largest. Company attributes measured by (dichotomous) dummy 
variables (auditor, industry and country) were not ranked (Iman and Conover, 1979). 



Table  7.11: Ranked regression results: compliance with IASs – full sample 
INDEPENDENT Model/coefficients 
VARIABLES  
(expected sign) 

A Rank 
Size1  

B Rank 
Lev1  

C Rank 
Liq  

D Rank 
Profit1  

E Rank 
Inter1  

Company size (+) 0.001 +++ 0.097 +++ 0.087 +++ 0.092 +++ 0.084 +++ 
Leverage (+) 0.124 ++ 0.001 ++ 0.127 ++ 0.133 ++ 0.146 ++ 
Liquidity (-) 0.001  0.001  0.001  0.001  0.001  
Profitability (+) 0.008  0.062  0.039  0.003  0.075  
Internationality (+) 0.057 + 0.122 + 0.115 + 0.124 + 0.001 + 
Ownership diffusion (-) 0.029  0.017  0.015  0.023  0.013  
Age (+) 0.002  0.002  0.002  0.002  0.008  
Auditor (+) 0.010  -0.016  0.014  0.018  0.031  
Industry 1 (Bank and Invest) -0.040  -0.025  -0.021  -0.023  -0.028  
Industry 2 (Insurance) 0.048  0.043  0.043  0.048  0.030  
Industry 3 (Manufacturing) 0.046  0.034  0.036  0.034  0.017  
Bahrain (-) 0.221 (a) 0.213 (a) 0.219 (a) 0.211 (a) 0.209 (a) 
Oman (+) 0.179 ++ 0.158 ++ 0.160 ++ 0.163 ++ 0.141 ++ 
Kuwait (+) 0.089 + 0.102 + 0.107 + 0.098 + 0.106 + 
Saudi Arabia (-) 0.063  0.051  0.054  0.051  0.051  
Qatar (-) -0.156 ++ -0.140 + -0.136 ++ -0.138 ++ -0.134 + 
Year (1996) (-) -0.335 +++ -0.336 +++ -0.336 +++ -0.332 +++ -0.331 +++ 
Year (1997) (-) -0.349 +++ -0.355 +++ -0.355 +++ -0.351 +++ -0.347 +++ 
Year (1999) (-) -0.197 +++ -0.197 +++ -0.197 +++ -0.197 +++ -0.192 +++ 
Year (2000) (-) -0.163 +++ -0.174 ++ -0.170 ++ -0.176 ++ -0.169 ++ 
Constant 0.256 *** -0.307  -0.270  -0.328  -0.300  
Adjusted R2 0.302  0.300  0.301  0.301  0.301  
F   12.736  12.114  12.081  12.104  12.161  
Prob. (F)  < 0.001  < 0.001  < 0.001  < 0.001  < 0.001  
No. of companies 137  137  137  137  137  
No. of Observations 409  409  409  409  409  
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INDEPENDENT Model/coefficients 
VARIABLES  
(expected sign) F Rank Age  G Rank Own1  H Rank All Ind  

I Rank Dep 
and Ind  

Company size (+) 0.087 +++ 0.087 +++ 0.001 +++ 0.353 +++ 
Leverage (+) 0.142 ++ 0.145 ++ 0.002  0.119 + 
Liquidity (-) 0.001  0.001  -0.001  -0.021  
Profitability (+) 0.045  0.043  -0.001  -0.008  
Internationality (+) 0.137 + 0.121 + 0.003 + 0.050 + 
Ownership diffusion (-) 0.023  0.001  0.004  -0.007  
Age (+) 0.002  0.002  0.005  0.042  
Auditor (+) 0.015  0.016  0.042  0.050  
Industry 1 (Bank and Invest) -0.020  -0.023  -0.018  0.065  
Industry 2 (Insurance) 0.045  0.045  0.052  0.104  
Industry 3 (Manufacturing) 0.032  0.034  0.035  0.057  
Bahrain (-) 0.215 (a) 0.214 (a) 0.212 (a) 0.219 (a) 
Oman (+) 0.167 ++ 0.161 ++ 0.167 ++ 0.094 ++ 
Kuwait (+) 0.104 + 0.104 + 0.080 + -0.053 + 
Saudi Arabia (-) -0.051  0.051  0.057  -0.056  
Qatar (-) -0.139 + -0.142 + -0.146 + -0.111 + 
Year (1996) (-) -0.330 +++ -0.335 +++ -0.327 +++ -0.330 +++ 
Year (1997) (-) -0.351 +++ -0.354 +++ -0.337 +++ -0.354 +++ 
Year (1999) (-) -0.194 +++ -0.197 +++ -0.194 +++ -0.196 +++ 
Year (2000) (-) -0.168 ++ -0.170 ++ -0.168 ++ -0.171 +++ 
Constant -0.296  -0.300  0.281 *** 19.405 *** 
Adjusted R2 0.302  0.301  0.202  0.296  
F   12.180  12.110  7.477  11.784  
Prob. (F)  < 0.001  < 0.001  < 0.001  < 0.001  
No. of companies 137  137  137  137  
No. of Observations 409  409  409  409  

This table presents the results of regression models that examine the relationship between the level of compliance excluding NA and DK items — Log (OCIEX / (1 – OCIEX)) — and independent variables 
for the full sample. These models are based on the primary model. +++ t test (one-tailed) significant p < 0.01; ++ t test (one-tailed) significant p < 0.05; + t test (one-tailed) significant p < 0.10; *** t test (two-
tailed) significant p < 0.01. (a) Coefficient was statistically significant but had the opposite sign to that hypothesised. Company size was measured by log of market value of equity plus book value of debt; 
Leverage was the ratio of book value of total debt as a proportion of book value of total debt plus market value of equity; Liquidity was the ratio of current assets to current liabilities; Profitability was the ratio 
of earnings before taxes, Zakat and interest to total shareholders’ equity; Internationality was the percentage of foreign ownership (number of shares owned by foreign investors divided by total shares issued 
at year-end); Ownership diffusion was the percentage of institutional investor ownership (number of shares owned by institutional investors divided by total shares issued at year-end); Age was the number of 
years passed since foundation; Auditor was a dummy variable = 1 for companies audited by local audit firms with an international affiliation (Big Five) and 0 for companies audited by local audit firms 
without an international affiliation (non Big Five). The results for Industry 4 = services and for the UAE are captured in the constant term. Four dummy variables are included for the five years: the results for 
2002 are captured in the constant term.  

Table 7.11 (Continued) Ranked regression results: compliance with IASs – full sample 
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ranked dependent variable and ranked independent continuous variables were fitted in 

Model I Rank Dep and AllInd. As is often the case, the explanatory power of the rank 

regression models was lower than reported in Table F1. Prior studies of this nature also 

found that the results from ranked regressions were broadly similar to the original 

regressions (Wallace et al., 1994; Owusu-Ansah, 1998; Naser et al., 2002; Ali et al., 

2004).  

 

If we truncate (Winsorise) just the three outlier observations so that their absolute values 

equal the values generated from the lower and upper sigma values, the results for Model 

A Win Size1, based on the primary model, are unchanged (Table 7.12).  

 

If, instead, we censor the three outliers, the results are also the same (Model A Censor 

Size1, Table 7.10), although the explanatory power of the censored model (R2 (adj.) = 

0.341) is slightly lower than the corresponding model in Chapter Six (R2 (adj.) = 0.356).  

 

7.5 Summary 

The robustness tests reported in this chapter confirmed the key findings of Chapter Six. 

The level of mandatory compliance with IASs was related to size and internationality, and 

there were significant differences between industries and the majority of cases where 

differences were expected between countries. Only the significance of leverage was not 

confirmed. When leverage was based on the book value of equity, rather than its market 

value, there was no association between the level of compliance and leverage. This 

suggests that the market value of equity could be a better leverage measure. Finally, 

outliers were not driving these results.  

 

 

 

 154



Table  7.12: Winsorised and censored regression results: compliance with IASs – 
full sample 

Coefficients Independent variables 
(Expected sign)  A Win Size1  A Censor Size1  
Company size 1 (+) 0.095 +++ 0.092 +++ 
Leverage 1 (+) 0.133 ++ 0.128 ++ 
Liquidity (-) 0.001  0.001  
Profitability 1 (+) -0.054  -0.047  
Internationality 1 (+) 0.206 + 0.209 + 
Ownership diffusion (-) 0.210  0.199  
Age (+) 0.007  0.007  
Auditor (+) -0.027  -0.024  
Industry 1 (Bank and Invest) -0.030  -0.038  
Industry 2 (Insurance) 0.025  0.026  
Industry 3 (Manufacturing) 0.017  0.023  
Bahrain (-) 0.111 (a) 0.211 (a) 
Oman (+) 0.133 ++ 0.101 ++ 
Kuwait (+) 0.013 + 0.021 + 
Saudi Arabia (-) -0.016  -0.018  
Qatar (-) -0.158 + -0.158 + 
Year (1996) (-) -0.330 +++ -0.330 +++ 
Year (1997) (-) -0.351 +++ -0.351 +++ 
Year (1999) (-) -0.194 +++ -0.194 +++ 
Year (2000) (-) -0.168 ++ -0.168 ++ 
Constant -0.296  -0.243  
Adjusted R2 0.351  0.341  
F =  12.117  12.080  
Prob. (F)  < 0.001  < 0.001  
No. of companies 137  137  
No. of Observations 409  406  
This table presents the results of regression models that examine the relationship between the 
level of compliance excluding NA and DK items — Log (OCIEX / (1 –- OCIEX)) — and 
independent variables representing company attributes for the full sample.  
+++ t test (one-tailed) significant p < 0.01;  
++ t test (one-tailed) significant p < 0.05;  
+ t test (one-tailed) significant p < 0.10.  
(a) Coefficient was statistically significant but had the opposite sign to that hypothesised.  
Company size was measured by log of market value of equity plus book value of debt; Leverage 
was the ratio of book value of total debt as a proportion of book value of total debt plus market 
value of equity; Liquidity was the ratio of current assets to current liabilities; Profitability was the 
ratio of earnings before taxes, Zakat and interest to total shareholders’ equity; Internationality 
was the percentage of foreign ownership (number of shares owned by foreign investors divided 
by total shares issued at year-end); Ownership diffusion was the percentage of institutional 
investor ownership (number of shares owned by institutional investors divided by total shares 
issued at year-end); Age was the number of years passed since foundation; Auditor was a 
dummy variable = 1 for companies audited by local audit firms with an international affiliation (Big 
Five) and 0 for companies audited by local audit firms without an international affiliation (non Big 
Five). The results for Industry 4 = services and for the UAE are captured in the constant term. 
Four dummy variables are included for the five years: the results for 2002 are captured in the 
constant term.  
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Chapter 8: Conclusions 

8.0 Introduction 

This chapter summarises the main conclusions of the study. Section 8.1 summarises the 

findings and their implications, while Section 8.2 deals with the study’s limitations. 

Future research possibilities are set out in Section 8.3.   

8.1 Summary of Findings 

The aim of the study was to seek answers to three research questions:  

1. To what extent do companies listed on the stock exchanges of the GCC member states 

(namely, Bahrain, Oman, Kuwait, Saudi Arabia, Qatar and the UAE) comply with 

IASs?  

2. How has compliance changed over the period 1996 to 2002?  

3. What explains the differences in the extent of companies’ compliance?  

 

To measure the level of mandatory compliance with IASs, a compliance index was 

constructed. It comprised disclosure and measurement items from 14 IASs applicable to 

the GCC business environment during the sample period. They were IAS 1, 10, 14, 16, 

18, 21, 23, 24, 27, 28, 30, 32, 33 and 37. The selection of the years and companies 

investigated reflected when, and for which companies, IASs became mandatory in each 

state.  

 

To investigate factors likely to influence the extent of mandatory compliance, the study 

first examined the roles, responsibilities and practices of the monitoring and enforcement 

body in each member state, along with the role of the auditor in promoting compliance. 

Other related studies were also reviewed. The outcome was, in addition to a time trend, a 

set of ten variables; namely, a company’s country of origin, size, leverage, liquidity, 

profitability, auditor type, industry, internationality, ownership diffusion and age.  

 

The level of mandatory compliance (measurement and disclosure) with the 14 standards, 

averaged over all companies and all years, was 0.75. The level of disclosure compliance 

was 0.69 and measurement compliance was 0.81. The level of compliance averaged over 

all companies increased over time, from 0.68 in 1996 to 0.82 in 2002. This indicated that 
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compliance with IASs has been improving in the region; however, no company in any 

year within the period studied fully complied with all IAS requirements.  

 

The level of mandatory compliance with IASs differs between the GCC member states. 

The highest average compliance level over all years sampled was found in the UAE 

(0.80). This was followed by Saudi Arabia (0.78), Kuwait (0.75), Oman (0.74), Bahrain 

(0.73) and Qatar (0.70). With respect to disclosure compliance, the UAE and Saudi 

Arabia both averaged 0.75, followed by Kuwait (0.72), Qatar (0.69), and Bahrain and 

Oman (both 0.65). The highest level of measurement compliance was again in the UAE 

(0.85), Saudi Arabia (0.83), Bahrain and Oman (both 0.82), Kuwait (0.78) and Qatar 

(0.71).  

 

The only partial weak support for hypothesis H1 (that compliance is highest in Kuwait 

and Oman, followed by the UAE, Saudi Arabia, Bahrain and Qatar) could mean that the 

institutional differences discussed in Chapters Two and Four were overstated. Alternately, 

common cultural and other factors already captured in the control variables may have 

been too dominant to yield a clear result on all of the cross-country differences because 

the sample size was not large enough. That is, the number of companies in some states 

might be too small to detect a strong country effect. The level of compliance increased 

over time in every GCC member state, suggesting that each state individually was moving 

towards greater accounting harmonisation with IASs. These averages should be treated 

with caution, however, because they do not allow for differences in the composition of the 

sample for each state.  

 

The findings reveal that non-compliance was widespread and probably higher than in 

developed countries. The level of mandatory compliance with IAS disclosure and 

measurement requirements in each GCC member state for each year and for all years was 

lower than the level of even voluntary compliance with disclosure and measurement 

requirements in Australia (0.94; Tower et al., 1999). The level of mandatory disclosure 

compliance in the GCC member states for all years was also lower than companies listed 

on the Germany’s “Neuer Markt” (0.81; Glaum and Street, 2003), although it was higher 

in Kuwait, Saudi Arabia and the UAE in 2002. Mandatory disclosure compliance for all 

years in Bahrain, Oman, Kuwait and Qatar was lower than voluntary disclosure 

compliance in Switzerland 0.74. Mandatory measurement compliance in each GCC 
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member state for all years was also lower than voluntary measurement compliance in 

Switzerland 0.92 (Street and Gray, 2001).  

 

Taken at face value, these results suggest the mechanisms used by enforcement bodies in 

the GCC for monitoring compliance are inadequate. Possible reasons for this inadequacy 

are a lack of professional training and salaries insufficient to attract highly qualified 

accountants. Also, the enforcement bodies have other responsibilities. There may be a 

lack of commitment from governments, at a policy level, to enforcement.  

 

Despite the level of non-compliance and the responsibilities of auditors under the law, no 

action has been taken against an audit firm or member of the board of directors, or a 

manager, for violating an accounting regulation, except for two cases in Oman and one in 

Kuwait. This study also found that external auditors in the GCC member states reported a 

client company fully complied with all IASs even where that was clearly not the case. 

This must raise questions about the quality of auditing in the region.  

 

Only the enforcement bodies in Kuwait and Oman conducted proactive monitoring, as 

specified in their respective company laws. However, the level of mandatory compliance 

with IASs in Kuwait and Oman for all years is less than in the UAE and Saudi Arabia but 

higher than in Qatar and Bahrain. A possible explanation for this could be related to the 

fact that the level of compliance in the UAE and Saudi Arabia was measured for one 

sector only (banks and investment), while in Kuwait and Oman it was measured for other 

industries as well. Additionally, it is common practice in the UAE for banks to have three 

external auditors, and it is a requirement in Saudi Arabia to have two. The relatively high 

level of compliance in the UAE and Saudi Arabia also could be influenced by the higher 

level of auditing or training because the Ministry of Commerce in the UAE and the 

SOCPA in Saudi Arabia require auditors to undertake professional training programs.  

 

A closer look at changes in the level of compliance over time in each GCC member state 

indicated that compliance improved substantially in Kuwait and Oman from 1996 to 

1999, more so than in the other GCC member states. This could, at least partially, have 

resulted from the improved effectiveness of monitoring and enforcement in Kuwait and 

Oman, beginning in 1999. The UAE had a higher level of compliance than Saudi Arabia 

and Qatar, probably because its enforcement body is more active in compliance 

monitoring.  
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The level of mandatory compliance varied across standards. The highest average level of 

compliance for all years was 0.89 for IAS 18, and the lowest was 0.43 for IAS 37. The 

compliance level was highest for IASs 1, 16, 18, 23, 24, 27 and 30 (averaging more than 

0.80); whereas, it was lowest for IAS 14 and 37 (less than 0.50). Moderate compliance 

was found for IASs 10, 21, 28, 32 and 33 (more than 0.50 and less than 0.80). In general, 

the level of compliance increased from 1996 to 2002 for all standards, indicating that 

these states, collectively, were progressing towards achieving greater de facto 

harmonisation with IASs. A possible explanation for the higher level of compliance with 

IASs 1, 16, 18, 23, 24, 27 and 30 is that they are less difficult to implement when 

compared with IASs with requirements to disclose more proprietary information or those 

with more complicated requirements, such as IAS 14 and 37.  

 

For the GCC as a whole, the level of compliance with IASs exhibited a time trend and 

both within-country and within-industry effects. Furthermore, it increased with a 

company’s size, leverage and internationality. The GCC member states were divided into 

two groups, according to the nature of the companies’ activities because there could be 

significant differences between the two groups. Sub-sample 1 included countries 

requiring compliance by companies in all industries. Sub-sample 2 included countries 

requiring compliance only by banks and finance and investment companies. For sub-

sample 1 (Bahrain, Kuwait and Oman), the level of compliance with IASs exhibited a 

within-group effect and increased with a company’s size, leverage, age and 

internationality. For sub-sample 2 (Saudi Arabia, Qatar and the UAE), the level of 

compliance with IASs exhibited a within-group effect. It also increased with company 

size and declined with liquidity and the concentration of shares held by institutional 

investors. In each sub-sample, there were significant differences between years, 

suggesting other factors were changing over time, such as the effectiveness of the 

enforcement body and the comprehensiveness of the audit function.  

 

Significant differences existed between years for each country except Qatar. This result is 

consistent with the increasing influence of enforcement bodies and more comprehensive 

auditing over time. It is also consistent with growth in companies’ incentives to comply 

for other commercial reasons. There was some variation in the relative importance of the 

company attributes across the GCC member states. Size was the most influential factor in 

every state except Bahrain, while a company’s age contributed significant explanatory 
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power in Bahrain, Oman and Kuwait. Internationality and leverage were significant in 

Oman and Kuwait, while industry effects were found only in Kuwait. Profitability was 

positively related to the extent of compliance in Qatar, and liquidity was negatively 

associated with the level of compliance in Saudi Arabia. The remaining variables made no 

significant contribution in any state. These results suggest that the degree of influence of 

company attributes that are associated with compliance can differ between countries, even 

when these countries are from one region and have substantial economic and cultural ties.  

 

The significant differences observed in the level of mandatory compliance between the 

GCC member states are consistent with Tower et al. (1999), who also found significant 

differences among six Asia–Pacific countries: Australia, Hong Kong, Malaysia, the 

Philippines, Singapore and Thailand. It is also consistent with Street and Gray (2001), 

who found significant differences among seven groups of countries (Germany, France, 

Switzerland, other Western Europe, Africa, China, and the Middle East, former Soviet 

Block and “other countries”).  

 

The findings from this study are also consistent with Street and Gray (2001), who 

reported that the level of voluntary disclosure compliance differed by industry. However, 

they conflict with Tower et al. (1999), who found no association between voluntary 

compliance and size, leverage and industry. They also conflict with Street and Bryant 

(2000), who found size and industry were not associated with voluntary compliance for a 

sample of 17 mainly developed countries. The results are inconsistent, too, with Street 

and Gray (2001), who found size was not significant; whereas, appointment of a Big Five 

auditor was. Another inconsistency is with Glaum and Street (2003) who found, in 

Germany, that size was not significant, but a Big Five auditor was.  

 

These findings imply that the company attributes that explain within-sample variance in 

compliance with IASs can differ between developed and developing countries. In general, 

the level of compliance in developing countries is associated with size, leverage and 

internationality; whereas, auditor and cross-listing are the most important explanatory 

variables in developed countries.  

 

To summarise, the level of mandatory compliance with IASs has grown over time in each 

member state, but it remained lower than in developed countries. Moreover, the level of 

compliance differed by industry. A company’s size, leverage and internationality tended 
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to be positively associated with compliance. Size was the most influential in all states 

except Bahrain, while age contributed significant explanatory power in Bahrain, Oman 

and Kuwait. Internationality and leverage were significant in Oman and Kuwait. 

Profitability was positively related to the extent of compliance in Qatar, and liquidity was 

negatively associated with the level of compliance in Saudi Arabia. The remaining 

variables made no significant contribution.  

 

The results of this study have important implications for regulators and enforcement 

bodies. If they aim to ensure greater compliance with IASs, there is ample scope for 

further improvement. Penalties exist for those contravening the law, but the law needs to 

be enforced to maximise compliance. In the face of scarce resources, efforts might be 

more effective if they focused on monitoring companies that are smaller, operate locally 

and borrow proportionately less.  

 

The results of the study have implications for the regulators of the Gulf Co-Operation 

Council Accounting and Auditing Organization (GCCAAO) in their efforts to harmonise 

accounting standards. The findings provide the GCCAAO with potentially useful 

information about the degree of mandatory compliance with IASs and the attributes that 

are associated with higher compliance. This may help the GCCAAO to represent the 

region more effectively in the international standards-setting arena.  

 

This study also contains important lessons for international organisations interested in the 

diffusion of financial reporting standards in developing countries. It provides evidence for 

factors associated with different levels of compliance and shows how compliance has 

evolved over time. Lessons drawn from the GCC experience could be of interest to 

regulators interested in improving compliance with accounting standards and monitoring-

and-enforcement mechanisms elsewhere. This study of the GCC member states is also 

likely to benefit researchers interested in compliance with IASs in other parts of the 

world.  

8.2 Limitations 

Although this study provides some useful insights into the behaviour of listed companies 

in the GCC with respect to mandatory compliance with IASs, several limitations should 

be noted.  
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While companies from a range of industries were observed in Bahrain, Oman and Kuwait, 

only banks, and finance and investment companies were relevant in Saudi Arabia, Qatar 

and the UAE because other companies were not required to adopt IASs. This yielded a 

smaller sample size in these GCC member states, which made it more difficult to isolate 

between-country effects and to generalise the results to other companies and other 

industries.  

 

The present study was also restricted to companies listed on the GCC stock exchanges. 

Although the use of listed companies limits the generalisability of the results, there are 

major advantages. Data availability is clearly one. Another is that, from an investment 

perspective, the financial reporting behaviour of publicly listed companies is of major 

interest.  

 

Various regression models were used to test the hypotheses. Their explanatory power was 

less than complete, indicating that other significant explanatory variables were not 

captured in the analysis. The study attempted, though, to include all variables that could 

be justified, theoretically and empirically, and attempts were made to identify the most 

appropriate proxies. Some potential proxies could not be used as data were not available 

for them. For example, the proportion of shares owned by directors might be another 

useful proxy for ownership diffusion, but this information was not readily available for 

companies in the GCC member states. 

 

Although it was established that there were differences in the strength of enforcement 

among the GCC countries, no attempt was made to explore whether these differences 

were related to differences in environmental factors such as politics, economics and 

culture.  

 

Finally, the findings of this study, like those of any empirical investigation, might not be 

generalisable to other economies. The extent to which each country’s environment 

influences its accounting practices and compliance with accounting standards remains, to 

some extent, an open question.  
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8.3 Future Research 

Despite these limitations, the results might be interesting enough to warrant an extension 

to other settings. Investigating compliance with IASs and determining attributes that are 

associated with the extent of compliance in other countries could resolve some of the 

conflicting evidence and increase our confidence in the results.  

 

Future research could address some of the limitations of this study. For example, it would 

be interesting to investigate the extent of compliance by unlisted companies, where the 

nature of the reliance on accounting information can be quite different (Ball and 

Shivakumar, 2005). Similarly, the nature of compliance with IASs by smaller companies 

could be investigated more fully. The GCC regulators and the IASB are committed to 

promoting compliance with IASs by all types of company, and their efforts could benefit 

from this research.  

 

This study found that the level of enforcement was different among GCC member states. 

It has been suggested that, in developing countries, political, economic, and socio-cultural 

factors affect the strength of enforcement and, in turn, the level of corporate compliance 

with mandatory requirements (Saudagaran, 2004, p. 7). Further research could investigate 

such factors because they may have an impact on the spreading of IASs in the region. 

Several proxies have been provided already in the literature for political, economic and 

socio-cultural factors (Hofstede, 1980; Zarzeski, 1996; Archambault and Archambault, 

2003).  

 

Corporate governance issues have not been considered fully, although the board of 

directors is formally responsible for disclosure in the annual report (Gibbins et al., 1990). 

Other studies have provided evidence that the level of disclosure is influenced by 

corporate governance variables (Haniffa and Cooke, 2002). Similar studies could be done 

in the GCC member states. Two specific corporate governance variables relevant to the 

GCC setting are whether the company’s chairman of the board of directors, or other board 

members, are members of the royal family. If so, their presence could restrict a regulatory 

body’s ability to enforce compliance.  

 

This study also found that external auditors gave unqualified audit opinions when 

companies did not comply with all IAS requirements. This raises questions about the 

factors affecting, first, the quality and independence of auditors in the GCC member states 
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and, second, their role in promoting compliance with IASs and other regulations. Both 

issues could be examined in future research.  

 

Finally, the GCC member states have recently opened their share markets to foreign 

investors. Because circumstances change over time, this study could be followed up. 

Replications of this kind should enrich our understanding of the process by which 

international accounting standards are gaining increasing currency throughout the 

commercial world. 
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Appendix A: Data Collection: Enforcement Bodies 

A. Interviewee Names, Positions and Dates of Telephone Interviews 

Interviewee Position Date of interview 

Mr. Hameed Yousef Rahma Director of the Surveillance Department for 
Companies of the Ministry of Commerce 
and Industry in Bahrain 

23 September 2003 

Mr. Abdel Hameed Abdul 
Gaffar 

Head of the Financial Analysis and 
Information Unit of the Bahrain Stock 
Exchange (BSE) 

23 September 2003 

Mr. Ali Aysa Deputy Director of the Banking Control 
Department of the Bahrain Monetary 
Agency (de facto central bank) 

23 September 2003 

Ms. Nafisa Bint Jaffar Director of the Surveillance Department for 
Companies of the Ministry of Commerce 
and Industry in Oman 

24 September 2003 

Mr. Ahmed Seef Al-Qarshouby Director of the Surveillance Department of 
the Muscat Securities Market (MSM) in 
Oman 

24 September 2003 

Mr. Abdel Allah Al-Ereami Senior staff of the Banking Control 
Department of Oman Central Bank 

24 September 2003 

Ms. Ahed Shamlan Al-Hasawi Director of the Department of Companies 
Affairs of the Ministry of Commerce and 
Industry in Kuwait 

27 September 2003 

Mr. Samy Al-Mujel Director of the Surveillance Department of 
the Kuwait Stock Exchange (KSE) 

27 September 2003 

Ms. Manal Al-Aysa Senior staff of the Banking Control 
Department of the Kuwait Central Bank 

27 September 2003 

Mr. Ahmed Abdul Gadder Director of the Department of Companies 
Affairs of the Ministry of Commerce in 
Saudi Arabia 

28 September 2003 

Name not published by request 
of interviewee 

Staff of Banking Control Department of the 
Saudi Arabia Monetary Agency (SAMA) 
(de facto central bank) 

28 September 2003 

Mr. Abdel Salam Al-Emadi Assistant Director of the Banking Control 
Department of the Qatar Central Bank 

29 September 2003 

Mr. Abdel Allah Al-Emadi Member of the Board of Directors of the 
Doha Securities Market (DSM) and 
Director of the Department of Companies 
Affairs of the Ministry of Economy and 
Commerce in Qatar 

29 September 2003 

Name not published by request 
of interviewee 

Deputy Director of the Banking Control 
Department of the UAE Central Bank. 

2 October 2003 

Mr. Mohammad Ghanim Director of the Department of Listed 
Companies Compliance of the Dubai 
Financial Market (DFM) in the UAE 

2 October 2003 
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B. Telephone Interview Questions Asked 

The interviews were with the directors of surveillance departments for joint stock 

companies at the ministries of commerce, stock exchanges and the banking control 

department of the central banks in the Gulf Co-Operation Council (GCC) member states. 

The interview questions were prepared based on financial reporting requirements in each 

GCC member state. The questions were the same in each state except Qatar, the UAE and 

Saudi Arabia. For Bahrain, Oman and Kuwait, International Accounting Standards (IASs) 

are mandatory in all types of industry, and the Ministry of Commerce is responsible for 

monitoring and enforcing compliance. In the other states, IASs are only mandatory in 

banking and investment companies, and the central bank is responsible for monitoring 

and enforcing compliance. Furthermore, in Qatar and the UAE, other types of industry are 

not required to comply with IASs or any other set of accounting standards. In Saudi 

Arabia, other types of industry are required to comply with Saudi Accounting Standards 

(SASs).  

 

B1. Telephone Interview Questions: Bahrain, Oman and Kuwait 

The researcher began the interview with the Directors of Surveillance of the Department 

for Joint Stock Companies at the Ministries of Commerce in Bahrain, Kuwait and Oman 

with the following introduction:105

 

Good morning/Good afternoon/Good evening. 

 

My name is Bader Al-Shammari. I am a Kuwaiti citizen sponsored by the Kuwait 

government (College of Business Studies) towards a PhD degree in Accounting. I am 

undertaking my PhD study in the Department of Accounting and Finance at the 

University of Western Australia, and I am calling from Perth, Australia. As you know 

International Accounting Standards (IASs) are becoming increasingly popular around the 

globe. As a result I am researching the extent to which companies listed on the Gulf 

Cooperation Council (GCC) stock exchanges comply with IASs. In addition, I am 

investigating company attributes that explain the extent of compliance. I would greatly 

appreciate it if you could answer for me several questions in relation to the role of your 

Ministry of Commerce in monitoring, investigating and enforcing compliance by listed 

                                                 
105  Before conducting the interview, the researcher checked if he was talking to one of the Directors of 

Surveillance Department of the Ministry of Commerce.  
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companies with the IASs. Specifically, the questions relate to four issues: compliance 

monitoring, the nature of any enforcement activities, the outcome of this activity and the 

resources available for this purpose. 

 

My questions should take approximately 15 minute to answer.106 If it is not convenient 

for you to talk to me now and you would like me to call back later, please suggest when I 

should call. If you would like me to fax you the interview questions before we talk 

further, please give me your fax number and inform me when I should call you back. 

Your answers to my questions will be extremely valuable to my research project. If you 

would like me to send you a summary of my project when it is completed, please give me 

your email and/or postal address. 

 

Is it all right to start with the questions now? 

1. Are listed companies required to lodge their financial statements with the Ministry 

of Commerce? If no, then with which Ministry are listed companies required to 

lodge their financial statements, if at all? 

2. When did the Ministry of Commerce first require listed companies to comply with 

IASs? 

3. Does the Ministry check whether all listed companies comply with IASs? 

4. Please describe the Ministry’s approach to checking for compliance. 

5. In checking compliance, does the Ministry look for an overall statement of 

compliance with IASs in the accounting policies note to the financial statements? 

6. Does the Ministry check compliance by investigating a company’s compliance with 

every individual accounting standard? If no,   

 (a) Are any individual standards checked?  

  (b)  How are individual standards selected for checking compliance? 

7. Has the Ministry observed any non-compliance with IASs? If yes: 

 (a)  How many annual reports has the Ministry found do not comply?  

 (b)  What action if any was taken because of the non-compliance? 

                                                 
106 The confidentiality issue was not raised unless the interviewee wished to discuss it. 
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(c)  Was a penalty applied to the company, its directors or its external auditor, and 

if so, what was the penalty? 

8. Does the Ministry receive complaints about companies’ non-compliance with 

IASs? If yes: 

 (a)  How does the Ministry deal with the complaints? 

 (b)  How many complaints were received last year? 

(c)  As a result of the complaint, were any penalties applied to the company, its 

directors or its external auditor? 

 (d)  What penalties were applied? 

9. Are external auditors required to report non-compliance with IASs in their reports 

to the Ministry? If yes, are they penalised if they do not do so? 

10. How many staff members are engaged in compliance monitoring in your 

Department? 

11. Are they employed full-time? 

12. Do they hold a Bachelors degree in accounting? 

13. Do they have professional accounting qualifications such as CPA or CA? 

14. On average, how many years’ experience have the staff members had in compliance 

monitoring in your department? 

15. Do the department’s staff attend up-to-date training courses in IASs?  

16. If yes, how often are these training courses held? 

That’s all. And thank you once again for your great help. 

 

B2. Telephone Interview Questions: Qatar and the UAE  

The researcher will begin the interview with the directors of surveillance department for 

joint stock companies at the ministries of commerce in Qatar and UAE with the following 

introduction:107

 

Good morning/ Good afternoon/Good evening 

                                                 
107 Before conducting the interview, the researcher checked if he was talking to one of the Directors of 

surveillance Department at Ministry of Commerce.  
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My name is Bader Al-Shammari. I am a Kuwaiti citizen sponsored by the Kuwait 

government (College of Business Studies) towards a PhD degree in Accounting. I am 

undertaking my PhD study at the University of Western Australia and I am calling from 

Perth, Australia. As you know International Accounting Standards (IASs) are becoming 

increasingly popular around the globe. As a result, I am researching the extent to which 

companies listed on the Gulf Cooperation Council (GCC) stock exchanges employ IASs. 

In addition, I am investigating company attributes that explain the extent of compliance 

with IASs. I would greatly appreciate it if you could answer for me several questions in 

relation to the role of your Ministry of Commerce in monitoring, investigating and 

enforcing compliance by listed companies with the IASs. Specifically, the questions relate 

to four issues: compliance monitoring, the nature of any enforcement activities, the 

outcome of this activity and the resources available for this purpose. 

 

My questions should take approximately 15 minutes to answer.108 If it is not convenient 

for you to talk to me now and you would like me to call back later, please suggest when I 

should call. If you would like me to fax you the interview questions before we talk 

further, please give me your fax number and inform me when I should call you back. 

Your answers to my questions will be extremely valuable to my research project. If you 

would like me to send you a summary of my project when it is completed, please give me 

your email and/or postal address. 

 

Is it all right to start with the questions now? 

1. Are listed companies required to lodge their financial statements with the Ministry 

of Commerce? If no, then with which Ministry are listed companies required to 

lodge their financial statements, if at all? 

2. Does the Ministry of Commerce itself require listed companies to comply with 

IASs? 

 If yes, when did the Ministry first require listed companies to comply with IASs?  

 If no, then does the Ministry require listed companies to comply with a particular 

set of accounting standards? And if so with which set of accounting standards are 

listed companies required to comply?  

                                                 
108  The confidentiality issue was not raised unless the interviewee wished to discuss it. 
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3. When did the Ministry first require listed companies to comply with these 

standards? 

 If no particular set of accounting standards is required, does the Ministry check 

whether any identifiable set of standards was used by a listed company? 

4. If the Ministry checks which standards were used by a listed company, does the 

Ministry check whether the company complied fully with these standards? 

5. Please describe the Ministry’s approach to checking for compliance. 

6. In checking compliance, does the Ministry look for an overall statement of 

compliance with standards in the accounting policies note to the financial 

statements? 

7. Has the Ministry observed any non-compliance with standards? If yes, 

(a)  What percentage of the annual reports it has checked has the Ministry found 

do not comply?  

(b)  What action if any was taken because of the non-compliance? 

(c)  Was a penalty applied to the company, its directors or its external auditor, and 

if so, what was the penalty? 

8. Does the Ministry receive complaints about companies’ non-compliance with 

accounting standards? If yes: 

(a)  How does the Ministry deal with the complaints? 

(b)  How many complaints were received last year? 

(c)  As a result of the complaint, were any penalties applied to the company, its 

directors or its external auditor? 

(d)  What penalties were applied? 

9. Are external auditors required to report non-compliance with standards in their 

reports to the Ministry? If yes, are they penalised if they do not do so? 

10. How many staff members are engaged in compliance monitoring in your 

Department? 

11. Are they employed full-time? 

12. Do they hold a Bachelor degree in accounting? 

13. Do they have professional accounting qualifications such as CPA or CA? 
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14. On average, how many years’ experience have the staff members had in 

compliance monitoring in your Department? 

15. Do the department’s staff attend professional training courses in accounting 

standards (i.e. standards that listed companies use)? If yes, how often are these 

training courses held? 

That’s all. And thank you once again for your great help. 

 

B3.  Telephone Interview Questions: Saudi Arabia  

The researcher will begin the interview with the Director of surveillance Department for 

Joint Stock Companies at the Ministry of Commerce in Saudi Arabia with the following 

introduction:109

 

Good morning/Good afternoon/Good evening 

 

My name is Bader Al-Shammari. I am a Kuwaiti citizen sponsored by the Kuwait 

government (College of Business Studies) towards a PhD degree in Accounting. I am 

undertaking my PhD study at the University of Western Australia and I am calling from 

Perth, Australia. As you know International Accounting Standards (IASs) are becoming 

increasingly popular around the globe. As a result, I am researching the extent to which 

companies listed on the Gulf Cooperation Council (GCC) stock exchanges employ IASs. 

In addition, I am investigating company attributes that explain the extent of compliance 

with IASs. I would greatly appreciate it if you could answer for me several questions in 

relation to the role of your Ministry of Commerce in monitoring, investigating and 

enforcing compliance by listed companies with the IASs. Specifically, the questions relate 

to four issues: compliance monitoring, the nature of any enforcement activities, the 

outcome of this activity and the resources available for this purpose. 

 

My questions should take approximately 15 minutes to answer. Your confidence will be 

preserved in that your replies will not be attributed to you personally.110  If it is not 

convenient for you to talk to me now and you would like me to call back later, please 

suggest when I should call. If you would like me to fax you the interview questions before 

                                                 
109  Before conducting the interview, the researcher checked if he was talking to one of the Directors of 

Control Department at Ministry of Commerce.  
110  The confidentiality issue was not raised unless the interviewee wished to discuss it. 
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we talk further, please give me your fax number and inform me when I should call you 

back. Your answers to my questions will be extremely valuable to my research project. If 

you would like me to send you a summary of my project when it is completed, please give 

me your email and/or postal address. 

 

Is it all right to start with the questions now? 

1. Are listed companies required to lodge their financial statements with the Ministry 

of Commerce? If no, then with which Ministry are listed companies required to 

lodge their financial statements, if at all? 

2. When did the Ministry of Commerce first require listed companies to comply with 

Saudi Accounting Standards (SASs) or US GAAP? 

3. Does the Ministry also allow listed companies to comply with IASs? If yes, when 

did the Ministry first allow listed companies to comply with IASs? 

4. Does the Ministry check whether all listed companies comply with these 

standards (which should be specified by answers to questions 2 and 3)? 

5. Please describe the Ministry’s approach to checking for compliance. 

6. In checking compliance, does the Ministry look for an overall statement of 

compliance with standards in the accounting policies note to the financial 

statements? 

7. Does the Ministry check compliance by investigating a company’s compliance 

with every individual accounting standard? If no: 

(a) Are any individual standards checked?  

(b) How are individual standards selected for checking compliance? 

8. Has the Ministry observed any non-compliance with standards? If yes: 

(a) What percentage of the annual reports it has checked has the Ministry found 

do not comply?  

(b) What action if any was taken because of the non-compliance? 

(c) Was a penalty applied to the company, its directors or its external auditor, and 

if so, what was the penalty? 

9. Does the Ministry receive complaints about companies’ non-compliance with 

accounting standards? If yes: 
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(a)  How does the Ministry deal with the complaints? 

(b)  How many complaints were received last year? 

(c)  As a result of the complaint, were any penalties applied to the company, its 

directors or its external auditor? 

(d)  What penalties were applied? 

10. Are external auditors required to report non-compliance with standards in their 

reports to the Ministry? If yes, are they penalised if they do not do so? 

11. How many staff members are engaged in compliance monitoring in your 

Department? 

12. Are they employed full-time? 

13. Do they hold a Bachelor degree in accounting? 

14. Do they have professional accounting qualifications such as CPA or CA? 

15. On average, how many years’ experience have the staff members had in 

compliance monitoring in your Department? 

16. Do the department’s staff attend professional training courses in accounting 

standards? 

That’s all. And thank you once again for your great help. 
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Appendix B: Data Collection: Annual Reports 

This is the English version of the letter addressed to the general manager or chief 

executive officer of companies listed on the GCC stock exchanges to request a copy of 

their annual reports. 

 
Bader Al-Shammari 
Accounting and Finance M250 
The University of Western Australia 
35 Stirling Highway 
Crawley WA 6009 
Australia 
 
10/10/2003 

 
Dear Mr./Ms. General Manager, 
 

I am a Kuwaiti citizen sponsored by the Kuwait government (the Public Authority for Applied 
Education and Training-College of Business Studies) towards a Doctoral degree in Accounting. I 
am undertaking my Doctoral degree at the University of Western Australia.  
 
As you probably know, International Accounting Standards (IASs; recently known as 
International Financial Accounting Standards, or IFRSs) are becoming increasingly popular 
around the globe. My research project investigates the extent to which companies listed on the 
Gulf Cooperation Council (GCC) stock exchanges comply with IASs, and examines the 
relationship between company characteristics and the extent of compliance. Since your company 
is listed on one of the GCC stock exchanges, it is included in my study. I request your help in 
obtaining your company’s published annual reports for 1996, 1999 and 2002. These published 
annual reports are extremely important and the backbone of the information for my research. I 
would greatly appreciate it if you could mail me the English language version of your company’s 
1996, 1999 and 2002 annual reports as soon as possible. Upon completion of this research project, 
I will be pleased to mail you a summary of my results.  
 
Please send the annual reports by airmail to me at the above address. An adhesive label is included 
to make it easier for you. 
 
Thank you for your assistance in advance. 
 
 
Sincerely yours, 
 
(signed) 
 
Bader Al-Shammari 
Telefax ++618 9345 1324 
Email: bal-sham@student.ecel.uwa.edu.au
 
PhD supervisors: 
 
(signed)                                                                                               (signed) 
 
Professor Philip Brown      Dr. Ann Tarca 
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Appendix C: Sample Companies 

Table C1: Names of Companies, Industry and Country of Incorporation: 

Bahrain 

Al Ahlia Insurance Company Insurance 

Arab Banking Corporation Banking and Investment 

Arab Insurance Group Insurance 

Bahrain Car Parks Company Services 

Bahrain Cinema Company Services 

Bahrain Commercial Facilities Company Banking and Investment 

Bahrain Family Leisure Company Services 

Bahrain Flour Mills Company Manufacturing 

Bahrain Hotels Company Services 

Bahrain Kuwait Insurance Company Insurance 

Bahrain Maritime and Mercantile International Company Services 

Bahrain Ship Repairing and Engineering Company Services 

Bahrain Telecommunication Company Services 

Bahrain Tourism Company Services 

Bahraini Saudi Bank Banking and Investment 

Bank of Bahrain and Kuwait Banking and Investment 

Delmon Poultry Company Manufacturing 

General Trading and Food Products Company Services 

Investcorp Banking and Investment 

National Bank of Bahrain Banking and Investment 

National Imports and Exports Company Services 

National Hotels Company Services 

Taib Bank Banking and Investment 

United Gulf Bank Banking and Investment 

United Gulf Industries Corporation Banking and Investment 

Oman 

Al Amal Industrial Company Manufacturing 

Al Buraimi Hotel Company Services 

Areej Vegetable Oils and Derivatives Company Manufacturing 

Bank Muscat Banking and Investment 

Computer Stationary Industry Company Manufacturing 

Construction Materials Industrial Company Manufacturing 

Dhofar Beverages and Foodstuff Company  Manufacturing 

Dhofar Cattle Feed Company Manufacturing 

Dhofar Insurance Company Insurance 
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Dhofar International Development and Investment Holding Banking and Investment 

Dhofar Tourism Company Services 

Financial Services Company Banking and Investment 

Gulf Hotels Company Services 

Interior Hotels Company Services 

Muscat Finance Company Banking and Investment 

Muscat Gases Company Manufacturing 

National Aluminium Products Company Manufacturing 

National Bank of Oman Banking and Investment 

National Beverages Company Manufacturing 

National Biscuit Industrial Company Manufacturing 

National Detergent Company Manufacturing 

National Gas Company  Manufacturing 

National Mineral Water Company  Manufacturing 

Oman and Emirates Investment Holding Company Banking and Investment 

Oman Aviation Services Company Services 

Oman Cables Industry Company Manufacturing 

Oman Cement Company Manufacturing 

Oman Chromite Company Manufacturing 

Oman Fisheries Company Manufacturing 

Oman Flour Mills Company Manufacturing 

Oman Hotels and Tourism Company Services 

Oman International Bank Banking and Investment 

Oman International Development and Investment Holding 
Company 

Banking and Investment 

Oman National Dairy Products Company Manufacturing 

Oman National Electric Company Services 

Oman Orix Leasing Company Services 

Oman Refreshment Limited Company Manufacturing 

Oman Textile Mills Company Manufacturing 

Oman Water Pumps Manufacturing Company Manufacturing 

Port Services Company Services 

Raysut Cement Company Manufacturing 

Reem Batteries and Power Appliances Company Manufacturing 

United Energy Company Manufacturing 

Kuwait 

Al Ahli Bank of Kuwait Banking and Investment 

Al Ahli Investment Company Banking and Investment 

Bank of Kuwait and Middle East  Banking and Investment 

Burgan Bank Banking and Investment 
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Coast Investment Development Company  Banking and Investment 

Commercial Bank of Kuwait Banking and Investment 

Commercial Facilities Company  Banking and Investment 

Gulf Bank Banking and Investment 

Gulf Cable and Electrical Company Manufacturing 

Gulf Insurance Company Insurance 

Independent Petroleum Group Company Services 

Industrial Investments Company Banking and Investment 

International Financial Advisers Company Banking and Investment 

International Murabaha Company  Banking and Investment 

Kuwait Cement Company Insurance 

Kuwait Commercial Markets Complex Company  Services 

Kuwait Computer Company Services 

Kuwait Contacting and Marine Company Manufacturing 

Kuwait Establishment for Educational Services Company Services 

Kuwait Food Company Manufacturing 

Kuwait Hotels Company Services 

Kuwait Insurance Company Insurance 

Kuwait Investment Company Banking and Investment 

Kuwait Investment Projects Company  Banking and Investment 

Kuwait Metal Collecting Company Manufacturing 

Kuwait Metal Pipe Industries Company Manufacturing 

Kuwait National Cinema Company Services 

Kuwait Portland Cement Company Manufacturing 

Kuwait Real Estate Bank Banking and Investment 

Kuwait Real Estate Company Services 

Kuwait Shipbuilding Company Manufacturing 

Kuwait United Poultry Company Manufacturing 

Livestock Transport and Trading Company Manufacturing 

Mobil Telecommunication Company Services 

National Bank of Kuwait Banking and Investment 

National Cleaning Company Services 

National Industries Company Manufacturing 

National Investments Company Banking and Investment 

National Real Estate Company Services 

Pearl of Kuwait Real Estate Company Services 

Public Warehousing Company Services 

Refrigeration Industries Company Manufacturing 

Salhia Real Estate Company Services 

Securities Group Company Banking and Investment 

Securities House Company Banking and Investment 
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Shuaiba Paper Products Company Manufacturing 

Tamdeen Real Estate Company Services 

United Fisheries of Kuwait Manufacturing 

United Real Estate Company Services 

Warba Insurance Company Insurance 

Saudi Arabia 

Arab National Bank Banking and Investment 

Riyadh Bank Banking and Investment 

Saudi American Bank Banking and Investment 

Saudi British Bank Banking and Investment 

Saudi French Bank Banking and Investment 

Saudi Investment Bank Banking and Investment 

Qatar 

Al-Ahli Bank of Qatar Banking and Investment 

Commercial bank of Qatar Banking and Investment 

Doha Bank Banking and Investment 

Qatar National bank  Banking and Investment 

The United Arab Emirates (UAE) 

Abu Dhabi Commercial Bank Banking and Investment 

Arabian General Investment Company Banking and Investment 

Dubai Investment Company Banking and Investment 

Emirates Bank International Banking and Investment 

Mashreq Bank Banking and Investment 

National Bank of Abu Dhabi Banking and Investment 

National Bank of Dubai Banking and Investment 

First Gulf Bank Banking and Investment 

Union National Bank Banking and Investment 
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Appendix D: IASs and Effective Dates. 

Table D1: International Accounting Standards (IASs), their effective date and 

whether they are included in the compliance index.  

Standard Title Effective 
Date 

Included in 
compliance 

index 
Disclosure of Accounting Policies 1 Jan 1975 YES IAS 1 
Presentation of Financial Statements 1 July 1998 YES 

IAS 2 Inventories 1 Jan 1995 NO 
IAS 7 Cash Flow Statements Jan 1994 NO 
IAS 8 Net Profit or Loss for the Period, Fundamental Errors and 

Changes in Accounting Policies 
1 Jan 1995 NO 

Contingencies and Events Occurring After the Balance 
Sheet Date 

1 Jan 1980 YES IAS 10  

Events After the Balance Sheet Date 1 Jan 2000 YES 
IAS 11 Construction Contracts 1 Jan 1995 NO 

Accounting for Taxes on Income 1 Jan 1981 NO IAS 12 
Income Taxes 1 Jan 1998 NO 
Reporting Financial Information by Segment 1 Jan 1983 YES IAS 14 
Segment Reporting 1 July 1998 YES 

IAS 15 Information Reflecting the Effects of Changing Prices 1 Jan 1983 NO 
IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment 1 Jan 1995 YES 

Accounting for Leases 1 Jan 1984 NO IAS 17 
Leases 1 Jan 1999 NO 

IAS 18 Revenue 1 Jan 1995 YES 
IAS 19 Employee Benefits 1 Jan 1995 NO 
IAS 20 Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of 

Government Assistance 
1 Jan 1984 NO 

IAS 21 The effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates 1 Jan 1995 YES 
Accounting for Business Combinations 1 Jan 1985 NO IAS 22 
Business Combinations 1 July 1999 NO 

IAS 23 Borrowing Costs 1 Jan 1995 YES 
IAS 24 Related party disclosures Jan 1986 YES 
IAS 26 Accounting and Reporting by Retirement Benefit Plans 1 Jan 1988 NO 
IAS 27 Consolidated Financial Statements and Accounting for 

Investments in Subsidiaries 
1 Jan 1990 YES 

IAS 28 Accounting for Investments in Associates 1 Jan 1990 YES 
IAS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies 1 Jan 1990 NO 
IAS 30 Disclosures in the Financial Statements of Banks and 

Similar Financial Institutions 
1 Jan 1991 YES 

IAS 31 Financial Reporting of Interests in Joint Ventures 1 Jan 1992 NO 
IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation 1 Jan 1996 YES 
IAS 33 Earnings Per Share 1 Jan 1998 YES 
IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting 1 Jan 1999 NO 
IAS 35 Discontinuing Operations 1 Jan 1999 NO 
IAS 36 Impairment of Assets 1 July 1999 NO 
IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 1 July 1999 YES 
IAS 38 Intangible Assets 1 July 1999 NO 
IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement 1 Jan 2001 NO 
IAS 40 Investment Property 1 Jan, 2001 NO 
 



Appendix E: IASs Compliance Checklist  

Table E1: IAS compliance checklist incorporating IAS 1, 2, 7, 8, 10, 14, 16, 18, 21, 23, 24, 27, 28, 30, 32, 33, 36 and 37. 

Standard 
(Effective date) 
Annual reports 
included 

Requirement Source of 
information 

IAS 1 Disclosure 
of Accounting 
Policies 
(Jan 1, 1975) 
1996 and 1997 
 

DISCLOSURE 
1- The disclosure of the significant accounting policies used should be as integral part of the financial statements. 
2- The policies should be disclosed in one place. 

 
Para. 19 
Para. 19 
 

IAS 1  
Presentation of 
Financial 
Statements 
(July 1, 1998) 
1999, 2000 and 
2002 

DISCLOSURE 
1- An enterprise should prepare financial statements including balance sheet. 
2- An enterprise should prepare financial statements including income statement. 
3- An enterprise should prepare financial statements including changes in equity statement. 
4- An enterprise should prepare financial statements including cash flow statement. 
5- An enterprise should prepare financial statements including accounting policies and explanatory notes. 
6- An enterprise whose financial statements comply with International Accounting Standards should disclose that fact. 
7- An enterprise should disclose if any standards have been adopted by the reporting entity before the effective date. 
8- An enterprise should disclose comparative information in respect of the previous period for all numerical information in the financial 
statements. 
9- Comparative information should be included in narrative and descriptive information when it is relevant to an understanding of the current 
period’s financial statements. 
10- When the presentation or classification of items in the financial statements is amended, comparative amounts should be reclassified, unless 
it is impracticable to do so, to ensure comparability with the current period, and the nature, amount of, and reason for, any reclassification 
should be disclosed. 
11- An enterprise should disclose its name. 
12- An enterprise should disclose whether the financial statements cover the individual enterprise or a group of enterprises. 
13- An enterprise should disclose the balance sheet date or the period covered by the financial statements. 
14- An enterprise should disclose the reporting currency. 
15- An enterprise should disclose the level of precision (e.g. thousands or millions of units of the reporting currency). 
16- An enterprise should present assets and liabilities in order of their liquidity. 
17- An enterprise should disclose the number of shares authorized, either on the face of the balance sheet or in the notes to the financial 
statements. 

 
Para. 7 (a) 
Para. 7 (b) 
Para. 7 (c) 
Para. 7 (d) 
Para. 7 (e) 
Para. 11 
Para. 19 
Para. 38 
 
Para. 38 
 
Para. 40 
 
 
Para. 46 (a) 
Para. 46 (b) 
Para. 46 (c) 
Para. 46 (d) 
Para. 46 (e) 
Para. 53 
Para. 74 a (i) 
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Standard 
(Effective date) 
Annual reports 
included 

Requirement Source of 
information 

18- An enterprise should disclose the number of shares issued and fully paid, and issued but not fully paid, either on the face of the balance 
sheet or in the notes to the financial statements. 
19- An enterprise should disclose par value per share, or that the shares have no par value, either on the face of the balance sheet or in the 
notes to the financial statements. 
20- An enterprise should disclose a reconciliation of the number of shares outstanding at the beginning and at the end of the year, either on the 
face of the balance sheet or in the notes to the financial statements. 
21 An enterprise should disclose shares in the enterprise held by the enterprise itself or by subsidiaries or associates of the enterprise, either on 
the face of the balance sheet or in the notes to the financial statements. 
22- An enterprise should disclose a description of the nature and purpose of each reserve within owners’ equity, either on the face of the 
balance sheet or in the notes to the financial statements. 
23- An enterprise should disclose the amount of dividends that were proposed or declared after the balance sheet date either on the face of the 
balance sheet as a separate component of equity or in the notes of the financial statements. 
24- An enterprise should disclose either on the face of the income statement or in the notes to the income statement, an analysis of expenses 
using a classification based on either the nature of expenses or their function within the enterprise. 
25- Enterprise classifying expenses by function should disclose additional information on the nature of expenses, including deprecation 
expenses and staff costs. 
26- An enterprise should disclose, either on the face of the income statement or in the notes, the amount of dividends per share, declared or 
proposed, for the period covered by the financial statements. 
27- Each item on the face of the balance sheet, income statement and cash flow statement should be cross-referenced to any related 
information in the notes. 
28- The accounting policies section of the notes to the financial statements should describe the measurement basis used in preparing the 
financial statements. 
29- An enterprise should disclose its domicile. 
30- An enterprise should disclose its legal form. 
31- An enterprise should disclose its country of incorporation. 
32- An enterprise should disclose its address of registered office. 
33- An enterprise should disclose a description of the nature of its operations and its principal activities. 
34- An enterprise should disclose the name of the parent enterprise and the ultimate parent enterprise of the group. 
35- An enterprise should disclose either the number of employees at the end of the period or the average for the period. 
 

 
Para. 74 a (ii) 
 
Para. 74 a (iii) 
 
Para. 74 a (iv) 
 
Para. 74 a (v) 
 
Para. 74 (b) 
 
Para. 74 (c) 
 
Para. 77 
Para. 83 
 
Para. 85 
 
Para. 92 
 
Para. 91 & 97 (a) 
Para. 102 (a) 
Para. 102 (a) 
Para. 102 (a) 
Para. 102 (a) 
Para. 102 (b) 
Para. 102 (c) 
Para. 102 (d) 

IAS 10 
Contingencies and 
Events Occurring 
After the Balance 
Sheet Date 

MEASUREMENT 
1- The existence of a contingent loss should be recognized as expense and a liability in the financial statements if either (a) it is probable that 
future events will confirm that; or (b) a reasonable estimate of the amount of the resulting loss can be made. 
2- Contingent gains should not be recognized as income or as an asset in financial statements. 
3- Assets and liabilities should be adjusted for events occurring after the balance sheet date that provide additional evidence to assist with the 

 
Para. 8  
 
Para. 16 
Para. 25 
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Standard 
(Effective date) 
Annual reports 
included 

Requirement Source of 
information 

(Jan 1, 1980) 
1996, 1997 and 
1999 
 

estimation of amounts relating to conditions existing at the balance sheet date. 
4- Assets and liabilities should not be adjusted for, but disclosure should be made of, those events occurring after the balance sheet date that 
do not affect the condition of assets or liabilities at the balance sheet date, but are of such importance that non-disclosure would affect the ability 
of the users of the financial statements to make proper evaluations and decisions. 
DISCLOSURE 
1- The existence of a contingent loss should be disclosed in the financial statements if either of the above conditions is not met. 
2- The existence of contingent gains should be disclosed if it is probable that the gain will be realized. 
3- An enterprise should disclose the nature of the contingency. 
4- An enterprise should disclose the uncertain factors that may affect the future outcome. 
5- An enterprise should disclose an estimate of the financial effect, or a statement that such as estimate cannot be made. 
6- An enterprise should disclose the nature of events occurring after the balance sheet date that do not affect the condition of assets or liabilities 
at the balance sheet date, but are of such importance that non-disclosure would affect the ability of the users of the financial statements to 
make proper evaluations and decisions. 
7- An enterprise should disclose an estimate of the financial effect of such event, or a statement that such an estimate cannot be made. 
 

 
Para. 9 
 
 
 
Para. 16 
Para. 22 (a) 
Para. 22 (b) 
Para. 22 (c) 
Para. 28 
Para. 33 (a) 
 
 
Para. 33 (b) 
 

IAS 10 
Events After the 
Balance Sheet 
Date 
(Jan 1, 2000) 
2000 and 2002 

MEASUREMENT 
1- An enterprise should adjust the amounts recognized in its financial statements to reflect adjusting events after the balance sheet date. 
2- An enterprise should not adjust the amount recognized in its financial statements to reflect non-adjusting events after the balance sheet date. 
DISCLOSURE 
1- An enterprise should disclose the date when the financial statements were authorized for issue. 
2- An enterprise should disclose the body who gave the authorization of issuing the financial statements. 
3- An enterprise should disclose the fact if shareholders or others have the power to amend the financial statements after issuance. 
4- Where non-adjusting events occurring after the balance sheet date do not affect the condition of assets or liabilities at the balance sheet date 
but are of such importance that non-disclosure would affect the ability of the users of financial statements to make proper evaluations and 
decisions, an enterprise should disclose the nature of the event. 
5- Where non-adjusting events occurring after the balance sheet date do not affect the condition of assets or liabilities at the balance sheet date 
but are of such importance that non-disclosure would affect the ability of the users of financial statements to make proper evaluations and 
decisions, an enterprise should disclose an estimate of its financial effect, or a statement that such an estimate cannot be made. 
 

 
Para. 7 
Para. 9 
 
Para. 16 
Para. 16 
Para. 16 
Para. 20 
 
 
Para. 20 

IAS 14 Reporting 
Financial 
Information by 
Segment 
(Jan 1, 1983) 

DISCLOSURE 
1- An enterprise should present segment industry and geographical segments. 
2- An enterprise should disclose the activities of each reported industry segment. 
3- An enterprise should disclose the composition of each reported geographical area. 
4- For each reported industry and geographical segment, an enterprise should disclose sales or other operating revenues. 

 
Para. 2 
Para. 9 
Para. 9 
Para. 16 (a) 
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Standard 
(Effective date) 
Annual reports 
included 

Requirement Source of 
information 

1996 and 1997 5- For each reported industry and geographical segment, an enterprise should disclose revenue derived from customers outside the enterprise 
and revenue derived from other segments separately. 
6- For each reported industry and geographical segment, an enterprise should disclose segment results. 
7- For each reported industry and geographical segment, an enterprise should disclose segment assets employed, expressed either in money 
amounts or as percentage of the consolidated total. 
8- For each reported industry and geographical segment, an enterprise should disclose the basis of inter-segment pricing. 
9- An enterprise should disclose reconciliation between the sum of the information on individual segments and the aggregated information in the 
financial statements. 
10- Changes in identification of segments should be disclosed. 
11- An enterprise should disclose changes in accounting practices used in reporting segment information, which have a material effect on the 
segment information. 
12- An enterprise should disclose a description of the nature of the change. 
13- An enterprise should disclose an explanation of the reasons for the change. 
14- An enterprise should disclose the effect of the change, if it can be determinable. 
 

Para. 16 (b) 
 
Para. 16 (c) 
Para. 16 (d) 
 
Para. 21 
Para. 24 
 
Para. 24 
Para. 24 
 
Para. 24 
Para. 24 
Para. 24 

IAS 14 Segment 
Reporting 
(July 1, 1998) 
1999, 2000 and 
2002 

DISCLOSURE 
1- For each reportable segment in the enterprise’s primary segment reporting format, an enterprise should disclose segment revenue. 
2- For each reportable segment in the enterprise’s primary segment reporting format, an enterprise should disclose segment results. 
3- For each reportable segment in the enterprise’s primary segment reporting format, an enterprise should disclose total carrying amount of 
segment assets. 
4- For each reportable segment in the enterprise’s primary segment reporting format, an enterprise should disclose segment liabilities. 
5- For each reportable segment in the enterprise’s primary segment reporting format, an enterprise should disclose capital expenditure on 
property, plant and equipment. 
6- For each reportable segment in the enterprise’s primary segment reporting format, an enterprise should disclose depreciation expense. 
7- For each reportable segment in the enterprise’s primary segment reporting format, an enterprise should disclose total amount of significant 
non-cash expenses other than depreciation. 
8- An enterprise should disclose, for each reportable segment, the aggregate of the enterprise’s share of the net profit or loss of associates, 
joint ventures, or other investments accounted for under the equity method if substantially all of those associates’ operations are within that 
single segment. 
9- A reconciliation between segment revenue and enterprise revenue should be disclosed. 
10- A reconciliation between segment results and a comparable measure of enterprise operating profit or loss as well as to enterprise net profit 
or loss should be disclosed. 
11- A reconciliation between segment assets and an enterprise’s assets should be disclosed. 
12- A reconciliation between segment liabilities and an enterprise’s liabilities should be disclosed. 
13- If an enterprise’s primary format for reporting segment information is business segment, an enterprise should also report segment revenue 

 
Para. 51 
Para. 52 
Para. 55 
 
Para. 56 
Para. 57 
 
Para. 58 
Para. 61 
 
Para. 64 
 
 
Para. 67  
Para. 67  
 
Para. 67  
Para. 67  
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Standard 
(Effective date) 
Annual reports 
included 

Requirement Source of 
information 

from external customers, by geographical area, based on the geographical location of its customers, for each geographical segment whose 
revenue from sales to external customers is 10 percent or more of the total enterprise revenue from sales to all external customers. 
14- If an enterprise’s primary format for reporting segment information is business segment, an enterprise should also report the total carrying 
amount of segment assets, by geographical location of assets, for each geographical segment whose segment assets are 10 percent or more 
of the total assets of all geographical segments. 
15- If an enterprise’s primary format for reporting segment information is business segment, an enterprise should also report the total cost 
incurred during the period to acquire segment assets that are expected to be used during more than one period, by geographical location of 
assets, for each geographical segment whose segment assets are 10 percent or more of the total assets of all geographical segments. 
13- If an enterprise’s primary format for reporting segment information is geographical segments, an enterprise should also report segment 
revenue from external customers for each business segment whose revenue from sales to external customers is 10 percent or more of total 
enterprise revenue from sales to all external customers or whose segment assets are 10 percent or more of the total assets of all business 
segments. 
14- If an enterprise’s primary format for reporting segment information is geographical segments, an enterprise should also report the total 
carrying amount of segment assets for each business segment whose revenue from sales to external customers is 10 percent or more of total 
enterprise revenue from sales to all external customers or whose segment assets are 10 percent or more of the total assets of all business 
segments. 
15- If an enterprise’s primary format for reporting segment information is geographical segments, an enterprise should also report the total cost 
incurred during the period to acquire segment assets that are expected to be used during more than one period for each business segment 
whose revenue from sales to external customers is 10 percent or more of total enterprise revenue from sales to all external customers or whose 
segment assets are 10 percent or more of the total assets of all business segments. 
16- The basis of pricing inter-segment transfers should be disclosed. 
17- Any changes in the basis of pricing inter-segment transfers should be disclosed. 
18- Changes in accounting policies adopted for segment reporting that have a material effect on segment information should be disclosed. 
19- A description of the nature of the change in accounting policies should be disclosed. 
20- The reasons for the change in accounting policies should be disclosed. 
21- An enterprise should disclose the fact the comparative information has been restated or that it is impracticable to do so. 
22- An enterprise should disclose the types of products and services included in each reported business segment. 
23- An enterprise should disclose the composition of each reported geographical segment. 
 

Para. 69 (a) 
 
 
 
Para. 69 (b) 
 
 
Para. 69 (c) 
 
 
Para. 70 (a) 
 
 
 
Para. 70 (b) 
 
 
 
Para. 70 (c) 
Para. 75 
Para. 75 
Para. 76 
Para. 76 
Para. 76 
Para. 76 
Para. 81 
Para. 81 

IAS 16 Property, 
Plant & Equipment 
(Jan 1, 1995) 
1996, 1997, 1999, 
2000 and 2002 

MEASUREMENT 
1- Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, an item of property, plant and equipment (PPE) should be carried at its cost less any 
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses (benchmark treatment). 
2- Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, an item of PPE should be carried at a revalued amount, being its fair value at the date of the 
revaluation, less any accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses (allowed alternative treatment). 
3- Revaluation should be made with sufficient regularity such that the carrying amount does not differ materially from that which would be 

 
Para. 28 
 
Para. 29 
 
Para. 29 
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Standard 
(Effective date) 
Annual reports 
included 

Requirement Source of 
information 

determined using fair value at the balance sheet date. 
4- When an item of PPE is revalued, the entire class of PPE to which that asset belongs should be revalued. 
5- When an asset is revalued, any increase in the carrying amount arising on revaluation is credited directly to equity under the revaluation 
reserve, except to the extent that a revaluation increase merely restores the carrying amount of an asset to its original cost, whereby it is 
recognized as income. 
6- When an asset’s carrying amount is decreased as a result of a revaluation, the decrease should be recognized as an expense, However, a 
revaluation decrease should be charged directly against any related revaluation surplus to the extent that the decrease does not exceed the 
amount held in the revaluation surplus in respect of that same asset. 
7- The depreciable amount of an item of PPE should be allocated on a systematic basis over its useful life. 
8- The useful life of an item of PPE should be reviewed periodically and, if expectations are significantly different from previous estimates, the 
deprecation charge for the current and future periods should be adjusted. 
DISCLOSURE 
1- Land and buildings should be disclosed separately. 
2- The measurement basis used for determining the gross carrying amount should be disclosed. 
3- The depreciation methods used for each class of asset should be disclosed. 
4- The useful lives or the deprecation rates used for each class of asset should be disclosed. 
5- For each class of PPE, the gross carrying amount and the accumulated depreciation (including accumulated impairment losses) at the 
beginning and end of the period should be disclosed. 
6- An enterprise should disclose a reconciliation of the carrying amount at the beginning and end of the period showing any additions; disposals; 
increases or decreases during the period resulting from revaluations and from impairment losses recognized or reversed directly in equity; 
impairment losses recognized in the income statement during the period; impairment losses reversed in the income statement during the 
period; depreciation; the net exchange differences arising on the translation of the financial statements of a foreign entity; and other movements 
7- An enterprise should disclose the amounts of PPE pledged as security for liabilities. 
8- An enterprise should disclose the accounting policy for the estimated costs of restoring the site of items of PPE. 
9- An enterprise should disclose the amount of expenditures on account of PPE in the course of construction. 
10- An enterprise should disclose the amount of commitments for the acquisition of PPE. 
11- For PPE stated at revalued amounts, an enterprise should disclose the basis used to revalue the assets (for example, market value, 
replacement cost). 
12- For PPE stated at revalued amounts, an enterprise should disclose the effective date of the revaluation. 
13- For PPE stated at revalued amounts, an enterprise should disclose whether an independent valuer was involved. 
14- For PPE stated at revalued amounts, an enterprise should disclose the nature of any indices used to determine the replacement cost. 
15- For PPE stated at revalued amounts, an enterprise should disclose the carrying amount of each class of PPE that would have been 
included in the financial statements had the assets been carried under the benchmark treatment. 
16- For PPE stated at revalued amounts, an enterprise should disclose the revaluation surplus, indicating the movement for the period and any 
restrictions on the distribution of the balance to shareholders. 

 
Para. 34 
Para. 37  
 
 
Para. 38 
 
 
Para. 41 
Para. 49 
 
 
Para. 45 
Para. 60 (a) 
Para. 60 (b) 
Para. 60 (c) 
Para. 60 (d) 
 
Para. 60 (e) 
 
 
Para. 61 (a) 
Para. 61 (b) 
Para. 61 (c) 
Para. 61 (d) 
Para. 64 (a) 
 
Para. 64 (b) 
Para. 64 (c) 
Para. 64 (d) 
Para. 64 (e) 
 
Para. 64 (f) 
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Standard 
(Effective date) 
Annual reports 
included 

Requirement Source of 
information 

IAS 18 Revenue 
(Jan 1, 1995) 
1996, 1997, 1999, 
2000 and 2002 

DISCLOSURE 
1- An enterprise should disclose the accounting policies adopted for the recognition of revenue. 
2- An enterprise should disclose the amount of each category of revenue recognized during the period including revenue arising from: (i) the 
sale of goods; (ii) the rendering of services; (iii) interest; and (iv) dividends. 
3- An enterprise should disclose the amount of revenue arising from exchanges of goods or services included in each category of revenue. 

 
Para. 35 (a) 
Para. 35 (b) 
 
Para. 35 (c) 
 

IAS 21 The 
Effects of 
Changes in 
Foreign Exchange 
Rates 
(Jan 1, 1995) 
1996, 1997, 1999, 
2000 and 2002 

MEASUREMENT 
1- An enterprise should record a foreign currency transaction, on initial recognition in the reporting currency, by applying to the foreign currency 
amount the exchange rate between the reporting currency and the foreign currency at the date of transaction. 
2- An enterprise should record at each balance sheet date foreign currency monetary items using the exchange rate at the balance sheet date 
(closing rate). 
3- An enterprise should record at each balance sheet date foreign non-monetary items, which are carried in terms of historical cost using the 
exchange rate at the date of the transaction. 
4- An enterprise should record at each balance sheet date non-monetary items, which are carried at fair value denominated in a foreign 
currency using the exchange rates that existed when the values were determined. 
5- Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on reporting an enterprise’s monetary items at rates different from those 
at which they were initially recorded during the period should be recognized as income or as expense in the period in which they arise 
(benchmark treatment). 
6- Exchange differences may result from a severe devaluation or depreciation of a currency against which there is no practical means of 
hedging and that affects liabilities which cannot be settled and which arise directly on the recent acquisition of an asset invoiced in a foreign 
currency. Such exchange differences should be included in the carrying amount of the related asset, provided that the adjusted carrying amount 
does not exceed the lower of the replacement cost and the amount recoverable from the sale or use of the asset (allowed alternative 
treatment). 
7- Exchange differences arising on a monetary item that, in substance, forms part of an enterprise’s net investment in a foreign entity should be 
classified as equity in the enterprise’s financial statements until the disposal of the net investment, at which time they should be recognized as 
income or as expense. 
8- In translating the financial statements of a foreign entity (subsidiary, associate, joint venture or branch of reporting enterprise) for 
incorporation in its financial statements, the reporting enterprise should record the assets and liabilities, both monetary and non-monetary, using 
the closing rate. 
9- In translating the financial statements of a foreign entity (subsidiary, associate, joint venture or branch of reporting enterprise) for 
incorporation in its financial statements, the reporting enterprise should record the income and expense items at the dates of the transactions. 
10- In translating the financial statements of a foreign entity (subsidiary, associate, joint venture or branch of reporting enterprise) for 
incorporation in its financial statements, the reporting enterprise should record all resulting exchange differences as equity until the disposal of 
the net investment. 
11- On the disposal of a foreign entity, the cumulative amount of the exchange differences, which have been deferred and which relate to that 

 
Para. 9 
 
Para. 11 (a) 
 
Para. 11 (b) 
 
Para. 11 (c) 
 
Para. 15 
 
 
Para. 21 
 
 
 
 
Para. 17 
 
 
Para. 30 (a) 
 
 
Para. 30 (b) 
 
 
Para. 30 (c) 
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foreign entity should be recognized as income or expense in the same period in which the gain or loss on disposal is recognized. 
DISCLOSURE 
1- An enterprise should disclose the amount of exchange differences included in the net profit or loss for the period. 
2- An enterprise should disclose the net exchange differences classified as equity as a separate component of equity. 
3- An enterprise should disclose a reconciliation of the amount of the exchange differences classified as equity at the beginning and end of the 
period. 
4- An enterprise should disclose the amount of exchange differences arising during the period, which is included in the carrying amount of an 
asset in accordance with the allowed alterative treatment. 
5- When the reporting currency is different from the currency of the country in which the enterprise is domiciled, the reason for using a different 
currency should be disclosed. 
6- When there is a change in the classification of a significant foreign operation, an enterprise should disclose the nature of the change in 
classification. 
7- When there is a change in the classification of a significant foreign operation, an enterprise should disclose the reasons for the change. 
8- When there is a change in the classification of a significant foreign operation, an enterprise should disclose the impact of the change in 
classification on shareholders’ equity. 
9- When there is a change in the classification of a significant foreign operation, an enterprise should disclose the impact on net profit or loss for 
each prior period presented had the change in classification occurred at the beginning of the earliest period presented. 
 

Para. 37 
 
Para. 42 (a) 
Para. 42 (b) 
Para. 42 (b) 
 
Para. 42 (c) 
 
Para. 43 
 
Para. 44 (a) 
 
Para. 44 (b) 
Para. 44 (c) 
 
Para. 44 (d) 

IAS 23 Borrowing 
Costs 
(Jan 1, 1995) 
1996, 1997, 1999, 
2000 and 2002 

MEASUREMENT 
1- Borrowing costs should be recognized as an expense in the period in which they are incurred (benchmark treatment). 
2- Borrowing costs should be recognized as an expense in the period in which they are incurred except to the extent that they are capitalized if 
they are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset (allowed alternative treatment). 
DISCLOSURE 
1- An enterprise should disclose the accounting policy adopted for borrowing costs. 
2- An enterprise should disclose the amount of borrowing costs capitalized during the period. 
3- An enterprise should disclose the capitalization rate used to determine the amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalization when funds 
are borrowed generally and used for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset. 
 

 
Para. 7 
Para. 10 & 11 
 
 
 
Para. 29 (a) 
Para. 29 (b) 
Para. 29 (c) 
 

IAS 24 Related 
Party Disclosures 
(Jan 1, 1986) 
1996, 1997, 1999, 
2000 and 2002 

DISCLOSURE 
1- Related party relationships where control exists should be disclosed irrespective of whether there have been transactions between the 
related parties. 
2- Where there have been transactions between related parties, the enterprise should disclose the nature of the related party relationships. 
3- Where there have been transactions between related parties, the enterprise should disclose the types of transactions (for example, goods or 
services sold/purchased; management services; directors’ remuneration and emoluments; loans, guarantees). 
4- Where there have been transactions between related parties, the enterprise should disclose the volume of the transactions either as an 

 
Para. 20 
 
Para. 22  
Para. 22  
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amount or as an appropriate proportion. 
5- Where there have been transactions between related parties, the enterprise should disclose the amounts or appropriate proportions of 
outstanding items and pricing policies (e.g. whether the arm’s length basis was used or, if not arm’s length basis, what was the basis; interest 
rates on loans).  
 

Para. 22 
 
Para. 23 
 

IAS 27 
Consolidated 
Financial 
Statements and 
Accounting for 
Investments in 
Subsidiaries 
(Jan 1, 1990) 
1996, 1997, 1999, 
2000 and 2002 

MEASUREMENT 
1- A parent, other than a parent that is a wholly owned subsidiary, should present consolidated financial statements. 
2- A parent which issues consolidated financial statements should consolidate all subsidiaries, foreign and domestic, other than those that (a) 
control is intended to be temporary because the subsidiary is acquired and held exclusively with a view to its subsequent disposal in the near 
future, and (b) it operates under severe long-term restrictions which significantly impair its ability to transfer funds to the parent. 
3- Minority interests should be presented in the consolidated balance sheet separately from liabilities and the parent shareholders’ equity. 
4- Minority interests in the income statement of the group should be separately presented. 
5- In the parent’s separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries (whether included in or excluded from the consolidated financial 
statements) should be either: (a) carried at cost; (b) accounted for using the equity method; or (c) accounted for as available-for-sale financial 
assets. 
DISCLOSURE 
1- A parent enterprise should disclose a listing of names of significant subsidiaries. 
2- A parent enterprise should disclose a listing of the country of incorporation or residence of significant subsidiaries. 
3- A parent enterprise should disclose proportion of ownership interest and, if different, proportion of voting power held for significant 
subsidiaries. 
4- A parent enterprise should disclose, if applicable, the reasons for not consolidating a subsidiary. 
5- A parent enterprise should disclose the name of an enterprise in which more than one half of the voting power is owned, directly or indirectly 
through subsidiaries, but which, because of the absence of control, is not a subsidiary. 
6- A parent enterprise should disclose the effect of the acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries on the financial position at the reporting date, the 
results for the reporting period and on the corresponding amounts for the preceding period. 
7- In the parent’s separate financial statements, a description of the method used to account for subsidiaries should be disclosed. 
 

 
Para. 7 & 8 
Para. 11 and 13 (13: 
Effective: Dec 98) 
 
Para. 26  
 
Para. 26 
Para. 29, 30 
(Effective: Dec 98) 
 
Para. 32 (a) 
Para. 32 (a) 
Para. 32 (a) 
 
Para. 32 (b) (i) 
Para. 32 (b) (ii) 
 
Para. 32 (b) (iii) 
 
Para. 32 (c) 

IAS 28 Accounting 
for Investments in 
Associates 
(Jan 1, 1990) 
1996, 1997, 1999, 
2000 and 2002 

MEASUREMENT  
1- An investment in an associate should be accounted for in consolidated financial statements under the equity method except when (a) the 
investment is acquired and held exclusively with a view to its subsequent disposal in the near future; or (b) it operates under severe long-term 
restrictions that significantly impair its ability to transfer funds to the investor. 
2- An investment in an associate that is included in the separate financial statements of an investor that issues (or does not issue) consolidated 
financial statements and that is not held exclusively with a view to its disposal in the near future should be either carried at cost, as an equity 
method, or as an available-for-sale. 
 

 
Para. 8 
 
 
Para. 12 
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DISCLOSURE 
1- An enterprise should disclose a listing of significant associates. 
2- An enterprise should disclose a description of significant associates. 
3- An enterprise should disclose the proportion of ownership interest and, if different, the proportion of voting power held. 
4- An enterprise should disclose the method used to account for investment in associates. 
5- Investments in associates accounted for using the equity method should be classified as long-term assets and disclosed as a separate item 
in the balance sheet. 
6- An enterprise’s share of the profits or losses of the investments in associates should be disclosed as a separate item in the income 
statement. 
7- An enterprise’s share of any extraordinary or prior period items should be separately disclosed. 
 

 
Para. 27 (a) 
Para. 27 (a) 
Para. 27 (a) 
Para. 27 (b) 
Para. 28 
 
Para. 28 
 
Para. 28 

IAS 30 
Disclosures in the 
Financial 
Statements of 
Banks and Similar 
Financial 
Institutions  
(Jan 1, 1991) 
1996, 1997, 1999, 
2000 and 2002 

DISCLOSURE 
1- A bank should present an income statement which groups income and expenses by nature and discloses the amounts of the principal types 
of income and expenses. 
2- Income statement of a bank should include interest and similar income. 
3- Income statement of a bank should include interest expense and similar income. 
4- Income statement of a bank should include dividend income. 
5- Income statement of a bank should include fees and commission income. 
6- Income statement of a bank should include fees and commission expense. 
7- Income statement of a bank should include gains less losses arising from dealing securities. 
9- Income statement of a bank should include gains less losses arising from investment securities. 
10- Income statement of a bank should include gains less losses arising from dealing in foreign currencies. 
11- Income statement of a bank should include other operating income. 
12- Income statement of a bank should include losses on loans and advances. 
13- Income statement of a bank should include general administrative expenses. 
14- Income statement of a bank should include other operating expenses. 
15- A bank should present a balance sheet that groups assets and liabilities by nature. 
16- A bank should list assets and liabilities in an order that reflects their relative liquidity. 
17- The disclosure in the balance sheet or notes to the financial statements of a bank should include in the assets: cash and balances with the 
central bank; 
18- The disclosure in the balance sheet or notes to the financial statements of a bank should include in the assets: treasury bills and other bills 
eligible for rediscounting with the central bank. 
19- The disclosure in the balance sheet or notes to the financial statements of a bank should include in the assets: government and other 
securities held for dealing purposes. 
20- The disclosure in the balance sheet or notes to the financial statements of a bank should include in the assets: placements with, and loans 

 
Para. 9 
 
Para. 10 (a) 
Para. 10 (b) 
Para. 10 (c) 
Para. 10 (d) 
Para. 10 (e) 
Para. 10 (f) 
Para. 10 (g) 
Para. 10 (h) 
Para. 10 (i) 
Para. 10 (j) 
Para. 10 (k) 
Para. 10 (l) 
Para. 18 
Para. 18 
Para. 19 (a) 
 
Para. 19 (b) 
 
Para. 19 (c) 
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and advances to, other banks. 
21- The disclosure in the balance sheet or notes to the financial statements of a bank should include in the assets: other money market 
placements. 
22- The disclosure in the balance sheet or notes to the financial statements of a bank should include in the assets: loans and advances to 
customers. 
23- The disclosure in the balance sheet or notes to the financial statements of a bank should include in the assets: investment securities. 
24- The disclosure in the balance sheet or notes to the financial statements of a bank should include in the liabilities: deposits from other banks. 
25- The disclosure in the balance sheet or notes to the financial statements of a bank should include in the liabilities: other money market 
deposits. 
26- The disclosure in the balance sheet or notes to the financial statements of a bank should include in the liabilities: amount owed to other 
depositors. 
27- The disclosure in the balance sheet or notes to the financial statements of a bank should include in the liabilities: certificates of deposits. 
28- The disclosure in the balance sheet or notes to the financial statements of a bank should include in the liabilities: promissory notes and 
other liabilities evidenced by paper.  
29- The disclosure in the balance sheet or notes to the financial statements of a bank should include in the liabilities: other borrowed funds. 
30- A bank should disclose the nature and amount of commitments to extend credit that are irrevocable because they cannot be withdrawn at 
the discretion of the bank without the risk of incurring significant penalty or expense. 
31- A bank should disclose the nature and amount of contingent liabilities and commitments arising from off balance sheet items (for example, 
direct credit substitutes including bank acceptance and guarantees and standby letters of credit). 
32- A bank should disclose an analysis of assets and liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the balance 
sheet date to the contractual maturity date. 
33- A bank should disclose any significant concentrations of its assets, liabilities and off balance sheet items according to geographical areas, 
customer or industry groups or other concentration of risks. 
34- A bank should disclose the amount of significant net foreign currency exposures. 
35- A bank should disclose the accounting policy, which describes the basis on which uncollectible loans and advances are recognized as an 
expense and written off. 
36- A bank should disclose the movements in the provision for losses on loans and advances during the period. 
37- A bank should disclose the amount recognized as an expense in the period for losses on uncollectible loans and advances. 
38- A bank should disclose the amount charged in the period for loans and advances written off. 
39- A bank should disclose the amount credited in the period for loans and advances previously written off that have been recovered. 
40- A bank should disclose the aggregate amount of the provision for losses on loans and advances at the balance sheet date. 
41- A bank should disclose the aggregate amount included in the balance sheet for loans and advances on which interest is not being accrued. 
42- Any amount set aside for general banking risks, including future losses and other unforeseeable risks or contingencies should be separately 
disclosed as appropriations of retained earnings. 
43- A bank should disclose the aggregate amount of secured liabilities. 

Para. 19 (d) 
Para. 19 (e) 
 
Para. 19 (f) 
 
Para. 19 (g) 
Para. 19 (h) 
 
Para. 19 (i) 
 
Para. 19 (j) 
Para. 19 (k) 
 
Para. 19 (l) 
Para. 19 (m) 
 
Para. 26 (a)  
 
Para. 26 (b) 
 
Para. 30 
 
Para. 40 
Para. 40 
Para. 43 (a) 
Para. 43 (b) 
Para. 43 (b) 
Para. 43 (b) 
Para. 43 (b) 
Para. 43 (c) 
Para. 43 (d) 
Para. 50  
 
Para. 53 
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44- A bank should disclose the nature and carrying amount of the assets pledged as security. 
45- A bank should disclose the trust activities made. 
 

Para. 53 
Para. 55 

IAS 32 Financial 
Instruments: 
Disclosure and 
Presentation 
(Jan 1, 1996) 
1996, 1997, 1999, 
2000 and 2002 

DISCLOSURE 
1- An enterprise should describe its financial risk management objectives and policies, including its policy for hedging each major type of 
forecasted transaction for which hedge accounting is used (currency risk, interest rate risk, market risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, cash flow risk). 
2- For each class of financial asset, financial liability, and equity instrument, both recognized and unrecognized, an enterprise should disclose 
information about the extent and nature of the financial instruments, including significant terms and conditions that may affect the amount, 
timing, and certainty of future cash flows. 
3- For each class of financial asset, financial liability, and equity instrument, both recognized and unrecognized, an enterprise should disclose 
the accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition and the basis of measurement applied. 
4-- For each class of financial asset and financial liability, both recognized and unrecognized, an enterprise should disclose information about its 
exposure to interest rate risk including contractual re-pricing or maturity dates, whichever dates are earlier. 
5- For each class of financial asset and financial liability, both recognized and unrecognized, an enterprise should disclose information about its 
exposure to interest rate risk including effective interest rates, when applicable. 
6- For each class of financial asset, both recognized and unrecognized, an enterprise should disclose information about its exposure to credit 
risk including the amount that best represents its maximum credit risk exposure at the balance sheet date. 
7- For each class of financial asset, both recognized and unrecognized, an enterprise should disclose information about its exposure to credit 
risk including significant concentrations of credit risk. 
8- For each class of financial asset and financial liability, both recognized and unrecognized, an enterprise should disclose information about fair 
value. When it is not practicable within constraints of timeliness or cost to determine the fair value of a financial asset or financial liability with 
significant reliability, that fact should be disclosed together with information about the principal characteristics of the underling financial 
instruments that are pertinent to its fair value. 
9- When an enterprise carries one or more financial assets at an amount in excess of their fair value, an enterprise should disclose the carrying 
amount and the fair value of either the individual assets or appropriate groupings of those individual assets.  
10- When an enterprise carries one or more financial assets at an amount in excess of their fair value, an enterprise should disclose the 
reasons for not reducing the carrying amount, including the nature of the evidence that provides the basis for management’s belief that the 
carrying amount will be covered. 

 
Para. 43 (a) 
 
 
Para. 47 (a) 
 
 
Para. 47 (b) 
 
Para. 56 (a) 
 
Para. 56 (b) 
 
Para. 66 (a) 
 
Para. 66 (b) 
 
Para. 77 
 
 
Para. 88 (a) 
 
Para. 88 (b) 

IAS 33 Earnings 
Per Share 
(Jan 1, 1998) 
1999, 2000 and 
2002 

MEASUREMENT 
1- Basic earnings per share should be calculated by dividing the net profit or loss for the period attributable to ordinary shareholders by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. 
2- For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share, the net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average 
number of shares outstanding should be adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. 
3- If the number of ordinary or potential ordinary shares outstanding increases as a result of a capitalization or bonus issue or share split or 
decreases as a result of a reverse share split, the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share for all periods presented should be 

 
Para. 10 
 
Para. 24 
 
Para. 43 
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adjusted retrospectively.  
DISCLOSURE 
1- An enterprise should disclose basic earnings per share on the face of the income statement for each class of ordinary shares, even if the 
basic earnings per share are negative for the period. 
2- An enterprise should disclose diluted earnings per share on the face of the income statement for each class of ordinary shares that has a 
different right to share in the net profit for the period. 
3- An enterprise should disclose the amounts used as the numerators in calculating basic earnings per share. 
4- An enterprise should disclose a reconciliation of the amounts used as the numerators to the net profit or loss for the period. 
5- An enterprise should disclose the weighted average number of ordinary shares used as the denominator in calculating basic and diluted 
earnings per share, and a reconciliation of the denominators to each other. 
 

 
 
Para. 47 & 48 
 
Para. 47 & 48 
 
Para. 49 (a) 
Para. 49 )a) 
Para. 49 (b) 
 

IAS 37 Provisions, 
Contingent 
Liabilities and 
Contingent Assets 
(July 1, 1999) 
1999, 2000 and 
2002 

MEASUREMENT 
1- A provision should be used only for expenditures for which the provision was originally recognized. 
2- Provisions should not be recognized for future operating losses. 
DISCLOSURE 
1- For each class of provision, an enterprise should disclose the carrying amount at the beginning and end of the period. 
2- For each class of provision, an enterprise should disclose additional provisions made in the period, including increases to existing provisions. 
3- For each class of provision, an enterprise should disclose amounts used (i.e. incurred and charged against the provision) during the period. 
4- For each class of provision, an enterprise should disclose unused amounts revered during the period. 
5- For each class of provision, an enterprise should disclose a brief description of the nature of the obligation and the expected timing of any 
resulting outflows of economic benefits. 
6- For each class of provision, an enterprise should disclose an indication of the uncertainties about the amount of timing of those outflows. 
7- For each class of provision, an enterprise should disclose the amount of any expected reimbursement, stating the amount of any asset that 
has been recognized for that expected reimbursement. 
8- An enterprise should disclose for each class of contingent liability at the balance sheet date a brief description of the nature of the contingent 
liability. If it is not practicable to do so, that fact should be stated. 
9- An enterprise should disclose for each class of contingent liability at the balance sheet date an estimate of its financial affect. If it is not 
practicable to do so the fact should be disclosed. 
10- An enterprise should disclose for each class of contingent liability at the balance sheet date the possibility of any reimbursement. If it is not 
practicable to do so the fact should be disclosed. 
12- An enterprise should disclose a brief description of the nature of the contingent assets and an estimate of their financial effect at the balance 
sheet date. If it is not practicable to do so, that fact should be stated. 

 
Para. 84 (a) 
Para. 84 (b) 
 
Para. 84 (c) 
Para. 84 (d) 
Para. 85 (a) 
Para. 85 (b) 
Para. 85 (c) 
 
Para. 86 (a) & 91 
 
Para. 86 (b) & 91 
 
Para. 86 (c) & 91 
 
Para. 86 (a) 
 
Para. 86 (b) 
 
Para. 89 and 91 
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Appendix F: Alternative Models for Independent Variables 

Table F1: Regression results: compliance with IASs – full sample 

INDEPENDENT Model/coefficients 
VARIABLES  
(expected sign) A Size1  B Size2  C Size3  

D Size1 
Lev2  

E Size1 
Profit2  

F Size1 
Profit3  

Company size (+) 0.087 +++ 0.090 +++ 0.074 +++ 0.092 +++ 0.092 +++ 0.087 +++ 
Leverage (+) 0.146 +++ 0.132 ++ 0.161 +++ 0.086  0.127 ++ 0.148 ++ 
Liquidity (-) 0.001  0.001  0.001  0.001  0.001  0.001  
Profitability (+) 0.045  0.075  0.046  0.002  -0.072  0.082  
Internationality (+) 0.138 + 0.140 + 0.129 + 0.147 ++ 0.142 ++ 0.136 + 
Ownership diffusion (-) 0.019  0.028  -0.018  0.019  0.022  0.018  
Age (+) 0.001  0.001  0.001  0.002 + 0.002 + 0.002  
Auditor (+) 0.017  0.020  0.005  0.019  0.019  0.017  
Industry 1 (Bank and Invest) -0.024  -0.025  0.019  -0.009  -0.026  -0.022  
Industry 2 (Insurance) 0.045  0.053  0.048  0.055  0.047  0.048  
Industry 3 (Manufacturing) 0.034  0.031  0.008  0.037  0.035  0.034  
Bahrain (-) 0.212 (a) 0.205 (a) 0.186 (a) 0.212 (a) 0.210 (a) 0.206 (a) 
Oman (+) 0.158 ++ 0.164 ++ 0.143 ++ 0.167 ++ 0.159 ++ 0.152 ++ 
Kuwait (+) 0.103 + 0.113 + 0.124 ++ 0.093 + 0.099 + 0.100 + 
Saudi Arabia (-) 0.032  0.031  0.037  0.029  0.029  0.012  
Qatar (-) -0.140 ++ -0.138 ++ -0.125 ++ -0.138 ++ -0.138 ++ -0.145 ++ 
Year (1996) (-) -0.336 +++ -0.335 +++ -0.339 +++ -0.339 +++ -0.333 +++ -0.334 +++ 
Year (1997) (-) -0.359 +++ -0.350 +++ -0.357 +++ -0.359 +++ -0.354 +++ -0.353 +++ 
Year (1999) (-) -0.199 +++ -0.203 +++ -0.202 +++ -0.199 +++ -0.200 +++ -0.203 +++ 
Year (2000) (-) -0.171 ++ -0.169 ++ -0.162 ++ -0.169 ++ -0.176 ++ -0.176 ++ 
Constant -0.294 * -0.313  -0.123  -0.326  -0.318  -0.291  
Adjusted R2 0.356  0.351  0.346  0.346  0.351  0.352  
F   12.059  12.036  11.786  11.799  12.050  12.115  
Prob. (F)  < 0.001  < 0.001  < 0.001  < 0.001  < 0.001  < 0.001  
No. of companies 137  137  137  137  137  137  
No. of observations 409  409  409  409  409  409  
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Table F1 (Continued): Regression results: compliance with IASs – full sample 

INDEPENDENT Model/coefficients 
VARIABLES  
(expected sign) 

G Size1 
Inter2  

H Size1 
Inter3  

I Size1 
Inter4  

J Size1 
Own2  

K Size1 
Age2  

L Size1 
NoInd  

Company size (+) 0.147 +++ 0.091 ++ 0.078 +++ 0.074 +++ 0.086 +++ 0.070 +++ 
Leverage (+) 0.141  0.230 ++ 0.126 ++ 0.184 +++ 0.147 ++ 0.135 ++ 
Liquidity (-) -0.029  0.005  0.001  0.001  0.001  0.001  
Profitability (+) 0.001  0.038  0.059  0.056  0.036  0.052  
Internationality (+) 0.013  0.075  0.121 +++ 0.169 ++ 0.136 + 0.166 ++ 
Ownership diffusion (-) 0.007  -0.071  0.037  0.143 (a) 0.014  0.016  
Age (+) 0.262 + 0.003  0.001  0.001  0.046  0.001 + 
Auditor (+) -0.018  -0.098  0.024  0.037  0.012  0.018  
Industry 1 (Bank and Invest) -0.011  -0.094  -0.030  -0.024  -0.025   
Industry 2 (Insurance) -0.074  0.095  0.043  0.050  0.043   
Industry 3 (Manufacturing) 0.061  0.055  0.042  0.021  0.027   
Bahrain (-) 0.432 (a) 0.225 (a) 0.212 (a) 0.266 (a) 0.211 (a) 0.207 (a) 
Oman (+) 0.482 ++ 0.262 ++ 0.168 ++ 0.224 +++ 0.169 ++ 0.167 ++ 
Kuwait (+) 0.324 ++ 0.083  0.093 + 0.168 +++ 0.104 + 0.105 + 
Saudi Arabia (-) -0.249  0.056  0.073  0.087  0.032  0.028  
Qatar (-) 0.058  -0.176 + -0.115 + -0.078  -0.139 ++ -0.149 ++ 
Year (1996) (-) -0.121 ++ -0.397 +++ -0.329 +++ -0.345 +++ -0.330 +++ -0.334 +++ 
Year (1997) (-) -0.330 +++ -0.421 +++ -0.338 +++ -0.364 +++ -0.353 +++ -0.354 +++ 
Year (1999) (-) -0.350 +++ -0.197 +++ -0.201 +++ -0.205 +++ -0.197 +++ -0.199 +++ 
Year (2000) (-) -0.203 +++ -0.177 ++ -0.168 ++ -0.183 ++ -0.171 ++ -0.167 ++ 
Constant -0.169 ** -0.229  -0.254  -0.277  -0.382 * -0.171  
Adjusted R2 0.293  0.347  0.379  0.359  0.353  0.302  
F   7.564  5.395  13.493  12.751  12.178  14.019  
Prob. (F)  < 0.001  < 0.001  < 0.001  < 0.001  < 0.001  < 0.001  
No. of companies 137  137  137  137  137  137  
No. of Observations 149  165  409  419  409  409  
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This table presents the results of regression models that examine the relationship between the level of compliance excluding NA and DK items — Log (OCIEX / (1 – 
OCIEX)) — and independent variables representing company attributes for the full sample. The models are based on the primary model.  
+++ t test (one-tailed) significant p < 0.01;  
++  t test (one-tailed) significant p < 0.05;  
+  t test (one-tailed) significant p < 0.10;  
**  t test (two-tailed) significant p < 0.05;  
*  t test (two tailed) significant p < 0.10.  
Company size was log of market value of equity plus book value of debt; Leverage was the ratio of book value of total debt as a proportion of book value of total debt 
plus market value of equity; Liquidity was a ratio of current assets to current liabilities; Profitability was the ratio of earnings before taxes, Zakat and interest to total 
shareholders’ equity; Internationality was the percentage of foreign ownership (number of shares owned by foreign investors divided by total shares issued at year-end); 
Ownership diffusion was the percentage of institutional investor ownership (number of shares owned by institutional investors divided by total shares issued at year-end); 
Age was the number of years passed since foundation; auditor was 1 for companies audited by local audited firms with an international affiliation (Big Five) and 0 for 
companies audited by local audit firms without an international affiliation (non Big Five). The results for the Industry 4 (Services) are in the constant term. The results for 
the omitted country (UAE) are captured in the constant term.  
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Appendix G: Alternative Models for Rotation of Industry Dummy Variables 

Table G1: Regression results: compliance with IASs – full sample 

Independent Model/coefficients 
variables  
(expected sign) 

Industry 1
Banking 

and 
Investment

 Industry 2
Insurance

 Industry 3
Manufacturing

 Industry 4
Services

 

Company size (+) 0.087 +++ 0.087 +++ 0.087 +++ 0.087 +++ 
Leverage (+) 0.146 ++ 0.146 ++ 0.146 ++ 0.146 +++ 
Liquidity (-) 0.001  0.001  0.001  0.001  
Profitability (+) 0.045  0.045  0.045  0.045  
Internationality (+) 0.138 + 0.138 + 0.138 + 0.138 + 
Ownership diffusion (-) 0.019  0.019  0.019  0.019  
Age (+) 0.002  0.002  0.002  0.001  
Auditor (+) 0.016  0.017  0.017  0.017  
Industry 1 (Bank and Invest)  -0.070 * -0.058 * -0.024  
Industry 2 (Insurance) 0.069 *  -0.010  0.045  
Industry 3 (Manufacturing) 0.058 * -0.010   0.034  
Industry 4 (Services) 0.024  -0.045  -0.034   
Bahrain (-) 0.212 (a) 0.212 (a) 0.212 (a) 0.212 (a) 
Oman (+) 0.158 ++ 0.158 ++ 0.158 ++ 0.158 ++ 
Kuwait (+) 0.103 + 0.104 + 0.104 + 0.103 + 
Saudi Arabia (-) 0.032  0.032  0.032  0.032  
Qatar (-) -0.140 ++ -0.140 ++ -0.140 ++ -0.140 ++ 
Year (1996) (-) -0.336 +++ -0.336 +++ -0.336 +++ -0.336 +++ 
Year (1997) (-) -0.357 +++ -0.357 +++ -0.357 +++ -0.359 +++ 
Year (1999) (-) -0.200 +++ -0.200 +++ -0.200 +++ -0.199 +++ 
Year (2000) (-) -0.171 ++ -0.171 ++ -0.171 ++ -0.171 ++ 
Constant -0.318  -0.248  -0.259  -0.294 * 
Adjusted R2 0.351  0.351  0.351  0.356  
F   12.058  12.058  12.058  12.059  
Prob. (F)  < 0.001  < 0.001  < 0.001  < 0.001  
No. of companies 137  137  137  137  
No. of Observations 409  409  409  409  
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This table presents the results of regression models that examine the relationship between the level of compliance excluding NA and DK items — Log (OCIEX / (1 – 
OCIEX)) — and independent variables representing company attributes for the full sample. The models showing rotation of industry variables are based on the primary 
model. To compare each pair of industry groups, industry dummy variables are rotated so that the fixed effects of each industry are, in turn, captured in the constant 
term. Three industry dummy variables are included in each model for four industry groups. When the omitted dummy variable is Industry 1, Industry 2, 3 and 4 are 
included. When the omitted dummy variable is Industry 2, Industry 1, 3 and 4 are included. When the omitted dummy variable is Industry 3, Industry 1, 2 and 4 are 
included. Finally, when the omitted dummy variable is Industry 4, Industry 1, 2 and 3 are included.  
+++  t test (one-tailed) significant p < 0.01;  
++  t test (one-tailed) significant p < 0.05;  
+  t test (one-tailed) significant p < 0.10;  
*  t test (two tailed) significant p < 0.10.  
Company size was log of market value of equity plus book value of debt; Leverage was the ratio of book value of total debt as a proportion of book value of total debt 
plus market value of equity; Liquidity was a ratio of current assets to current liabilities; Profitability was the ratio of earnings before taxes, Zakat and interest to total 
shareholders’ equity; Internationality was the percentage of foreign ownership (number of shares owned by foreign investors divided by total shares issued at year-end); 
Ownership diffusion was the percentage of institutional investor ownership (number of shares owned by institutional investors divided by total shares issued at year-end); 
Age was the number of years passed since foundation; auditor was 1 for companies audited by local audited firms with an international affiliation (Big Five) and 0 for 
companies audited by local audit firms without an international affiliation (non Big Five). The results for the omitted country (UAE) are captured in the constant term.  
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Appendix H: Alternative Models for Rotation of Country Dummy Variables 

Table H1: Regression results: compliance with IASs – full sample 

Independent Model/coefficients 
variables  
(expected sign) Bahrain  Oman  Kuwait  

Saudi 
Arabia  Qatar  UAE  

Company size (+) 0.087 +++ 0.087 +++ 0.087 +++ 0.087 +++ 0.087 +++ 0.087 +++ 
Leverage (+) 0.146 ++ 0.146 ++ 0.146 ++ 0.146 ++ 0.146 ++ 0.146 +++ 
Liquidity (-) 0.001  0.001  0.001  0.001  0.001  0.001  
Profitability (+) 0.045  0.045  0.045  0.045  0.045  0.045  
Internationality (+) 0.138 + 0.138 + 0.138 + 0.138 + 0.138 + 0.138 + 
Ownership diffusion (-) 0.019  0.019  0.019  0.019  0.019  0.019  
Age (+) 0.001  0.002  0.002  0.002  0.002  0.001  
Auditor (+) 0.017  0.017  0.017  0.017  0.017  0.017  
Industry 1 (Bank and Invest) -0.024  -0.024  -0.024  -0.024  -0.024  -0.024  
Industry 2 (Insurance) 0.045  0.045  0.045  0.045  0.045  0.045  
Industry 3 (Manufacturing) 0.034  0.034  0.034  0.034  0.034  0.034  
Bahrain   0.054 * 0.108 *** 0.180 *** 0.353 *** 0.212 *** 
Oman -0.054 *   0.054  0.125 ** 0.298 *** 0.158 ** 
Kuwait -0.108 *** -0.054   0.071  0.244 *** 0.103 * 
Saudi Arabia -0.180 *** -0.125 ** -0.071   0.172 ** 0.032  
Qatar -0.352 *** -0.298 *** -0.244 *** -0.173 **  -0.140 ** 
UAE -0.212 *** -0.158 *** -0.103 * -0.032  0.140 **  
Year (1996) (-) -0.336 +++ -0.336 +++ -0.336 +++ -0.336 +++ -0.336 +++ -0.336 +++ 
Year (1997) (-) -0.357 +++ -0.357 +++ -0.357 +++ -0.357 +++ -0.357 +++ -0.359 +++ 
Year (1999) (-) -0.199 +++ -0.199 +++ -0.199 +++ -0.199 +++ -0.199 +++ -0.199 +++ 
Year (2000) (-) -0.171 ++ -0.171 ++ -0.171 ++ -0.171 ++ -0.171 ++ -0.171 ++ 
Constant -0.081  -0.135  -0.189  -0.261  -0.434 ** -0.294 * 
Adjusted R2 0.351  0.351  0.351  0.351  0.351  0.351  
F   12.058  12.058  12.058  12.058  12.058  12.059  
Prob. (F)  0.001  0.001  0.001  0.001  0.001  0.001  
No. of companies 137  137  137  137  137  137  
No. of Observations 409  409  409  409  409  409  
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This table presents the results of regression models that examine the relationship between the level of compliance excluding NA and DK items — Log (OCIEX / (1 – 
OCIEX)) — and independent variables representing company attributes for the full sample. The models showing rotation of country variables are based on the primary 
model. To compare each pair of countries, country dummy variables are rotated so that the fixed effects of each country are, in turn, captured in the constant term. Five 
country dummy variables are included in each model for six country variables. When the omitted country variable is Bahrain, Oman, Kuwait, Saudi Arabia, Qatar and 
UAE are included. When the omitted country variable is Oman, Bahrain, Kuwait, Saudi Arabia, Qatar and UAE are included. When the omitted country variable is Kuwait, 
Bahrain, Oman, Saudi Arabia, Qatar and UAE are included. When the omitted country variable is Saudi Arabia, Bahrain, Oman, Kuwait, Qatar and UAE are included. 
When the omitted country variable is Qatar, Bahrain, Oman, Kuwait, Saudi Arabia and UAE are included. Finally, when the omitted country variable is UAE, Bahrain, 
Oman, Kuwait, Saudi Arabia, Qatar are included.  
+++  t test (one-tailed) significant p < 0.01;  
++  t test (one-tailed) significant p < 0.05;  
+  t test (one-tailed) significant p < 0.10;  
***  t test (two-tailed) significant p < 0.01;  
**  t test (two-tailed) significant p < 0.05;  
*  t test (two tailed) significant p < 0.10.  
Company size was log of market value of equity plus book value of debt; Leverage was the ratio of book value of total debt as a proportion of book value of total debt 
plus market value of equity; Liquidity was a ratio of current assets to current liabilities; Profitability was the ratio of earnings before taxes, Zakat and interest to total 
shareholders’ equity; Internationality was the percentage of foreign ownership (number of shares owned by foreign investors divided by total shares issued at year-end); 
Ownership diffusion was the percentage of institutional investor ownership (number of shares owned by institutional investors divided by total shares issued at year-end); 
Age was the number of years passed since foundation; auditor was 1 for companies audited by local audited firms with an international affiliation (Big Five) and 0 for 
companies audited by local audit firms without an international affiliation (non Big Five). The results for the Industry (Services) are in the constant term.  
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